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The Self-Study Process 
The Western Governors University community began preparing this Self-Study immedi
ately follow ing approval to apply for initial accreditat ion. That approva l came in a 
meeting President Mendenhall and Provost Johnstone held with the four executive direc 
tors of the Interregional Accrediting Committee in late February 2002. 

Immediately after that meeting , President Mendenhall and Provost Johnstone established 
a Self-Study Coordinating Committee (SSCC) that included the principal academic and 
financial managers of the University: Dr. Marti Garlett, Dean of the Teachers College ; Dr. 
Alec Testa , Director of Assessment and Institutional Research; Dr. Daniel Eastmond , 
Director of Learning Resources; Ms. Stacey Ludwig-Hardman , Director of Academic 
Services; Ms. Jeanne Glaittli, Director of Finance and Human Resources; and Dr. Douglas 
Johnstone , Provost and Academic Vice President. Dr. Johnstone chaired the group and 
served as general editor of the study. The SSCC reported to President Mendenhall, who 
approved the committee 's plan of work and had major input to the final Self-Study doc
ument. 

Each member of the SSCC chaired a subcommittee with specific responsibility for 
researching and drafting responses to particular Eligibility Requirements and Standards 
(or sections of Standards). Each subcommittee involved several other WGU staff mem
bers, with participation determined by job function relative to the Standard. Virtually 
every employee of the University participated actively in one or more of these subcom
mittees , thus ensuring broad participation in the formation of the Self-Study. 

The study itself went through several drafts on its way to completion, and two of these 
were circulated to all major University constituencies for contribution at key points. The 
SSCC circulated the first comp lete draft to all WGU emp loyees and led discussion of it at 
a University-wide retreat on May 10, 2002. The Committee subsequently incorporated 
revisions identified at the retreat and circulated the resulting second draft at the end of 
May to all employees, to the Coordinating Counci l, to the Nationa l Advisory Board, and 
to the Board of Trustees . Beginning in late June and continuing through most of July , 
each of these groups discussed the document at length with the Self-Study Coordinating 
Committee and President Mendenhall. Each of these discussions produced valuable 
suggestions that the SSCC has incorporated in the final draft. 

We submit this document with since re thanks to all who contributed their time , their 
insight , and their expertise to helping us make this Self-Study process as constructive , 
thorough , and helpful as we on the SSCC have found it to be . We commend this report 
to the visiting evalua tion team and to the Interregional Accrediting Comm ittee in the 
belief that it provides an accurate, complete , and insightful portrait of Western 
Governors University today. 
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The Call for a New University 

The History 
The first general discussion of what was to become Western Governors University took 
place in the summer of 1995 at the meeting of the Western Governors Association in 
Park City, Utah. The chair of the Association at that time was Utah 's governor, Mike 
Leavitt, who already understood the revolutionary power of distance learning technolo
gies and foresaw their capacity to assist the Western states in addressing one of their 
most pressing problems-rapid population growth confronted by limited public funds for 
educational seivices. 

The Park City meeting surfaced another major theme-the need for increased quality 
assurance about educational outcomes. Then governor of Colorado, Roy Romer, who 
had recently chaired the Education Commission of the States, voiced this concern most 
clearly and became Governor Leavitt's principal partner in the new initiative. The gov
ernors agreed that the new university they had in mind would make maximum use of 
distance learning technologies, would be collaborative among the Western member 
states , and would use competency rather than seat time as the measure of its outcomes . 
This new institution would be different. 

The discussions in Park City produced a wave of energy that rolled forward through 
two yea rs of intense planning. The governors enlisted the Western Interstate 
Commission on Higher Education and the National Center for Higher Education 
Management Systems to help design the new university they envisioned. Five themes 
remained central to the effort: responsiveness to employment and societal needs; a 
focus on competency; expanding access; cost-effectiveness; and development of the par
ticipating states ' technology infrastructure. The university would be market-oriented, 
accredited, independent and degree-granting, though non-teaching . It would focus on 
two objectives: defining and assessing competencies, and creating an online catalog of 
distance learning courses and other materials that any interested learner could access 
and use. Rather than waste time and money developing its own courses, duplicating 
the work already done by count less other institutions, it would collabora te with partner
ing colleges, universities, corporations, and training organ izations to make the best of 
their distance learning materials available to students. 

Western Governors University became the official name of the new, private, nonprofit 
institution when the governors endorsed the Implementation Plan presented by their 
design team at the 1996 summer meeting of the Western Governors Association in 
Omaha, Nebraska. Initially , there were 11 participating states, a number that has since 
grown to 19. The governor of each participating state contributed $100,000 to support 
the university 's development , but since its founding , WGU has received no regular state 
funds. Most of its financing has come from foundations, corporations, the federal gov
ernment , and student tuition. 

~ GOVERNORS UNOVERSOTY 



Although WGU had a name, a charter, and the beginnings of an online catalog by the 
summer of 1996, it would be another three years of planning and development before it 
enrolled its first degree-seeking students . Much remained to be done after the Omaha 
meeting. Institutional guidance had to be ensured through the establishment of a Board 
of Trustees and a National Advisory Board . Moreover, no one had ever before tried to 
develop degree programs based exclusively on competencies. No one knew what 
assessments to use , or if they were available, or what it would take to develop them. 
Decisions on what degree programs to develop had to be made. Expert committees 
(later defined as councils) had to be established to preside over these matters and estab
lish academic policy . Administrative and academic .staff had to be appointed. 

Over the next three years , from the summer of 1996 through the summer of 1999, these 
matters were progressively resolved. The University was formally incorporated in 
January 1997, and its Board of Trustees and its National Advisory Board (NAB) were 
soon established and fully functioning. Twenty-two corporations and foundations are 
now members of the NAB. Each has made a minimum financial contribution of 
$250,000, and some have contributed in excess of $2 million to WGU's development. In 
addition , the federal government has contributed an average of $2 million in each of the 
past three fiscal years , and comparable support is anticipated in the current year. 

The University Today 
In keeping with its mission to address pressing societal needs with credible programs 
that produce competent graduates, the University has focused its degree efforts in three 
broad areas: information technology , business, and teacher education. All degrees are 
based entirely on the demonstration of competency. Students may take recommended 
courses from a variety of other institutions and, when they do , we record the results 
(passing grades and credits earned) on the WGU transcript. They do not, however, 
progress toward their WGU degrees on that basis . Degrees are not awarded on the 
basis of credits earned or GPA, but solely on the basis of the student 's ability to pass the 
WGU assessments. Reflecting our interest in students ' ability to do the things they know 
about, these examinations are always a mix of objective , essay , and "performance tasks ." 
The WGU transcript shows what skills were mastered in each area (what we call 
"domains ") of the degree, and what proportion of the whole degree the particular com
petency domain represents. 

WGU creates degree s through the leadership of Program Councils , of which there is one 
responsible for general education requirements across all undergraduate degrees , and 
one for each major area of academic focus-business , information technology , the Master 
of Arts in Learning and Technology, and the WGU Teachers College . These councils 
establish each degree 's design and its required competencies. Working in concert with 
the Program Councils , a separate Assessment Council has responsibility for establishing 
the assessments that will be used to measure the students ' competencies. All Councils 
include a broad range of outside experts drawn from both higher education and profes-

WESTERN GOVERNORS UNOI' 



sional practice . A WGU mentor and a member of the Assessment Council also sit on 
each Program Council to ensure good communication between those responsible for 
degree design and those who work directly with our students. 

The University has also remained committed to the founding governors' belief that it 
should essentially be a non-teaching institution, instead developing partnerships with 
other colleges, universities, corporations, and training organizations to use the quality 
courses they have already developed for distance teaching and learning. Our experi
ence has shown , however, that good mentoring often involves tutoring, if not quite 
direct instruction, and in one key area we have created and are teaching our own 
course because we could not find an acceptab le one among our partner institutions. 
(All of this history is explored at length in the following Self-Study.) Suffice to say here 
that while we remain committed to the non-teaching principle, experience has taught us 
that we cannot be rigid about it at the expense of our students . Meanwhile , we have 
continued to develop and refine our online catalog as an "open stack" resource accessi
ble to the general public for professional development or personal enrichment , as well 
as to WGU degree candidates in need of courses to help prepare for competency 
assessments . The catalog now contains over 1,200 courses from 45 partnering institu
tions. Most importantly for degree candidates, approximately 400 of the courses in the 
catalog are "mapped " to specific degree competencies , so that with mentor guidance a 
student can rapidly select a course for specific assessment preparation , knowing which 
competencies it covers and how deeply. 

At this writing, Western Governors University enrolls 605 students in degree or certificate 
programs and 1171 non-matriculated students in courses through the online cata log. 
Degree students come from 46 states and nine foreign countrie s; their average age is 40, 
and over 90 percent work full-time. To date , 13 students have graduated and approxi
mate ly 30 more are on track to graduate before the end of this calendar year . Most of 
these students say they had limited or no other access to higher education, and that 
WGU represented a unique opportunity to advance or comp lete their forma l education . 
To assist them in that process, the University currently employs 41 full-time and two 
part-time persons, including 10 full-time mentors. 

Programs 
WGU currently offers nine degree and 12 certificate programs, listed below with the 
year in which the program was introduced: 

Degrees: Introduced 
Associate of Arts 1999 
Associate of Science , Business 2000 
Associate of Science , Information Technology 2000 
Associate of Applied Science , Information Technology, 
Associate of Applied Science, 



Information Technology , CNE Emphasis 1999 
Network Administration 1999 

Bachelor of Science, Business 
Information Technology Management Emphasis 2001 
Human Resource Management Emphasis 2002 

Bachelor of Science , Computer Information Systems 2001 
Master of Arts, Learning and Technology 1999 

Certificates: 
Undergraduate: 

Business Foundations 2002 
Business and Technical Skills 2001 
Human Resource Management 2002 
Information Technology Fundamentals 2002 
Information Technology Management 

For Computer Professionals 2002 
For Business Professionals 2002 

Information Technology, 
Network Administration 2000 

Leadership 2001 
Software Engineering and Development 2002 

Graduate: 
Instructional Design 
Technology Leadership 

(for Utah Principals and Superintendents) 
Technology Proficiency 

The Future 

2001 
2001 

2001 

The next two to four fiscal years will see WGU degree development focus primarily on 
the Teachers College (described at length in the Self-Study). In that time, the following 
new degrees related to teacher education are planned for release: 

~ 
Teaching Certificate in Elementary Education 

(Emphasis in Reading) 
Bachelor of Arts in Interdisciplinary Studies 

(with Elementary Teaching Certification) 
Master of Arts in Teaching 

(Elementary Education) 
Teaching Endorsement in Secondary Mathematics 

(Middle and High School) 
Master of Arts in Mathematics Education 
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(Elementary , Middle , and High School) 
Professional Development Certificate in Elementary Mathematics 
Professional Development Certificate in Early Reading 

£ill)1 
Bachelor of Arts in Mathematics 

(with Secondary Teaching Certification) 
Master of Arts in Teaching 

(Secondary Mathematics) 
Master of Arts in Reading Education 
Teaching Endorsement in English Language Development 
Master of Arts in English Language Development 

~ 
Graduate Certificate in Reading Education 
Teaching Endorsement(s) in Science Discipline(s) 
Bachelor of Arts in Science Education 

(with Secondary Teaching Certification) 

Though the Teachers College receives primary emphasis in our near- to mid- term 
future, our development plan also calls for increasing the learning options in the busi
ness and information technology areas. In business, we intend to establish the WGU 
Center for Business Studies as the first step toward the possible later establishment of a 
College of Business analogous to the Teachers College. The center will offer a broad 
array of degree and certificate programs at the associate 's, bachelor 's, and ultimately , the 
master's levels. During the two years immediately ahead , we will add bachelor 's degree 
options in such areas as Management, Marketing , Finance , Accounting , and Sales. Since 
each of these new areas of emphasis involves creating only a single new competency 
domain-replacing the emphasis domain in Information Technology Management, for 
instance , with a domain in Finance or Marketing-scaling up at this rate is both realistic 
and achievable. In addition, we will continue to diversify the undergraduate business 
certificates we offer by breaking out individual domains within these business 
degrees-domains such as Leadership or Human Resource Management or Marketing, for 
instance-and offering them as stand-alone competency areas that students can pursue 
independent of a degree . Finally, although we do not intend to begin the research and 
development of graduate degree(s) for at least two years , we do plan to add graduate 
degree(s) to our business programs within the next five years. 

We also see our third area of curricular focus , Information Technology, as ready to 
become a center within the University, perhaps also as a prelude to becoming a college , 
and we will establish it as such during fiscal year 2003. WGU's Center for Information 
Techn ology Studies will expand its offerings primarily by adding more undergraduate 
certificates , derived from both our own degrees and those linked to the IT industry. 
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Although we will continue to consult with our National Advisory Board about the wis
dom of adding new IT degrees of our own, we do not expect to do so in the near term. 
Despite its current downturn, the IT industry moves too fast for us now to predict either 
the nature or timing of new degree options. Thus the emphasis over at least the next 
two years will remain on the expansion and marketing of our current degrees, and both 
the current and new certificates allied to them. To that end, we will add WGU certifi
cate options derived from domains in our current programs, in areas such as IT 
Fundamentals, Software Engineering and Development, Business IT Management, and 
Technology Management. We will also add more industry certification options as com
ponents of our IT associate's degrees. For instance, we now accept the CNE (Certified 
Novell Engineer) as a domain component of our Associate of Applied Science in 
IT/Network Administration. We will research and add other professional certification 
options , such as the MCSE (Microsoft Certified Systems Engineer), wherever we deter
mine them to be appropriate domain substitutions for our degrees. 

Recruiting 
Although born and raised in the West through its creation by the Western Governors 
Association , WGU already enrolls students throughout the United States. We recruit 
through a mixture of general and targeted strategies, using the Internet , personal visits 
to key locations of targeted organizations, and sector-related "education fairs." Research 
indicates that the Web now serves as the primary source for adults seeking information 
about colleges , especially those who are interested in online education , and our general 
recruiting efforts aim to take advantage of this medium. Accordingly , we promote our 
programs through a number of prominent sites such as AOL, Petersons.com, 
WorldWideLearn.com , Elearners.com, ClassesUSA.com, and Overture.com. 

Our recruiting program also targets audiences reachable both through the Internet and 
through other outreach activities . We have , for instance , developed special recruiting 
campaigns , as well as training and educational services, for government employees in 
our member states. Initially developed for employees in Arizona and Nevada, the cam
paign targets seven additiona l states in fiscal year 2003 and eventually aims to include 
all of our member states. Similarly, we develop special recruiting campaigns involving 
both the Internet, site visits, and other promotions for corporations and non-governmen
tal organizations ; for teachers , especially in our member states; and for community col
leges , especially for those institutions with whom we have articulation agreements . The 
University 's complete marketing and recruitment plan is included as an appendix to this 
Self-Study. 

Institutional Effectiveness 
WGU is an innovative institution building competency-based programs of study that are 
delivered primarily through the Internet. To guide our development through these 
uncharted waters , we maintain a comprehensive program of institutional review and 
self-reflection through which we assess our effectiveness , quality, and efficiency. 
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Summarizing here, the WGU Institutional Effectiveness Plan (addressed at length in 
Standard Ten) defines effectiveness as the extent to which we attract students , help 
them achieve their educational goals, and manage our resources. It measures quality 
through our learning outcomes assessments , periodic program reviews , and a series of 
surveys, and it measures efficiency through performance reports that track key indicators 
of student progress. 

As higher education continues to respond to calls for accountability from legislators , 
accreditors , and employers , and as competency assurance becomes ever more important 
in the world of work , WGU's importance as an educational paradigm will continue to rise . 
The University has remained faithful to its mission and its methods. It has defined and 
remained within its areas of curricular focus. It has changed those elements of its prac
tice where change would lead to improved student service, improved efficiency in oper
ation , and improved learning outcomes. It is poised now to fulfill its promise, and we 
look forward to achieving initial accreditation in recognition of our progress . 
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The Student Experience 

Because ours is a virtual university, WGU strives hard to make sure students feel "con
nected". The effort begins when a student is still a prospect and continues regularly 
until the day the student graduates. Most students have multiple contacts with the 
Enrollment and Admission departments, as well as the Bursar, Financial Aid Coordinator, 
Librarian, and Mentors. The following is a step-by-step highlight of how students 
engage with WGU from prospect to admissions, admissions to mentoring, mentoring to 
assessments , and assessments to graduation . 

Communicating with Student Prospects 
As one would expect, we obtain most WGU leads online from one source or another 
when a prospective student completes the WGU Inquiry Form. A small percentage of 
inquiries come initially via phone , and some leads are obtained through face-to-face 
contact at education fairs and conferences. 

Prospects have contact with WGU enrollment counselors as part of an organized 
Introductory Communications Plan. The plan includes 1) an initial email response with
in 24 hours , 2) phone contact within seven days, 3) a series of five email messages over 
five weeks, 4) follow-up phone calls, and 5) mailed material as needed. Enrollment 
counselors make repeated attempts to engage prospects in personal discussions that 
help answer questions about online learning, WGU's competency-based model , and the 
specific degree programs of interest. 

Admissions 
Once a student decides WGU is the right fit, s/ he completes the online application and 
pays the application fee . The Bursar sends a confirmation email to the student once 
payment is received , and this triggers the Admissions Coordinator to review the online 
application for completeness and to ascertain that the student meets the admissions cri
teria for the particular program. If needed , additional communications occur via phone 
and email. 

Once admitted, the student receives a postal letter from President Mendenhall welcom
ing him or her to the University. At the same time , the Admissions Coordinator sends a 
congratulatory email that also explains the next steps in the process. 

The Admissions office guides the student through the following: 
• Skills Survey: Each student completes a questionnaire that asks the student to 

reflect on past education and work experience, short- and long-term goals, under
standing of WGU's competency-based model , preferred method of communication, 
hours planned to dedicate to studying , as well as other questions that will guide 
the student 's first conversation with a mentor. (The skills survey may also include 
specific questions that ask the student to identify his or her skill levels in relation-
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ship to individual competencies .) 

• Intake Interview: The intake interview with an admissions counselor allows the 
student to get more information about WGU and for the admissions counse lor to 
ensure that WGU is the right fit for the student . 

• Pre-Assessment: The student takes an online pre-assessment that will later be used 
to help guide the development of a personalized Academic Action Plan (AAP). 

• Transcripts: Depending on the level of the program , the student is either required 
or asked to subm it transcripts of prior academic accomplishments to guide the 
development of the AAP. 

The new student also receives a welcome email from his or her mentor shortly after 
being admitted and an email from the WGU librarian explaining library services and 
access. 

Getting Started 
New students all begin their WGU academic experience with an introductory course 
called Education Without Boundaries, designed to help them acclimate themselves to 
online learning and thus succeed at WGU. The course lasts for four weeks and begins 
on the first business day of every month. The student learns about distance learning , 
WGU's competency-based model , learning preferences , time management , conducting 
research at a distance , online communication tools , how to participate actively as a 
member of a learning community, and other skills and information that will help the 
student succeed at WGU. 

Working with a Mentor to Develop a Personal Academic Action Plan 
During the third week of the Education Without Boundaries course , the student's men
tor contacts the student to begin discussions about creating a personal Academic Action 
Plan. The AAP is a critical component of a student 's experience at WGU. It serves as 
the road map to achieve the student 's educational goals. This individualized plan of 
study derives from the student 's performance on the pre-assessment, responses on the 
skills survey, evaluation of previous college transcripts, work experience , and personal 
educational goals . 

The student and mentor develop an AAP that specifies the courses and other learning 
opportunities the student will use in preparing for the assessments , the projected dates 
when assessments will be taken, and a projected graduation date . The student and 
mentor discuss the AAP in detail, and once the student agrees to it, she or he begins 
work in one or more areas of the degree (WGU calls these "domains ") by engaging in 
the learnin g opportunities specified in the plan. r GO V ERNORS UN>VERSOT Y 



Mentoring and Learning Resources 
The student-mentor relationship is a powerful component of the WGU educationa l 
experience. A student's mentor is much more than an academic advisor. Mentors take 
a personal interest in the success of the student and, over time , also serve as coach, 
tutor , cheerleader, and occasional goad . The student and mentor communicate by email 
or phone at least every two weeks. 

As a student proceeds through the AAP, she or he will also have direct contact with the 
professors and fellow students in classes taken from WGU's education providers. These 
communications can take a variety of forms, depending upon each professor's 
approach. Throughout the process, the student still remains in touch with the mentor. 
Once the student completes the learning opportunities the mentor has recommended in 
the AAP for a given domain , she or he will consult with the mentor to decide if it's time 
to attempt the domain assessments. If the student is ready, the mentor refers the stu
dent to the assessment team for assessment scheduling and delivery. This is an ongoing 
process as the student proceeds through each domain . 

Assessments 
Proctored domain assessments are a serious part of the WGU educational program. The 
assessment team makes arrangements with a qualified assessment center near the stu
dent to deliver the assessments and notifies the mentor once the test results are 
received. It is the mentor's responsibility to evaluate the assessment results for the stu
dent and , if the student did not pass, guide the student to additional learning resources 
to prepare to take the assessment again. 

When the student has passed all the required domain assessments (which include a 
combination of essay assessments, objective assessments, and performance tasks), he or 
she completes either a final portfolio or capstone project , depending on the degree pro
gram , demonstrating the ability to integrate all of the competencies acquired in the 
degree. 

Graduation 
When the student receives a passing score on the portfolio or capstone project, the 
mentor initiates the final steps to make certain the student has met all of WGU's aca
demic and financial requirements. That done , the Provost and Academic Vice President 
recommends the student for graduation to the Board of Trustees , who formally confer 
the degree, and the University sends a diploma and final transcript to the student. To 
date, whenever possible , the University has also held specia l recognition ceremonies for 
new graduates either at meetings of the Board of Trustees or in the offices of the gover
nor in the student's home state. 
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Milestones Since Candidacy 

The following developments are presented in approximate chrono logical order: 

November 21 2000 
Western Governo rs University received Candidacy for Accreditation from the 
Interregional Accrediting Committee. 

December 2000 
Ms. Gennie Kirch, a fourth-grade teacher in Utah's Weber School District , became 
WGU's first graduate, earning the Master of Arts in Learning and Technology. 

JanuaIV 2001 
The University merged its Colorado academic office with its main administrative office in 
Salt Lake City to increase efficiency and reduce costs . Its mentors , like their students, 
continue to work from wherever their homes may be around the country. 

The University began the planning for a Teachers College and appointed Dr. Marti 
Garlett to lead that effort as Dean. 

FebruaIV 2001 
WGU enrollment included 200 degree-seekin g students and 300 non-degree students. 

The United States Congress awarded WGU a grant of $2.5 million to cont inue develop
ing its competency-based programs. 

~ 
The Northwest Association of Schools and Colleges approved WGU's first bachelor's 
degree, the Bachelor of Science in Business-Information Technology Management 
Emphasis, and the first upper division stud ents enrolled in the program. 

"Nevada State Government University" came online as a service of Western Governors 
University to one of its member states. The partnership allows Nevada government 
emp loyees to develop and complete an online , personalized training and education pro
gram usin g the resources of WGU's Web site, online catalog, and enrollment counselors. 

May 2001 
The Northwest Associat ion of School s and Colleges approved WGU's second bachelor 's 
degree, the Bachelor of Science in Computer Information Systems, and students began 
to enroll in the program. 

June 2001 
The Distan ce Education and Training Council awarded WGU national accreditation at its 
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annual meeting in San Francisco. 

Ms. Terry Hamm, a human services employee of the State of Alaska , received WGU's 
first Associate of Arts degree at a ceremony in Anchorage with Lieutenant Governor 
Fran Ulmer and Provost Douglas Johnstone in anendance. Ms. Hamm continues her 
studies in WGU's Bachelor of Science in Business. 

Tuly 2001 
"Arizona State Government University" came online, offering the same services devel
oped for Nevada. A similar partnership began with the National Urban League to pro
vide professional development counseling and online educational programs for its 
national staff. And in still another variant of such partnerships , WGU and Sitting Bull 
College, a tribal institution in South Dakota, began a program whereby SBC students 
interested in careers in information technology could take courses through the WGU 
catalog and receive career counseling from our mentors. 

August 2001 
The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation awarded WGU a $1 million grant over three 
years, matched by an equal amount from the State of Utah, to train school principals 
and superintendents in technology leadership. "Technology for Principals Leading Utah 
Schools" CT-PLUS) will prepare two thirds of Utah 's school leaders over three years to 
analyze, develop , implement , and refine educational technology plans for their schools . 
The Gates Foundation has supported such projects in all 50 states , but the WGU pro
gram is unique in providing such a program exclusively online, and in a competency
based framework. 

September 2001 
The United States Department of Education awarded WGU a Star Schools grant of $10 
million over five years to develop a nationally recognized , online, competency-based 
Teachers College that will help to redress the nation 's looming teacher shortage. Over 
the next five years, the College will develop and offer both bachelor 's and master 's 
degrees , certification, and subject area endorsements at both the elementary and second
ary school levels. Although the programs will be available nationally, WGU will first 
emphasize service to its 19 member states. 

Dece mber 2001 
WGU mentors introduce Education Without Boundaries , the University 's first and only 
required course for all students. Led by WGU faculty, the course introduces new stu
dents to distance learning, independent study , and research skills, and in it all students 
prepare with their mentors their degree plans-the Academic Action Plan . 

Tanua ry 2002 
The Northwest Association of Schools and Colleges approved WGU's third bachelor 's 
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degree, the Bachelor of Science in Business-Human Resource Management Emphasis, 
and students began to enroll in the program. 

February 2002 
The Western Governors Association Foundation announced a commitment to raise funds 
over the next four years for 1,000 scholarships that will enable prospective and current 
teachers in our 19 member states to earn bachelor 's and master 's degrees through the 
WGU Teachers College . 

The University 's enrollment included 500 degree-seeking students and 2000 non-degree 
students. 

The United States Congress awarded WGU $1.8 million to continue developing its pro
grams . 

Tune 2002 
Mr. Gregory Marshall becomes WGU's 10th graduate, earning the Associate of Science in 
Information Technology. Mr. Marshall continues to work toward his Bachelor of Science 
degree in Computer Information Systems. 

September 2002 
Self-Study for initial accreditation submitted to the Interegional Accrediting Committee . 
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The Eligibility Requirements 

As specified in the responses below , Western Governors University (WGU) continues to 
fulfill all of the Eligibility Requirements established for it by the Interregional Accrediting 
Committee (IRAC). 

ER#l Authority 
The institution is authorized to operate as an educational institution and award degrees 
by an appropriate governmental organization or agency as required by each of the juris
dictions or regions in which it operates. 

The University is incorporated in the State of Utah, where its administrative operations 
are located , and its programs are auth orized to operate by the Utah State Board of 
Regents. As an institution accredited by the Distance Education and Training Counci l, a 
national accrediting organization recognized by the U.S. Department of Education, Utah 
has exempted WGU from any further requirement to register its programs with the State . 
A letter certifying the exemption is included in Exhibit 1 of this Self-Study. 1 As an 
online institution with no physical presence in any other state, Western Governors 
University does not have to obtain authorization to operate in all of the states where 
students are enrolled. However, in those states where it is necessary, the University has 
sought and obtained the ne cessary approvals. Copies of the approval letters are also 
included in Exhibit l. 

ER#2 Mission 
The institution 's mission is clearly defined and adopted by its governing board consistent 
with its legal authorization, and is appropriate to a degree granting institution of higher 
education. 

The University 's purposes are set forth in its Articles of Incorporation , (Exhibit 2) which 
also estab lish its Board of Trustees. The University's mission statement derived from the 
purposes defined in the Articles and was first adopted by the Board in December, 1997. 
It was revised slightly by the Trustees in March, 1999, by deleting references to "region
al" operation, thereby expanding WGU's potential service area to national and interna
tional audiences. The mission has been reviewed and reaffirmed annually without 
change by the Trustees since then, most recently at their meeting on March 19, 2002. 
The mission statement is quoted in full in our response to Standard One on page 32. 

ER#3 Governing Board 
The institution bas a functioning governing board responsible for the quality and integri
ty of the institution and for ensuring that the institution's mission is being carried out . 
Its membership is sufficient in size and composition to fulfill all board responsibilities. 
The governing board is an independent policy-making body, capable of reflecting con-

1 All exhibits are available for team inspection on site in Salt Lake City. 



stituent and public interest in board activiti es and decisions. A majority of the board 
members have no contractual , employment , family or personal finan cial interest in the 
institution. 

The Articles of Incorporation empower the Trustees to appoint and sustain their mem 
bership , and to devel op governance structures that ensure effective oversight of the 
University. The Bylaws of the University stipul ate that the Board of Trustees will num
ber no fewer than nine and no more than twenty-two members . The Board currently 
includ es fifteen memb ers , among them five gove rnors, four corporate executives , two 
university presidents emeriti, a state high er edu cation exec utive officer, and two founda
tion executive directors, thus ensuring a variety of per spec tives from industry, public 
affairs, higher education, and philanthropy . Its work is distributed throu gh several 
standing committees, including an Executive Committee; an Academic Policy Committee; 
a Finance, Audit, and Compensation Committee ; and a Nominating Committe e . The 
Board meets quarterly to review the work of its standin g committees and to monitor and 
guide the opera tion of the University . Of the member ship , only President Mend enhall 
has a contractual , salaried relationship with the University, while two other Boar d mem
be rs have a part-tim e consulting arrangement with it. The Articles of Incorporati on and 
the Bylaws of the Western Governors University are included as Exhibit 2 of this Self
Study; the members of the Board are listed in Standard Three. 

ER#4 Chief Executive Officer 
Tbe institution bas a chief executive officer who is appointed by the governing board and 
whose primary responsibility is to the institution. The chief execu tive officer may not 
serve as the chair of the institution 's govern ing board . 

The Board of Trustees appo inted Robert W. Mendenhall President and CEO of Western 
Gove rnors University in March, 1999. Mr. Mendenhall has serve d full-time as President 
since his appo intment and has no other occupational responsibility. He answers to the 
Board of Trustees but does not and cann ot serve as Chair or Co-Chair. 

ER#5 Administrative Capacity 
Tbe instituti on provides the admini strative services necessary to support its mission and 
purpose. 

The University has expan ded its adm inistrative capacity acco rding to plan and in pace 
with its enro llments. With one excep tion , all positions in service at the time of 
Candid acy (November 2000) have bee n maintained , and there has been relatively little 
adm inistrative turn ove r. The only position eliminated until enrollmen t growt h warrants 
restaffing is the position of Registrar. The respons ibilities of that office were integrated 
with those of the Director of Academic Services ea rly in 2001. Elsewhere, we added a 
bursar to assist with billings and collections, adde d two individual s to our marketing 
staff to support our recru iting effort , and appo inted a new Vice President for Marketing 
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to replace the individual who resigned that position due to illness. In addition, in 
January 2001, we established the WGU Teachers College and appointed its Dean. Later 
in the year we appointed a Director of Assessment for the Teachers College. And final
ly, we established a new office of institutional research and linked it to the University's 
overall assessment functions, since they are so central to our effectiveness. A complete 
WGU organizational chart is included in the discussion of Standard Three in the Self
Study 

ER#6 Operational Status 
By the time it seeks candidacy, the institution is operational with students actively pursu
ing its degree programs. 

When WGU sought Candidacy , it had students actively engaged in its Associate of Arts, 
Associate of Science , Associate of Applied Science , and Master of Arts programs. Since 
then it has added three bachelor's degrees, three undergraduate certificate programs, 
and one graduate certificate program to its offerings. Students are now actively pursu
ing degrees or certificates at the associate's, bachelor's, and master's levels. Overall 
enrollments have more than tripled , the University has produced 13 graduates, and as 
many as 30 additional graduates are projected by year's end , 2002. 

ER#7 Degrees 
A substantial porlion of the institution 's education programs lead to degrees, and a sig
nificant proponion of its students are enrolled in them . 

WGU currently offers 21 credentials of which nine are degree programs and 11 are cer
tificates that can lead to degree programs: 

Degrees 
Associate of Arts , General Education 
Associate of Science, Business 
Associate of Science, Information Technology 
Associate of Applied Science, Information Technology-CNE (Certified 

Novell Engineer) Emphasis 
Associate of Applied Science, Information Technology-Network Administration 
Bachelor of Science, Business-Information Technology Management Emphasis 
Bachelor of Science, Business-Human Resource Management Emphasis 
Bachelor of Science, Computer Information Systems 
Master of Arts, Learning and Technology 

Certificates 
Undergraduate: 

Business Foundations 
Human Resource Management 
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Business and Technical Skills 
Leadership 
Information Technology, 

Network Administration 
Information Technology Fundamentals 
Software Engineering and Development 
Information Technology Management 

For Computer Professionals 
For Business Professionals 

Graduate: 
Technology Proficiency 
Instructional Design 

The University offers one other credent ial that does not lead to a degree and is restrict
ed to Utah school principals and sup erintendents in a special program: the graduate 
Certificate in Technology Leadership. 

Enrollment as of August 1, 2002, was 1,776 students of whom 605 were degree candi
dates and 1,171 were non-degree candidates enrolled in individual courses through the 
WGU catalog or other outreach initiatives. 

As part of our effort to fulfill the aspect of our mission concerned with expanding 
access to post-secondary education, we have several outreach initiatives with partners 
such as the National Urban League and Sitting Bull College, and we offer courses to 
employees of corporations and state governments via WGU "EduLink" Web sites. For 
example , we have partnered with Arizona State Government to address the educat iona l 
needs of its employees by developing the Arizona Government University, which allows 
state employees to access a portal that guides them to training resources, various learn
ing opportunities, and WGU programs. Through collaborations like this we expand our 
educational services while creating pipelines for increased enrollment in WGU pro
grams. The employees typically begin taking individual courses that can lead to the 
competencies required for a WGU degree or credential. 

Even though a large proportion of our enrollments are gained through outreach initia
tives, we recognize minimal revenue from those enrollments because students are sim
ply enrolling in courses and are not utilizing our student support services or mentoring 
services. Our degree-seeking students remain our highest priority and absorb the great 
majority of our operational resources. 

ER#S Education Programs 
The institution 's degree programs are congruent with its mission, are based on recog
nized field(s) of study , are of sufficient content and length, and are conducted at levels 
of quality and rigor appropriate to the degrees offered. 
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We have concentrated degree development efforts in three primary, mission-compatible 
areas: (a) information technology, (b) business, and (c) education. All are broadly rec
ognized fields of study in American higher education; they are known to be high 
demand areas in our member states and the nation at large, and they are amenable to 
competency development and assessment. Our distance delivery expands access by 
allowing students to study independent of time or place, and through competency 
assessments we both recognize the expertise they have gained from a variety of sources 
and ensure consistency and reliability in learning outcomes. 

We employ an extensive development and review process to ensure that our programs 
are of sufficient content and length and are conducted at levels of quality and rigor 
appropriate for the degrees offered. WGU academic staff and mentors , in partnership 
with program councils , guide all program development. Program councils consist of 
external faculty and industry experts who decide which competencies should be includ
ed in the program and, in turn, work closely with our assessment council to determine 
how the competencies will be assessed. The program councils continue to advise and 
assist the academic staff and mentors in the development of new educational opportuni
ties and program reviews. The program councils ' involvement in program development 
and reviews , as well as student and mentor feedback, ensure the quality and rigor of 
our programs. Our degrees are continually evaluated against the current offerings from 
other institutions of higher education, as well as against industry requirements. Based 
on external reviews , the program councils have determined that associate-level pro
grams are at least equivalent to 60 semester hours of credit; the bachelor-level programs 
are equivalent to at least 120 semester hours of credit ; and the Master of Arts in 
Learning and Technology is at least equivalent to 45 semester hours of credit in tradi
tional programs. 

ER#9 Portability Of Learning 
The institution adopts and publishes clearly stated policies and procedures regarding 
portability of achieved learning. 

The University has clear guidelines and procedures for the transferability of student 
learning for those transferring both in and out of WGU. For students transferring out, 
we do not award credit hours or credit-hour equivalents for our degrees or assessments. 
Instead , during the degree development and review process , councils are asked to 
ensure , based on their experience , that the "weight" or amount of required learning, 
compares favorably to traditional credit systems. The mentors and council members 
then work together to determine what proportion of a degree each domain represents 
(see Appendix 1: Sample Transcripts, p. 173).2 WGU transcripts include this information 
to assist others in determining how to translate a competency-based model into a credit
based model. For example, an undergraduate degree is listed as equivalent to a 60-
credit-hour program and the transcript will report that a given domain accounts for a 

2 All Appendices are attached to the Self~Study. 
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specific percentage of the degree. WGU does not explicitly say that such a domain is 
worth so many credit hours but provides the tools to facilitate that translation by the 
receiving institution. Thus, for instance, a domain considered to be 15 percent of a 60-
credit degree could be translated as the equivalent of nine semester hours in a tradition
al program . In addition to this basic policy affecting portability, we have established a 
number of articulation agreements with other institutions to assist transferring students 
still further. 

Students who take courses from other colleges and universities through the WGU 
Catalog may also have those courses recognized and applied to degree requirements by 
receiving institutions , either as part of a WGU degree or separately . We include such 
courses on our official transcripts , though recognition of these credit hours would be 
the prerogative of the receiving institution. 

Clear guidelines and procedures are in place for students transferring into the University. 
Our evaluation of transfer students makes clear how lower-division academic work from 
regionally accredited institutions is to be applied to our lower-division degree require
ments , and who is responsible for these evaluations (see Exhibit 3 for a copy of this and 
other "Academic Policies "). In addition , there are articulation agreements in place with 
two-year colleges that clearly describe the transferability of credit. These and other rele
vant policies are discussed, as appropriate , with students by the enrollment staff, their 
mentors , and the Director of Academic Services. All policies are likewise availab le to 
students electronically through the Student Handbook at www.wgu.edu. 

ER#l0 Educational Objectives 
The institution defines and publishes for each program the program '.s educational objec
tives for the students. 

Every WGU degree is competency based. For each degree there are clearly defined sets 
of knowledge , skills, and abilities that are measured through a series of assessments. 
These educational objectives , or competencies, are listed on the WGU website and are 
included in every student's Academic Action Plan . 

ER#ll General Education 
The institution defines and incorporates into all of its undergraduate degree programs a 
substantial component of general education designed to ensure breadth of knowledge 
and promote intellectual inquiry. 

We define and incorporate general education competencies into all of our undergradu
ate degree programs to ensure breadth of knowledge and to promote intellectual 
inquiry. Our undergraduate programs include domains and competency assessments in 
language and communication, quantitative literacy , distribution (social sciences , natural 
sciences , and humanities) , and collegiate-level reasoning and problem solving. The 
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general education requirements comprise 100 percent of the Associate of Arts degree, 60 
percent of the Associate of Science degrees, 45 percent of the Associate of Applied 
Science degrees, and 30 percent of the (upper-division) Bachelor of Science degrees. 
The balance of the studies in all these degrees is focused on professional or technical 
areas . 

ER#12 Faculty 
The institution has a core of qualified faculty with primary responsibility to the institu
tion and sufficient in size to support all of the institution's educational programs. The 
institution provides a clear statement off acuity responsibilities including development 
and review of curriculum as well as assessment of learning. 

There are currently 10 full-time faculty at WGU, all of whom serve as mentors. They 
form the bedrock of the University's service to students - the critical link between 
them and the educational resources they need to develop the competencies required for 
graduation. Mentors assist students in their educational planning and progress from 
entry to exit. They also perform a variety of other duties , including learning resource 
development (such as identifying appropriate courses and mapping them to WGU 
degree competencies, and locating texts, Web sites, and other media resources for stu
dents to use for independent study) ; developing and revising assessments; tutoring stu
dents in the WGU introductory course, in their portfolio projects, and in their culminat
ing degree studies; mapping provider courses to competencies; serving on University 
committees; and conducting their own professional development.3 

WGU's mentor model , in which partner institutions carry the great majority of instruc
tion , makes it difficult to compare workloads across institutional types. We continue to 
project a mentor:student ratio of 1:100 in undergraduate programs and 1:80 in graduate 
programs , which we believe is comparable to more traditional senings in which faculty 
carry both significant instructional responsibilities and a number of advisees. Although 
our model has yet to be fully tested because most of our programs are still building 
enrollments and we always appoint faculty before the students arrive to need their serv
ices, evidence to date indicates that our mentors are serving their students effectively . 

All mentors have a common, baseline job description (attached as Appendix 2: Mentor 
and Program Coordinator Job Descriptions, p. 191) but the weight given to its individual 
components will vary with circumstance , including such things as enrollment levels, new 
program development tasks , marketing assignments, and so on . Each mentor 's responsi
bilities are reviewed at least annually with his or her academic manager and adjusted in 
light of current priorities. In addition , one mentor serves as Program Coordinator for 
each broad degree area , functioning somewhat like a department chair in more tradi-

3 Councils of externa l faculty also serve an important curriculum design, consulting, and quali ty-con trol role in assur
ing the quality of the competencies and assessments that define the program outcomes. They also se rve on capstone 
committees to assure the quality of the graduates and their work, to help mentor the full-time mentor faculty, and to 
feed information back to programs for improvem ent. For more on WGU Councils, see Standards Thr ee and Six. 
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tional institutions (anached as Appendix 2). Coordinators have leadership responsibili
ties such as course mapping, arranging capstone study comminees, orienting new men
tors in their areas, and chairing their Program Council meetings. Each counci l conducts 
a thorough review of the programs in its jurisdiction every two years; the Coordinating 
Council, acting under the leadership of the Provost, schedules these reviews . 

ER#l3 Student Services 
The institution provides for all of its students appropriate student services and develop
ment programs consistent with student characteristics and its institutional mission. 

Student services support the University's mission to provide access independent of time 
and place. They include: (a) enrollment counselors, (b) mentors, (c) assessment sched
uling and delivery, (d) library services , (e) bursar , (f) federal financial aid , (g) online cat
alog, (h) Web portal to view student records and access communication tools, (i) tutor 
network, (j) access to online learning communities, (k) mandatory student introductory 
course , (I) career advising center, and (m) bookstore. Our student support services are 
oriented to meet the needs of our adult student population. For example, we provide 
access to all student support services via the Internet allowing students to accomplish 
most of their activities, such as paying tuition, enrolling in courses, viewing their student 
record, accessing the library, completing financial aid applications , and communicating 
with their mentor and peers, via their individualized Web portal called MY.WGU (WGU's 
name for its version of the Campus Pipeline portal). 

Due to the online availability of services , our students have not expressed a need for 
24/ 7 telephone support. However, our student services center is available 8am-5pm, 
MT, Monday-Friday for telephone support and all electronic correspondence is returned 
in 48 hours or less . 

Absent a residency requirement , we recognize the importance of our student support 
services staff as the face and voice of WGU and the primary connection between our 
students and the University. 

ER#l4 Admissions 
The institution has adopted and adheres to admission policies consistent with its mission 
that specify the qualifications of students appropriate for its programs. 

True to our mission to expand access to post-secondary education, WGU adheres to an 
open admission policy. We do not discriminate on the basis of race , color, national ori
gin, sex, religion, ancestry , sexual orientation, disability or military or veteran status. 
Students whose primary language is not English are required to have a TOEFL score of 
at least 550. All students must be willing to travel to secure testing centers for the deliv
ery of our assessments. Our assessment team works with the student to identify a test
ing center as close to the student 's home or work as possible. 
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Students applying to an undergraduate WGU degree or certificate program must be at 
least 16 years old and possess either a high school diploma or equivalent, or demon
strate an ability to benefit (ATB) by meeting the national ATB standards on an approved 
assessment. Without the high school diploma or its equivalent, an individual may be 
admitted to an undergraduate certificate program and upon successful completion of the 
certificate, the student may then be admitted into an associate's degree program. 
Students app lying to the graduate program must possess a baccalaureate degree and 
provide transcripts of such from an accredited institution. Some credentia l or degree 
programs may impose additional admissions requirements, all of which are described in 
the Student Handbook. 

We recognize that our unique competency-based model coupled with distance delivered 
content and services may not be the best fit for all students. Therefore, all students are 
required to complete an admissions interview with the enrollment manager or enroll
ment counselor to discuss the program prior to enrollment in the student introductory 
course. Each student is also required to complete an online questionnaire that asks the 
student to reflect on his or her decision to attend WGU and gives the student services 
staff and mentors a tool to gauge the student 's understanding of WGU. We try to assure 
that each student is a good match for our university; this plays a significant role in our 
retention strategies. 

ER#l5 Information and Learning Resources 
The institution owns or otherwise provides access to sufficient information and learning 
resources and services to support its mission and all of its educational programs. 

WGU continues to aggregate quality educational content and learning opportunities 
from an extensive network of education provider partners . We publish an up-to-date 
listing of these educational opportunities in our online catalog, where students (with 
guidance from their mentors) can choose from over 1,200 distance courses from approx
imately 45 institutions. On the WGU Web site , students can search the catalog by a 
variety of criteria (e .g ., mapped courses by degree domain , subject, provider, delivery 
method, keyword, etc.), see a complete course description if not syllabus, and investi
gate how closely the course aligns with the competencies of the degree program. The 
courses and learning opportunities used in WGU's degree programs are strategically 
selected by mentors who work with students in building individualized academic pro
grams using the highest quality resources that align closely ("map") with the degree 
competencies . Although 70 percent of our education providers (EP) are accredited col
leges and universities , the University also works with commercial providers (publishers , 
training companies, and education enterprises) since our programs are competency
based . WGU's concern is not the sources of the learning, but with their efficiency and 
effectiveness in preparing students to demonstrate their competency through assessment. 

Through this network of education provider courses, as well as through mentor-selected 
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independent learning opportunities, online library, and bookstore services, WGU is able 
to supply a rich array of instructional resources to support its mission and all of its edu
cational programs. The recommended paths developed by our mentors show that we 
have at least three learning resources to cover each competency, and mentors have 
mapped hundreds of additional resources that support specific competencies. The EP 
Advisory Council, EP Selection Committee, and the EP Operations Committee work 
together with the University to assure that this model for learning resources provides the 
highest quality education available to WGU students. (See Standard Five for a full dis
cussion of these groups.) As additional learning resource needs arise, the University 
enters into strategic alliances with quality distance education providers to meet those 
needs. We also have the flexibility of contracting for course development and delivery, 
hosting instruction ourselves, or hiring tutors to support students' independent study 
work under the direction of their mentors. 

ER#16 Financial Resources and Accountability 
The institution documents a funding base, financial resources, and plans for financial 
development adequate to support its mission and educational programs and to assure 
financial stability. Tbe institution regularly undergoes and makes available an external 
financial audit by a certified public accountant or an audit by an appropriate public 
audit agency. 

The University has demonstrated and continues to confirm that it has adequate financial 
resources to support its programs and services and to assure its continued growth into a 
credible and marketable institution of quality higher education. Since inception, WGU 
has received $26 million in cash and in-kind support from a strong, committed and var
ied funding base , including private foundations and corporations , member state govern
ments, and the federal government. Over half of this funding has come from entities 
who have contributed on a multi-year basis, including AT&T, Novell, 3COM, Sun 
Microsystems, Sylvan Prometric , Qwest, Gates Foundation, Swartz Foundation, Sloan 
Foundation, and the federal government. WGU has over $9 million in future funding 
commitments. Financial resource allocation , financial planning, financial management, 
and lastly, financial stability all support the goals and mission of the institution. The 
University's four-year financial projection is an integral part of a larger strategy and plan
ning document that is reviewed twice yearly by its managers, and a large and growing 
portion of the annual budget is allocated to the support and continued development of 
academic programs and services. 

The University has operated on a balanced budget for the past three years. Each year, it 
obtains an external financial audit and a Federal compliance audit from Pricewaterhouse 
Coopers , a reputable CPA firm specializing in the higher education industry. All audit 
reports and financial statements are made available to accreditors and other agencies as 
appropriate. Since inception , all audits have resulted in clean opinions. 
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ER#l 7 Integrated Planning 
The institution provides evidence of basic planning to achieve candidacy and ultimately 
accreditation which integrates plans for academic, personnel, information , and learning 
resources, and financial development . 

The WGU planning process occurs each year in two phases. It begins with strategic 
discussions in November to January with the senior management team, the faculty and 
counci ls, and the Trustees about progress relative to goals in the year just completed , as 
well as priorities and plans for the next three years . This strategic phase of the annua l 
planning cycle establishes key objectives for the immediate future and allows any refo
cusing of long-term goals that may be necessary. The results are incorporated into a 
revision of the University's Development Plan , which is then further reviewed by 
University staff, Council members, Trustees, and National Advisory Board members (see 
Appendix 3: WGU Development Plan, p. 197, and the exhibit room for all prior develop
ment plans). The results are fed back into the monthly Operations Review meetings of 
the senior management team, so that adjustm ents can be made and coordinated as nec
essary. The planning integrates priorities for degrees and programs, academic resources, 
academic support, other support investments, marketing and enrollments, institutional 
effectiveness, and revenues and expenses. 

The second , tactical phase of planning occurs from May to July and results in the annua l 
operational plan and budget for the new fiscal year. At this time, each major opera
tional area of the University develops its specific budget request, based on its action 
plan for the year, and the President confirms allocations following formal approva l of 
the budget by the Board of Trustees . The operational plan is reviewed monthly in 
Operations Review meetings by the senior management team , and quarterly by the 
Board of Trustees. Minutes of the Operations Review meetings are available for inspec
tion. 

ER#18 Institutional Evaluation 
The institution engages in systematically evaluating bow well and in what ways it is 

accomplishin g its purposes , including assessment of student learning and documentation 
of institutional effectiveness. 

We have identifi ed three measures of institutional effective ness-student enrollment , stu
dent progress toward educational goals (including retention and graduation rates) , and 
managing to our resources . The appropriate manager reports the appropriate data at 
monthly Operation Review meetings (the Enrollment Manager , Director of Academic 
Services, and Director of Finance and Human Resources respectively). The President 
reports on these measures quarterly to the Board of Trustees. 

The University relies on three activities to ensur e academic program quality: academ ic 
outcomes assessment , academic program review , and student satisfaction surveys. 
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Assessment of student learning occurs as students complete degree requirements . 
Students cannot achieve their educational goals at WGU without passing a series of 
assessment batteries designed to assure the competencies required for graduation. A 
comprehensive academic program review is conducted for each program every two 
years. Students are surveyed regarding their satisfaction with their program, assessment 
scheduling and delivery, learning opportunities from the WGU catalog, and with new 
student experiences. 

WGU also concerns itself with how efficient it is in serving students. Typically these 
data elements are not reviewed at the senior management level, but are used instead by 
academic managers to determine either the availability of services to students (e.g., cata
log courses that map to WGU competencies) or how well key support services are 
meeting students' needs (e.g., outstanding assessment referrals) . 

What data is used , how it is reported, how it is used, and the integration of effective
ness , quality, and efficiency with WGU's mission, goals, and priorities is summarized in 
the WGU Institutional Effectiveness Plan and under Standards Four and Ten. 

ER#l9 Public Information 
The institution publishes in its catalog or other appropriate places accurate and current 
information that describes purposes and objectives, admission requirements and proce
dures, rules and regulations directly affecting students, programs and course, degrees 
offered and the degree requirements, costs and refund policies, grievance procedures , 
academic credentials of faculty and administrators, and other items relative to attending 
the institution and withdrawing from it. 

Our Web site is the source document for all of our public information; this allows us to 
update the information quickly. Our Web site has been designed to ensure that current 
and accurate information can be easily accessed with minimal number of clicks from the 
WGU home page at http://www .wgu.edu . Information describing our purposes and 
objectives can be found on our vision , history , and mission page at 
http:/ /www.wg u.edu/wgu/about/vision history.html. Admissions requirements , degrees 
and degree requirements, rules and regulations directly affecting students, costs and 
refund policies , grievance procedures, and other items relative to attending and with
drawing from WGU can be found in our Student Handbooks at 
http:Uwww.wg u.edu/wgu/academics/student info.html. Our degrees and degree 
requirements along with the academic credentials of our faculty can be accessed directly 
from the home page at www.wgu.edu. The courses offered by our affiliated education 
providers are listed in the searchable online catalog at http://www.wgu.edu/wgu /s mart
catalog/index.html. Our tuition policies are located at http :Uwww .wgu.edu/wgu/admis
sion / tuition.html and information regarding our federal financia l aid is located at 
http: //www.wg u.edu/wgu/union /a id.html . 

WESTERN GOVERNORS UN,~ 

I 29 



Information describing the mission , degree programs offered , admissions requirements 
and procedures, and tuition costs, can also be found in a number of printed and other 
electronic collateral materials that are distributed to prospective and enrolled students. 
These materials direct current and prospective students to the Web site as a source for 
more detailed information. Information contained on the Web site and in printed and 
electronic materials is updated as necessary in order to provide enrolled and prospective 
students with current and accurate information. 

ER#20 Relations With The Accrediting Commission 
Tbe governing board provides assurance to the !RAC that the institution adheres to the 
eligibility requirements , accreditation standards and policies of the !RAC; describes itself 
in identical terms to all its accrediting agencies , communicates any changes in its 
accredited status, and agrees to disclose information required by the !RAC to cany out its 
accrediting responsibilities. 

The Board of Trustees of Western Governors University fully subscribes to the accredita
tion standards , policies , and expectations of !RAC and the Distance Education and 
Training Council, the two accrediting organizations with which WGU is affiliated. The 
Board and staff of the University have always endeavored to meet the highest profes
sional standards of these organizations and to interact with them in an open, ethical and 
cordial manner. For instance , all press releases announcing University developments are 
routinely sent to the offices of the four regional accrediting associations comprising 
!RAC, as well as to the Distance Education and Training Council. In addition, we have 
submitted all reports required by the Northwest Association and/or the Federal govern
ment (e.g., IPEDS) on time and in full compliance . Finally, as a specific example of the 
positive relationship between WGU and the Northwest Association (IRAC's administra
tive "home " for these decisions) , we have obtained approval since receiving Candidacy 
to add three baccalaureate programs to our degree offerings. The first two of these pro
grams were also included in our DETC accreditation review in the spring of 2001. We 
submitted the third , the Bachelor of Science in Business / Human Resource Management 
Emphasis, simultaneously to NASC and DETC, and both accrediting groups approved 
the program early in 2002. 
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The Standards 

Standard One: Mission/Purpose 
The institution has essential statements of mission and goals that define the institution , 
including its educational activities, its students, and its place within the higher education 
community . These statements are included in its official publications, whether printed or 
electronic, including the institutional catalog. Its mission and goal statements are adopt
ed by its governing board . 

1.1 Tbe institutional mission and goal statements include educational and other 
objectives/or which accomplishment can be documented and made public . 

1.2 Mission and goals inform institutional decision-making . 
1.3 Tbe institution evaluates and revises as necessary its mission and goal statements 

on a regular basis. 

The Western Governors University mission statement , adopted by the Board of Trustees 
in December 1997 and revised slightly in March 1999, is reviewed annually by the 
Trustees and reads as follows : 

"The principal mission of Western Governors University is to improve quality and 
expand access to postsecondary educational opportunities by providing a means 
for individuals to learn, independent of time or place , and to earn competency
based degrees and other credentials that are credible to both academic institu 
tions and employers. " 

The University incorporates its mission statement in its published communication with 
both students and employees. The mission statement is included in the WGU Employee 
Handbook (Exhibit 4), the WGU Development Plan (Appendix 3) , the WGU Student 
Handbooks (Exhibit 5), University marketing material and other media . The mission 
statement is available through our Web site at 
http ://www .wgu.edu/wgu/about /vision history.html. 

To accomplish its mission, the University will continue to establish its credibility , mar
ketability and scalability. These themes shape all of our goals and objectives. An orga
nizational goals statement is included in the Development Plan and is revised annually. 
These goals flow from the broader mission and are established to fulfill the University 's 
promise. WGU endeavors: 

• To be recognized as the preeminent competency-based institution of higher educa
tion in the United States, and 

• To be recognized as a national leader in the provision of high-quality learning 
resour ces and services for distance learning ; 
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• To achieve accreditation from the Interregional Accrediting Committee (!RAC) in 
recognition of the University 's quality and contributions to American higher educa
tion; 

• To create a Teachers College within WGU with certification, endorsement, and 
advancement programs for teachers that are recognized and accepted throughout 
our member states; 

• To create a Center for Business Studies and a Center for Information Technology 
Studies within WGU, each offering a range of undergraduate and graduate pro
grams appropriate to the current and emerging needs of these professions , as a 
first step toward the possible later creation of colleges in these areas of our focus; 

• To meet or exceed the enrollment targets established, reflecting steady growth in 
all our areas of program focus: business, information technology , and teacher 
education. 

1.1: Mission and Goal Accomplishment 
Like most universities, WGU's mission and goals statements range from the broadly gen
eral to the focused and particular. Inevitably, documenting the accomplishments of the 
former-like expanding access and improving qu ality-is much harder than documenting 
the latter and is likely to take us several more years to fully substantiate. Ultimately , 
however , accom plishm ents in all of these areas-both mission and goals-are measurable. 
Most immed iately, we document progress toward our annual goals through reports of 
key performance indicators circulated and discussed in monthly Operations Review 
meetings of the University's senior management team 4; through qu arte rly reports to the 
Board of Trustees; through required reports to funding agencies and the federal govern
ment; and through periodic press releases and an annual, public status report (archived 
and available at: http ://www.wg u.edu/wg u/about/release archive.html). 

Though more difficult to measure , evidence of progress in fulfilling the broader dimen
sions of our mission is accumulating. Expanding access and improving quality are illus
trative. With regard to the first, for instance, students are enrolled in each of the degree 
programs we offer. Overall enrollment figures have steadily increased and are in line 
with our enro llment goals , an indication that students are embracing WGU's competen
cy-based model. (Cumulative enrollment reports since WGU received Candidacy in 
November 2000 are available as Exhibit 6.) At this writing , our degree-seeking student 
body numb ers 605 and includes represent atives from 46 states. The average student is 
40 years old and 90 percent of our students work full time . To date, we have produced 
13 graduates and more than 30 additional students are on track to graduate by the end 
of this calendar year. Not surprisingly , given their demographic profile , both students 
and graduates regularly report that among the major reasons they chose WGU was the 

4 Senior management consists of the: President ; Provost and Academic Affair s Vice President ; Vice President for 
Development ; Vice President for Marketing, Corporate, and Government Sales; Chief Technology Officer; Dean of the 
Teachers College ; Director of Academ ic Services; Director of Assessment and Institutional Research; Director of 
Finance and Human Resources; Director of Enrollment ; Director of Learning Resources; Enrollment Manager; and 
Marketing Manager. 
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fact that they had limited or no other access to further education. Letters from students 
testifying to this fact are available as Exhibit 7, "Student Testimonials ;" survey data also 
confirm the importance of access and are available with other "Surveys" as Exhibit 8. 

Two other indicators of our success in expanding access are noteworthy. The first is 
the WGU online Course Catalog, which offers hundreds of distance courses to both 
degree-seeking and non-degree-seeking students in an easily searchable, "click to enroll" 
format. Reports on catalog course enrollments are available as Exhibit 9. Second, 
WGU's selection as one of the first 15 distance learning institutions to participate in the 
U.S. Department of Education 's Demonstration Project allowed us to offer federa l finan
cial aid to our students well ahead of most. Our participation and positive relationship 
with the Department since joining the program was a significant breakthrough and 
helped to pave the way for the Department to expand the Demonstration Project to a 
current total of 100 distance institutions. 

If anything , documenting accomplishments in quality improvement is more difficult and 
will take longer. Although the aim sounds grand, even arrogant, it is important to 
remember that WGU set out to improve quality in a very specific arena-distance learn
ing. It did not set out to improve it in higher education generally, though it recognized 
that its methods might impact traditional programs favorably as learning outcomes 
assessment became a central concern of the higher education community. 

While there were at the time of WGU's founding a number of well-respected distance 
programs , the quality assurance problems in distance learning were also obvious and 
becoming more urgent. The advent of the Internet and the exponential increase in the 
number of distance education providers created highly uneven distance courses, hap
hazard instructional service, and erratic learning outcomes. Students themselves cou ld 
"cherry pick" from hundreds of courses by dozens of different institutions without the 
assistance of good advice, with little assurance that the courses would give them the 
learning they sought, and with no assurance of integration or cohesion among the 
courses. 

WGU's insistence on defining in advance exactly what must be learned to earn a 
degree , its insistence on demonstrating knowledge as well as performance , its use of 
broad panels of experts drawn from both higher education and professional practice to 
establish degree requirements, competencies and their assessments, its refusal to recom
mend a course to a student unless its content maps to the competencies the student is 
trying to master-its use of all these quality control measures has, at the very least, 
advanced the national debate about distance learning quality and learning outcomes 
achievement. Some would say it has led that debate, even driven it, and many would 
say that distance learning as a whole has become more self-conscious, more quality 
conscious, and bett er as a result. When Dr. David Longenecker, Executive Director of 
the Western Interstate Commission on Higher Education, addressed the issue of quality 
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in distance learning at the annual conference of the Distance Education and Training 
Council in Denver last April, a member of the audience asked "if any distance institution 
is doing quality right." Without hesitation he said, "Yes-Western Governors University," 
and he went on to cite exactly the quality control measures listed above. 

In Standard Ten and its related Institutional Effectiveness Plan (Appendix 4, p. 219), we 
address in more detail the relationship between our mission , goals, priorities , planning, 
and evaluation efforts, and the ways in which we measure and report our progress in 
those areas. 

1.2, 1.3: Mission-Related Decision Making, Evaluation and Revision 
A variety of leadership groups engage in an ongoing decision-making process with 
respect to the daily operations and governance of the University. These groups include 
senior executives and acade mic managers, administrative department heads , trustees and 
other institution partners. In all cases, the University's mission has remained constant 
while goals, informed by the decision-making process, have been incrementally adjusted 
as milestones were met and new ones were identified. An extensive discussion of the 
University's planning process is included in our response to Standard Ten . 

An illustration of how mission and goals inform institutional decision-making may be 
found in the development of the WGU Teachers College. The January , 2001 revision of 
our Development Plan specified for the first time that our areas of degree focus would 
be business, information technology, and teacher education. While that had de facto 
been the case since at least a year earlier, the 2001 Development Plan was the first to be 
specific in this regard. Out of that decision , itself the result of numerous discussions 
with our National Advisory Board and Trustees, arose its consequence-the decision to 
seek funding for the creation of a Teachers College, whose goal would be to address 
the looming teacher shortages in WGU's member states through unique, distance deliv
ered, competency-based programs . Early in 2001 we appointed the Dean of the 
Teachers College to help lead this effort, and in early September of that year the 
University was awarded a five-year, $10 million Star Schools grant by the U.S. 
Department of Education to build the College's programs. Early in 2003 we expect to 
open the first of these programs for enrollment. 

The WGU Teachers College supports important components of both the mission and 
goals of the University. WGU aims to be recognized as the preeminent competency
based institution of higher education in the United States, and to be recognized as a 
national leader in the provision of high-quality distance learning resources and services 
for distance learning. The development of the Teachers College and the significant 
financial support it has attracted offer evidence that we've made progress toward those 
goals. 

Additional evidence of how WGU's mission and goals inform institutional decision-mak-
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ing may be found in our efforts to create a network of articulation agreements with 
other colleges and uni versities, both traditional and nontraditional, so that students in 
satisfactory academic standing can transfer to or from partner institutions with ease . 
Our planning led us to identify a need for such a network and to incorporate that goal 
as early as the January 2000 Development Plan , and in every one since . To date, we 
have agreements with colleges , universities, and higher education systems totaling more 
than 60 individual institutions. 

Continuing Challenges 
Our mission is clear, distinctive , and stab le. We have well-defined goals that relate to 
the mission , that are measurable, and that we are progressively achieving . Probably our 
biggest single challenge in this area is to be realistic about what we can achieve and 
how fast. Shaping a wholly new and dramatically different institution involves enor
mous energy , enthusiasm, and conviction about the rightness of the cause. New ven
tures do not succeed without those ingredients, but they almost inevitably create unreal
istic expectations of ear ly and overwhelming success. Sir John Daniel , former Vice 
Chancellor of the British Open University and current head of UNESCO, has observed 
that people tend to overestimate the impact of an innovation in the short term and 
underestimate its impact in the long term . As an example , when the State University of 
New York created Empire State College in 1971 as a radically new, public institution, its 
founders projected enrollments of 30,000 students within five years . By 1976, the col
lege enrolled only about 3,000. Yet over the past 30 years, Empire State has had world
wide impact on adult learning, distance learning, and the evaluation of learning from 
experience . 

WGU's experience to date fits at least the early part of this curve, and we believe it will 
the second as well . That is, while we are smaller than early forecasts claimed we would 
be, our broader impact on higher education-on distance learning and competency 
assessment especially-is already evident . Clearly , the early projections of our enroll
ments , made back in 1996-97, were little short of preposterous, and the University has 
fallen well short of them. Our own "pioneers" underestimated the organizational chal
lenges they faced, the difficulty of establishing a radically new educational model in the 
marketplace, and the importance of accreditation in marketing that model. We have 
worked steadily and with progressive success over the past three years to set more real
istic and achievable objectives, but the challenge of realism will continue for some time 
to come . 

We have learned that a large part of being realistic is to stay on focus , but that too will 
continue to be a challenge . At one point in the early days of the University, for exam 
ple, 10 different degree programs were under development across a wide array of fields. 
It took some time to focus on the three we have identified and to concentrate our ener
gies on those and those alone . Even now it can be difficult to keep that focus , because 
at least once a month someone brings to us a "big , new idea" for development. We 
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have learned to say "No" much louder and more often than we say "Yes," but even so 
we must constantly engage in self-reflection to be sure that what we are doing is what 
we need to do to get where we must go. 

Standard One 
Web Exhibits - Appendices - Room Exhibits 

Web Exhibits: 
WE 2: hnp: / /www.wgu.edu /wgu / abou t/vision_history .html 
WE 7: http :/ /www.wgu.edu /wgu / about/release _archive .html 

Appendices: 
Appendix 3: 
App endix 4: 

Room Exhibits: 

WGU Development Plan 
Institutional Effectiveness Plan 

RE 4: WGU Employee Handbook 
RE 5: WGU Student Handbooks 
RE 6: Cumulative enrollment reports 
RE 7: Student Testimonials 
RE 8: Surveys 
RE 9: Course Enrollments 
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Standard Two: Institutional Integrity 
Tbe institution demonstrates honesty, truthfulness and consistency in its representations 
to its constituencies and the public, in its pursuit of truth and the dissemination of 
knowledge; in its treatment of and respect for the academic leadership, staff, and stu
dents involved with the institutions programs; and in its relationships with its accredita
tion associations . 

2.1 Tbe institution demonstrates through its written policies and practices its commit
ment to the free pursuit and dissemination of knowledge. Trustees and adminis
trators protect academic leaders and students from harassment in their exercise of 
academic freedom . 

2.2 Tbe institution provides written policies on academic honesty and the mechanisms 
for due process and grievance procedures to faculty , staff and students. When 
programs are delivered by electronic means , special provisions are in place to 
address academic honesty, the authenticity of student work, and the security of 
records. 

2.3 Tbe institution regularly evaluates and revises as necessary its institutional poli
cies, practices , and publications to ensure integrity in all its representations about 
its mission, programs and services. 

2.4 Tbe institution fully and accurately discloses to its accrediting associations infor-
mation that is required. 

In support of its mission , WGU is committed to the free pursuit and dissemination of 
knowledge. This commitment is evident in documents shared with University emp loy
ees , with students , with members of WGU's governing bodies, and with our accreditors . 
The Employee Handbook is issued to all employees and includes a statement on the 
academic freedom and responsibilities of employees . The statement defines academic 
freedom as an essential component of the University . The Student Handbook contains 
all policies affecting participation in the University 's programs, is issued to students 
upon enrollment , and is available on line at http://www .wgu.edu/wgu/academics/stu 
dent info.h tml. The University 's Development Plan is regularly revised and shared with 
all employees; it includes both a summary of institutional progress and planning strate
gies designed to meet short- and long-term objectives . We make public , through press 
rele ases and other means, financial data , enrollment information and descriptions of var
ious institutional initiatives , as appropriate . Finally, academic administrators and faculty 
engage in professional development activities, which both enhance their own scholar
ship and support the reputation of the institution. 

Western Governors University strives to maintain a full, open, and honest relationship 
with the accrediting associations with which it is affiliated. The University received 
national accreditation from the Distance Education and Training Council in June 2001 
after an extensive self-evaluation and site-visit. Our relationship with DETC is one illus
tration of the collaborative partnerships we seek with our accrediting associations, and 
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of our commitment to participating fully in the American higher education communiry . 
We endeavor to maintain the same positive relationship with the Interregional 
Accrediting Committee (!RAC) for the same reasons. The most recent illustrations of our 
efforts in this regard are the substantive change proposals for baccalaureate degrees 
submitted to and approved by the Northwest Association on behalf of !RAC over the 
past year. 

2.1, 2.2: Integrity in Policies and Practices 
Employees 
The Employee Handbook (Exhibit 4) contains general policy guidelines and is issued to 
all Universiry employees. It addresses academic freedom and responsibilities (covered 
fully in Standard Six); it addresses emp loyee relations, defines businesslike conduct , and 
provides payroll and benefit guidelines common to all employees. The Universiry 
requires employees to honor a general code of workplace ethics and defines the accept
able use of Universiry communication systems, employee attendance, dress policies, and 
the like. These and all other employee policies are available to the visiting team as 
Exhibit 5. 

We believe that good employee relations are crucial to WGU's success and to the suc
cess of its individual employees. The Universiry encourages the filling of job vacancies 
by promoting qualified candidates from within and engages in outside recruiting when 
appropriate . We strive to provide a safe and healthful working environment , encourage 
an atmosphere of respect for the individual, and extend equal employment opportuni
ties to all employees without regard to race , color, age , sex , pregnancy , disabiliry, reli
gion , national origin, military status, citizenship or other protected class. Our employees 
are treated with courtesy, digniry, and consideration and encouraged to discuss with 
their supervisor any matter concerning their own or WGU's welfare. 

Grievance procedures are described in the Employee Handbook. Employees who vio
late the anti-harassment and anti-discrimination policies contained therein will be subject 
to discipline up to and including discharge . Any employee who feels that he or she has 
been discriminated against or harassed should report such incidents to the Director of 
Finance and Human Resources or to the emp loyee 's direct supervisor. If reporting the 
complaint to these individuals is not appropriate under the circumstances, employees 
should report their concerns to any other management official. The Universiry pledges 
to investigate all complaints promptly and to respect the confidentialiry of persons 
reporting violations. State and Federal labor law notices and WGU's grievance policies 
are posted in employee meeting places. 

In preparing this Self-Study we conducted an employee survey to identify attitudes and 
satisfaction levels in a number of important areas, such as: 

the extent to which employees be lieve the operations of the institution are mis
sion-driven ; 
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• the degree to which they believe their own activities support the mission ; 
• their understanding of what to do in the event of a grievance; 
• their understanding of the various roles of the Trustees, the National Advisory 

Board , and University administrators. 

While we found that 97 percent of responding emp loyees agree that the institution is "to 
a great extent" or "entirely" mission-driven and that 90 percent feel that their position 
supports the mission, a significant number (32 percent) were unsure what to do if they 
had a grievance and between 42 percent and 45 percent did not feel they had a good 
understanding of the roles and responsibilities of various other groups in the University. 
In response , at this writing we are developing a clearer employee grievance procedure 
to be circulated among all employees, replacing the previous procedure in the 
Employee Handbook with the new one. To help ensure understanding of roles and 
responsibilities , and to improve gene ral communication about administrative decision
making, we are using this Self-Study process as an educational opportunity for employ
ees by having every full-time employee participate in one or another of the Self-Study 
committees. We are also taking more active steps to ensure communication about insti
tutional matters by holding a weekly conference call for all employees, in which they 
can ask questions and receive updates about University activities, and by reporting more 
fully on the outcomes of Operations Review and Academic Managers meetings. (The 
complete Employee Satisfaction Survey and its results are available with other surveys in 
the Exhibit Room, as Exhibit 8.) 

Students 
The Student Handbooks (one edition is available for degree-seeking students, a second 
for non-degree seeking students) incorporate a discussion of academic honesty and out
lines the rights and responsibilities of students . WGU holds , as a core value, that the 
respect for ideas and intellectual property rights is critical in academic communities. All 
members of the University community share responsibility in ensuring that the authentic 
expression of those ideas is observed . 

Students are expected to honor the WGU Code of Conduct. The Code addresses stu
dent responsibility with respect to communication technologies and the privacy of fel
low students , faculty and administrators. Students agree to be subject to the jurisdiction 
of all disciplinary panels and procedures established by the University to address viola
tions of university rules or the Code of Conduct. 

The University takes great care to ensure the academic integrity of student work and 
adheres to a policy on academic integrity , included with other academic policies as 
Exhibit 3 of this study. The Student Handbook both defines and prohibits academic 
fraud-che ating, plagiarism and the violation of copyright laws-and offers guidance 
designed to ensure the expression of authentic ideas. Students indicate a commitment 
to academic integrity when taking assessments or submitting do cuments for assessment 
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by signing their names to the following statement: 
"This submission is the result of my own preparation and completion 
and not another 's." 

We regularly take measures to guard against plagiarism. By using Web-based services 
such as www.turnitin.com, a highly effective plagiarism prevention system, we have 
been able to identify and prevent several instances of academic dishonesty , as well as 
others less egregious where students did not adequately understand the nature of their 
responsibility in this area. 

An Academic Standards Committee reviews and judges alleged student violations of the 
University's policy on academic integrity. Members of the committee include the 
Director of Assessment and Institutional Research , the Director of Academic Services, 
and a mentor (not the student 's). The decisions of the Academic Standards Committee 
may be appealed to the Provost, who will review the evidence presented by the com
mittee and the student. The decisions of the Provost are final in these matters. 

Students complete a number of assessment activities in order to earn a degree or certifi
cate from the University. These assessments are taken at secure test centers where the 
student 's identity is authenticated through picture ID. The "Characteristics and 
Requirements of WGU Assessment Centers " policy statement is available with other 
"Contractual Policies " in the Exhibit Room as Exhibit 11. 

Student complaints regarding WGU policies , processes , academics and staff are resolved 
through an appropriate mediation process. The Student Handbooks document the nec
essary steps in the mediation process for various complaints. Complaints about a course 
offered by one of our affiliated education providers will be handled through the griev
ance procedure in place at the education provider institution. Non-academic complaints 
and issues regarding resources or academic progress may be directed to a student's 
mentor who will consult with any necessary departments and make a decision on the 
case. A complaint regarding curriculum or assessments may be directed to a student 's 
mentor, who will forward it to the WGU Director of Assessment and Institutional 
Research for decision. Student complaints about mentors may be directed to the 
Director of Academic Services , who will attempt to resolve the situation satisfactorily. 
Students have the right to grieve or appeal all decisions to the Provost. The decision of 
the Provost is final in these matters . To date , student complaints have been resolved 
informally , outside of these established guidelines. 

WGU is committed to ensuring the privacy of both visitors to the University 's Web sites 
and its students. We use passwords to protect the privacy and security of student 
records and continually monitor WGU Web sites and student records for technical reliability. 
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2.3: Evaluation and Revision 
The University engages in a regular process of evaluation of its institutional policies , 
practices and publications to ensure both consistency and integrity. When appropriate , 
policies and practices are revised in keeping with the mission and goa ls of the 
University . This process is ongoing and develops within an overlapping series of staff 
committee, monthly Operations Review, and Academic Mangers meetings. 

The University's management team includes its department managers and academic 
leaders. Members come together in monthly Operations Review meetings under the 
guidance of the President to report on departmental initiatives, evaluate the day-to-day 
operations of the University, and determine new initiatives. All significant policy revi
sions stem from these management meetings and, when appropriate, are approved by 
the Board of Trustees. 

The Academic Managers group meets monthly to define academic policies and direct 
the work of the faculty , ensuring consistent communication with all of the University 's 
constituencies relative to its academic programs. The Academic Managers meet prior to 
Operations Review so that any suggestions and concerns may be brought to that forum 
for discussion . 

Various staff committees meet regularly to evaluate and revise departmental or topic
specific issues. For example, the enrollment team meets weekly to discuss enrollment 
strategy , student concerns and administrative matters . This weekly meeting serves to 
enhance communication among team members and often generates policy suggest ions , 
which are brought to senior management for review . 

An illustration of how we regularly evaluate and , as necessary , revise our policies, prac
tices , and publications to ensure their integrity is our decision early in 2001 to make our 
Web site the "source document " for all public information about the Univers ity. We had 
discovered increasing discrepancies between the Web site and our publications and con
sequently decided that all our printed documents would take their informa tion from the 
Web site. It would be updated first and would become (and remain) the single, most 
reliable source for accurate WGU information. Having made that decision, we then 
embarked on a concerted effort over the ensuing four months to ensure the accuracy of 
the Web site and to synchronize all our publications with it. 

The University 's recent change in tuition policy also serves to illustrate the nature and 
effectiveness of the evaluation process. Effective March 2002, we adopted a new term
based tuition model that coupled program tuition with the cost of individual course 
enro llment. The model replaced a two-pronged tuition model, which required separate 
payment for WGU program tuition and individual course enrollment fees. The term
based tuition model was implemented as a result of evaluation and suggestions offered 
by a variety of University groups . Members of the enrollment team found the 1 GOVERNORS UN,VERS>TV 



University 's old tuition model difficult to explain and reported that potential students 
often found it confusing. This feedback , coupled with academic concerns voiced by 
mentors with respect to student progress, indicated a change in tuition was in order . 
The University 's administration considered the issue carefully over a period of several 
months , discussed it at length with faculty mentors to ascertain its likely effect on their 
workload and on students , and then implemented the new plan. (See further discussion 
of this issue in Standard Eight.) 

2.4: Open Disclosure 
WGU affirms full and open disclosure of information to the Interregional Accrediting 
Committee. In a resolution adopted April 17, 1997, the Board of Trustees affirmed 
that it: 

"Pledges its fullest support of and cooperation with !RAC and its constituent 
accrediting commissions in arriving at standards and policies that are consistent 
with ensuring the quality and integrity of the interregional delivery of higher edu 
cation via telecommunications ." 

WGU continues to keep all interested parties apprised of its accreditation path and has 
worked in close cooperation with !RAC since its establishment , earning "Candidate for 
Regional Accreditation " status in November 2000. In the months that have followed, the 
University has worked closely with the Northwest Association of Schools and Colleges, 
the administrative arm of !RAC, to gain degree approval for its Bachelor of Science in 
Business / IT Management Emphasis , Bachelor of Science in Computer Information 
Systems , and Bachelor of Science in Business / HR Management Emphasis. The fact that 
these approvals have proceeded smoothly testifies to the open and cooperative relations 
we have maintained with the Northwest Association. 

Continuing Challenges 
We believe we practice a high level of integrity in our policies and practices, and that 
we have thought through and implemented appropriate behaviors in virtually all areas 
affecting students and employees . It did surprise us , however, to discover that a num
ber of employees did not understand what to do in the event of a personal grievance, 
and that still more were unsure of the roles and responsibilities of other major groups in 
the institution. While some of this response may reflect new hires who are not fully 
acclimated to the institution, or simply that some people had not thought about these 
issues until asked , the most important message is that we have now reached a level of 
organizational complexity that requires more formal communication structures than were 
once appropriate to an informal, start-up organization. The survey tells us that we need 
to be more vigilant in employee communication, in making employees feel part of the 
team, and in informing them of their rights as well as of their obligations . We take that 
responsibility seriously and are acting on it. Henceforth, as part of our continuous 
improvement cycle of planning and analysis , we will survey employees annually on 
these matters , both to track our progress and to ensure that we are communicating with 
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one another appropriately. 

Secondly , we are reminded time and again how easy it is to say "this or that resource is 
the 'bible ' of the institution "-in this case, our Web site-and how hard it is to obey that 
dictum. WGU is a complicated institution (what institution is not!), and it is vital that 
we present consistent and up-to-date information to all our constituencies. While we 
believe now that we have a quality control procedure for our publications that prevents 
anything from getting into print that is not consistent with our Web site, it remains a 
continuing challenge and requires constant vigilance . 

Standard Two 
Web Exhibits - Appendices - Room Exhibits 

Web Exhibits: 
WE 3: http: // www.wgu.edu / wgu / academics / student_info.html 

Appendices: 
NIA 

Room Exhibits: 
RE 3: WGU Academic Policies 
RE 4: The Employee Handbook 
RE 5: Employee policies 
RE 8: Surveys 
RE 11: Contractual Policies 
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Standard Three: Governance and Administration 
The institution 's structure of governance facilitates the successful accomplishment of its 
mission and goals. The institution bas a governing board that includes representation of 
the public interest and is responsible for the quality and integrity of the institution. The 
institution bas an administrative staff sufficient to enable it to achieve its goals. The 
institution :S administrative and governance structures ensure appropriate roles for aca
demic leaders, students , and staff, and facilitate candid communication among the insti
tution's constituen cies. 

3.1 The size, duties, responsibilities, ethical conduct requirements , structure and oper
ating procedures of the governing board are clearly defined and published. The 
governing board's policies assure orderly transition of board membership and its 
continuity . 

3.2 The governing board appoints and evaluates the chief executive officer. 

3.3 The govern ing board approves the institutional mission statement, broad institu
tional policies, academic programs, degrees, certificates, and diplomas. The gov
erning board regularly evaluates and revises as necessary its policies, practices , 
and performance to ensure to its constituencies that it carries out its responsibili
ties in an effective and efficient mann er. 

3.4 The institution is organized and staffed to reflect its purposes, size, and complexity 
and to provide effective and efficient management. The duties, responsibilities, 
and ethical conduct requirements of institutional administrators are clearly 
defined and published . The administration acts in a manner consistent with 
them. Administrative officers are qualified by training and experience to perform 
their responsibilities and are evaluated systematically and regularly by the institu
tion . 

3.5 In its governance and decision making processes, the institution demonstrates that 
academic personnel are substantially involved and that quality of academic pro
grams is given priority. 

3.6 When the institution delivers services with a heavy reliance on contractual rela
tionships with other organizations , the division of responsibility and authority 
between the institution and other organizations is clear, and institutional policies 
and procedures are clearly defined and equi tably administered. Such contracts, 
policies, procedures , and practices are evaluated on a regular basis and are 
revised as necessary. 

The University 's governance structure is clear , strong , and stab le. Operating according 
to its Bylaws and throu gh its established committee structure, the Board of Trustees 
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exercises effective oversight of the institution and ensures the integrity of its operations. 
The administration of the institution is qualified by credentials and experience, and it 
has proven by its performance that it is able to guide the University 's development and 
manage its activities effectively. The roles of key groups in the institution are appropri
ately defined , and each group communicates with its members and with other groups 
appropriately. 

3.1, 3.2, 3.3: The Governing Board 
The Board of Trustees 
The size , structure, responsibilities , and operating procedures ·of the Board of Trustees 
are clearly defined and published in the Bylaws of the University. They stipulate that 
the Board will number no fewer than nine and no more than 22 members. The Board 
currently includes 15 members , among them five governors, six corporate chief execu
tive officers, two university presidents emeriti, a state higher education executive officer, 
and one foundation executive director, thus ensuring a variety of perspectives from 
industry, public affairs, higher education, and philanthropy. The Board 's work is distrib
uted through several standing committees, including an Executive Committee, which 
provides general leadership and is responsible for appointing and annually evaluating 
the President ; an Academic Policy Committee which establishes overall academic policy , 
monitors program quality, and approves the design and development of new academic 
programs; a Finance, Audit , and Compensation Committee responsible for overseeing 
the institution 's financial affairs; and a Nominating Committee responsible for the conti
nuity and quality of the Board 's membership. 

Board members serve three-year, renewable, staggered terms in order to ensure continu
ity. They meet quarterly to review the work of their standing committees and to guide 
the operation of the University, reviewing performance against quarterly and year-to
date enrollment projections and monitoring progress toward the established goals devel
oped by the administration. The Board approves all new degree and certificate pro
grams , reviews and approves new councils and council members , and confers all 
degrees upon recommendation by the Academic Policy Committee . It appoints and 
evaluates annually the performance of the WGU President. The Trustees also periodi
cally review their internal committee structure, their operating practices, and their lead
ership with regard to the larger issues surrounding WGU's continuing development. In 
2001, for example , they established a marketing committee to assist University staff with 
student recruitment. At their meeting on March 19, 2002, they reviewed and reaffirmed 
the WGU mission statement. And the decision to launch a Teachers College resulted 
from extended discussions among the Trustees and administration . 

The Bylaws of the University are published on the Web site at 
http://www.wgu.edu/wgu/about/administration.html , and both the Bylaws and the 
Articles of Incorporation are available in the Exhibit Room as Exhibit 2. 
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Current member s of the Board of Trustees 

Therese (Terry) Crane 
Vice President of Information 
and Education Products 
America Online 

The Honorable Jim Geringer 
Governor of Wyoming 

KimJones 
Vice President 
Academic and Research Computing 
Worldwide Field Operations 
Sun Microsystems 

The Honorable Gary Locke 
(co-chair) 
Governor of Washington 

The Honorable Michael 0. Leavitt 
(co-chair) 
Governor of Utah 

Dr. Clara M. Lovett 
President Emerita 
Northern Arizona University 

The Honorable Judy Martz 
Governor of Montana 

Robert W. Mendenhall 
President , WGU 

Tom Pelto 
Vice President 
Law & Government Affairs 
AT & T Corporation 

Dr. David Powers 
Executive Director 
Nebraska Coordinating Commission 
on Postsecondary Education 

Governor Roy Romer 
Superintendent 
Los Angeles Unified School District 

Sean Rush 
General Manager 
Global Education Industry 
IBM Corporation 

Dr. Samuel H. Smith 
President Emeritus 
Washington State University 

Bess Stephens 
President & Executive Director 
Hewlett Packard Company Foundation 

Tom Vander Ark 
Executive Director , Education 
Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation 
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The National Advisory Board 
The NAB is a seco nd important gro up in the Univer sity's guidance structure , one that 
does not carry statutory authority for WGU opera tions but is noneth eless critically 
importa nt to its well-being. Several members of the Board of Trustees were elected 
after first serving as members of the NAB. This group of lead ing corpora te and founda
tion executives provides substantia l financial support to Western Governors University, 
important advice on University program dev elopme nt and marketing, and advocacy on a 
nationa l leve l. The NAB meets quarterly in con junction with the mee tings of the Board 
of Trustees. Representatives from memb er organizations do not serve set terms but 
rather are appo inted by their organization. The organiza tions and current representa
tives compri sing the NAB includ e: 

America Online 
Terry Crane 
Vice President 
Information and Education Products 

Apple Computer 
Cheryl Vedoe 
Vice President 
Education Products and Marketing 

Cisco Systems 
Susan Jeannero 
University Relations Manager 

AT&T 
Tom Pelto 
Vice President 
Law & Government Affairs (co-chair) 

Convergys Corporation 
Erik Kirkhorn 
Director, Government Relations 

Drake International 
Bill Pollock , 
Chairman 

Farmers Insurance Group 
Angela Easton 
Director of Community Affairs 

Gates Foundation 
Tom Vander Ark 
Executive Director 
Education 

Hewlett-Packard Company 
Foundation 
Bess Stephens 
President & Executive Director 

IBM Corporation 
Sean Rush 
General Manager 
Global Education Industry 

KPMG Consulting 
Mark Danis 
Senior Vice President, 
Higher Education 

Marriott Foundation 
Richard Marriott 
Chairman of the Board 

Microsoft Corporation 
Greg Butler 
Professional Development Manager 
Microsoft Education Solutions Group 

Novell 
Debbie Maucieri 
Vice President , Novell Education 
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Oracle Corporation 
Lori Facey 
Vice President , Education Initiatives 

Qwest Communications 
R. Steven Davis 
Senior Vice President 

scr 
Bob Moul 
President 
Global Education Solutions 

Sallie Mae 
Tom Williams 
President , Noel-Levitz 

Alfred P. Sloan Foundation 
Frank Mayadas 
Program Director 

Sun Microsystems 
KimJones 
Vice President 
Academic and Research Computing 
Worldwide Field Operations 

Swartz Foundation 
Jim Swartz 
Founding Partner 
Accel Partners 

Thomson Prometric 
Ron Dunn 
President & CEO 
Academic Group (co-chair) 

3Com Corporation 
Representative to be named 
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3.4: Institutional Organization 
The organizational chart of the University, Figure A, provides a concise picture of its 
structure, administrative positions , and reporting relationships: A biographical sketch of 
each staff member included in the above organizational chart is attached as Appendix 5: 
WGU Personnel (p. 231); all vitae are available to the visiting team as Exhibit 12. 

Each administrative position (as well as all others) in the University has an established 
job description that is reviewed and updated annually (more often should job require
ments change substantially) with the individual during his or her evaluation. These job 
descriptions are on file, along with the annual evaluations and each administrator's 
resume, in the office of the Director of Finance and Human Resources. 

Each University administrator is hired only after an extensive, public search, generally 
national in scope with appropriate advertising on Web sites and in publications such as 
Tbe Chronicle of Higher Education. WGU is an Equal Opportunity Employer and seeks 
diversity in its workforce. Upon appointment , each administrator (and all others) 
receives a copy of the Employee Handbook, which discusses not only matters of bene
fits, travel policies , dress code, and the like, but also the University 's ethical conduct 
requirements , including anti-harassment and anti-discrimination policies, business /work
place ethics, confidential information, use of company property, and so on. 

3-5: Academic Personnel and Academic Quality Control 
While the WGU Board of Trustees has final approval authority for all academic pro
grams , responsibility for the implementation of those programs rests with the President , 
the Provost and Academic Vice President, the mentor faculty, and the academic services 
staff. 

The Provost has direct oversight responsibility for the quality of the University's academ
ic programs and for their effective delivery. Through him , four academic managers 
exercise line authority for respective aspects of the academic enterprise. The Dean of 
the Teachers College is responsible for developing the programs of the Teachers 
College, for recruiting and supervising the work of its faculty, and for external relations 
with important organizations like state offices of education and school districts. The 
Director of Learning Resources is responsible for the quality of the learning resources in 
the University 's online catalog , for the library , and for Education Provider recruitment 
and relations. The Director of Academic Services functions much like an assistant 
provost in coordinating the daily work of the faculty, monitoring and reporting on stu
dent academic progress, managing the registration functions of the University and its 
academic information systems , and adjudicating student complaints, grievances, and 
appeals. Finally, the Director of Assessment and Institutional Research is responsible for 
the quality of the University 's assessments , for research on their effectiveness and 
impact , and for research on the institution 's overall effectiveness. 
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Apart from those mentors reporting to the Dean of the Teachers College, all others 
report to the Provost and Academic Vice President. Each major program area has at 
least one full-time mentor to lead students through their studies , and each area is appro
priately staffed for its current level of enrollments. Since mentors do almost no direct 
instruction and instead concentrate on comprehensive guidance to students, the 
University's academic model forecasts a ratio of mentors-to-students of 1-to-100 at the 
undergraduate level and l-to-80 at the graduate level. It is our practice , however , to 
appoint mentors in advance of student enrollments in order to be assured that we can 
provide good service from the outset. Hence, with enrollments growing in every pro
gram area, current mentor-student ratios are richer than the long-term "steady state" 
model projects. 

Each major degree area (Business, Information Technology, and the Master of Arts in 
Learning and Technology [MLT]) also has one mentor designated as Program 
Coordinator. The Coordinator functions rather like a department chair in more tradition
al settings. At WGU, Coordinators provide leadership in resource development , locating 
and "mapping " promising courses at Provider institutions to degree competencies; they 
research and propose new degree initiatives in their program areas; they monitor the 
appropriateness of competencies and the effectiveness of assessments, suggesting 
changes when appropriate; they mentor students; they monitor overall student progress 
and resolve , or engage appropriate others in resolving , student difficulties; and they 
organize and chair the work of the Program Councils. Dr. Dennis Bromley is Program 
Coordinator for Business , and Dr. Vince Shrader is Coordinator for the ML T. A search is 
currently underway for an IT Coordinator to replace the previous incumbent , who 
resigned in late summer to take a faculty position at another institution . Finally, Ms. 
Stacey Ludwig-Hardman , Director of Academic Services, performs coordinator functions 
for the General Education Council, whose responsibilities encompass the general educa
tion requirements of all undergraduate programs. 

As yet, the Teachers College has not developed to the point of naming separate coordi
nators for its programs, and Dean Marti Garlett provides that overall function. However , 
Dr. Melissa Hayden has been hired to be the Program Coordinator for all programs that 
emphasize reading education, and Dr. Philip Schmidt has been hired to be the Program 
Coordinator for all programs that emphasize mathematics education . To date, these fac
ulty member s have focused on curriculum development for their respective programs, 
but when we begin enrolling students in these areas early in 2003, their duties will more 
nearly resemble those of other Program Coordinators in the University . 

Councils 
One of the most unique features of Western Governors University is its academic coun
cils. From its beginning , WGU "unbundled" the classic, unified role of the faculty mem
ber as curriculum developer, instructor , and student evaluator, instead assigning these 
roles separately to different groups within the University 's organization. At WGU, 
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Program Councils establish the curriculum in each major degree area , including both 
overall degree design and each degree's specific competencies . The Assessment Council 
establishes the instruments used to measure student mastery. Education Providers 
(other colleges, universities , and learning organizations) provide the coursework stu
dents may need to prepare for their assessments; and mentors guide students through 
the process. Figure B. diagrams the relationship of University counci ls to the rest of the 
academic structure: 

Academic Governance 

Board of Trustees 
Academic Policy Committee 

Provost 

Coordinating 
Council 

-------------------------------<::.~~~--------------------
~ E-du-ca-tion_P_,ov-Kle- , ~ •• EJ-.. --... Teachers College .---,..-,.-s..:.sm-en"""'tC-ou-na,-·1 -, 

Advisory Council Counci 

Director of Leaming Dean Director of Assessment 
Resources "' andlnstitutionalResearch 

STUDENTS 

Figure B. 

Using the establishment of a new degree for illustration , Figure C below depicts the 
seq uence of decisions and actions that flow from the University's governance structure. 
The decision path runs first to the Academic Policy Committee (APC) of the Board of 
Trustees and to the full Board . It leads next to the appointment of any new mentor fac
ulty that may be necessary and to the assignment of the program to the jurisdiction of a 
Program Council, which develops the structure of the degree. The Coordinating 
Council , the APC, and the full Board of Trustees must then approve the degree 's struc
ture before the Program Counci l can proceed to establish its specific competencies. 
Finally, when the competencies have been defined , the Assessment Council establishes 
its assess ments and the program is ready to enroll students. After it has been in opera
tion for two years , the Program Council puts it through a comp rehensive review to 
determine the appropriateness , currency , and effectiveness of its competencies and 
assessments (program reviews are described in detail in Standard 4.4.2, pages 89-93). 
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The Counci l reports the results of the review and any recommendations for revisions to 
the Coord inating Council , which authorizes any actions that need to be taken. 

University Governance In Action 

Decision to 
Academic 

Academic Policy 
Board ofTrustees 

1 develop new Committee 
degree ' Leadership ' approval ' approval 

~ 
Hiring of 

2 Mentor 

' Provost ' President ' 
Report to Board 

Faculty of Trustees 

~ 
Assignment Coordinating 

3 to a Program ' Council 
Counc il approval 

~ 
Establishment 

Program Council 
Coordinating Academic Policy 

Board of Trustees 
4 of degree 

' approval ' 
Council 

' 
Committee 

' structure approval approval approval 

~ 

5 
Establishment Program Council 
of assess ments -+ approval 

~ 

6 
Establishment Program Counc il Assessment 
of assessments -+ approval ' Council approval 

~ 

Program Program Council Assessment Coordinating 
7 Review/ ' review/ ' Council review/ , Council 

revision approval approval review/approval 

Figure C 

This system of checks and balances has worked well for the University. It has assured 
far broader validation of the content of the deg rees and the way the ir competencies are 
assessed than conventio nal departmental structu res allow; it prevents the ideological 
pressure that often overtakes conventiona l departmental requirements; it assures objec
tivity in the measurement of learning; and it has enabled the un iversity to add , retain, 
and cut courses from its catalog solely accord ing to measures of relevance , currency, 
and quality. Council panels are composed of national experts drawn from both higher 
education and professional practice. They con tract to serve WGU annu ally on a part
time basis up to 12 days a year, and their work includes face-to-face meetings , confer-
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ence calls, background reading and research, writing competency statements, test items, 
and degree proposals, and conducting biannual evaluations (Program Reviews) of the 
degree programs in their purview. Standard Six (pages 124-134) considers additional 
aspects of the WGU Councils in its discussion of academic leadership , and the names 
and institutional affiliations of all Council members may be found in Appendix 6 of this 
Self-Study. Their vitae are available as Exhibit 13. 

The WGU council structure is the primary governance authority responsible for the con
duct and quality of the University 's academic programs. Operational authority is in the 
hands of full-time WGU administrative and faculty personnel. Three internal groups 
ensure effective linkage between the policies established through governance and their 
implementation : Operations Review group, Academic Managers, and WGU Mentors. 
The first is chaired by the President and includes all senior administrators and depart
ment managers; it meets monthly to review institutional performance with regard to 
budget , student progress, and marketing. It focuses on specific problems and what 
needs to be done about them. 

The Academic Managers (AM) also meet monthly , generally before Operations Review 
in order to identify academic issues that need to be brought before the larger group. 
Chaired by the Provost, the AM includes the Dean of the Teachers College, the Director 
of Assessment and Institutional Research, the Director of Academic Services, and the 
Director of Learning Resources. The Director of Finance and Human Resources joins 
the group as occasion warrants . The AM focuses directly on issues of academic quality 
and service-meeting timelines for program development or assessment revision, student 
academic progress, the results of exit interviews with withdrawing students, new 
resource options for students preparing for the Quantitative Literacy assessments , and 
the like . 

For the past two years , WGU mentors have met monthly in Salt Lake City for profession
al development purposes and for problem-solving in their direct work with students. 
They hear reports from the Operations Review and Academic Managers meetings, and 
their discussions range from tactics for encouraging students to progress in their studies, 
to giving feedback on the design of the new online degree planning form (the 
Academic Action Plan) , to analyzing the effectiveness of "advance organizers" and 
"learning orientation questionnaires " in student mentoring . One limitation of these 
meetings has been their brevity . Out-of-town mentors (and we have them in Arizona, 
California, Colorado, Nebraska , South Dakota , and Wisconsin , as well as in Utah) gener
ally arrive in the early afternoon of the first day and leave mid-afternoon of the second. 
During these meetings, too much gets crammed into too brief a period. Accordingly , 
for the 2002-2003 academic year we will move to bi-monthly meetings that are 
longer-two overnights instead of one , supplemented by conference calls between meet
ings as necessary. 
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3.6: Contractual Relationships 
Whenever WGU delivers services through other organizations, the division of responsi
bility and authority between itself and those other organizations is clearly defined in 
written contracts. Extensive negotiations take place prior to the execution of any such 
contract, and outside organizations are informed of WGU policies ; procedures, and stan
dards. These are delineated in the contract itself. Some current agreements with out
side organizations for the delivery of WGU services include: 

• The University of New Mexico for the WGU online library. 
• Education provider agreements for the listing of classes and programs in the WGU 

online catalog. 
• Education provider agreements with institutions charged with creating courses 

designed for a specific WGU audience. Each contract is clearly defined and 
administered equitab ly for all education providers. 

• Contracts with companies such as Gaitan Technologies and The Chauncey Group 
International, for the development of WGU assessments . 

These and other contract examples will be availab le to the visiting team as Exhibit 11, 
"Contractual Policies". The appropriate senior administrator reviews all contracts annu 
ally and renews or terminates them based on the relevant performance indicators and a 
cost/ benefit analysis. WGU's library and education provider services are discussed 
extensively in Standard Five. 

Continuing Challenges 
No institution has ever attempted to enlist the support of 19 governors and their states, 
or to retain that support over time. No other institution has ever so systematica lly 
engaged the expertise of others across the nation in designing its programs and its 
learning outcomes. The sponsorship of WGU's member states is part of our unique sig
nature , just as is our council structu re-elements of our "trademark" as distinct as our 
reliance on competency assessments in measuring student progress. The capacity to 
reach across the lines of many states and engage the support of their leadership in iden
tifying and meeting the learning needs of their citizens remains today , as much as it was 
in the beginning , a unique strength of this institution. 

We are determined to hold onto these features , but they require care and feeding. 
Governors change and new ones have their own agendas. Each change necessitates re
engagement; reselling of the potential benefits of continued collaboration to the mem
ber. Council members , although free of election cycles, are nonetheless dispersed 
throughout the nation , and as the University grows it becomes all too easy to turn com
munication inward than to remember to keep the external network engaged , informed , 
and empowered. 

Thus far, our administrative and governance structures are serving us well. We are 
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appropriately staffed , have orderly systems in place for increasing staff and faculty, and 
our councils are effective. Governors have left office and new ones have arrived. Some 
are less engaged than others but always we have retained a core of dedicated , ener
getic, and resourceful advocates. Retaining the commitment of these advocates and of 
our councils over the long term is, however, our biggest challenge in this Standard. 
There are two strategies for doing so , and there is no magic in them . The first is dili
gence-we must remain aware of the advantages these resources bring us , and remain 
committed to retaining them. The second is relevance-we must continue to build and 
support programs that are central to the needs of our member states, true to the compe
tency-based educational model we have developed , and of the highest quality . 

Standard Three 
Web Exhibits - Appendices - Room Exhibits 

Web Exhibits: 
WE 8: http: //www. wgu.edu /wgu /a bout/administration.html 

Appendices: 
Appendix 5: 
Appendix 6: 

Room Exhibits: 

WGU Personnel 
Council Members 

RE 2: Bylaws and Articles of Incorporation 
RE 11: Contractual Policies 
RE 12: WGU Personnel 
RE 13: Council Vitae 
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Standard Four: Educational Programs 
The institution offers collegiate-level programs that culminate in identified student com
petencies and lead to degrees or certificates in recognized fields of study. The institution 
takes responsibility for the quality of instruction , academic rigor, and educational effec
tiveness of all its learning activities, whether delivered try, the institution or third parties. 
All undergraduate and graduate programs have a coherent design and are character
ized try, appropriate breadth, depth, sequencing and synthesis of learning activities, and 
the use of information and learning resources. The institution helps to prepare students 
for living and working in a pluralistic , interdependent society. 

4.1 General Standards 

4.1.1 The institution demonstrates that its degrees and programs , wherever and howev
er they are offered, support the mission of the institution . Instructional delivery 
systems and modes of instruction are appropriate to the needs of its students . 

4.1.2 The institution uses genera lly accepted degree nomenclature consistent with the 
program content, degree objectives, and student mastery of knowledge and skills; 
this includes, where appropriate, career preparation competencies. 

4.1.3 The institution provid es sufficient human , physical and financial resources 
to achieve the stated outcomes of its educational programs . 

4.1.4 The institution demonstrates that all technology mediated , distance learning , off 
campus, continuing education (credit and non-credit) , and other special pro
grams are integral parts of the institution and are designed , approved, adminis
tered, and periodically evaluated under established institutional procedures . 

4.1 .5 When prog rams are eliminated or program requirements are significantly 
chang ed, the institution makes appropriate arrangements for enrolled students so 
that they may complete their education in a timely manner with a minimum of 
disruption or duplication. 

4.1.6 lfthe institution uses a measure of achievement other than academic credit, 
such measures are clearly stated and publish ed . Efforts are made to articulate 
such measures with the academic credit system . The institution communicates to 
the broader higher education community the meaning of these measures. 

4.2 Undergraduate Education 

4.2 .1 All undergraduate programs ensure competence in oral and written communi 
cation , scientific and quantitative reasoning , critical analysis/logical thinking , 
and technological literacy . 
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4.2.2 All undergraduate degree programs provide students a significant introduction 
to the broad areas of human knowledge, their theories and methods of inquiry , 
and , for the BA degree, focused study in at least one area of inquiry. Tbe insti
tution requires of all undergraduate programs a component of general educa
tion that is published in clear and complete terms in its general catalog and that 
includes criteria for its evaluation. 

4.23 Tbe institution bas clearly arliculated policies for the transfer of credit or other 
measures of achievement . In accepting transfer credits or other measures of 
achievement to fulfill degree requirements, the institution ensures that the credits 
accepted for general education achieve educational goals comparable to its own 
general education requirements . Where patterns of transfer from other institu
tions are established, effons are undenaken to formulate arliculation agree
ments . 

4.2 .4 Tbe institution meets student needs for academic advising and adequately 
informs and prepares faculty and other personnel responsible for the advising 

function . 

43 Graduate Education 

43.1 Programs of study at the graduate level are guided by well defined and appropri
ate educational objectives and differ from undergraduate programs in greater 
depth of study and increased demands on student intellectual or creative capaci
ty. Where doctoral programs are offered the level of expectations , curricula , and 
resources made available are significantly greater than those provided for mas
ter 's programs . 

43.2 All graduate and professional programs are based upon an undergraduate edu
cation that includes a substantial and coherent general educationcomponent . 

4.4 Educational Program Assessment 

4.4.1 Tbe institution identifies and publishes the expected learning outcomes for each 
of its undergraduate and graduate programs. It demonstrates that students com
pleting degree programs, no matter where or bow they are offered, have achieved 
those stated learning outcomes . 

4.4.2 Tbe institution 's processes for establishing and evaluating, its educational pro
grams are clearly defined , encompass all of the institution 's programs , are con
ducted on a regular basis, and are integrated into the institution '.s overall plan
ning , evaluation and improvement effons. The processes recognize the central 
role of the institution 's academic personnel in developing, implementing , and 

WESTERN GOVERNORS UNO~ 



evaluating its educational programs. 

4.4.3 When an institution relies on other institutions for the delivery of learning activi
ties or the assessment of student learning, it has the means to assess the quality 
and effectiveness of such activities and assessments, and maintains overall 
responsibility for them. 

4.1: General Standards 
In the following section we address the general standards of our educational programs. 
We have organized the general standards as they relate to our institutional mission and 
degree programs. Therefore, the section on quality and competency-based degrees will 
address standards 4.1.1, 4.1.3, 4.1.4, and 4.1.5; the section on access and means of 
learning independent of time and place will address standard 4.1.1; and the section on 
recognition will address standards 4.1.1, 4.1.2, and 4.1.6 . The Table below summarizes 
this organizational arrangement: 
WGU's mission is to improve quality and expand access to postsecondary educational 

Quality Access and Means of 
and Leaming Independent of Recognition 

Competency-based Degrees Time and Place 

4.11 4.1.1 4.1.1 

4.1.3 4.1.2 

4.1.4 4.1.6 

4.1.5 

opportunities by providing a means for individuals to learn independent of time or 
place and to earn competency-based degrees and other credentials that are credible to 
both academic institutions and employer s. Our degrees and certificates support our 
mission in the following ways. 

Quality and competency-based degrees 
Our commitment to quality is demonstrated through (a) the development of competen
cy-based programs, (b) the provision of sufficient human , physical and financial 
resources to support programs , (c) the identification , approval, and periodic evaluation 
of our education providers , and (d) regular program reviews that may result in changes 
to competencies and assessments, or to elimination of programs . 

(4.1.1). As an institution we believe we have increased the quality of post-secondary 
distance education by focusing on competency-based degrees and credentials. Our 
approach to competency-based degree development, assessment deve lopment , and pro
gram review is unique and we have taken the risk to step outside of the traditional 
credit and seat-time models to focus on measurable achievement. We are beginning to 
see more competency-based pro grams at the primary and secondary level and our 
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model is often cited as an example in texts such as Measuring What Matters: 
Competency-based Learning Models in Higher Education (Voorhees, 2001). Our model 
for the development of critical thinking and problem -solving skills was recently cited in 
Building a Scholarship of Assessment (Banta, 2002). We believe we will see great strides 
in the development of high-quality, competency-based teacher education programs as 
our Teachers College matures through the aid of a Star Schools grant. 

(4.1.3) . We build our human, physical , and financial resources according to careful 
planning and to ensure that we can deliver the stated outcomes of our educational pro
grams. In recognition of the fact that the mentor role at WGU is an advising role that 
does not entail direct instruction , we appoint new mentors for undergraduate programs 
at a ratio of one for every hundred students , and for graduate programs we appoint at a 
ratio of 1-to-80. It is our policy , however , to "front-load" these appointments in order to 
ensure that mentors are available in advance of student demand . As a result, the overall 
mentor-student ratios to date in all programs are somewhat lower . All mentors working 
with associate 's degree students must have a master 's degree; those working with bache
lor's and master 's students must have earned doctorates. All key administrative posi
tions are likewise filled with personnel qualified by background and experience. 
Standard Three also provides more discussion of the University's organizational structure 
and the respective roles of various governance groups, while Standard Six details the 
roles and responsibilities of mentors and the academic leadership of the institution. 

In 2001 we installed a student information system (SCT Banner) capable of managing 
the records of more than 50,000 students , and our Web site, online catalog, library serv
ices, and other learning resources have consistently demonstrated that they can expand 
to meet demand . For instance , our catalog now includes approximately 1,200 courses 
from 45 educational providers , with more than a third mapped specifically to our com
petencies-so that every student has two to three different preparation options for every 
individual competency in his or her degree program . We have also in the past year 
more than doubled the available electronic library databases available to our students. 
And on the strictly "physical " side of our resources , we have recently added more than 
1,500 square feet of space to our Salt Lake offices to meet the needs of our expanding 
personnel. Finally, we have for each of the past three years operated on a balanced 
budget , increased our net assets, and increased our long-term financial commitments. 
All of these matters are addressed at greater length in other sections of this Self-Study. 

(4.1.4). Our interest in maintaining quality programs is further demonstrated in our rela
tionships with our affiliated education providers. Early in WGU's history , we accepted 
education providers and courses primarily to build the size of the catalog, without close 
regard to their fit with our degree needs . Early in 2000, however, the emphasis shifted. 
Although the catalog still includes a large number of courses that are available for gen
eral interest , and that breadth will continue , our emphasis in new course development is 
on the relevance of new resource s to our degrees . Mentors work with the Director of 
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Learning Resources to identify content that maps closely to our competencies and we 
then approach the education provider to partner with us to offer the content. Our men
tors then map the new courses to WGU competencies. The University's Education 
Provider Selection Comminee oversees the selection of education providers and the 
mapping of content, and the comminee monitors the performance of providers to see 
that they adhere to our standards. Standard Five addresses these issues in more detail. 

(4.1.5) . Finally, we focus on quality programs by establishing program councils of 
external faculty and industry experts to ensure the academic quality, credibility and 
integrity of our programs . Therefore, it is the responsibility of the program councils to 
conduct an ongoing review and updating of competencies associated with individual 
programs. Program modifications may occur due to changes in skill requirements and 
new knowledge in the discipline or profession related to a particular program . Through 
this process , WGU programs are "versioned ", meaning that when program councils con
duct their periodic reviews and make changes to the competencies, a new version num
ber is assigned to the degree program. When a student begins a degree program, he or 
she begins working toward mastering a set of competencies listed under a specific ver
sion of the program in place at the time . If the degree program is updated while the 
student is still enrolled, the student will only be held accountable to the pro gram ver
sion that was current at the time of his or her matriculation. WGU encourages students, 
however , to gain the knowledge and skills represented by the latest version of any par
ticular program so they have the most current qualifi cations possible . 

Likewise , the Program Council , usually under the direction of the WGU management 
team , may decide to cancel a program that is no longer relev ant or lacks student enroll
ments . Students enrolled in the program at the time of cancellation have the option of 
continuing in the program under its current version or they may switch to another WGU 
program . The mentors and Director of Academic Services are charged with communicat
ing degree modifications or cancellations to students . For example, the constant moni
toring of the information technology industry through the mentors and the Information 
Techn ology (ID Program Council led , in one instance , to a program being significantly 
altered. Originally the IT Council working in connection with faculty and administration 
dev eloped an associate's degree program entitled "Software Application Analysis and 
Integration " (SAAi). It became apparent within the first year of the program that the 
field was more appropriately addressed at the baccal aureate level. The program was 
recalled, redesigned and offered as a bachelor 's degree in Computer Informati on 
Systems. At the time that the SAAi degree was eliminated, there were two students 
actively pursuing the degree. Both students opted to switch to the Associate of Science
Information Technology de gree and both have made some progress toward their 
degree. 

Access and means of learning independent of time and place 
(4.1.1). WGU has increased access to post-secondary education by offering student-cen-
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tered programs that (a) are competency-based, (b) allow students to learn independent 
of time and place, (c) allow students to access a variety of delivery systems and modes 
of instruction via the online catalog , (d) allow students to gain access to Title IV Federal 
Financial Aid funds , and (e) are available through strategic outreach initiatives. 

First and foremost, WGU has increased access to post-secondary education for adult 
learners whose experience has outpaced their educational credentials. By allowing stu
dents to demonstrate competence via our assessments, we do not require students to 
take courses in areas in which they are already competent. Our online catalog and flex
ible programs allow students to take many paths to gain competencies through formal 
courses, self-paced individualized courses , or independent study. 

The vast majority of our students are working full-time so they desire access to pro
grams and learning opportunities independent of time and place. We provide 24x7 
access to our student support services via the Internet and we do not have a residency 
requirement. Our mentors contact students via email and phone at times that are con
venient for the students, and our online catalog offers a huge variety of resources. Our 
online catalog allows students to choose from a variety of courses offered by different 
education providers through different modes of delivery. Delivery technologies 
employed by education providers span a wide range of options including World Wide 
Web sites, streaming audio and video, email, telephone , television and postal mail. 
These delivery technologies enable our students to access their learning opportunities 
independent of time and place limitations. Further , students have access to an online 
library wherein they are able to access resources relevant to their program of study. In 
September and October of 2001, a survey was administered to all degree-seeking stu
dents enrolled in the business programs . The students overwhelmingly cited as a major 
advantage of the program the flexibility in access to learning opportunities . This sup
ports the notion that the manner in which the degrees are offered is consistent with the 
needs of our target student population. 

We have increased access to post-secondary education to underserved and underprivi
leged populations through partnerships such as those with the National Urban League, 
Sitting Bull College, and primarily through the U.S. Department of Education 's Distance 
Demonstration Project. The Distance Demonstration Project allows us to offer Title IV 
Federal Financial Aid in the form of PELL Grants and subsidized and unsubsidized loans 
to distance learning students. We have worked closely with the Department to identify 
ways to distribute aid for direct costs only , to establish measures of satisfactory academ
ic progress based on assessment completion rather than terms and credits , and to 
accomplish appropriate disbursement of aid to distance learning students. Below is a 
brief descript ion of our current outreach initiatives: 

• State Government Universities ("EduLink" sites) - Web portals for employees of 
various Western states to access mandatory and recommended training, as well as 
to access professional development and degrees from WGU and its EP network 
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(see , for instance, Arizona Government University at 
http://www .wgu.edu/wgu/vu/a7_5gu/index.htmn. 

• Corporate Universities - A similar portal for employees of certain corporations, 
usually members of WGU's National Advisory Board (e.g., Novell University at 
http:ljwww.wgu.edu/wgu/vu/novell/home.asp). 

• National Urban League - This specialized portal lists online courses that support 
the leadership curriculum defined by the NUL, and it includes a site for those 
adult learners who desire courses and degrees for their own career development 
(http:ljwww.wgu.edu/wgu/vu/urban/index .htmn . 

• Sitting Bull College IT degree - WGU's collaboration with Sitting Bull College 
(SBC) provides an IT degree to students at SBC through WGU's online IT courses 
and mentoring at a distance that would not be possible otherwise. (See 
http://www .wgu.edu/wgu/vu/sbc/index.html) . 

Recognition 
We have increased the recognition of our programs via (a) articulation agreements that 
have led to better alignment of our degree nomenclature and transcripting practices, (b) 
input from external faculty and industry experts during the development of competen
cies, (c) involvement of 23 corporations and foundations on our national advisory 
board, and (d) school districts that are recognizing the MLT degree for lane changes and 
salary increases . 

(4.1.2) . One of our more challenging tasks has been gaining recognition and accept
ance from other institutions of higher education . Whereas most professional recognition 
is based on demonstrating competency-licensing pilots, board certifying physicians, or 
admitting lawyers to the bar, to name only three-higher education is still not organized 
in this way. Since our model does not rest on credit equivalency, we have found that 
other institutions often do not know how to evaluate our students' progress and success. 
In order to more easily address WGU's competency-based model with other institutions , 
employers, and students, we use generally accepted degree nomenclature and internal 
degree structures that are consistent with those of other American colleges and universi
ties and , although the use of "domain" and "subdomain" may not be common else
where, the content behind those terms is fully consistent with American higher educa
tion terminology. For instance, we refer to Language and Communication Skills and 
Quantitative Literacy as "domains " in our associate 's degrees, whereas other universities 
might call them "areas of study ," but the competencies that we expect students to mas
ter within them are fully consistent with the learning expectations of other programs at 
this level. Our persistent efforts over the past three years to explain and interpret our 
system to other colleges and universities have produced very positive results in articula
tion agreements. To date we have secured such agreements with both individual insti
tutions and state systems of higher education totaling more than 60 community colleges , 
four-year colleges , and universities. 
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Perhaps not surprisingly, we are often able to achieve recognition more easily with 
employers because they put a higher premium on workplace performance than higher 
education traditionally has done . We include industry experts on our program councils 
during the development of competencies and we design our degrees to address both 
the knowledge and the skills that students will need to perform well in their careers. As 

a result , students often tell us that they are immediately able to apply what they are 
learning to their jobs, and the learning becomes more "real" to them as a result. And 
certainly one indication of our recognition by employers is the fact that so many corpo 
rate sponsors have become members of the WGU national advisory board. Our Master 
of Arts in Learning and Technology has also been accepted for teachers ' lane changes 
and salary increases in a number of Western states , which further demonstrates the 
recognition of our degree programs. 

(4.1.6). Our transcript is an important tool for communicating our degree nomenclature 
and structure to the broader higher education community and employers. In our effort 
to articulate our measures of achievement to traditional credit-based environments , we 
have adopted a narrative transcript format that clearly explains the domains that stu
dents have mastered . The transcript also designates the weight of each domain in com
parison to other domains in the program and lists a credit equivalency for the degree as 
a whole . For example , the instructional design domain comprises 18 percent of the 
MLT program and the entire program is at least equivalent to 45 semester credits. 
Therefore , a registrar or human resources department can deduce that 18 percent of 45 
credits is approximately eight credits for the Instructional Design domain. 

Transcript Development 
The WGU transcript has gone through several iterations , each an improvement over the 
previous one, and each in response to our experience. Our goals in designing the tran
script have always been: a) to communicate our degree requirements and student 
progress clearly to other university registrars for transfer and articulation purposes ; and 
b) to create a single, master transcript that documents all degree progress and all cours
es taken through our affiliated education providers , thus alleviating the need for stu
dents to request individual transcripts from each provider. By the fall of 1999, the tran
script documented domains that were completed, including individual assessments 
passed, as well as a complete list of all classes in which a student had enrolled, regard
less of the grade received or withdrawal status. 

We used this version of the transcript primarily during conversations with education 
providers regarding partnerships or articulation agreements , and during conversations 
with employers regarding employee reimbursement. We found that we still spent a 
great deal of time explaining the WGU model and, in particular, how the domains 
equated to traditional courses , since many students were passing domains without 
engaging in learning opportunities . University registrars and corporate human resource 
departments only seemed to understand the language of "credit equivalents ," so they 
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were frustrated by a model that does not include credits. Due to the language barrier, 
we were having a difficult time securing articulation and employee reimbursement 
agreements because our model did not fit into the "credit" box of traditional institutions . 

The current version of the WGU transcript is much more narrative in nature. It is clear
er regarding the release of student information, and it uses Safe-Script paper that pre
vents students from making readable copies of the transcript. The back of the transcript 
is tailored to each degree program, indicating the domains and competencies required 
for completion. It also indicates that the degree is "at least equivalent to" a certain 
number of credits , as determined by our program councils . The appropriate program 
council has also taken each of the domains in the degree and assigned a percentage to 
it, indicating the weight of that domain in relation to the others in the degree. This per
centage allows other registrars and human resource departments to assign credit equiva
lents to each domain for transfer or employee reimbursement purposes. The front of 
the transcript indicates only domains that have been completed and does not include 
individual assessments . We found in prior versions of the transcript that including 
assessments confused people because they would try to assign credits to individual 
assessments. 

The front of the current transcript also includes classes students have completed through 
the WGU online catalog, including the education provider , class name and number, 
credits, grade, and date of completion. For undergraduate students , only those classes 
are listed in which the student earned a grade of "C" or better . For graduate students, 
only those classes are listed in which the student earned a grade of "B" or better. This 
practice is consistent with our transfer credit policy, and it also recognizes the fact that 
many students enroll in classes with no intention to complete them for a grade. Rather , 
they complete only certain modules of the class to gain the competencies they need in 
preparation for our assessment examinations. Since students are not required to take 
classes to earn credits or grades, we do not want to punish them for working within the 
WGU model in this way. 

To date we have had 17 transcript requests. Fifteen of them have been from teachers in 
the Master of Arts in Learning and Technology program who needed to document their 
academic achievement for lane changes or salary increases. We had one request for a 
transcript from an undergraduate student who needed to document that he was working 
toward his degree so that he would gain higher rank in the military. We also had a 
request from an undergraduate student who will need to document receipt of his 
Associate of Arts degree in order to enroll in Marylhurst University through WGU's artic
ulation agreement. We have also had several additional requests from students seeking 
approval for employee reimbursement , lane changes, or salary increases. In response, 
we send a formal letter and a copy of the back of the transcript that explains the WGU 
model, competencies, credit equivalents, and domain weights. To date we have 
received only positive feedback about our transcript and all students have been able to 
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use it to document their academic achievement. Samples of WGU transcripts are 
attached to this Self-Study as Appendix 1, p. 173. 

The development of WGU policies on the transfer of academic credit also provides a 
good illustration of our efforts toward continuing improvement relative to Standard 
4.1.6. 

When WGU began, it took the position that no credits students earned elsewhere would 
be applied to any WGU graduation requirements. Naturally enough , other colleges and 
universities asked, "You want us to recognize your assessments for credits at our institu
tions , but you won 't accept our courses toward your graduation requirements? " The 
answer then was , "That 's right" and , accordingly, we were not exactly perceived as a 
partner in the higher education community. 

Over time, and after some changes in personnel , the University reconsidered the rigidity 
of this response . For, in fact, how could WGU consider itself a part of the higher edu
cation community without recognizing student learning in ways other than assessments? 
How could the University establish articulation agreements with other institutions that 
might lead to new enrollments? How would WGU attract students who had completed 
courses , then had to interrupt their studies, and now wanted to complete their degrees 
in a competency-based model? 

Our first change was to accept in fulfillment of our lower-division requirements the aca
demic credentials of students who had completed associate's degrees similar to our 
own. For example , students with associate 's degrees in business would need only com
plete the upper-division requirements for the WGU BS in Business . Next, it seemed log
ical that students who had completed an associate 's degree in a different discipline 
should only be required to meet those lower-division prerequisites for the WGU major 
that they had not taken previously. For example , students with an associate's degree in 
general studies would need only complete the lower-division requirements in business 
before completing the upper-division requir ements for the Bachelor of Science in 
Business . Finally, and perhaps inevitably , the question arose of what to do with those 
transfer applicants who had no associate's degree but enough credits to qualify for 
upper-division standing. After discussions with mentor faculty, academic staff, and the 
Coordinating Council , we determined to accept course transfers, if sufficiently broad and 
deep , that matched our lower-division requir ements. For example, Quantitative Literacy 
competencies can be satisfied for an upper-division transfer if the student has completed 
coursework elsewhere in college algebra and statistics. These procedures were incorpo
rated into a policy on evaluation of transfer students. 

We now fee l we have successfully resolved the treatment of transfer students in a way 
that is equitable, standardized, and well received. We have no intention , however , of 
creating similar equivalencies for upper-division requirements , believing that it is imper-
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ative for all WGU students to demonstrate competence in these areas in order to earn 
our baccalaureate degree. 

Portability: Credit Equivalents and Domain Weightings 
The "portability" of WGU's degrees and competencies has been an issue of considerable 
interest since the beginning of the University. A number of questions have clustered 
around this issue: Would WGU's degrees be transferable to more traditional institutions? 
How would a competency-oriented transcript be evaluated in more conventional terms? 
Would students who wanted to transfer after completing some competencies, but not a 
degree, receive credit? How would the University-or would it at all-accept responsibili
ty for helping students in these situations? Our response to these questions has evolved 
over time and, while we do not yet have answers for all of them , we have established a 
clear approach that seems to be working. 

At the time of IRAC's site visit in the fall of 2000, we were considering asking the 
American Council on Education's College Credit Recommendation Service (CCRS) to 
evaluate our degree domains and assign credit equivalents to them . We mentioned this 
possibility to the visiting team and again later in discussion with IRAC at the November 
meeting that resulted in WGU's candidacy. The evaluatio n would provide external vali
dation of the substance of our degrees, and a means for us, for our students, and for 
registrars at other universities to translate WGU transcripts into traditional credit systems. 
It would assist students who wanted to transfer out of WGU before earning their 
degrees , and it would no doubt also assist those who wanted to pursue advanced 
degrees after WGU graduation . 

For some months following our initial inqu iry to the CCRS we continued to discuss this 
approach internally , until at a point early in the summer of 2001 it finally occurred to us 
that we constructed program councils for exactly this kind of task. Each council is com
prised of professional practitioners and faculty from a variety of universities; they know 
what comparable degrees look like at other institutions ; they know what it takes to 
function effective ly in the fields for which they are responsible . At WGU they are 
charged specifically with oversight responsibility for the quality and currency of our 
degrees. They know intimately how the degrees are constructed, what competencies 
they contain , and how they are assessed . What better groups to conduct an evaluation 
of credit equivalency? 

Accordingly , beginning in the fall of 2001 and continuing through March of 2002, men
tors and program councils reviewed the structure and content of each WGU degree in 
comparison to similar degrees at other institutions and assigned a credit equiva lency to 
it. (The MLT comparison is described later in some detail , beginning on page 85; all 
other degree comparisons are availab le as Exhibit 14) They valued each associate's 
degree as the equ ivalent of "at least 60 seme ster hours "; each bachelor 's degree as the 
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Technology (MLT) as the equivalent of "at least 45 semester hours". They then evaluat
ed each domain in each degree and assigned a weighting to it as a percentage of the 
whole. (For instance , the Quantitative Literacy and Language and Communication Skills 
domains in the associate's degrees are each weighted as 15 percent of the degree's total; 
the five domains in the MLT are each weighted at 18 percent, and the MLT's capstone is 
weighted at 10 percent of the total.) This approach represented something of a com
promise between the need to assist students in connecting with external higher educa
tion realities and the need to uphold the distinctiveness of WGU's competency-based 
approach. Rightly or wrongly, the councils feared that a direct statement of credits for 
each domain would drive the university inexorably toward awarding specific credits for 
each assessment, each course a student takes, and so on. Providing a formula for an 
overall translation that other registrars could easily use would, in other words, assist stu
dents without fatally compromising the university 's principles. Again, samples of WGU 
transcripts are attached to this Self-Study as Appendix 1, and one can readily see how 
each domain in each degree is described and weighted. 

While we do not yet have enough experience with student out-transfer to know for cer
tain that this approach is working as hoped, we do have initial evidence of its helpful
ness, both with transfer and with employer tuition reimbursements (see the previous 
box on transcript development). It also has been helpful in articulation agreements with 
other institutions , which have found the weightings to be a solid basis for determining 
the fit between their requirements and ours. Both community colleges articulating into 
WGU's bachelor's degree programs and other four-year institutions have more confi
dence in what their students will be getting (in the case of community colleges) and 
what we will be sending them (in the case of other four-year institutions) as a result of 
this weighting system. 

Our history with this issue is a good illustration of the tension between ideals and reali
ty, between responsiveness to students and model integrity. We are acutely aware of 
how difficult it is to create a new mode l of academic progress and establish it success
fully in American higher education. At the heart of virtually every developmental issue 
lies the tension between responsible adaptation in support of student service and model 
erosion. How much flexibility is too much? When is an assessment too difficult , rather 
than merely different? How will the law of unfores een consequences affect this deci
sion? Our struggle to find the balance between credits and competencies is only one of 
many similar issues that continue to shape our progress , and that will ultimately define 
our permanence. 
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The Teachers ColJege of Western Governors University 
The formation of the Teachers College warrants introduction at this point, botb because 
it is the first College to be formed within the University and because its development 
encompasses the majority of the University's new initiatives over the next several years . 
A prospectus for each of the three programs the College intends to launch early in 2003 
accompanies this Self-Study as a separate, bound volume. The Bachelor of Arts in 
Interdisciplinary Studies is listed in the Self-Study Table of Contents as Appendix 7 
(p. 257); the Master of Arts in Teaching is listed as Appendix 8 (p. 259); and the Master 
of Arts in Mathematics Education is listed as Appendix 9 (p.261). 

When it became apparent that the Master of Arts in Leaming and Technology was the 
most successful degree at WGU in terms of student enrollment, and that the student 
population most drawn to the degree was K-12 teachers, seeds for the Teachers College 
were taking root. Following this, the member governors noted collectively that the 
number one educational problem facing them was the shortage of qualified K-12 teach
ers. Thus , founding a Teachers College that would carry licensure programs began to 
sprout into a living, growing reality. The governors and the Board of Trustees grew 
increasingly enthused about what formation of a Teachers College could mean to WGU 
and the member states ' K-12 educational needs. 

Dr. Marti Garlett was appointed founding dean of WGU's Teachers College on January 
2, 2001. She is responsible for the overall administration and design of the Teachers 
College, and for the quality of its academic programs . During 2001, her primary task 
was to 1) design a strategic plan for developing relevant programs in elementary educa
tion , reading , secondary math , secondary science , and English language learning, as well 
as for obtaining teacher licensure approva l in our 19 member states; 2) lay foundational 
support for the Teachers College and help increase enro llments in the MLT by forming 
strategic partnerships with schoo l and state departments of education; and 3) identify 
available funding sources that match ou r program development priorities. 

The T-PLUS program (Techno logy for Principals Leading Utah Schools) was the first new 
initiative launched , backed by $1 million in funding from the Bill and Melinda Gates 
Foundation and matched by another $1 million from the State of Utah. A graduate- level 
certificate program derived from our MLT, it was launched in September 2001, with the 
first student enrollments targeted for January 2002. The program will run over three years 
and will provide professional development in leadership and implementation of technolo
gy for superintendents and principals throughout Utah. Dr. Garlett serves as the project 
director. T-PLUS aims to enroll and train more than 600 of these school officials, two 
thirds of the active private and public school principals and superintendents in the state. 
The second big funding source during 2001 was the U.S. Department of Education that, 
in September , granted $10 million to WGU's Teachers College through the Star Schools 
program. This is a five-year grant with, unsurprisingly , a five-year plan . Year 1 (2001-
2002) includes development of initial elementary teacher certification with an emphasis 
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in reading at the Bachelor of Arts, post-baccalaureate, and Master of Arts levels, fol
lowed closely by the same degree levels in secondary math certification. The complete 
schedule of degree development supported by the Star Schools grant is listed below: 

2003. 
Teaching Certificate in Elementary Education 

(emphasis in Reading) 
Bachelor of Arts in Interdisciplinary Studies 

(with Elementary Teaching Certification) 
Master of Arts in Teaching 

(Elementary Education) 
Teaching Endorsement in Secondary Mathematics 

(Middle and High School) 
Master of Arts in Mathematics Education 

(Elementary, Middle , and High School) 
Professional Development Certificate in Elementary Mathematics 
Professional Development Certificate in Early Reading 

Bachelor of Arts in Mathematics 
(with Secondary Teaching Certification) 

Master of Arts in Teaching 
(Secondary Mathematics) 

Master of Arts in Reading Education 
Teaching Endorsement in English Language Development 
Master of Arts in English Language Development 

Graduate Certificate in Reading Education 
Teaching Endorsement(s) in Science Discipline(s) 
Bachelor of Arts in Science Education 

(with Secondary Teaching Certification) 

To meet this schedule, the University hired a Director of Assessment for the Teachers 
College (Dr. Tom Zane) , a program coordinator / mentor in reading (Dr. Melissa Hayden), 
and a program coordinator/mentor in mathematics education (Dr. Phil Schmidt). 
Currently , these three individuals , along with the dean , are immersed in developing the 
programs scheduled for launch in 2003. Dr. Alec Testa , Director of Assessment and 
Institutional Research for the University as a whole , is of great assistance to this effort as well. 
We are understandably eager to have all of 2003's Teachers College programs included 
in the !RAC approval process so that student enrollments in elementary teacher certifica
tion and mathematics education can enroll in them early in the new calendar year. 
Indeed , our strategy for marketing teacher certification to our member states will be 
influenced greatly by !RAC approval of these first programs. 
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4.2: Undergraduate Education 
In the following section we address undergraduate education with an emphasis on the 
general edu cation requirements (4.2.1, 4.2.2), articulation and transfer of degrees (4.2.3), 
and ways in which we meet our students' needs for academic advising (4.2.4). 

(4.2.2) . The general ed ucation requirements for all undergraduate degrees provide stu
dents a significant introduction to the broad areas of human knowledge and their theo
ries and methods of inquiry. In the undergraduate degrees, we regard the competenci es 
in Language and Communication Skills, Quantitative Literacy Skills, Collegiate-Level 
Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills, and the Distribution Domain (human ities , social 
sciences, and natural sciences) as general education requirements . The requirements 
and criteria for evaluat ion in these areas are clearly documented on the WGU Web site 
and in the Student Handbook. The genera l education requirements comprise 100 per
cent of the Associate of Arts degree , 60 percent of the Associate of Science degrees, 45 
percent of the Associate of Applied Science degrees , and 30 percent of the upper-divi
sion Bachelor of Science degrees . The balance of the studies in all these degrees is 
focused on professional or technical areas. Our bachelor 's degrees require focused 
study in at least one area of inquiry (which will be explained later in this sec tion) . 

(4.2.1). Undergraduate degrees awarded by WGU are designed to ensure that students 
demonstrate competence in oral and written communication in the Language and 
Communication domain , scientific and quantitative reaso ning in the Quantitative Literacy 
domain , critical analysis/logical thinking in the Collegiate- Level Reasoning and Problem
Solving Skills domain , and technological literacy through the completion of severa l per
formance tasks. The following section describes each of these domains in greater detail. 

Language and Communication Skills Domain 
The Language and Communication Skills domain accounts for 15 percent of the program 
in the associate's degrees and 10 percent of the bachelor 's degrees and has to do with 
reading, writing and communicating with other people. This domain also focuses on how 
to use a library and find information. The principal subdomains are (a) collegiate reading 
skills; (b) argumentative and critical writing skills; (c) presentation-related skills; (d) expos
itory writing skills; and (e) basic information retrieval skills. Students demonstrate compe
tence in oral and written communication, collegiate reading skills, and basic information 
retrieval skills by completing a five- to eight-page research paper and a video -taped oral 
presentation. As part of the research process the students must also develop and adminis
ter a survey or conduct an interview. Students must also demonstrate competence in col
legiate reading skills, critical writing skills, expository writing skills, and basic information 
retrieval skills by passing objective and essay examinations. Our language and communi
cation competencies are also integrated into the Collegiate-Level Reaso ning and Problem
Solving Skills domain and the undergraduate portfoli o requirement. 
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Quantitative Literacy Skills Domain 
The Quantitative Literacy Skills domain accounts for 15 percent of the associate 's 
degrees and 10 percent of the bachelor 's degrees. Its principal subdomains are (a) col
legiate statistical/probability skills; (b) functions and algebra skills; (c) quantitative prob
lem-solving skills; (d) quantitative communication skills; (e) geometry and measurement 
skills; CO numeric and calculation skills; and (g) quantitative technological skills. 
Students demonstrate mastery of statistical/probability skills, functions and algebra skills, 
geometry and measurement skills, numeric and calculation skills, and quantitative prob
lem-solving skills by passing an objective examination. Stude nts demonstrate compe
tence in their quantitative problem-solving skills, quantitative communication skills, 
numeric and calculation skills, and quantitative technological skills by completing a per
formance task that requires them to use spreadsheets to solve quantitative problems. 
We also integrate general Quantitative Literacy competencies in our Collegiate-Level 
Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills domain. 

Collegiate-Level Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills Domain 
The Collegiate-Level Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills domain (CLRPS) accounts for 
15 percent of the Associate of Arts and Associate of Science degrees and 10 percent of 
the bachelor 's programs. Its principal subdomains are (a) planning and information 
gathering; (b) problem identification and clarification; (c) identification of assumptions 
and values; (d) interpretation and analysis of information and data; and (e) reaching 
well-founded conclusions. Students demonstrate their critical thinking and problem 
solving skills by successfully completing a tutorial and evaluation organized around an 
open-ended problem solving process that is theoretically and empirically grounded in 
two models of developmental psychology: Fischer's dynamic skills theory (Fischer & 

Bidell, 1997) and King and Kitchener 's 0994) reflective judgment model of cognitive 
development. This part of WGU's assessment of competencies is designed to help stu
dents demonstrate their best performance in problem-so lving skills. In that respect , it is 
a formative assessment strategy that includes : 

• Warm-up exercise 
• Problem-solving tutorial and coaching that integrate competencies gained in the 

Language and Communication and Quantitative Literacy Skills domains. 
• Problem-solving performance as demonstrated in an essay that builds on the warm

up essay, tutorial, and coaching . 

Students also take one individual ETS Task in Critical Thinking assessment to further 
document their critical thinking and problem-solving skills. 

Distribution Domain 
The Distribution domain provides students with a broad introduction to the humanities, 
social sciences , and natural sciences . The Distribution domain accounts for 45 percent 
of the Associate of Arts degree , and students are required to complete assessments that 
equal a three-course equivalent outcome in social sciences, three-course equivalent out-
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come in humanities, and a two-course equivalent outcome in the natural sciences. The 
Distribution domain accounts for 10 percent to 15 percent of all other undergraduate 
programs , and students are required to complete assessments that equal a one-course 
equivalent outcome in social sciences, humanities, and natural sciences to accommodate 
the demands for the technical skills associated with the degrees. In some cases, there is 
overlap between the Distribution domain and the content specific area. For example, 
much of the content in the business domain fits criteria associated with the social sci
ences. Students have the option to demonstrate mastery of the competencies in the dis
tribution domain by either taking combinations of CLEP and DANTES assessments or by 
demonstrating competence through alternative assessments that are based on the tutorial 
in the collegiate -level reasoning and problem solving domain. If a student is prepared 
to demonstrate competence in the social sciences, for instance, she can choose a combi
nation of CLEP or DANTES tests, such as the CLEP Social Sciences and History exam 
(two-course equivalent outcome) and the CLEP History of the United States I Cone
course equivalent outcome). The student also has the option of completing the alterna
tive assessment by working with her CLRPS coach to define an open-ended problem 
that combines three disciplines of the social sciences (for the three-course equiva lent 
outcome) . The student could choose an open-ended problem such as "how can 
teenagers best be encouraged to grow and learn, " research the problem in three disci
plines such as psychology, sociology, and economics, and then develop an in-depth 
study of the problem in a final essay. 

Technological Literacy Skills 
Technological literacy is addressed differently in each of our undergraduate degrees. 
Generally, all students must demonstrate technological literacy in the form of word pro
cessing in the Language and Communication Skills and Collegiate-Level Reasoning and 
Problem-Solving Skills domains, spreadsheets and graphing calculators in the 
Quantitative Literacy Skills domain, and Internet navigation and the use of email in 
order to successfully complete the domain requirements of the undergraduate degrees . 
If a student enrolls in one of our undergraduate information technology or business 
degrees, the student will demonstrate competence in one or more technology domains 
as noted below. 

Associate's Level Information Technology Degrees 

Network Administration Skills Domain 
The Associate of Applied Science-Network Administration degree requires the student to 
demonstrate competencies in network analysis, design , testing, configuration, mainte
nance, administration, security , and problem-solving. Students must pass the CompTIA 
(Computing Technology Industry) Network+ Exam and a WGU networking performance 
task that is an authentic network administration scenario. WGU waives these last two 
assessments for students enrolled in the Associate of Applied Science in Information 
Technology / CNE Emphasis degree , because they had to demonstrate these skills to earn 
the CNE (Certified Novell Engineer) as a preadmission requirement. 
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Information Technology Core Domain 
The Associate of Applied Science in IT/Ne twork Administration , the Asso ciate of 
Applied Science in IT/CNE Emphasis, and the Associate of Science in Information 
Technology degrees require students to demonstrate competencies in database adminis
tration , foundations of information technology skills, networking , operating environ
ments, pro grammin g, and systems analysis . Students must pass the ICCP (Institute for 
the Certification of Computing Profess ionals) Core Examination , ICCP Microcomputing 
and Networks Exam, and a WGU IT performance task that is an authentic IT scenario. 

Associate's Level Business Degrees 

Bu siness Core Domain 
Students are requ ired to demonstrate com petence in information technol ogy such as 
identifying emerging technologies in business, technol ogy tools for deci sion-making, and 
various techn ology terms and roles by passing items on the lower-division business core 
ob jective assessment and utilizing a spre ads heet or accounting software to develop 
financial statements. 

Bachelor of Science Business (IT Management and HR Management) 

Information Technology Mana gemen t Domain 
The Bachelor of Science in Business-Information Technology Manage ment degree 
requires students to demo nstrate competence by pas sing an objective assessment per
taining to inform ation technology skills and proje ct management, and fundamental skills 
in programming , database administration , operating systems, systems analysis , and net
working. 

Business and Technical Knowledge Domain 
The Bachelor of Science-IT Management and Bachelor of Science-HR Management 
degrees require students to demonstrate compet ence by passing objective assessment 
items related to information techn ology and its use in decision-making, the roles of vari
ous IT personnel in organizations, intellectual property rights , and compar ing and con
trasting risks and oppo rtunities associated with emerging technologie s. 

Bachelor of Science - Computer Information Systems 

Software Engineering and Developmen t Domain 
Studen ts in the Bachelor of Science-Computer Inform ation Systems degree program 
demonstrate compete nce in softwa re eng ineer ing and development by passing two 
objec tive assessments measuring their skills in software design and development, imple
mentation and testing of softwa re , softwa re support and maintenance, Web program
ming , procedur al language , and object-oriented language . 
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Information Technology Management Domain 
Students demonstrate competence in information technology management by passing an 
objective assessment that measures their competence in programming fundamentals, 
operating environments, systems analysis, database administration, information technolo
gy project management , networking , and process improvement. 

Bachelor ofArts-Interdisctplinazy Studies 

(Includes Elementary Teacher Certification with an emphasis in Reading) 

Students who will enroll in the Bachelor of Arts in Interdisciplinary Studies (scheduled 
for launch early in 2003) are following WGU's "Pathway to Teaching ," which can begin 
as early as the Associate of Arts in General Studies and flows into the Bachelor of Arts 
in Interdisciplinary studies. 

Interdisciplinary Studies Domain 
This is an integrative content domain because elementary teachers , unlike subject-specif
ic secondary teachers, must hold background competencies in all subjects taught in the 
elementary school curriculum. Students demonstrate knowledge in health and fitness, 
literary response and analysis, math, the pure sciences, the social sciences, visual and 
performing arts, and writing and composition. 

Teaching Foundations Domain 
This domain is non-pedagogical or non-methodological in nature but contains founda
tional competencies every teaching candidate must know. Students demonstrate foun
dational knowl edge in assessment , communication with families, diversity, human deve l
opment, knowl edge and application of formal standards, learning theory, history and 
organization of education , teachers' roles, and technology fundamentals. The competen
cies are measured via summative exams, includin g portfolio items . 

Effective Teaching Practices Domain 
This domain is the pedagogical or methodological domain and is tied to research-based 
practices proven to have a positive effect on student achievement. Students demon
strate knowledge in analysis of effective teaching, classroom management , content-spe
cific learning strategies and methods (particularly in the teaching of reading) , general 
learning strategies and method s, and instructional planning and design. Students will 
participate in multimedia case studies throughout this domain and will be assessed by 
formative and summative means , including portfolio items. 

Demonstration Teaching and Cohort Seminar Domain 
This domain requires that teaching candidates demonstrate their own ability to teach by 
performance assessme nts measured over time in an actual classroom. It also includes a 
cohort seminar of stude nts assigned to similar classroom settings . The cohort seminar r Go v, RNORS UN>VERS>T Y 



will require students to demonstrate knowledge in contemporary issues in education, 
ethics , legal responsibilities, professional responsibilities and growth, reflection and eval
uation, and supervisory functions and relationships. Students will be measured via 
observation instruments, a final portfolio product containing items from all other 
domains as well as this one , and both formative and summative assessments. 

Upper-Division Domains 
(4.2.2). Each bachelor's degree requires students to complete the Upper-Level Collegiate 
Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills and Leadership and Professionalism domains, and 
at least two domains that relate specifically to areas of inquiry related to the degree 
emphasis .s For example, students in the Bachelor of Science in Business-Information 
Technology Management program complete domains in Business and Technical 
Knowledge and Information Technology Management. Students in the Bachelor of 
Science in Computer Information Systems program complete domains in Sofrware 
Engineering and Development , and CIS IT Management. The program councils respon
sible for these degrees review these domain competencies to confirm that the content is 
current. For example , in the past year , the General Education Program Council complet
ed a thorough review and revision of the competencies associated with Language and 
Communication Skills and Quantitative Literacy; the Information Technology Program 
Council completed a review and revision of the Associate of Applied Science in 
IT/ Network Administration degree; and the Education Program Council completed a 
review and revision of the competencies associated with the Master of Arts in Learning 
and Technology. All reviews were completed according to the schedule set by the 
Coordinating Council. These reports are available as Exhibit 15. 

Undergraduate Portfolios and Upper-Division Capstones 
All undergraduate students are required to complete a portfolio and, at the upper divi
sion , a capstone project that requires them to integrate the competencies gained in all of 
the domains. The portfolio requirement draws from the evidence students have accu
mulated in mastering the knowledge, skills, and abilities measured in the competency
based degree. A five-page essay responding to a supplied prompt , along with four 
exhibits, is evaluated against scoring rubrics developed and approved by the program 
council. The upper-division capstone requires students to demonstrate the integration 
and synthesis of competencies in all domains required for the degree, in particular the 
area of emphasis. It includes a work product specified in consultation with and with 
the approval of the mentor. It may be a project , a set of policy recommendations , a 
business plan , a marketing plan , action research, a strategic plan , a product, or a serv
ice. The final portfolio and capstone projects complete the process of building , not sep
arate stacks of skills , but an integrat ed pattern of competencies that ensures mastery of 

5 There is one exception lo this policy. In the Bachelor of Arts in Interdisciplinary Studies degree progr am, four 
domains as listed above under the degree's heading are required, as is the Upper·Level Collegiate Reasoning and 
Problem·Solving Skill s domain. Because it is covered elsewh ere in the degree program as essential knowledg e for 
classroom teachers with its ow n profe ssional focus, candidate s are not requir ed to complet e the Leadership and 
Professionalism domain. 
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both knowledge and performance at the associate's or bachelor's leveJ.6 

Articulation Policies for the Transfer of Credit 
WGU will accept upper-division transfers into our bachelor's degree programs. We have 
articulated policies for the transfer of credit and other measures of achievement and we 
ensure that the credits accepted for general education achieve educational goals compa
rable to our own general education requirements. Transcripts are evaluated and associ
ate-level domains are cleared based on the following guidelines: 

a) Students who have completed an Associate of Arts or Associate of Science degree 
from a regionally or DETC accredited college or university will have all lower-divi
sion general education requirements (Language and Communication, Quantitative 
Literacy, Distribution, Collegiate-Level Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills, and 
the portfolio requirement) cleared. (Students transferring to WGU through an 
articulation agreement with a two-year college will transfer their advanced standing 
according to the terms of that agreement.) 

b) Lower-division degree requirements for the Associate of Science in Business or 
Associate of Science in IT degrees (either the Associate Level Business Core or the 
Information Technology Core, as appropriate) will be satisfied if the student 
earned an associate-level degree in the same area of study. 

c) Transfer applicants who have earned an Associate of Applied Science (or other 
applied associate's degree) will have their transcripts and advanced standing evalu
ated individually. 

d) Transfer applicants who have not earned an associate's degree may also seek 
domain clearances through transcript evaluation of previously completed college 
work within the following guidelines: 

• Language and Communication Skills: a three-course sequence that includes 
two terms of composition and a course in speech or communications. 

• Quantitative Literacy: at least two courses, one of which should include sta
tistics, and another college-level course in mathematics or related field. 

• Distribution Requirement: For the Associate of Arts, three courses each in the 
humanities and social sciences, and two courses in natural sciences. All 
other undergraduate degrees require one course each in humanities, social 
sciences, and natural sciences. 

• Collegiate-Level Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills: waived for Associate 
of Arts and Associate of Science degree transfers and those accepted to 
upper-division standing because successful completion of the requirement at 
the upper-division level requires demonstration of required competencies at 
the lower-division level. 

• Discipline-Specific Domain (IT or Business): courses that reflect the domain 
structure and approval of a mentor. 

6 The Bachelor of Arts in Interdisciplinary Studies constitutes another slight exception The Demonstration Teaching 
and Cohort Seminar domain itself is a synthesis of all program elements and serves as the capstone project for this 
particular degree 
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• Portfolio Requirement: waived for Associate of Arts and Associate of Science 
degree transfers and those accepted to upper-division standing, because it is 
redundant with the requir eme nt for the bachelor's degree . 

The eva luation of transfer credit begins with the Program Coordinator's initial evaluation 
of the transcript for all upper-division transfer applicants. The Program Coordinator rec
ommends domain clearances to the Director of Assessmen t and Institutional Research . 
In most cases, the Coordinator's recommendations have been confirmed. If needed , the 
Provost is available to reconcile disagreements and to settle appeals by students. The 
tran script evaluation becomes a permanent part of the student's electronic record. 

One recen t change in our transcript evaluation practices relative to degr ee admissions 
policy is worth noting here. Almost as soo n as we began to offer bachelor 's degrees we 
discovered the need to change our pra ctices and assumptions. Originally, we assumed 
our bachelor's degrees would be degree completion programs and we expected to 
admit students with associate's degrees. In practi ce, however, many students applying 
to WGU at the lowe r-division level told us they were not interested in receiving an asso
ciate's degre e before working toward the bachelor's. At the same time, the majority of 
stud ents inter ested in pursuing our bachelor's degree s proved not to have the nece ssary 
lowe r-division require ments to enter WGU at the junior level-they were entering with 
some previous college study but not the equivalent of a full two-year degree. Most, for 
instance , lacked the courses to clear our Quantitative Literacy domain. As a result , 
although we still provide the option of a bachelor 's degree completion pro gram for 
those stude nts transferring with an associate's degree (through, for instance , a communi
ty college articulation agreement ), we have added the option of a four-year program by 
comb ining our applicable associate 's degree requirements with the upper-division bach
elor's degree requirements. We have eliminated duplications such as the lower-division 
Collegiate-Leve l Reasoning and Problem-Solving domain and the lower-division portfo
lio, since all bachelor 's deg ree students com plet e both these requirements at the upper
division level and there is no need for the redundancy . 

Articulation Agreements 
Articulation agreements provide further assurance that students graduating from the sending 
institution will be admitted and given appropriate advanced standing by the receiving insti
tution. By the time of our Candidacy site visit in early 2000, WGU had developed several 
articulation agreements with other senior colleges , among them Bellevue University, SUNY 
Empire State College, Thomas Edison State College, and Jones International University. We 
developed these agreements as a way to assist the transfer of our own associate 's degree 
graduates into baccalaureate programs elsewhere (remember we had no bachelor's pro
grams of our own at that time) , and as a means of demonstrating our own commitment to 
becoming a full partner within the broader higher education community. 

In the two years since then we have continued to forge articulation agreements with both 
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senior and graduate instirutions to facilitate both bachelor's and master 's level transfer of 
our graduates . At this writing there are now 16 such agreements, (see 
http://www.wgu.e du/wgu/u nion/transfer .html for a complete list) and we continue to seek 
more of them , but the balance of our articulation effort shifted once we developed our 
own bachelor's degree programs. 

These programs-the Bachelor of Science in Business and the Bachelor of Science in 
Computer Information Systems-not only provided avenues for many of our own associate's 
level srudents to continue their education at WGU; they created their own marketing need. 
In consequence, developing articulation agreements with community colleges that would 
facilitate the transfer of their graduates into our baccalaureate programs would not only 
continue our commitment to establishing ourselves as a contributing member of the broad
er higher education community. Providing good service to community college graduates 
would also serve our self-interest as we sought to expand our enrollments. Indeed , the 
profile of community college graduates is a strong match for WGU's model-older , working 
adults with family, community, and job responsibilities that prevent moving to a residential 
campus for further education, often focused on career objectives that match WGU's degree 
programs , and with two years of college-level experience to prepare them for the demands 
and discipline of higher-level srudy. 

WGU's development plans in 2001 and 2002 reflect this new articulation emphasis, and 
results have followed our plannin g. Early in 2001 we became an articulation partner of the 
League for Innovation in the Community College, and with its endorsement have since 
estab lished agreeme nts with two-year instirutions and districts across the country, totaling 
nearly 60 individual colleges. (The complete list is available at the Web page listed above). 
In keeping with the WGU Development and Marketing Plans (Appendix 3 (p . 197) and 
10 (p. 263), respectively) we will continue to increase the number of these agreements in 
the years ahead, endeavoring to forge strong relationships with key community colleges 
and with other senior instirutions. In all likelihood , however, as other developmental prior
ities gain importance, the rate of increase will not be as rapid as has been the case over the 
past three years. 

Academic Advising 
Mentoring , or academic advising , is one of WGU's primary functions and is the srudent's 
primary connection to the institution. Once a srudent is admitted to WGU and begins 
the online introductory course (discussed in detail in Standard Five, pages 101-103), he 
partners with a mentor who guides him in the development of the Academic Action 
Plan , interprets pre-assessment and final assessment results , identifies appropriat e learn
ing opportunities , constantly monitors satisfactory academic progress , and acts as advo
cate on his behalf when needed. 

We inform and prepare our new mentor s for the advising function through one -on-one 
training with the mentor 's Program Coordinator and with the Director of Academic 

~N GO V ERNORS UN,VERS>T Y 

"a I 



Services. The Provost, Director of Assessment and Institutional Research, and Director 
of Leaming Resources also spend time orienting mentors. During the initial training with 
the Program Coordinator and/or Director of Academic Services, mentors gain knowledge 
about advisement functions such as how to (a) draft the Academic Action Plan, (b) cor
respond with students and access the student's electronic records, (c) conduct satisfacto
ry academic progress reviews, (d) interpret assessment results, (e) review projects, port
folios , and capstones, CD access and utilize reports and other measures of progress, and 
(g) use the processes, policies, and procedures of the university. 

New mentors learn about resource development through their conversations with the 
Program Coordinator and the Director of Leaming Resources. The resource develop
ment training focuses on (a) locating high quality online courseware and independent 
learning resources, (b) evaluating and / or mapping courses and other learning resources 
for our online catalog , and (c) monitoring and reporting on the success of students who 
use resources that have been identified. 

New mentors spend time speaking with the Director of Assessment and Institutional 
Research and the Program Coordinator regarding (a) competencies in the degree pro
gram , (b) the program development and review process , (c) program council structure, 
and (d) assessments and the delivery process. 

Mentors are oriented about university service and professional development through 
their communication with the Provost , Program Coordinator, and Director of Academic 
Services. Although university service varies among mentors , new mentors learn about 
(a) their relationship to the program councils and other members of the WGU staff, (b) 
participation on search and project committees , (c) student recruitment and other pro
motional activities, and (d) professional development opportunities and support. 

Mentors attend regular face-to-face meetings to share ideas , solve problems , review stu
dent progress, and gain professional development for mentoring activities. The process 
of training new mentors has generally been formative with new mentors asking ques
tions and receiving feedback almost on a daily basis. This process of mentor training 
has worked with the small number of mentors to date. However, the Director of 
Academic Services and mentors are developing a structured mentor training program 
and mentor training manual to be used beginning early in 2003. This more structured 
approach to mentor training will allow WGU to get new mentors up-to-speed quickly 
and efficiently. 

4.3 Graduate Education 
[4.3.1] The University currently has one master's degree-the Master of Arts in Leaming 
and Technology , or MLT-with two others in development for target launch early in 
2003. These latter two degrees are among the new proposals whose prospectuses we 
will submit with this Self-Study to !RAC. They are the Master of Arts in Teaching (MAT), 
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with an Elementary Education emphasis, and the Master of Arts in Mathematics 
Education (MAME), with elementary, middle school, and high school mathematics 
endorsement for already-certified teachers. 

Their target populations differentiate these three graduate degrees: 
• The MLT is geared toward people in the K-12 world who wish to be leaders of 

technology in their classrooms, schools, or districts, and toward those in the corpo
rate world who wish to advance their skills as trainers; 

• The MAT is for preservice teachers who are seeking initial licensure; 
• The MAME is for teachers who are already certificated but who wish to add a 

mathematics endorsement, or second teaching field, to their current license. 

The Education Council supports the non-licensure degree, and the Teachers College 
Council supports the rwo degrees carrying teacher licensure. 

The Master of Arts in Learning and Technology (MLTI 
The Education Program Council is responsible for the MLT and for other degrees that 
may be derived from it. The Council , a national panel of experts drawn from higher 
education and the learning technology industry, designed the MLT's structure and defined 
its competencies; the Assessment Council, a group of national experts in the measure
ment of learning outcomes, established its assessments. (See Standards Three and Six for 
detailed discussions of the role of councils in WGU's structure.) The designers of the 
degree focused on the learning outcomes expected from someone with a master's degree 
in this area-in other words, the knowledge , skills, and abilities that a recognized expert 
should possess. The learning objectives are expressed as required competencies , and 
their mastery is measured by the required assessments. The degree requires a mixture of 
objective, essay, and performance assessments, together with an integrating capstone 
project (equivalent in weight to a master's thesis). The objective tests are computer 
scored; external reviewers grade the essays and performance tasks. In addition , candi
dates for graduation defend their capstone projects before a capstone committee consist
ing of rwo WGU faculty members and an Education Program Council member. 
As required by University academic policy , the Education Program Council recently con
ducted a thorough rwo-year review of the MLT's performance. The review analyzed the 
appropriateness of the degree's competencies, the alignment and effectiveness of its 
assessments , the breadth and depth of the degree relative to comparable degrees else
where (see accompanying Table on page 85), the performance of recommended courses 
relative to assessment success, and student satisfaction with the degree, with its learning 
resources, and with its mentors. While the MLT had gone through a much earlier 
"shakedown" period just after its launch rwo years earlier, which resulted in some 
adjustment in its assessments, the results of this review were much more comprehen
sive. Two of the degree's domains were consolidated as one , the assessments were 
revised both to eliminate non-performing items and to reflect the new domain structure , 
and an "advance organizer " was constructed to help students understand earlier and 
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more comprehensively the range of learning opportunities and career options the 
degree encompasses. (See Standard 4.4.2 for more information about the program 
review process.) 

The Master of Arts in Learning and Technology now includes five domains of study that 
are tightly inter-related (Instructional Design and Performance Improvement, Technology 
Integration, Evaluation and Measurement, Management and Innovation, Research 
Fundamentals). Each of these five in turn contains several closely related, more specific 
"subdomains" of required competency. The assessments measure knowledge, skills, and 
performance in each of these areas. Students can readily see the applicability of what 
they are learning in relation to their work and professional interests. They are not 
expected to simply demonstrate definitional knowledge but to apply knowledge in vari
ous contexts. For example, some of the competencies require students to compare and 
contrast various technologies, instructional strategies, learning theories, and change 
models. 

The MLT is also performance-oriented, as evidenced by the projects required for each of 
the five domains. For example , in the Instructional Design and Performance 
Improvement domain, students are required to perform a needs analysis, learner analy
sis and a task analysis that will be used to guide the design of an instructional product. 
In the Technology Integration domain, students are required to actually develop the 
product , and in the Evaluation and Measurement domain they are required to evaluate 
the product. 

Like the faculty in any traditional university department , the Education Program Council 
analyzed the requirements of the Master of Arts in Learning and Technology degree in 
comparison to similar degrees at other institutions. The Council concluded that the 
degree requires considerably more learning than the 30 to 36 semester credit hours typi
cal of other master 's degree programs in this area. The Table (page 85) at the end of 
this section contains a detailed comparison with three such programs. It indicates that 
the subdomains in the MLT correspond well to the courses required for the other degree 
programs listed, and it further indicates where the WGU program requires more learn
ing: 

1) Master of Science in Instructional Psychology and Technology (38 hours) at 
Brigham Young University; 

2) Master of Science in Instructional Performance Technology (36 hours) at Boise 
State University; and 

3) Master of Science in Instructional Systems Technology (36 hours) at Indiana 
University. 

The Table further demonstrates that the educational objectives embedded in the MLT 
degree are guided by well-defined and generally accepted educational objectives for a 
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degree of its type. 

Using the competencies for the MLT program as guides, program mentors located learn
ing resources and mapped them to the program's competencies. Learning resources 
consist mainly of courses, textbooks, and other print and electronic materials. Mentors 
also developed a recommended path for MLT students as a guide to the best courses 
and other resources they can use to prepare for their assessments. (Exhibit 16 includes 
"Mapped Courses, Independent Learning Resources, and Recommended Paths" for all 
degrees.) For example, we recommend "Instructional Design for Multimedia 
Development" offered by Western Washington University as part of the preparation for 
the Instructional Design domain , and "Introduction to Research " offered by the 
University of Wyoming as part of the preparation for the Research Fundamentals 
domain. Each course mapped to the domain objectives and competencies is at the 
graduate level, and is offered by one of our affiliated Education Providers. 

The preferred path also includes rich self-directed learning resources that are mainly 
textbooks by well-known authors and are used as required readings in many graduate 
degree programs. Good examples include: 

1) Dick and Carey's System Design of Instruction (5th ed .), used by Western 
Washington University as the main reading requirement for the "Instructional 
Design for Multimedia Development" course; 

2) Heinrich et al.'s Instructional Media and Technologies for Learning (6th ed.), used 
by the graduate program of educational technology in the School of Education at 
the State University of New York-Albany and other institutions; 

3) Gay's Educational Research: Competencies for Analysis and Application (6th ed.), 
used as the main textbook in the "Introduction to Research" course for graduate 
students in the Department of Educational Theories and Practice , again at SUNY
Albany. 

In short, the carefully selected learning resources for the MLT program are strong evi
dence that our graduate programs are guided by well-defined and generally accepted 
educational objectives for a degree of its type. 

Students who successfully complete the Learning and Technology Master 's degree from 
WGU will be able to plan, design, produce, implement , and evaluate instructional prod
ucts . In addition, students will demonstrate the ability to integrate multiple technology 
resources into their curricula , conduct research , and manage projects . All of these com
petencies will be demonstrated through a series of achievement and performance tests 
across the five domains of learning in this program . These competency assessments 
help to ensur e that graduate students are held to a high standard of intellectual compe
tence . 
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The capstone project is intended to be a culmination of the skills and knowledge 
gained across all the domains in the ML T degree. It requires a synthesis of the compe
tencies demonstrated through out the program. An integral component of the capstone 
is a formative evaluation of the instructional product developed by the student. This 
component requires students to critique their own work and make recommendations for 
revision of the product. Such activities are at the highest cognitive level of Bloom 's tax
onomy. 

MLT Student Satisfaction 
Overall satisfaction with the MLT remains high. In a survey completed this spring (avail
able with other "Surveys" as Exhibit 6), students evaluated the program 's relevance , struc
ture, student services, and their mentors . Eighty-two percent of the respondents felt the 
domains of the degree are relevant and helpful to them in their current positions (rang
ing from a low of 59 percent for Research Fundamentals to a high of 94 percent for 
Technology Integration), and 84 percent felt the domains will be relevant to their future 
positions (ranging from a low of 65 percent for Research Fundamentals to a high of 100 
percent for Technology Integration). In other findings , 76 percent said they are "satis
fied" or "very satisfied" with learning in an online environment and 100 percent are "sat
isfied" or "very satisfied" with the flexibility provided by an online degree program; 82 
per cent are "satisfied" or "very satisfied" with WGU's student services, 76 percent with 
demonstrating competencies through assessments. Perhaps most gratifying, 100 percent 
of the respondents "agree" or "strongly agree" that their mentor cares personally about 
them, is knowledgeable about their program of study, is interested in helping them 
achieve their educational goals and, overall, are satisfied with their mentor 's service. 

Graduate Degrees in the Teachers College 
For graduate degrees that include licen sure, such as initial tea cher certification or sub
ject end orsements, the Teachers College Program Cou ncil (TCPC) undertakes work simi
lar to that of the Education Program Cou ncil. Howev er, its work is also slightly differ
ent. The TCPC serves more as a reviewer of programmatic elements , includin g compe
tencies. The work to set the compete ncies and program design for licensur e programs 
began with a database we built from the gro und up that, to date , includes more than 
8,000 standa rds for teacher and stud ent performance from 22 states as well as national 
organ izations such as the Nationa l Council for the Accreditation of Teach er Education 
(NCATE), the National Boa rd for Professional Teaching Standards (NBPTS), the 
American Board for the Certification of Teacher Excellence (ABCTE), the Inters tate New 
Teacher Assessment and Support Consortium (INTASC), and such professi onal organiza
tions that set stand ards for content of the curriculum as the National Readin g Panel 
(NRP) and the Nationa l Council for Teac hers of Mathematics (NCTM). 

We then coded all of the 8,000+ standard s from the organizations listed above , as well 
as from others that are not listed , and by the end of this task , we were able to ge t a 
solid national view of all relevant standards that impa ct teacher educa tion . Nee dles s to 



say, it was a laborious task. From the work of coding all those standards and from 
closely scrutinizing how and where they overlapped with each other , we also were able 
to extrapolate a core set of competencies for each teacher education program we plan 
to offer. Building and then returning to study the database was an exhaustive process 
that , to our knowledge , has never before been done at a national level. Relevant WGU 
staff members and the Teachers College Program Council faculty members have 
reviewed all the identified compe tencies . 

Dr. Tom Zane, an experienced psychometrician, was hired as Director of Assessment for 
the Teachers College in January, 2002. An experie nced test developer , Mike Abel , 
assists him. Together, their task is to develop the assessments for the Master of Arts in 
Teaching, which will be the first time that WGU has developed its own assessments 
entire ly through its own staff. As always , they will be reviewed and approved by the 
Assessment Council before being put into use. With regard to the Master of Arts in 
Mathematics Education, we are developing the assessments in the same manner as those 
developed for the Master of Arts in Learning Technology-to our specifications, but 
through contract with an outside test development organ ization. Again, the process 
includes review and approval of the instruments by the Assessment Council. 

Unlike many undergraduate degree assessments at WGU, which measure competency at 
the subdomain level , graduate degrees are assessed at the domain level. The MLT has 
five domain s of study that are tightly inter-related. Each subdomain is closely related 
within the domain and forms a coherent and identifiable whole. This same inter-relat
edness is present in the Master of Arts in Teaching and the Master of Arts in 
Mathematics Education , but these latter two degrees each contain four domains of study 
rather than five. This makes them more equivalent to similar degrees at other institu
tions marketed to K-12 educators that are generally 36 semester credit hours in length. 
The MLT, with its five-domain structure , is equivalent to 45 semester credit hours. 

Another difference between licensure and non-licensure programs in graduate education 
exists in the use of formative assessments for the licensure programs, particularly in pre
service teacher education . These formative assessment "gates," which are gathered into 
a portfolio as a candidate moves through the program, inform both the candidate and 
the candidate's mentor about progress throughout experiences in completing a domain 
of knowled ge. There are , as well, summative assessments at the end , just as there are 
with the MLT. Another similarity among all graduate degrees is that they are perform
ance-oriented, as evidenced by projects and / or portfolio requirements. 

Using the competen cies for each program as guides , learning resources are located and 
mapp ed to those competencies. In all three master 's programs , learning resources con
sist mainly of courses , textbooks , current journal articles , recommended Web sites, CD
ROMs and other multimedia packages that are mapped to program competencies. In 
the teacher licensure programs, for example , to provide virtual field experiences that 
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allow students to study exemplary teaching practice in an actual classroom sening with 
real students (theory to practice), without having to physically go to those classrooms, 
Teachscape .com serves as an important partner. And, whereas a preferred path using 
recommended courses , study guides , and the like has been developed for MLT students 
as a guide for their progress in the program , for the Master of Arts in Teaching and 
Master of Arts in Mathematics Education , where licensure requirements are involved , it 
is more of a prescribed path-stipulating specific courses and steps that the student must 
follow to achieve the relevant certification. 

The capstone project characteristic of all three master 's programs is intended to be a cul
mination of the skills and knowledge gained across all the other domains of the degree . 
It requires a synthesis of the competencies demonstrated throughout the program. An 
integral component of the capstone is a formative evaluation of an instructional product 
developed by the student. This component requires students to critique their own work 
and make recommendations for the revision of the product. 

[4.3.2) Students accepted into WGU graduate degrees and certificate programs are 
required to hold a bachelor 's degree from a regionally or DETC accredited college or 
university. The degree is verified through documentation of official transcripts. 
Through this standard, entering graduate students have a consistent component of gen
eral education as required by all accredited institutions. 

Early in the first year of WGU's graduate program, enrollment staff verified receipt of the 
baccalaureate degree only by telephoning the awarding institution . Early in 2000, how
ever , the Provost changed the process to include receipt of official transcripts prior to 
the second tuition payment (90 days after enrollment) . During this interim , if receipt of 
the bachelor's degree has been verified by phone, students are considered "provisionally 
accepted." If transcripts are not submitted by the deadline, however, they are with
drawn from the program until the documents are received. 

"Grandfathered " students have a "Phone Verification of Baccalaureate Degree " form or 
official transcripts in electronic format as documentation of meeting this admissions 
requirement. All students admitted since the change in policy have official transcripts in 
their files. A random sample check undertaken during this Self-Study process found that 
these files contain either hard-copy or electronic transcripts. It is our goal to have all 
documentation filed electronically , which often means scanning hard-copy documents 
into our new student information system , and we expect to be caught up with that task 
by September of this year. 

4.4: Educational Program Assessment 
[4.4.1) The expected learning outcomes are the WGU degree requirements. No student 
graduates without demonstrating the knowledge , skills and abilities defined by the com
petencies-thus reaching the stated outcomes. We develop our degrees around a series 



of domains, which are large and somewhat discrete sets of knowledge and skills. 
Subdomains further explicate each domain, and then competencies detail the required 
skills. Competency statements come from a variety of sources, but ultimately are 
reviewed, edited, and approved by the Program Counci l responsible for each degree. 
(See Standards Three and Six for detailed discussions of the councils ' role in WGU's 
structure.) Both the relevant Program Council and the Assessment Council then identify 
appropriate assessments for each degree program. Students must pass these assess
ments to graduate . All domains and associated competencies are available through the 
WGU Web site. All domains and a summary of their competencies are listed on the stu
dent 's Academic Action Plan. Mentors work with students continuously to ensure they 
can address the competencies. When a student has completed the degree requirements 
(passed all the assessments), the student 's mentor initiates a graduation clearance form. 
The Director of Assessment and Institutional Research then ensures that the student 's 
records are accurate in the student information system and that the original work is in 
the student's electronic file. The student is cleared for graduation once he or she has 
financial clearance from the Finance Office. 

[4.4.2) We have followed from the beginning a consistent process for establishing the 
competencies and assessments in our degree programs. The key elements of this 
process are the review of competencies from a variety of resources, input and approval 
by the appropriate program council, and agreement on assessments by both the pro
gram and assessment councils . We remain committed to ongoing improvement in our 
competency model. Our expertise increases through planning and working with inter
nal staff, councils, and others. We wrestle with everything from the apparently simple 
(which never is) to the obviously complex-from what makes a good competency state
ment (one that is achievable, appropriate for a given degree program , and measurable) , 
to what constitutes appropriate depth and breadth of learning for a given level of study. 
New staff and faculty always bring fresh ideas to this process. The Teachers College 
faculty have , for example , as noted above in 4.3.1, developed a comprehensive data set 
of teacher certification standards, cross-referenced for all of WGU's member states , that 
will facilitate the design of our own degrees so that students completing them should be 
able to obtain teaching certification in most if not all WGU states simultaneously. 

Our academic policies call for formal review of all degree programs every two years . 
Our first programs were opened to student enrollment in August of 1999, and following 
a review schedule established by the Provost and the Coordinating Council , the 
Associate of Arts , Associate of Applied Science in Network Administration, and Master of 
Arts in Learning and Technology degrees were evaluated in 2001-2002. Program review 
includes: 

• Review and Revision of Competencies to determine whether the competencies 
remain relevant for the target audience and for the graduate , and whether they are 
at the appropriate level of complexity (the correct breadth and depth of learning 
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represented in the competencies); 
• Review of Students' Performance on Assessments to determine how well they are 

performing on them, and whether they are passing them at appropriate levels; 
• Performance Analysis of Assessments to determine through item and form review 

whether the assessments are valid ; 
• Review of Content Availability to determine whether there is sufficient WG U 

Catalog content available to ensure that students can meet degree requirements; 
• Review of Content Performance to determine how well students perform on assess

ments after they have taken Catalog courses; 
• Enrollment , Retention , and Graduation Analysis to determine how well students 

are persisting, what progress they are making, and their retention and graduation 
rates; 

• Surveys of Student Satisfaction to determine whether they perceive their orienta
tion , degree programs, learning opportunities , assessments, library, and other serv
ices to be meeting their needs and expectations. 

"Program Reviews " are available as Exhibit 15, and a summary of the most important 
outcomes from the reviews follows: 

• The Associate of Arts degree was both too broad and too deep. The AA was 
equivalent to a three-year degree. In the Collegiate-Level Reasoning and Problem
Solving Skills domain, outside experts pointed out that the required competencies 
reflected the reasoning abilities of a doctoral student. We further learned that 
seven courses or more (21 semester credit hours) would be needed at a traditional 
institution to present the knowledge , skills and abilities defined in our Mathematics 
and Quantitative Skills domain. The competencies for both domains (as well as 
those for Language and Communication Skills) have been improved , and the 
assessments reconstructed , so they are at the appropriate level of breadth and 
depth . We anticipate that a student can now acquire the competencies for 
Quantitative Literacy (formerly Mathematics and Quantitative Skills) in as few as 
two courses. Since both Language and Communication Skills and Quantitative 
Literacy are embedded in all of our lower-division programs, the improvements in 
these domains impact all of our associate 's degrees. (A more extensive description 
of changes made in the AA degree as a result of program review may be found in 
the box below .) 

• From the MLT program , we learned that when we launch a new program its facul
ty should be hired early enough to participate in the design and development of 
the degree-its competencies , assessments, and learning opportunities. Although 
this practice seems no more than common sense and we now do it routinely , two 
and half years ago, when programs were by and large developed exclusively by 
their program councils , the mentor faculty were hired and immediately put to 
work with students. 

• Learning opportunities need to be continuously monitored for quality , relevance , 
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and effective delivery. For instance, there have been examples of courses that 
matched our needs on paper , but quality in delivery diminished over time as facul
ty teaching the courses changed. This problem occurred in a course in instruction
al design delivered by a comprehensive university for the MLT. In another case , a 
small regional university delivered a course in research , but its technology platform 
proved not to work well for our students. Even courses designed specifically with 
our competencies in mind must be monitored carefully. For instan ce, a course in 
evalua tion and measurement , developed by contrac t to support the MLT, focused 
its first unit on the history of evaluation , whereas that knowledge was neither 
expressed nor assessed as a degree competency. The unit had to be dropped and 
the course realigned with our learning objectives . 

• Sometimes a course is offered that covers most, but not all, of the required compe
tencies. In the case of the Evaluation and Measurement domain , the first students 
in the MLT had particular problems with a single subdomain . WGU faculty identi
fied supplemental materials that helped them acquire the required competencies, 
and later this material was incorporated into the course developed to our specifica
tions. 

• WGU originally intended to rely exclusively on third-party, commercially available 
assess ments . These, however , were not available for the MLT and so we were 
required to develop our own . From this experience we learned that if we own 
our ow n instruments , we can greatly improve the schedul ing and delivery of 
assessments , as well as the scoring and reporting of results. In addition , we can 
deve lop our own pre-assessments and provide better diagnostic information than 
the commercia l instruments we were using in the undergraduate programs . In 
consequ ence, we are actively working to construct our own assessments for all 
programs in every dom ain. At this writing , we are at approximate ly 70-80 percent 
of this goal and are on track to accomp lish it fully no later than the end of fiscal 
year 2005. 

• Scheduling, siting (where students will take their assessments), and turn around 
time for grading are important. Two years ago it might take month s to find a stu
dent a site, to complete an assessment , and return the grades. Now, as a result of 
improv ed staffing (a dedicated Assessment Coordinator) and greater experience, 
we can generally site a student within a few days and , in every instance where we 
ow n our ow n instruments (and are not dependent on commercial scoring and 
turn around times) , we can ge t students their results within one to two weeks of 
takin g an assessment. For certain tests we can often turn results around within 24 
hours. 

Associate of Arts Alignment Of Domains 
The Associate of Arts degree (AA) provides a good example of the University 's commit
ment to con tinuous improvement. The AA and the lower division general education 
requirem ents were finalized in May of 1998. After students enrolled , and they and their 
mentor s developed some experience with the program , it became apparent that the 
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University had developed a degree for which the competencies exceeded those of simi
lar academic programs. Six domains made up the original set of degree requirements: 
Language and Communication Skills, Mathematics and Quantitative Skills, Collegiate 
Academic Skills, Basic Work-Related Skills, the Distribution domain, and Collegiate-Level 
Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills. The competencies and assessments for these 
areas have been refined and there have been substantial changes in how they are 
assessed. 

In the case of the Language and Communication Domain, some competencies proved to 
be at too low a level while others were really part of those required at a higher level. 
An example of a competency pitched too high is: "produce a sustained piece of writing 
intended for a specific audience that analyzes a complex idea or posed position from 
several points of view, compares it to other similar positions or arguments, supports it 
with appropriate examples and references, contrasts it to other contradictory positions or 
arguments , and states a clear conclusion." This competency by itself may not seem 
unobtainable for a lower-division student, but when added to nearly 90 others, the over
all requirements become overwhelming. With regard to lower-division listening skills, 
students felt the assessment had little value and was condescending . Because of such 
problems , we asked the General Education Program Council to reconsider the knowl
edge , skills, and abilities that students really need to demonstrate at the lower-division 
level. The result was a somewhat narrower set of requirements, with some adjustment 
so that the overall depth was appropriate for lower-division study. In addition , where 
originally we had separate requirements in this domain for our Associate of 
Arts/ Associate of Science degrees and the Associate of Applied Science degrees , we gen
erated a single set of requirements. In May of 2002, we completed the development of 
a new assessment battery that directly measures each of the competencies, is easier for 
faculty to evaluate , and requires fewer distinct instruments to be completed by students. 
Five required assessments were reduced to three. 

We also asked the Council to review the Mathematics and Quantitative Skills domain. 
After comparing its requirements to those of a number of other institutions, the Council 
concluded that this domain was also both too broad and too deep . For instance, few 
other institutions required competencies in both college algebra and statistics. One 
Educational Provider judged that seven different courses would be needed to help the 
unprepared student acquire the necessary knowledge and skills to pass the domain. 
After further review and discussion , the Council established an organizing theme of 
quantitative literacy for the domain and renamed it accordingly. The competency revi
sions that followed focused on ensuring that the skills and abilities needed to graduate 
were of use in that context. Many of the lower level skills (e.g. , numeracy and calcula
tion skills) were listed as enabling skills and not included in the final assessments (it is 
important to note that students need such skills to exit, but they are not directly 
assessed). Like the Language and Communication Skills domain, new assessments were 
developed specifically to assess the competencies required as a result of this process. 
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In the Collegiate-Level Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills domain, WGU discovered 
that some of the required competencies were appropriate for holders of a doctorate. In 
consultation with experts in the area of reasoning and epistemology the Council con
cluded that it could not realistically expect more than a handful of graduates to acquire 
and demonstrate the required skill set. Hence, these competencies, too, were reworked 
to reflect the abilities of students at the associate's and baccalaureate level. 

The Distribution domain still has some challenges, though improvements have been 
made. Initially the General Education Program Council thought that it would be too dif
ficult to articulate a set of competencies for each area (natural sciences , social sciences, 
humanities , fine arts, and history) and that WGU should rely on the use of CLEP and 
similar instruments. Council members later objected to the use of these traditional 
instruments as neither appropriate measures of the competencies they had in mind, nor 
the types of alternative assessments they hoped the University would employ. In begin
ning to address these concerns, WGU staff have identified a select set of high-level com
petencies in the distribution areas and are piloting alternative assessments for them, 
based on the work previously done for the Collegiate-Level Reasoning and Problem
Solving Skills domain . This work-in-progress requires more student experience and 
more analysis before it can be extended to the entire Distribution domain, but it has 
potentially profound importance for the measurement of competencies in the traditional 
liberal arts and could be of great research interest. 

All of the original undergraduate degrees required competency in two other 
domains-Collegiate Academic Skills and Basic Work-Related Skills. There were several 
difficulties with these domains. First, they were based on behavior , and assessments 
could neither be adopted nor developed to measure them accurately and reliably . As 

behavi ors, they can be faked and WGU could not ensure that graduates would demon
strate the competencies in them . Second, the content and complexity of these domains 
were significantly below those of the other domains and were disconnected from the 
University 's intention of having academically rigorous requirements. Finally, they made 
the degree longer without commensurate value. After discussion with the Council , we 
determined that these competencies should not be assessed as graduation requirements 
but could instead be folded into the University's Education Without Boundaries intro
ductory course. 

All of these improvements resulted from the formal program review process. They have 
produced a thoroughly revised, more accessible , and marketable program of appropriate 
breadth and depth which we believe can serve students well , either in its own right or 
as preparation for WGU's interdisciplinary bachelor of arts program designed for 
prosp ective teacher s and scheduled for launch early in 2003. 

[4.4.3] Our original planning assumption four yea rs ago was that we could rely on 
Sylvan Prometric (now Thoms on Prometric) for the delivery of assessments. Once the 
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initial assessments were adopted , we learned that Prometric could only deliver them 
through networked servers (not the World Wide Web). Not only were all our original 
assessments paper and pencil , but one of our test publishers was also in litigation with 
Prometric! Therefore, the option of using Prometric to deliver assessments was not 
available and we had to develop our own network of assessment centers and proctors. 

In the first two years, lining up these centers was quite a challenge. Almost every stu
dent seemed to require a unique assessment center. Over time the appropriate proce
dures, tracking mechanisms, and personnel were developed so that assessment logistics 
became an area of strength not weakness. Where in the past it would take two or three 
months to take a student through each of the milestones (referral, identification of a site, 
scheduling, delivery, scoring, and reporting), these steps are now routinely completed in 
a month or less. As a specific example, we graded 71 essays for the Master of Arts in 
Learning and Technology (MLD program in the first six months of 2001 with an average 
turnaround time of 41 days between the time the student filed the essay and received 
the grade. In the first six months of 2002, we graded 127 essays with an average turn
around time of 11 days. Had it not been for a few very unusual cases, the average 
would have been less than a week. While some of this improvement is due to increas
ing use of the Internet for delivery of our assessments, much of it is due to our own 
increased competence in this area. 

The current assessment delivery system is scalable for enrollment projections at least 
over the next three years. Future improvements may include the use of Prometric 
Centers as they become able to use the on-line test driver that we have developed. 
Prometric may take on some of the scheduling and registration processes as well. We 
will determine if this is both financially feasible and whether it will improve services to 
students. 

The quality of learning activities available through our education provider network is 
assured in a number of ways . First, the Education Provider Selection Committee is an 
internal group of WGU academic administrators and faculty who establish general crite
ria for Education Provider affiliation and, through the leadership of the Director of 
Learning Resources, who chairs the Committee, monitor compliance . Second, the 
University has established an Education Provider Advisory Council. This group of sen
ior-level higher education administrators has responsibility to work with the Director of 
Learning Resources to establish the overall policy and procedures for the provider net
work and WGU Catalog. A third group, the Education Provider Operations Committee 
is made up of higher education representatives at the managerial level, and they make 
recommendations on how WGU can improve operational services for providers and stu
dents . The roles and responsibilities of these intersecting groups are discussed in detail 
in Standard Five, beginning at page 112. 

In addition to the work of these groups, we rely on mentor mapping and feedback , 
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informal data , student satisfaction surveys, and program review to ensure the quality of 
the learning activities delivered by others. Mentors map potential new courses to their 
program competencies either at their own initiative or when the Director of Learning 
Resources requests a course evaluation. It is important to note that this is a change 
from our original practice. When we began, WGU relied on the mapping performed by 
provider institutions, but since early in 2000 we have taken full responsibility for this 
activity ourselves. Mentors use a variety of strategies to conduct a mapping exercise: 
including syllabus review, textbook review, and discussions with course instructors. 
Once complete, the mentor assigns a ranking from zero to three, where a zero indicates 
that the course does not cover WGU's required competencies and will not be listed as a 
mapped course in the catalog, and three indicates that it covers our competencies 
extremely well. (Again , these matters are discussed in greater detail in Standard Five.) 
Once students enroll in courses, mentors monitor their progress and satisfaction with 
them. They are able to help students address technological or logistics problems with 
their courses , and they are typically the first to learn if there is a disconnect between the 
expected content or quality of a course and what is actually delivered. We also survey 
our students at least once a year regarding their satisfaction with courses they have 
taken from our catalog. This data, as noted previously , is used in our program review 
process. 

It has always been our intention to compare the results students obtained on their 
assessments with the courses they took from different institutions to prepare for them. 
However , as discussed elsewhere, course enrollments have not yet been sufficient to 
carry out this type of analysis. One exception has been the MLT degree. In this pro
gram , there are eight courses in which 10 students have completed the corresponding 
assessment. These are included in the MLT Program Review summary (Exhibit 15). Yet 
interpretation of even these results remains difficult. No clear pattern emerged whereby 
one course proved superior to another , nor is there a clear correlation between the 
numbers of courses taken and program success. Interpreting the data is further compli
cated by the variety of previous life experiences and abilities that students bring to the 
program. While intuitively we believe that it is important for students to take classes, 
and especially important for undergraduate students to do so, only the accumulation of 
further data will enable that analysis. We believe the recent change in our tuition policy 
(see Standard Eight's discussion of this change) will encourage class enrollments and 
assist our accumulation of evidence about this important matter , but we are probably a 
year away from a reasonably solid understanding of the contribution that formal courses 
actually make to student progress . 

Assessments: From Commercial Instruments to Our Own 
WGU began its degree development efforts in 1998, and hired its first Director of 
Assessment in July of that year. At that time , the University's planning assumption was 
that there would be sufficient commercially developed third-party assessment instru
ments available to meet the assessment needs for the competency-based degrees. That 
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appeared to be the case for the general education domains, such as Language and 
Communication, and Mathematics and Quantitative Skills. In reviewing all the available 
assessment instruments for Language and Communication competencies, four were cho
sen to cover the array of required competencies: the Collegiate Assessment of 
Academic Proficiency (CAAP) Reading Exam; the College Level Examination Program 
(CLEP) English Composition General Exam; the ACT Work Keys Listening and Writing 
Assessment; and the ACT Work Keys Locating Information Assessment. (The fifth 
assessment, a Research, Writing and Presentation Skills Task, we developed ourselves .) 

Once this battery of assessments was approved and adopted by the Assessment Council , 
several concerns emerged. First, the marketing team was unaware and uncomfortable 
with five assessments where they had believed a single assessment would be required. 
Second, while these instruments covered the majority of the competencies, there were 
some that were not covered. Third, there were competencies covered in these instru
ments that were not part of those required by WGU. Fourth, interpretation of the 
results was difficult because they yielded a single score that did not provide diagnostic 
information. Therefore, if a student failed an assessment, it was difficult or impossible 
to tell him or her what competencies needed to be addressed in order to pass the 
assessment. Fifth, locating secure and proctored assessment delivery centers was diffi
cult. Sixth, scoring required sending the instrument to the publisher and waiting for a 
month or more for the results. 

In fact, the entire delivery cycle of a third-party paper and pencil instrument required: 
a.) sourcing the materials from the publisher, b.) sending the materials through a trace
able means to the proctor (i.e. , Federal Express), c.) delivering the assessment to the 
student by the proctor, d.) returning the materials to WGU (again, and at each future 
step through a traceable means), e.) sending the materials to the publisher for scoring , 
f.) receiving of the scores from the publisher , g.) notifying the student of the results, and 
h.) entering the results into the student information system. 

When the Master of Arts in Learning and Technology was developed, it became appar
ent that third-party assessments would not be available for the degree and that we 
would need to work with a test development contractor to develop our own. Taking 
that step taught us several things: a.) we could develop a pre-assessment that provided 
more information to the mentor to assist students in the development of the Academic 
Action Plan, b .) mentors could better interpret student results and assist them in address
ing specific competencies where they performed · poorly, c.) assessments delivered 
through an on-line driver could be more easily administered to students, and d.) results 
(scores) were available , in some cases , immediately and in all cases more quickly than 
from commercial providers. In short, by developing our own assessment instruments 
and delivering them though an Internet test driver , all the challenges detailed in the pre
vious paragraph were alleviated . 
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Since that time, all new degree development at WGU has taken this approach-we con
tract for development of our own assessments to our own specifications, and we deliver 
them to secure sites over the Internet. In the future , we look forward to being able to 
use more advanced item types, and delivering our assessments through Prometric Test 
Centers . It may even be possible to outsource much of the scheduling and delivery of 
assessments through Prometric , enabling us to increase our services to students. This 
last initiative would be accomplished through services currently under development by 
Prometric , which has requested that WGU serve as the pilot institution for testing its 
products and services . 

Continuing Challenges 
Educational Programs 
Part of our mission is to provide students with the opportunity to gain degrees and cer
tificates indepe nd ent of time and place. In fact, we have often construed "any time , any 
place" to include "any pa ce." Historically we have provided individu alized Academic 
Action Plans, one-on-one mentorin g, and multiple possible paths to gain competencies 
through combination s of lea rning opportunit ies that often includ e self-paced instruction 
and independent study. We have tried to provide the greate st level of flexibility for our 
stude nts so that they can complete their degree programs while juggling all of their 
other family and work responsibilities. 

Our commitm ent to the "any time, any place, any pace" mode l has been more of a chal
lenge to many of our students than we anticipated . Many of our stud ents simply lack 
the self-directed skills required to thrive in a "college without walls " environment ; mor e 
often than we wo uld like , they fall behind in their studi es and ultimately disappea r from 
the program. We are tackling this issue as energetically as we can and , chiefly throu gh 
Education Without Boundarie s and the creation of online learning communitie s for our 
stud ents, we are making headway against it. (See Standard Five for a full discussion of 
this introd uctory course.) But the challenge of providing enough structure, the right 
structure, and the right supp ort and encourage ment , w ill conti nu e for some time to 
come, and perhaps always. It is clear to us that we have more to learn in this area, and 
more improvements to make in our work with those stud ents who struggle with isola
tion and self-discipline. 

We also find that the wo rk of keeping all degrees current and relevant to workplace 
realities never ends. With the MLT, for exa mple , we mu st ens ure that all elements con
tinue to meet the professional needs of student s serv ing in both corporate and K-12 set
tings. Since these are two distinct audiences, the relevancy challenge is greater than in 
most other degrees we offer, especially since man y K-12 teac her s who enro ll in the 
deg ree do not intend to assume a technology leade rship position in their districts. 
Instead , they intend to stay in their own classrooms and use their new know ledge of 
technology integra tion to impr ove their instructional practice and thereby bolster stude nt 
achievemen t. 
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Other challenges for the licensure programs offered through the Teachers College at 
both the Bachelor of Arts and Master of Arts levels are best described as political ones. 
The road toward state approval for each program carrying with it either initial teacher 
certification or a second teaching field endorsement is a long and arduous one . The 
WGU model does not fit the "credit-hour " and "course-title " requirements found in most 
states. Even though the Teachers College programs will fall under an alternative path
way to licensure--considered a more open route-still there are confusions about the 
WGU model because most if not all states have never accounted in their certification 
laws for competency-based teacher certification. Our experience to date indicates most 
district and state officials readily embrace the concept , but traditional statutes don 't sup
port these officials' enthusiasm for a new and better way to measure teacher quality. 

Finally, a third challenge for our educational programs is finding available content that 
maps to our competencies. This too is an ongoing issue. For example, solid courses, 
when we can find them through our Education Provider network, are usually instructor 
dependent and can sometimes become less solid if the instructor assigned to teach the 
course during a particular term chooses to deviate from the approved syllabus. 
Occasionally our students come away from a course without the competencies required 
by the WGU program in which they are enrolled, despite the course having been 
mapped to those competencies. 

In the Teachers College, this third challenge is seen in even bolder relief, yet in a differ
ent way . Very few institutions offer solid pedagogical or teaching methods courses 
online. It is difficult to find Education Providers in the field of teacher education who 
offer courses aligned to our competencies . Again, traditional teacher education pro
grams have not deviated much from what they always have done: bring students to a 
centralized college classroom with an instructor, then send them to the local neighbor
hood school for one or two observation and participation experiences relevant to the 
content being taught. One of the exceptions to lack of readily available online content 
is a course related to utilizing technology in the classroom. But these are stand-alone 
courses in most traditional programs , whereas WGU's teacher education programs delib
erately choose to thread technology throughout the entire curriculum of experiences in 
order to model full technology integration as one pathway to learning. 

Educational Program Assessment 

WGU has implemented programs and procedures that meet this standard , but we have 
also tried to show how each of our programs and virtually all of our assessment proce
dures for both students and programs have improved over time. This development
implementation-evaluation-revision cycle will surely continue. We have, for example , 
completed the first generation of formal program reviews , and in anticipation of the sec
ond cycle will be discussing with mentors and council members how we might improve 
the review process to make it both more inclusive and more comprehensive. Questions 
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about restructuring the MLT, for instance, to make it either more teacher-centered, more 
industry-centered , or deve loping different versions of it for different audiences emerged 
only late in the review process and did not lead to clear answers. Would those ques
tions have emerged earlier and led to more definition if we had structured the review 
differently? We cannot be sure, but getting the review process right-structuring the 
research, asking the right questions, getting the right data-is surely one of our most 
important continuing challenges for program improvement. 

"Right-sizing" our programs is another continuing challenge. We have demonstrated in 
nearly every case a tendency to design programs that are too big and too demanding 
for the target degree, and we have repeatedly had to resize our requirements. On the 
one hand, it is easier to lighten up than tighten up in matters of academic quality (wit
ness the current struggle against grade inflation in many other institutions). On the 
other hand, a program that is too rigorous cannot be marketed and is a waste of 
resources. We believe we have learned from our experience in these matters, but "get
ting it right " will continue to be more an art than a science for some time to come, and 
the next big test will be the teacher certification programs we intend to launch early 
next year. 

Thirdly, as long as WGU relies primarily on outside providers for the courses and other 
learning opportunities students need to prepare for their assessments-and we fully 
intend to continue this practice-assuring appropriate quality and service in those 
resources will remain a challenge. Fortunately , the more experience we gain with 
providers the more evidence we accumu late about their qua lity and reliability. There is 
further discussion on this point in Standard Five. 

WESTERN GC V ERNCRS UNO~ 



Standard Four 
Web Exhibits - Appendices - Room Exhibits 

Web Exhibits: 
WE 9: http :// www.wgu .edu / wgu /vu/ azsgu / index .html 
WE 10: http:/ /www.wgu.edu / wgu / vu/ novelVhome.asp 
WE 11: http :/ /www.wgu .edu /wgu / vu/ urban/index.html 
WE 12: http: / /www .wgu .edu /wgu /vu/ sbc/index .html 
WE 13: http :// www.wgu.edu /wgu / union/transfer .html 
WE 14: http: // www.wgu.edu /wgu / academics / lt_listing.html 
WE 15: http: // www.byu.edu / ipt/main.html 
WE 16: http :// coen.boisestate.edu / dep / ipt.htrn 
WE 17: http :// education.indiana.edu / isthome.html 

Appendices: 
Appendix 1: 
Appendix 3: 
Appendix 7: 
Appendix 8: 
Appendix 9: 
Appendix 10: 

Room Exhibits: 

WGU Sample Transcripts 
WGU Development 
The Bache lor of Arts in Interdisciplinary Studies 
Master of Arts in Teaching 
Master of Arts in Mathematics Education 
Marketing Plans 

RE 8: Surveys 
RE 14: Degree Comparisons 
RE 15: Program Reviews 
RE 16: Mapped Courses, Independent Learning Resources , 

and Recommended Paths 
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Standard Five: Information and Learning Resources 
Institutional information and learning resources, including its own or those made avail
able through contracts with other providers , and any equipment needed to access the 
holding of libraries, media centers, computer centers, and other repositories are sufficient 
to support the courses, programs, and degrees offered and are readily accessible to all 
students and academic leaders. 

5.1 Appropriate training and ongoing support are provided to students, 
academic leaders and staff in the use of relevant learning resources and 
services held by the institution orprovided by other means. 

5.2 The size and professional qualifications of the information and learning 
resources staff employed or contracted by the institution are sufficient to 
provide appropriate assistance to users of the institution '.I' library, media 
centers, computer centers, and other learning resources, and where 
appropriate to direct users to other resources available under contract. 

53 The institution periodically and systematically evaluates the adequacy and 
utilization of its learning and information resources and services and those 
of contracted providers. It makes appropriate changes in its own 
resources and seroices and modifies contracts with other providers as 
necessary. 

Access to Services 

As a distance institution WGU strives to make its information and learning resources 
accessible to students , faculty , administrators , and staff through early and on-going train
ing, the use of appropriate technology , secure connections , and on-going support serv
ices. 

5.1 Preliminary Training of Students and Employees 
Student Introduction Course 
An important way that we provide appropriate training and ongoing support of students 
is through an introductory course. WGU launched an online introductory course for 
students in all degree programs in December of 2001 with only four students. Since 
then , the program has become so successful that it is required of all new students and 
had approximately 50 students enrolled each month during Spring 2002. This initial 
course , titled "Education Without Boundaries " (EWB), introduces students to salient 
aspects of the University . The course , four weeks in length with an accompanying text 
of the same title, introduces a variety of issues faced by new students. These issues, 
discussed in an online forum, include a review of time management , writing, research, 
test taking , and reading skills. Students also participate in a variety of inventories that 
help them reflect on who they are as learners . Personal issues surface because , along 
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with the enthusiasm that students bring to inaugurate their online studies, they also 
come to realize that this program will change their lives and that it is going to require a 
significant commitment of time and effort. Most WGU students are adults with full-time 
work and family responsibilities. As the course progresses, discussion often centers on 
the realization that a degree program will cause some stress and the student may need 
to alter his or her current lifestyle . The course is designed to alleviate this stress in 
three ways: (1) through relevant course readings about time management , being flexible , 
and handling stress; (2) through individual communications with the lead mentor (who 
has a master 's degree in counseling and 12 years of professional experience working 
with nontraditional students in higher education; and (3) through online peer discus
sions about these issues as students bond together in a learning community. The text, 
syllabus , and sample assignments for EWB are available as Exhibit 17. 

Along with these common issues, the course also introduces students to distance educa
tion through both the textbook and accompanying online discussion. The text includes 
a short history of distan ce education and trends , and it addresses WGU's model of com
petency-based education. The online course itself is hosted on WGU's Campus Pipeline 
(aka MY.WGU). Like many online courses, EWB is asynchronous, allowing students to 
participate in discussion at any time they find convenient. A tutorial and an online visit 
from WG U's e-librarian introduce students to the online library. This segment addresses 
search strategies to find everything from full-text articles to locating and ordering books 
for home delivery. 

The course acclimates students to several of the Web-based platforms they will use 
when taking courses from WGU's providers. Campus Pipeline , hosted on the WGU 
serve r, is the primary WGU platform for enrolled students. Campus Pipeline contains 
links to resourc es that students use for Education Without Boundaries and afterwards 
throu gho ut their degree programs at WGU, such as links to student services, career serv
ices, the Student Handbo ok, the e-library and online bookstore , a discussion board , 
WGU's catalog of distance courses, and faculty online office hour s. 

Education Without Boundaries: 
WGU developed EWB for a number of reasons. First, previous to this course and 
Campus Pipeline, students had no structured way to meet and communicate online . 
Though features such as I-Chat had been available, the use was minimal. Students were 
isolated from each other in their programs. Information delivery to cohorts was also dif
ficult. With no way to group students together as they began programs, mentors were 
often trapped in a number of redundant tasks as they tried to help each student master 
the same skills, such as how to use the e-library. Consequently, a number of WGU staff 
worked throughout 2001 to develop a customized textbook for new students through 
Pearson Education Custom Publishing. The Education Without Boundaries textbook 
draw s upon the chapters of several textbooks edited to WGU's situation, as well as 
material specifically written by University academic personnel for student introduction to 
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WGU (e.g., assessments) . The textbook and course help mentors guide new students 
and deliver uniform informati on . While the text, Education Without Boundaries , was 
being developed, WGU also gained the technology capability to deliver an associated 
online initial course. 

From experiences gained through its initial offerings, the instructor (with assistance from 
other WGU faculty and staff) is continuing to improve the course in several ways . 
These include a more user-friendly library Web page and library tutorial , the formation 
of smaller online discussion groups, and the involvement of more faculty members into 
select portions of the course where they would like to participate . We have also devel
oped a way for students to continue meeting once the first course is over, based on stu
dent requests. Through EWB, we have seen significant improvement in the way stu
dents enter our univ ersity, and in their early success in this competency-based distance 
educ ation environment . 

Because of our success with this course, we are considering offering a modified version 
of it for previous ly enrolled students wh o are experiencing difficulties making satisfacto
ry academic progr ess. These students came to the University before "Education Without 
Bound aries" was available and would likely benefit from the instruction and various 
activities gea red to making them capable online stud ents . 

WGU Employee Orientation 
New mentors and academic staff benefit from both initial and ongo ing orientation. All 
faculty and staff meet with the Director of Finance & Hum an Resources to review the 
learnin g resources and services provided by the University. At this meeting , the 
emp loyee receives all necessary personnel and benefit app lications and inform ation , as 
we ll as the policies and pro cedures described in the Employee Handb ook. Other 
emp loyee resource needs are discussed , includin g comput ers, email, phone , office 
access , and expe nse reimbur sement policies. The new staff membe r is encouraged to 
review all policies thoro ughly and present any questions to the Director of Finance & 

Human Reso urces. 

Each new mento r wo rks closely with his or her Program Coordin ator for severa l months 
to master the intricacies of the role. In addition , the Director of Academic Services pro
vides seve ral days of direct training for new mentors and academic staff in the use of 
WGU's information manage ment systems , and the Dean of the Teachers College or the 
Provos t (as appropri ate) meets as often as necessary with new employees to discuss 
highe r leve l orientation issues. 

Actua lly, emp loyee or ien tation to the University 's academ ic systems is still more informal 
than it ought to be. Perh aps und ersta ndab ly, we have given the stude nt 's beginning 
experience at the University higher prior ity, but we also nee ded to gain eno ugh experi
ence with hiring academ ic staff before we could figure out how best to systematize their 
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orientation. We feel now that we have that experience, and although our informal ori
entation procedures are working pretty well, we are also preparing an orientation hand
book for mentors and other academic staff that will make their introduction to the 
University more orderly, consistent, and substantial. We expect to have that Mentor 
Handbook available in at least draft form for the visiting team 's review as Exhibit 18. 

Technology Services for WGU Employees 
All full-time WGU employees, including faculty, staff and administrators, are provided 
access to the technology and software necessary for WGU-related activities. This allows 
them to use the relevant learning resources and services from WGU or by other means 
that we arrange. Each employee is provided: 

• A Windows compatible computer , usually a laptop ; 
• Software (Microsoft Office suite); 
• Linkages to the WGU network printers (for employees located in the Salt Lake City 

offices); 
• An email account on the WGU Internet server; and 
• A docking station (for laptop users) that enables easy off-site and office use; 
• Internet connection (for those working from remote sites). 

WGU also accommodates specific employee technology needs . As needs arise , addi
tional equipment may be requis itioned (e.g., ergonomic keyboards, chairs, etc.). On-site 
inform ation technology staff set up and maintain employees' computers. 

Technology Support for WGU Students 
WGU does not provide techn ology equipment or software to students. They must use 
their own equipment, software, and Intern et browsers when engaging in WGU learning 
activities. Students are provided password-secure access to WGU's online instructional 
environment that supports all aspects of their studies. 

Enrollment staff identify student needs for technology support both formally and infor
mally during matriculation and preliminary course activities (e.g., skill survey , intake 
interview , and technology survey), and either they or the student's mentor can often 
help the student locate appropriate support resources. Additional technology support is 
provided to students during EWB, where they receive secure account access to WGU's 
web-based student services , Campus Pipeline, and the e-library. Answers to Frequently 
Asked Questions (FAQ) about technical matters are also available within Campus 
Pipeline. 

After comple ting EWB, each student is given a unique password and I.D. for each 
online course he or she takes. Education Providers are also contractually obligated to 
provide technical support to students throughout every online course. 
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5.2 Learning Resources Staff and Services 
Western Governors University was established by the governors to be a collaborative 
institution that drew as much as possible upon quality resources for distance education 
already available from established institutions within their states. This section describes 
this model in detail, noting the qualifications of those who direct this activity, the legal 
and financial aspects of the relationship as set forth in the Education Provider (EP) 
Agreement, benefits to partners of this relationship, the process of initial affiliation, and 
an overview of how WGU students enroll in EP courses and receive instructional servic
es. It explains the services of the University's online library and how students learn to 
use its resources. Finally, it addresses the pivotal role mentors play in selecting, map
ping, and guiding students to appropriate learning experiences . 

Qualifications 
The identification , selection, maintenance, and renewal of WGU's learning resources 
involve all of the academic staff of the University, members of WGU Counci ls, as well as 
the institutions with which we contract to provide courses and library services. The 
Director of Learning Resources (DLR) assumes major responsibility for organizing WGU 
efforts for quality distance content coverage. He has worked in distance higher educa
tion for more than 10 years as an administrator and faculty member at several institu
tions, as well as in distributed learning in the corporate training arena. Thus the DLR is 
able to create effective distance education partnerships for WGU. Assisting him is the 
EP Coordinator, who brings a strong background of technical, communication , and inter
personal skills to her work with EP institutions in deve loping and maintaining the cata
log. WGU mentors , especially program coordinators, assume major responsibility for 
quality learning resource coverage in their degree areas. Each of them comes with aca
dem ic expertise in their degree program area, and all those mentoring bachelor 's or 
master's degree candidates hold a doctorate . 

The EP Advisory Council, comprised of senior academic administrators at major provider 
institutions , provides guidance for the development of WGU's learning resources. 
Additionally , members of each Program Council, comprised of academic and practitioner 
experts in their fields, are regularly consulted about learning resources in their program 
areas. WGU's part-time librarian under contract at the University of New Mexico is 
appropriately credentialed to provide exce llent library support and to bring the 
resources of other UNM library staff to assist WGU students as appropriate. The qualifi
cations of our contacts at EP institutions are more variable , but most of them have 
extens ive experience in distance education , and as directors and deans have appropriate 
academic credentials. The entire learning resource area of the University is overseen by 
the Provost and Academic Vice President who has more than 25 years of professional 
experienc e with providing quality distance and nontraditional education for adult learn
ers at several vanguard institu tions. As a coordinated effort , all of these persons work 
together to make sure that WGU's learning resources support its unique model of com
petency-based education. 
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The Education Provider Model 
Western Governors University has contracted partnerships with about 45 institutions to 
offer their quality distance courses to our students through our online catalog and asso
ciated portals (see Appendix 11: Participating Education Providers, p. 291, or 
http://www.wgu.edu/wgu/about/educators institutions.html). This collaborative 
arrangement ensures that the size and quality of our learning resource offerings (and the 
academic staff that support these) are sufficient for the academic requirements of the 
University. The legal EP agreement between WGU and each of these organizations is 
based on a revenue-share arrangement where WGU collects student tuition and fees, 
notifies the EP to deliver the course, and then typically pays the institution 70 percent of 
the revenue (see http:Uwww.wgu.edu/ep net/EPAgreement.pdO. WGU utilizes the 30 
percent it retains for catalog upkeep, mapping of the courses to WGU degree programs, 
back-office services, and outreach to special audiences, such as select state government 
employees, corporations , and school districts. There are no upfront or ongoing costs to 
this affiliation, and EPs have a great deal of flexibility in determining which courses to 
list and the number of slots they will make available to WGU students; however, they 
must list the course for the same price they list for other distant students who come 
directly to them for enrollment. The EP agreement is governed by the EP Policy and 
Procedures Handbooks, which outline criteria for affiliation, distance education stan
dards to which EPs must adhere , procedures for listing courses in the catalog, and other 
aspects of course delivery, such as enrollment procedures, refund policy, student servic
es, course uses of library and bookstore resources, transcripts, and processing student 
outcomes . The EP Handbooks are maintained online and may be reviewed at: 
http:Uwww.wgu.edu/ep net/handbook index.html. 

WGU benefits from these EP partnerships by being able to provide a wide variety of 
distance courses to meet the individual needs of its degree- and certificate-seeking stu
dents , as well as those who choose to enroll in courses for professional development or 
personal enrichment. The EP benefits from the partnership in several ways. At the 
instructional level, the unique perspectives WGU students bring as nontraditional dis
tance students from around the country enhance the online learning environment when 
they interact with the other students (often traditional campus students) and the instruc
tor. The agreement also enables EPs to enroll their own students in courses offered by 
other EPs in WGU's catalog-thereby expanding their own learning resources. Official 
affiliation carries with it public recognition that the provider meets the distance educa
tion quality criteria of the EP agreement. Assisted by WGU's own marketing efforts, the 
provider reaches new audiences that it would probably not otherwise have access to, 
along with the incremental revenues that accrue when the costs for course develop
ment , hiring an instructor, and the technical and student support infrastructure have 
already been met. These enrollments allow a return on investment as sections are filled, 
or another section is added. EPs benefit from the partnership by being able to network 
with other providers; the EP Advisory Council and Operations Committee facilitate such 
sharing . 
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The Education Provider Survey 
In April 2002 we directed our 48 EPs to an online survey about their relationship with 
WGU. Twelve institutional representatives responded (25 percent). The average affilia
tion length was 1.7 years. These providers had an average of 67 courses listed in the 
WGU catalog, and they had received an average of 18 enrollments . The results are 
summarized below , given by percentage of those who responded to each item. 

Forming a Partnership with WGU 
Most of these providers (91 percent) found it easy to form a partnership with WGU. 
The EP Agreement was easy to negotiate (90 percent) and understand (100 percent). 
The EP Selection Committee effectively reviewed their application for affiliation (100 
percent), but they disagreed that their WGU partnership had helped them improve their 
own online courses and programs (63 percent indicated that their partnership had yield
ed improvement). At these institutions 82 percent reported a high level of support for 
an ongoing relationship with WGU. They noted benefits of the partnership-such as, 
"Commitment to quality distance education", "Outreach to new audiences for enroll
ments" , and "Provides a way to become involved in competency-based education"-but 
no clear pattern emerged. Some highlights from their comments were: 

• "WGU's guidelines for establishing partnerships are well explained and easy to fol
low. " 

• "Decisions related to the review process were explicit and clearly communicated." 
• "There is support to participate with WGU, but there are internal policies and poli

tics that have made our ability to be a more active participant very difficult. There 
are also outspoken individuals who do not think it to our advantage to broker our 
courses elsewhere . This has not discouraged others who are continuing to work 
through some of the obstacles to wider participation. " 

• "WGU is pioneering a new way of working with students by modeling competen
cy-based approaches. " 

Catalog Services 
Most providers agreed that the EP Web site was easy to navigate (75 percent). 
Institutional information was easy to enter (91 percent) , as were new courses (82 per
cent); it was also easy to enter new sections and update information (64 percent). 
Related comments include: 

• "I entered 96 courses and was shocked at how quickly it could be accomplished. " 
• "This no response is intended to be a neither "agree " nor "disagree " - we experi

enced great difficulty with input in the beginning ; however , WGU talked with us 
and came to see us in-person to determine how the system might be improved. 
They (WGU) have been very open to this kind of dialogue-to the point that there 
is now an operations committee tasked with discussing just these kinds of things. " 

• Once one becomes familiar with the pages and the way they work, navigation and 
data entry become easier. 
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Support Services 
Most respondents found WGU enrollment and registration services helpful (88 percent). 
However, there were too few responses about financial transactions , student outcome 
reports , and the resolution of student complaints to draw conclusions ; comments sug
gested that respondents had no direct experience in these areas . 

Commentary 
The EPs that responded to the survey appear to represent the broad range of institutions 
with which we partner. They also seem to have worked with WGU enough to make 
valid observations. Generally their responses were quite ·positive. Areas where a size
able minority noted some difficulty were in the update and maintenance of the catalog . 
As noted later in this Standard's discussion (pages 114-120) we have instituted the EP 
Operations Committee as a means of improving the implementation of provider partner
ships , and some of the Committee 's initial contributions involved streamlining the cata
log . However, as technology progresses we will likely need to find ways of improving 
the interface of our systems and their integration with the information systems of our 
EPs. Also noteworthy were responses about support services-highlighting the fact that 
it takes more than a few individuals at our provider institutions to implement the part
nership . Besides the academic and enrollment staff, the WGU partnership often 
involve s personnel in accounting, records , and computer services. Our efforts at 
improvin g communications and training of new personnel, especially through our EP 
Handbooks (http: ljwww.wgu.ed u/e p net/handbook index.html), assist in covering the 
broad scope of EP activities. 

The comp lete survey is available with others as Exhibit 6. 

Process of EP Affiliation 
Part of the mentor 's responsibility is to identify approp riate learni ng resources for the 
degrees that they support. Usually, the affiliation process begins with a mentor loca ting 
suitab le courses from a potential provider and asking the DLR to requ est a partnership. 
Efforts are made to weed out undesirable prospects before a more rigorous review 
begi ns. (Exhibit 19 lists the selection criter ia for Education Provider affiliation.) The 
DLR contac ts the potential EP and shares with it information about the University and 
benefits of the partnership. If interested , the potential EP negotiates the terms of the 
contract and campus officials sign their intent to participate. The institution next enters 
information abou t itself and lists some initial courses and classes (sec tions) on EP _NET, 
a private area of the WGU cata log site. When comp leted , the EP Selection Committee 
meets to review the potential EP for affiliation using criteria such as institutional credib il
ity, fit of content with our degrees and initiatives , compe titive pricing , the quality of the 
initial course listings, evidence of adequate student and academic support services, and 
other information that the potential EP may supply (ofte n at its own Web site). When 
approved, the DLR notifies the EP, and we release its initial courses and classes into the 
WGU catalog for enro llment. At this point mentors map the courses and enter them in 
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the relevant recommended degree path , as appropriate. The EP is also encouraged to 
include additional titles in the WGU catalog. 

Student Use of EP Courses 
Students work closely with their mentors in determining which learning opportunities 
best fit their needs. Based on a pre-assessment of their skills in the domains, and 
through conversation , the mentor and student develop an Academic Action Plan (AAP) 
that lays out both a schedule for assessment completions and courses to be taken. 
Using preassessment results, the mentor identifies the student 's skill needs within each 
domain. The catalog lists courses that map to WGU degree domains and subdomains , 
and the mentor consults with the student about use of courses on the recommended 
path for the degree . These are usually those courses that map extremely well, fit indi
vidual student needs, are frequently (or continuously) offered , and are available at a 
reasonable price. Exhibit 16 includes the "Mapped Courses, Independent Learning 
Resources , and Recommended Paths " for all degrees. 

Through Campus Pipeline the student selects the course, clicks "enroll now " and sup
plies other necessary information. Our enrollment staff notify the EP about the registra
tion , place the student into the course , notify the instructor, and provide the student 
with necessary course access instructions. The student purchases textbooks and sup
porting instructional materials for the course from the EP's bookstore, the WGU 
Bookstore, or from another bookstore of choice . The student usually uses the WGU 
library for various additional resources required by the course , but the EP can arrange 
for the student to use the Education Provider's own online library for the course, if pre
ferred . Once the course is completed , the EP is required to file (within 30 days) the sat
isfactory outcome report (SOR) on the EP site of the catalog. The outcome can then be 
listed on WGU's internal record and on the student's transcript. 

The Education Provider Selection Committee meets semi-annually to review EP perform
ance (further explained below). The committee reviews the content the EP is offering 
to be sure it is still a good fit, reviews mentor experience with the EP-usually the best 
indicator of reliable and effective student service-and looks at any problems that may 
have emerged in the partnership. We also survey students directly on their satisfaction 
with the courses they take from our EPs, although to date, as also noted earlier on page 
97, the number of responses we receive is generally too low to draw solid conclusions 
about any single course . (The most recent surve y of student satisfaction with EP cours
es is available with other surveys as Exhibit 6.) 

Library Services 
WGU contracts with the University of New Mexico Central Library to provide library 
resources for its students . The Western Governors University Central Library Service 
Agreement define s the scope , role , and responsibiliti es of the UNM central library as: 

• Create a Web page with links to resources , services, instruction guides , and other 
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online library catalogs , and provide access to LIBROS (UNM's multi-institutional 
catalog) and to LIBROS gateway connections. (The WGU library URL is: 
hnp://www.unm.edu/-wguclr/overview.html.) 

• Provide reference services , document delivery, interlibrary loan and technical assis
tance; fill interlibrary loan requests for WGU students, up to a maximum of 3,000 
interlibrary loan requests per year; provide assistance on how to use the electronic 
library resources and services; provide online instruction guides; maintain a WGU 
Library Listserv; and provide a help desk for technical assistance. 

• Negotiate and acquire for WGU use any necessary licensing for electronic library 
resources that offer full text and citation for a core group of databases offered as 
part of the NMCAVLEIAN Consortium, with detailed use statistics provided for 
each subscription database and with copyright permission to search, download , or 
print out records from the databases included in the electronic library license . 

• Provide access to an Internet Service Provider and disk allocations for Internet 
service accounts and an email account for each WGU student as needed through 
UNM for access to the Central Library. 

WGU's partnership with the UNM library has been mutually beneficial. We have 
received excellent service, and the library has used its relationship with us to pilot new 
student support services, such as electronic reserves, for use on its own campus. 

We currently have a small team working with the UNM staff to update the WGU library 
Web site so that it is more intuitive to navigate, particularly for novice users. We are 
also trying to increase student use of the library through a number of strategies (see 
accompanying box) , while streamlining secure access to the password-protected areas of 
the library by utilizing WGU students ' authentication when they log onto Campus 
Pipeline. See also the library discussion in Standard 7.2, Student Services. 

Promoting Use of WGU Library 
WGU's electronic library has been available to students , staff and faculty since 1998. 
The services-FirstSearch, e-reserves, inter-library book loan, and more-were ready and 
waiting. The problem was that students were not using what was available. At the 
time , students were dependent on their mentors for introduction and training to the 
library. And while mentors may have had some initial training in library services, the 
training of students was not uniform. 

Our new student introductory course-constructed with the assistance of our e-librarian at 
UNM-includes a special library segment designed to address these problems. Through a 
tutorial , assignments , and help from the librarian , students are guided through the serv
ices available to them as they progress in their degree programs. With the "Education 
Without Boundaries " course only six months old at this writing (June 2002), we have 
only limited evidence about increased student use of these services , but that evidence is 
very positive (see summary statistics in Standard 7.2). Unquestionably, students com-
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plete the course feeling familiar with the library system and ready to use it. 

To meet their needs they may draw on a number of services, among them Proquest 's 
ABI/Inform. ABI/Inform is a periodical index to articles on business, management, 
advertising, marketing , economics, human resources, finance, taxation, computers, and 
more. Also included is information on 60,000+ companies. Over one third of the jour
nal and newspaper titles include the full-text of the article. Another service available 
through the WGU e-library is FirstSearch , an online search service that provides access 
to a variety of databases in all disciplines. It gives citations to books, periodical and 
newspaper articles, directory information , dissertations, audiovisual materials, Web sites 
and many other resources. Many of these databases include full-text documents. 

Another e-library service introduced during "Education Without Boundaries" is the elec
tronic reserve . Mentors ask to have a textbook , chapters, articles , or other documents 
placed in electronic reserves for students. The WGU librarian arranges the scanning of 
the requested documents, and they are placed on the UNM library servers as "read only" 
documents (pdf files). These are linked on the WGU e-library site by degree domain 
for student access. The e-reserve may be expanded to have relevant readings , assign
ments, and instructions to support guided self-instruction in each degree program 
domain. These "domain readers" housed in the e-reserve can be used by mentors with 
their students. 

Two other significant changes are underway for the electronic library. First, the current 
Web page introducing students to these services is too full of information . Students 
indicated through course discussion that it is difficult for them to find what they are 
looking for. They said there has been too much clutter and it was too difficult to find a 
particular resource. Accordingly, the Web pages are being reworked to avoid clutter 
and provide useful resources that are more user-friendly. Second, in conjunction with 
our new tuition structure, we have introduced a modest library fee ($25 per term) in the 
expectation (and hope) that if students understand that they are paying for library serv
ices-that they are not "free "-they will be more inclined to use them . The fee has just 
gone into effect and we will monitor its impact. While it will help to underwrite the 
cost of expanding database services, its primary intent is to encourage student use of 
the library. If the fee does not accomplish that goal we will need to reassess its value. 

Mentors 
Mentors are integrally involved in locating , reviewing , and mappin g online learning 
resources. They also contribute to the identification and se lection of independent learn
ing reso urces (ILRs), such as books, videos, and CD-ROMs, which offer additional 
means for students to prepare for domain assessments . Mentors "map" the content of 
all these resou rces to program compe tencies to determine how closely they align and in 
order to make effec tive referrals for stude nts. Mapping of new content is a continuous 
process. In meeting this standard , these appropriately qualified mentor s provide essen-

WESTERN GO V ERNORS UN,~ 

1111 



tial seivices to ensure that WGU's learning resources are of the highest caliber to 
address students' compe ten cy development. 

To help faculty maintain their own professional currency, each mentor receives a yearly 
allocation from which to purchase resources for her or his own professional develop
ment (e.g., professional memberships, books, CD-ROMs, subscriptions to professional 
journals). In addit ion, the University supports each faculty member to anend one or 
two conferences per year for professional development or to make presentations. 

5.3 Periodic Review and Improvement 
Education Provider Improvement 
Western Governors University works with three different groups in refining its network 
of education providers (EPs) and improving policy and procedures regarding collabora
tive learning resources. These bodies, described in this section, are the EP Selection 
Committee, the EP Advisory Council, and the EP Operations Comm ittee. Together they 
guide us in systematically evaluating the adequacy and utilization of the lea rnin g and 
information resources and seivices that we contract for with our EPs, and in adjusting 
these arrangements appropriately. 

EP Selection Committee 
The Education Provider Selection Committee (EPSC) was organized in spring 2000 to 
review and se lect education providers for affiliation with the University . Members of the 
committee are WGU staff: the Director of Learning Resources (chair) , the Provost, a 
mentor representative , and the EP Coordina tor. 

The EPSC selects education providers for affiliation based on the criteria approved by 
the WGU Board of Trustees. It also reviews the performance and merits of the current 
slate of providers. The EPSC meets semi-annually and on an ad hoc basis otherwise to 
perform its duties . 

Once a potential provider is approved , the EPSC monitors its activities with WGU. The 
semi-annual meetings offer the committee an opportunity to discuss current EP activities 
to make sure each provider still meets the needs of the University-through its learn ing 
opportunities , customer seivice , and active support of WGU's mission. If it does not 
meet expectations , the comminee will contact the provider and request a more active 
partnership or discontinue the partnership entirely. For instance, the U.S. Sports 
Academy was one of our EPs with dozens of courses listed in the catalog. The EPSC 
determined that there was little connection between their content and the audiences that 
we seek to seive, their courses were expensive, and we had seen no enrollments . 
Therefore, we notified them that we wou ld be discontinuing the relationship. In anoth
er example , the EPSC no ted that Northern Arizona University had no courses in the 
WGU catalog but did offer severa l courses that wou ld fit our master's degree in learning 
and technology. These courses mapped well and were reasonably priced. So, we were 
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able to arrange for several important courses to be listed for Fall 2001 enrollments. In 
another instance , the EPSC gave provisional affiliation status to a potential EP, the 
College of Southeastern Europe (CSE). We wanted to test CSE's course performance in 
upper-division computer science. However, because of CSE's inability to provide the 
course materials to our faculty member for review, the EPSC notified the College that 
we we re no longer interested in affiliation , even though their course content and prices 
cou ld work for WGU students . 

Since IRAC's review of WGU for Candidacy (October 2000) the EPSC has approved and 
added 29 new EPs to the 28 it had. It has discontinued agreements with 14 institutions 
during that same period for a current tota l of 43 institutions. Follow-up actions by 
members of the committee in the Spring of 2002 have re-engaged a dozen EPs who 
have each listed 10 to 65 new courses in the catalog and made them contin ually or 
more regularly available. Previously, these EPs had only a few courses availab le. 

EP Advisory Council 
The Education Provider Advisory Counci l (EPAC) eme rged from the original Education 
Provider Review Counci l (EPRC), which had been charged with the review and selection 
of education providers. The EPRC proved unable, however , to make timely decisions, 
and worse, it did not give the University sufficient quality con trol over the selection 
results. According ly, in the spr ing of 2000 the EPRC was abolished and WGU staff 
assumed full responsibility for building and supervising the EP network. At the same 
time , the Education Provider Advisory Counci l, EPAC, was organized to provide general 
policy advice and guidance in this area. It is charged: 

• to provide advice on matters of concern to providers regarding WGU services, as 
well as to WG U staff in developing provider relations; 

• to assist in promoting WGU among education providers; 
• to advise staff of potentia l new providers; 
• to suggest opportun ities for collaborat ion among providers; 
• to advise staff on matters of quality assurance in distance learning and among the 

University's education providers ; and 
• to assist in research efforts related to competency assessment. 

Members of EPAC, nominated by the Provost and elected by the WGU Board of 
Trustees , serve three-year terms. Current members are listed with the other Councils in 
Appendix 6 (p . 247). They represent the range of providers affiliated with the University . 
The Provost , the Director of Learning Resources , and a WGU mentor representative are 
also members of the Counc il, and the EP Coordinator provides staff assistance (see 
http://www.wgu.edu/wgu /academics/faculty.html#epac) . EPAC meetings are held semi 
annually at Western Governors University 's offices in Salt Lake City. 

The Council has made several suggest ions to enhance networking and insure the quality 
of EP partnerships. It has assisted in the recruitment of othe r quality EPs, recommended 
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that WGU host annual networking meetings for its EP members (successfully inaugurat
ed at the Western Cooperative for Educational Telecommunications' annual conference 
in November 2001), and helped to establish the EP Operations Committee to provide 
better ground-level problem resolution among the EP membership. 

EP Operations Committee 
The Education Provider Operations Committee (EPOC) was formed at the advice of the 
EPAC to address the day-to-day procedures in carrying out the EP partnership. 
Members are chosen from our most established EPs to be representative of the various 
types of organizations with whom WGU works. Current members include representa
tives from the University of Wyoming, Washington State University, Rio Salado 
Community College, Regis University, Northern Arizona University, Jones International 
University, and ActiveEducation. Meetings are held on an ad hoc basis via telephone 
conference call and are supplemented by email discussions . The Director of Learning 
Resources chairs the group, which normally includes about 10 members. Service is lim
ited to a three-year term on a rotating basis and representation is assigned to affiliated 
institutions , not individuals. 

Prior to EPOC's formation, any edits or changes made within the restricted portion of 
the Western Governors University Web site were made based on the needs of our tech
nical or learning resources staff, or in response to sporadic requests by our Education 
Providers. As WGU evolved , so did the functionality , appearance and upkeep of its 
provider site. As an illustration, due to the importance of our partnership with Rio 
Salado Community College, learning resources staff made a special trip to the Rio cam
pus to smooth out processes and streamline procedures between the two institutions. 
The Director of Learning Resources and the Web Information Manager assisted Rio staff 
with enrollment procedures and catalog entry. This sole meeting alleviated many chal
lenges that Rio Salado and WGU had experienced in the past. Lines of communication 
opened and Rio staff better understood their partnership responsibilities. 

Experiences like the Rio campus visit led to the creation of the Operations Committee as 
a more generalized means of assuring quality relationships and services among our 
providers. The Committee addresses all aspects of improving EP operations, including 
catalog maintenance, enrollment , student services, financial matters , course outcome 
reporting , and transcripts . Since its inception in the fall of 2001, it has been instrumen
tal in helping us revise and update the online EP Policy and Procedures Handbooks , 
and in streamlining several pro cedures that have improved collaboration for all con
cerned. 

~ 
Western Governors University currently offers over 1,200 courses and independent 
learning resource s (ILR's) from 43 education providers. These courses are easily 
accessed for viewing and enrollment through the WGU online catalog. Offerings 
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include everything from those necessary to complete degree and certificate programs to 
special topics of interest for professional development or personal enrichment. 

Mentors have mapped the courses in the catalog that relate most directly to WGU's aca
demic programs. Approximately one quarter of the catalog offerings are currently 
mapped. Exhibit 20 contains the "Evaluation of Online Course Form" they use to deter
mine the quality and relevance of these resources. The mapping process is yet another 
way that we ensure that our information and learning resources continually meet the 
standards of our academic programs. Mapping involves matching course objectives to 
WGU performance descriptions, the most granular statements of competency in each 
domain. When mapping courses, WGU mentors determine the degree to which each 
competency is covered within a course and assign a numeric rating to specify the align
ment with each of the domain's performance descriptions: 

3 = high match (information from the course completely covers the content of the 
competency) 

2 = moderate match (some information from the course completely covers the con
tent of the competency) 

1 = low match (very little information from the course covers the content of the com
petency) 

To decide how well content matches competencies , mentors may look at texts, online 
course descriptions and syllabi and speak to instructors. Once mentors map a course to 
WGU competencies, a symbol is affixed to its listing in the catalog for easy identifica
tion. 

It is important to note that mapping is not a one-time exercise. Mentors monitor their 
students ' experience with each mapped course to see how they do on related assess
ments , their satisfaction with its content and delivery, and so on. Courses are up or 
downgraded in light of this progressive experience. In addition, mentors reassess 
mapped courses that do not get student enrollments for an extended period before 
assigning students to them. Mapping is a much more fluid "work in progress " than our 
name for this activity might suggest. 

Selected Providers 
With the large number of education providers and courses offered in the catalog, it has 
become more important for mentors to know that not only will identified courses and 
resources cover WGU competencies , but that resources will also be available when stu
dents need them. Currently, we are identifying a small number of EPs in each degree 
and certificate program that can promise availability of identified courses and resources 
to our students . These providers will work with us to be primary suppliers of content 
that supports our academic programs. 

When WGU began , the emphasis was to recruit a large number of EPs to provide con-
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tent in many areas. Many EPs jumped on board and the catalog expanded quickly. We 
also allowed EPs to map their own courses at that time, which resulted either in courses 
poorly aligned to a large number of partially related competencies or important courses 
going unmapped because the EP did not clearly see the fit. As students began to enroll , 
however , it became essential to offer quality content that was readily available , afford
able for the average student, and closely matched to WGU competencies. It also 
became apparent that WGU mentors needed to map courses rather than rely upon oth
ers. In early Spring 2000, WGU took over course mapping, getting rid of all previous 
mapping and placing that responsibility squarely with the mentors. This change of pro
cedures helped immensely , but mentors still struggled at times to find courses that fit 
student schedules . Eventually , they began to refer students to EPs that provided reliable 
learning resources. Mentors also learned that a small group of students enrolled in the 
same course from an EP could provide peer support for one another. 

From this natural referral process grew the idea of developing a smaller number of 
selected providers as a deliberate improvement strategy. In this model , which at this 
writing is still maturing, selected providers will offer courses through the WGU catalog 
at regular intervals. They will also guarantee a set number of spots to WGU stude nts 
and, in some cases , embed WGU assessments in identified courses. As an example at 
the undergraduate leve l, Metropolitan Community College is guaranteeing enrollment 
"seats" for us in its Information Technology course, as well as embedding our assess
ments in the course and offering it at dependable intervals . Selected providers will vary 
with each degree, but those included on the recommended path for the master 's degree 
in learning and technology now include Western Washington University , University of 
Northern Iowa, Northern Arizona University, Brigham Young University , UKA Academy , 
University of Wyoming , and Chadron State College. 

Recommended Paths 
As described earlier , when a mentor begins to work with a student , a first activity is to 
establish an individualized Academic Action Plan (AAP) that charts the student 's learning 
experience at WGU. Mentors develop these plans using a "recommended path ." The 
term refers to the set of online courses and other learning resources that mentors are 
most likely to use with their students to develop and accomplish their degree programs . 
There is one general recommended path for an entire program. The recommended 
path is comprehensive enough so that it is possible to include variations to accommo
date individual student academic needs and interests . After identifying a number of 
learning resources that map well to WGU competencies , WGU mentors build recom
mended paths for students to complete their degree and certificate programs by choos
ing the best of these . The rule of thumb is to be "three deep ," meaning that there are 
at least three courses or independent learning resources that mentors can suggest to stu
dent s to cover a particular domain of knowledge, thus giving their students a good 
range of options. (See also , Exhibit 16: "Mapped Courses, Independent Learning 
Resources , and Recommended Paths " for more detail.) 
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Like the mapping of individual courses, working with recommended paths is a "work in 
progress " for mentors. While the development of this approach two years ago marked 
a significant advance in the quality and efficiency of mentor guidance, it was not a 
"done once , done forever" activity. Recommended paths are comprised for the most 
part of courses, after all, and these are continually monitored for their effectiveness. AB 
course recommendations change, so do the recommended paths. 

WGU Directed Education: An Emerging Model 
The EP network that we have developed is vitally important to providing the quality 
education that we expect for our competency-based degree and certificate programs. 
However , sometimes this model needs to be adapted to meet student needs . In meeting 
this standard to periodically and systematically evaluate the adequacy and utilization of 
our education resources, we have been investigating alternative forms of instructional 
delivery that still fit the academic model of our institution. Given a competency model 
of distance education that expects most students to begin a program with some profi
ciency in their domains of study, the typical three-credit course model sometimes does
n't make sense. When students need specific learning that is only a portion of an entire 
course, a more efficient approach for them is self-instructional learning in that more nar
row area. Another situation occurs when WGU competencies are scattered among a 
number of courses so that enrollment in any of them may require too much superfluous 
study and enrollment in all of them would create an inefficient , expensive, and time
consuming path for student progress. The situation also occurs where WGU is unable 
to locate appropriate online courses from its EPs to meet learning needs, either because 
the content is esoteric or because high -demand courses will not allow for WGU student 
slots. 

In some areas , WGU's program development and competencies are on the leading edge 
of distance educa tion and few or no other institutions have the sort of online content 
that we need for our degrees and certificates. In this case, we have discovered that we 
need to provide our own content, either directly or through contract with other institu
tions. Some of our experiences with contracted courses have been negative : courses 
didn 't fully match competencies, weren 't developed on time, or the delivery was hap
hazard , especially with delays in instructor response to student communication or feed
back on assignments. 

Over the past year WGU has been implementing a number of initiatives to address such 
situations , and they are discussed below . 

Aligned Courses 
Our preference is to work with our preferred EPs to have them align an existing course 
so that it meets both our needs and the needs of their own students. In this case we 
share with them our competencies and the portfolio or performance task of the primary 
domain that the class supports. Our mentors work with the instructor to adjust the 
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course to fit these WGU domain requirements. An example of this level of alignment 
occurred in the Research Fundamentals domain of our master's degree in learning and 
technology. One course that mapped to many of the competencies approached stu
dents only as consumers of research, whereas WGU competencies require students to 
design and conduct a research study. Our program coordinator worked with the course 
instructor so that our students could develop a research proposal as their major assign
ment in the course instead of simply developing an annotated bibliography. In another 
research course that one of our EPs was developing, our mentor was able to suggest a 
prominent textbook (in addition to the competencies and portfolio/performance task 
assignment) , and arrange for both independent, self-paced and asynchronous, group
paced forms of the course to be taught. 

Contract Courses 
A variant of the above approach that also works well with preferred providers is to con
tract for a course when there are enough enrollments to justify having sections taught 
just for our students. There are two variants to this option. First, we will select courses 
that have already proven successful for our students and arrange to have them offered 
regularly. For example, "Instructional Design for Multimedia Development," is offered 
several times a year on a contract basis from Western Washington University ; WGU stu
dents who have taken it have been satisfied with the experience and performed well on 
their assessments. This successful contract course follows in the wake of one similarly 
titled from a different EP that created high student dissatisfaction , leading to its discon
tinuance. The second option , which we are just beginning to explore, will be to con
tract for the development of a course to our specifications. Such a course would 
include our competencies and perhaps even our assessments, so that when a student 
completes the course satisfactorily he or she will also have completed the assessments 
associated with that portion of a domain. Once a program's enrollments reach a level 
where class-sized groups of students are predictably and regularly ready for a particular 
kind of course , the advantages and feasibility of arrangements like these become obvi
ous. 

WGU Hosted Courses 
Western Governors University designed, developed and delivered its first course, 
"Measurement and Evaluation ," when it could not locate a quality distance course to 
support student development of competence for this domain in the Master of Arts in 
Learning and Technology (MLT). The entire process of course design, development, 
delivery , and revision took a year. The course developers were experts in the field 
working at two different universities. WGU contracted for them to design and develop 
this online course based on our competencies during fall 2000, with the first offering 
during spring 2001. Once students completed the course we surveyed them about their 
satisfaction with it on many dimensions and monitored their performance on the 
domain assessments afterwards. We also received instructor reflections about which 
aspects of the course had worked and which had not. Unfortunately, after taking the 
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course , many students failed their first attempt at the multiple-choice and essay assess
ments (but were successful the second time after additional independent study under 
the direction of WGU mentors). After analysis of these data by the program coordina
tor, these instructors revised the course accordingly. In the next offering in fall 2001, a 
WGU faculty member taught the course and made further refinements to streamline it 
and make it more effective for students to pass their assessments. This model seems to 
be working for this domain of the MLT, and this WGU-hosted course continues to be 
offered a couple of times during the year when there is sufficient student demand in 
what is typically the final domain of the student 's program. 

WGU Outcome (Grading) Policy 
Hosting the "Measurement and Evaluation" course raised a question we had not previ
ously confronted: How should WGU transcript student learning outcomes for courses it 
teaches itself' Obviously, we transcript the grades of courses our students earn else
where. But for us, the only reason to develop and teach our own course is to help stu
dents prepare for their assessments. Passing the assessment is the goal, not the grade in 
a course. Confronted with this dilemma, our first response was to award credits and a 
grade, just as our students earn at other institutions of higher education. The WGU 
course would appear on the transcript with its associated semester hours and grade , 
along with those the student took from other EPs. 

Several elements of this approach soon became problematic. First, what does credit 
represent at a competency-based institution? As we explored the basis used for credit 
assignment at other institutions, we traced its roots back to the Carnegie unit, itself 
derived from seat time in the classroom combined with the average outside homework 
time (e .g., one credit equals an hour in class plus two or three outside hours per week, 
or 40 to 45 hours total over a 15-week semester). Second, how should grades be deter
mined? Should they be awarded based on preparatory assignments for the assessments 
or should they be based solely on the successful completion of the assessment? If the 
latter, should the actual assessment score be transcripted, and would a simple pass/fail 
grade be adequate? Finally, the dual listing of the WGU course and successful comple
tion of the WGU assessment (with its credit equivalency designations) seemed redun
dant , since in some way they represent the same learning. By having both listed, the 
transcript seemed to indicate that a student who took a course was more competent 
because of credit hours and grades being awarded than the student who came to WGU 
already competent to challenge the assessment. 

After internal deliberations about this with mentors and academic managers, we decided 
to reverse the practice of awarding credits and grades for courses that WGU teaches. 
Our policy now states: 

"WGU will not transcript its own courses as 'credits,' nor assign grades to them, but will 
instead use the domain assessments as the basis for documenting student progress . . 
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WGU will document student competencies by listing the results of domain assessments on 
students' transcripts. For courses, tutor-supported learning , and independent learning 
opportunities that WGU develops and hosts itself there Will be no credits or grades 
assigned. " (7be complete policy is available With other WGU academic policies as 

F.xhibit3.J 

Of course, in any prior case where students were told that they would receive credits 
with a grade for a WGU-delivered course, they are being "grandfathered " to receive 
them. The new policy assures integrity, however, in the WGU competency-based edu
cation model and Jays an important foundation upon which to .host our own courses. 

Tutoring 
Another complementary learning resource that we are experimenting with is 
tutoring-defined not as private remedial instruction but rather as guided coaching 
through independent study . There are several reasons for WGU to establish a tutor net
work to support student progress, especially 1) the difficulty we occasionally experience 
in locating an appropriate distance course that meets the student's needs; and (2) the 
fact that students often do not need an entire course , but rather need only to brush up 
on what it covers or to master a small portion of its content. Too often we have found 
that in these circums tances students turn to their mentors to guide them through the 
material , which over time creates unreasonable work load demands on the mentors. A 
network of competent subject-area tutors would relieve this pressure on mentors while 
providing a desirable level of independent study support for students who are not quite , 
but almost , ready to sit for an assessment. 

Development of a tutor network began in April 2002 with recruitment of a cadre of writ
ing tutors who can support all University academic programs. These individuals are 
available to students upon mentor referral to work on course and assessment writing 
assignments in all degree programs. Again , this kind of tutoring is not directed toward 
remedial need s. Instead , writing tutors address higher-level issues like appropriate use 
of research , the quality of argument, voice, and style. We expect that mentors will: (1) 

design an assignment with which students will engage under the guidance of a tutor to 
develop the targeted competency during a limited period of time; (2) work with the 
tutor to identify supporting learning resources; and (3) develop an evaluation rubric to 
judge the merits of the assignment and the student 's readiness for the relevant assess
ment. Over the next two years we p lan to expand the tutor network gradually to sup
port many of the content areas of our degrees , beginning with our largest program, the 
MLT. 

Continuing Challenges 
We have met many challenges in providing quality information and learning resources 
for our students , and virtually all of them will continue for the indefinite future. Chief 
among them are these: 
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• Expanding Library Services: Although our database licenses seem adequate current
ly, with the advent of several new degrees, especially graduate degrees in teacher 
education, we will need to provide new coverage at the upper division and gradu
ate levels in several key areas. To address this issue we have already initiated dis
cussions with the University of New Mexico and a number of our providers, who 
are sharing with us appropriate options for a graduate-level Teachers College. 

• Establishing Viable Partnerships: Although we have a strong network of EPs, there 
are times when we have difficulty locating the appropriate learning opportunities 
to meet program needs. Fortunately, we have forged strong relations with many 
state institutions and have good prospects for new relationships with others, but 
we do remain concerned about locating enough courses and other learning oppor
tunities to support our students. 

• Keeping Partnerships Beneficial: A tension exists between our need for more 
providers and the need to return tangible benefits to those providers already in 
our network. Our movement to aligned courses, recommended paths , and select
ed providers will make the partnership more beneficial to these institutional part
ners. The added revenues associated with these enrollments will bring rewards for 
the effort these EPs make to keep catalog listings up to date, to engage instructors, 
and to accommodate WGU students . The downside to this approach is that other 
institutions will likely see fewer enrollments directly from our matriculated stu
dents-though their visibility in our catalog may well bring them increased enroll
ments from those non-degree students who enroll in courses. 

• Ensuring the Availability of High-Quality Learning Resources: There are severa l 
issues here. First, we enroll students on a monthly basis , whereas most of our EP 
partners do not. Term-based online courses best fit the needs of our beginning 
students , and the peer communication aspects of these courses provide important 
learning community development . However, we often have no guarantee that a 
term-based course will be offered regularly and often find ourselves negotiating for 
these resources each semester . Students lose momentum when the desired course 
will not be offered for several months. The forecast function of the automated 
AAP (a development that will be discussed in Standard Seven) allows us to share 
projections of enrollment demand with our EPs and should alleviate some of the 
problem , but directing students to independent study under mentor or tutor guid
ance is currently our best strategy for handling this situation. 

Second , with some exceptions, most of our providers can only handle a limited num
ber of WGU students in any given semester. As our numbers increase, so does the 
need for more "seats " in classes , and / or more high quality providers . We do not yet 
know how elastic the system can be , but we know the pressure to obtain enough 
high quality courses at the right time and at the right price will only increase. 
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Finally, we know that securing a pledge that a provider will adhere to our quality 
standards for distance education, and mapping its courses to our competencies, is 
not enough to guarantee a strong learning experie nce for the student. Often EP 
course instructors are fairly removed from their institution's contract processes. It 
thus falls to our mentors to have direct conversations with the course instructor 
(usually , also the developer) about our students' particular needs, especially the 
performance task or capstone portfolio product that we want the course to 
address. This need , in turn, affects mentor workload-the more courses needed, 
the more conversations between mentor and instructor. It also drives mentor inter
est in preferred providers (more reliability, fewer conversations necessary) , and 
increases the pressure on securing enough class "seats" to handle ou r students. 

In sum, all of these issues will require continuing vigilance to ensure effective student 
service and progressive strengthening of our learning resource model. On the upside , 
however, it can also be fairly said that few other institutions-if any-have equally com
prehensive and consistent measures in place to ensure the quality and currency of their 
curricular offerings. 

Conclusion 
Throughout this portion of the Self-Study we have outlined how WGU meets Standard 
Five-that we have sufficient information and learning resources at the University and 
through contracts with other education providers to meet the needs of our academic 
programs and those of our students, mentors , and other WGU personnel. Access to 
technological resources demands more than just providing electrical connections; it 
includes security, initial training, and support as well. We examined the ways in which 
qualified WGU employees and those of its EPs provide learning resources to support 
WGU degree and certificate programs through education provider relations , library serv
ices , and faculty involvement in the identification , classification (mapping), and referral 
of students to these resources. Our EP Advisory Council assists the University in maxi
mizing the productivity of the partnerships that we have with collaborating institutions ; 
the EP Selection Committee helps forge new partnerships while enh ancing or discontin
uing relations with existing EPs; and the EP Operations Committee assists in streamlin
ing the procedures of EP activities on all fronts. Mapping has evo lved to rely heavily on 
preferred providers and recommended paths. Finally, the University has been experi
menting with more targeted models for learning resource provision as well as direct 
instruction , as approp riate. These include aligned courses, contract courses , WGU host
ed courses , and tutoring. Throughout this narrative we have sought to demonstrate the 
viability of WGU's learning resources while being reflective about the challenges faced , 
the lessons we have learned , and matters that still are in progress. 
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Standard Five 
Web Exhibits - Appendices - Room Exhibits 

Web Exhibits: 
WE 18: http :// www.wgu.edu / wgu / about/educators_institutions.html 
WE 19: http :// www.wgu.edu / ep_net/EPAgreement.pdf 
WE 20: http :// www.wgu.edu /e p_net/handbook_index.html 
WE 21: http: // www.unm.edu / -wguclr / oveiview .html 
WE 22: http :/ /www.wgu.edu /wgu / academics / faculty .html#epac 

Appendices: 
Appendix 6: WGU Council Members 

Participating Education Providers Appendix 11: 

Room Exhibits: 
RE 3: WGU Academic Policies 
RE 8: 
RE 16: 

RE 17: 
RE 18: 
RE 19: 
RE 20: 

Suiveys 
Mapped Courses , Independent Learning Resources , and Recommended 
Paths 
Education Without Boundries 
Mentor Handbook 
Education Provider Affiliation 
Evaluat ion of Online Course Form 
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Standard Six: Academic Leadership-Program Design, Instruction, and 
Quality Assurance 
7be institution has sufficient capacity through its own personnel and processes, and 
through its oversight of the personnel and processes of providers with whom the institution 
contracts, to fulfill its obligation for effective program design, instruction and quality 
assurance . 

6.1 1be academic leadership of the institution consists of an adequate number of 
qualified individuals primarily associated with the institution, and others suffi
ciently committed to the institution , to assure effective program design, instruction 
(or oversight of instruction if delivered by third parties), assessment, planning , 
quality assurance, and other responsibilities essential for the fulfillment of institu
tional mission and goals. 7bey possess academic and/or other qualifications 
appropriate for their assignments. 

6.2 7be institution has an orderly process for recruiting, appointing and regularly 
evaluating academic leadership; personnel policies and procedures are published 
and provided to all employees. Academic freedom is protected for all those person
nel involved with program development , instruction and research. 

6.3 7be institution clearly defines the role and scope of full-time , part-time and 
adjunct academic personnel in a manner compatible with the mission and goals 
of the institution ; where the delivery of instruction or other services is provided by 
third parties , the institution clearly defines the role nd scope of such person-
nel, including their participation in institutional processes. 

6.4 Consistent with institutional mission and goals, the institution supports scholarly 
activity and professional development among its academic leadership. 

6.1 Academic Leadership 
The President of the University is Robert W. Mendenhall. The chief academ ic officer is 
Provost and Academic Vice President , Dr. Douglas Johnstone. 

There are four other individuals who comprise Provost Johnstone 's Academic Managers 
group. They include Dr. Alec Testa , Director of Assessment and Institutional Research ; 
Dr. Daniel Eastmond , Director of Learning Resources ; Ms. Stacey Ludwig-Hardman , 
Director of Academic Services; and Dr. Marti Watson Garlett , Dean of WGU's Teachers 
College. Together , these five individuals meet once a month for the purpose of defining 
academic policies , resolving student issues of concern (suc h as advising and progress) , 
directing the work of the faculty , and ensuring consistent communicat ion with all of the 
university 's constituencies relative to its academic programs. More specifically, the Dean 
of the Teacher s College is respon sible for developing the programs of the Teacher s 
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College , for recruiting and supervising the work of its faculty, and for external relations 
with important organizations like state offices of education and school districts. The 
Director of Learning Resources is responsible for the quality of the learning resources in 
the University's online catalog, for the library , and for Education Provider recruitment 
and relations. The Director of Academic Services functions much like an assistant 
provost in coordinating the daily work of the faculty , monitoring and reporting on stu
dent academic progress , managing the registration functions of the University and its 
academic information systems, and adjudicating student complaints, grievances, and 
appeals . Finally, the Director of Assessment and Institutional Research is responsible for 
the quality of the University 's assessments , for research on their effectiveness and 
impact , and for research on the institution 's overall effectiveness. Minutes of each 
Academic Managers meeting are on file and available through Dr. Johnstone 's office. 

There is one additional academic leader who does not serve on the Provost's Academic 
Managers group but is integral to academic programs in the Teachers College. This is 
Dr. Tom Zane , who is currently in a category of his own at WGU. He is the Director of 
Assessment for WGU's Teachers College and, as such, reports to the Dean of the 
Teachers College . 

Vitae for these seven people are available with those of other academic staff members 
as Exhibit 12. Their names, titles , and highest academic degree , as well the institution 
from which it was earned , can also be found at 
htto:Uwww .wgu.edu/wgu/academics / faculty.html. Not only do these individuals have 
academic degrees relevant to their university assignment, they also possess relevant past 
work experience in the academic areas in which they lead. 

Council Leadership at WGU 
In addition to the academic leadership specified above , which is centered in full-time 
WGU academic administrators, eight academic councils provide policy guidance, quality 
oversight , and external validation of the University's programs. In establishing the coun
cil structure , WGU deliberately "unbundled " the classic , unified faculty role of curricu
lum developer (who defines the learning objectives), instructor (who teaches the course 
he or she has developed), and student evaluator (who assigns grades for the course 
taught). We have deliberately separated those functions in a system of checks and bal
ances designed to ensure the integrity of our competency-based approach to student 
learning. 

Program Councils here fill the role of "curriculum developers"-they establish the specific 
learning outcomes (the competencies) that students must master. An external network 
of Education Providers (colleges , universities , corporations, and training organizations) 
provides the instructors who teach the courses our students need to develop their com
petencies . The WGU Assessment Council determines which instruments will be used to 
measur e student mastery of the competencies , and our mentors concentrate on guiding 
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their students through the many stages of their degree programs. This unique model of 
checks and balances has worked well for us , and although the role of our mentors has 
expanded modestly into direct instruction (about which, see the discussion in Standard 
Five, and below), it will continue to be the core structure of the University. 

Each of WGU's councils is comprised of individuals nationally recognized as subject 
matter experts in their respective fields, and each council has substantial leadership 
responsibility for our academic operations. With two exceptions-the Assessment 
Council, whose full-time WGU liaison is the Director of Assessment and Institutional 
Research, and the Teachers College Program Council, whose full-time WGU liaison is 
the Dean of the Teachers College-each council also includes at least one full-time WGU 
mentor to ensure effective operational linkage between policy and practice. The exter
nal members of these councils serve the University on a contractual, part-time basis up 
to 20 days a year. The eight councils are: 

1. Assessment Council 
2. General Education Program Council 
3. Business Program Council 
4. Information Technology Program Council 
5. Education Program Council 
6. Teachers College Program Council 
7. Education Provider Advisory Council 
8. Coordinating CounciJ.7 

The names of the approximately 45 individuals who serve on these councils, as well as 
the positions they hold at other institutions and organizations throughout the United 
States, can be found in Appendix 11: Participating Education Providers (p. 291), or 
http:Uwww.wgu.edu /wgu /about/educators institutions.html. Their vitae are on file in 
Exhibit 13. 

The Program Councils of the University have governance authority for the structure and 
content of degree and certificate programs in their purview. The General Education 
Program Council has responsibility for the liberal and general education components of 
all undergraduate degrees. The Business and Information Technology Program Councils 
have responsibility for all associate and baccalaureate programs in their respective 
domains ; the Council for the Teachers College will have responsibility for programs it 
develops, and the Education Program Council has responsibility for the Master of Arts in 
Learning and Technology and any later programs that may be derived from it. 

The Council concept was part of the original design of the University and at the outset 
served a very practical purpose-at a time when WGU had no regular faculty of its own, 
the Councils enabled this new institution to design sound academic programs and the 

7 See also the discussion of WGU Councils in Standard Three . 
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policies necessary to implement them. Today, of course, WGU has its own full-time fac
ulty-its mentors-but the Councils continue to serve a broad array of critically important 
functions. Because their members bring a range of viewpoints to their work from both 
academic and professional practice, they help to ensure that WGU's programs are cur
rent in their requirements, relevant to employers in the field , and as rigorous as other 
"best practice" university programs. The Councils continue to provide advice to the 
Academic Managers regarding the development of academic policies affecting students; 
they establish the specific competency requirements for each of their programs; they 
assist as subject matter experts in developing test questions to measure the competen
cies, and they provide continuing quality assurance through periodic, formal reviews of 
program effectiveness. Finally, to help Council members experience first-hand the 
results of their work , and to close the circle between theory and practice , council mem
bers participate in student capstone committees and the oral defense of the capstone 
master's project. 

Like the Program Councils , the WGU Assessment Council was part of the original design 
structure of the University , and it was established for the same reasons. Lacking at that 
time an experienced assessment staff of its own and in need of superior external valida
tion of its approach to learning outcomes measurement , the University recruited a 
nationally eminent panel of assessment experts to oversee its work. Today the 
University employs four full-time professionals in its assessment operations-Dr . Alec 
Testa , Director of Assessment and Institutional Research for the University at large; Dr. 
Tom Zane, Director of Assessment for the Teachers College and an experienced psycho
metrician; Mr. Mike Abel, an experienced test developer ; and Ms. Peg Shurtleff, 
Assessment Coordinator. But again , like the Program Councils , the Assessment Council 
continues to fulfill a critical academic function for the University. It establishes the 
assessments for all WGU programs and approves both the process for their development 
and the instruments once developed. It periodically reviews the effectiveness of these 
instruments and directs their revision when appropriate . More broadly for the 
University , the Council provides external validation of the quality , reliability, and validity 
of WGU's approach to measuring student competence . It is a key determinant of the 
University 's credibility in the outside world. 8 

The Education Provider Advisory Council differs from those councils described above in 
having no specific degree program authority , but rather in having broad advisory 
responsibilities for the University 's use of courses and other learning resources provided 
by outside organizations. Its members are listed in Standard Three and its responsibili
ties are described in detail in Standard Five. 

Finally, the Coordinating Council serves as WGU's "academic senate. " It consists of one 
member from each of the above councils and has broad responsibility for ensuring the 

8 The res ponsibilitie s of this Coun cil are also desc ribed in Standard Three , and the assess ment process itself is 
desc ribed in detail in Standard 4.4, Educatio nal Program Assessme nt 
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ensuring the adequacy , appropriateness , consistency, and fairness of all academic poli
cies of the University. The Coordinating Council approves the development of all new 
degree proposals (before they go to the Board of Trustees) and approves all proposed 
changes in degree structure, requirements, or assessments. It establishes the schedule 
for all program reviews, and it accepts or directs further research or program change as 
a result of those reviews when submitted to it by the Program Councils. 

The system of academic oversight we have developed is highly unusual in American 
higher education , perhaps even unique. It is one of checks and balances, combined 
with an extraordinary range of expertise and external validation-distinct areas of respon
sibility linked to ensure effective communication and academic accountability. Program 
Councils work with academic administrators and mentors to develop degree structures 
and competencies; the Assessment Council establishes assessments and monitors their 
effectiveness; the Education Provider Advisory Council oversees the quality of the learn
ing resources students use to prepare for their assessments. Mentors guide students 
through the process and provide a reality check to Councils on their work. The 
Coordinating Council ensures the consistency and integrity of the whole . The system 
has served us well to date and will continue to do so for the foreseeable future. All 
councils meet regularly and minutes are kept of each meeting. These are on file, by 
council , in the provost 's office. Exhibit 26, "Views from the Councils " also contains 
observations from four Council members on their role within the WGU governance 
structure. 

6.2 Recruiting and Appointing Personnel 
Issues related to human resources reside with Jeanne Glaittli, Director of Finance and 
Human Resources for the University. When it is time to advertise for a position within 
the University , Provost Johnstone coordinates with Ms. Glaittli to ensure broad but tar
geted dissemination of position announcements. If there is no qualified candidate from 
among current employees, announcements are placed in such venues as 1be Chronicle 
of Higher Education , Web sites such as hireed.com and , if pertinent , specific trade or 
professional journals and local newspapers. For example, the position announcement 
for Program Coordinator and Mentor in Mathematics Education that Dr. Philip Schmidt 
eventually filled was distributed through the National Council of Teachers of 
Mathematics as well as The Chronicle of Higher Education and other always-used path
ways. 

When Provost Johnstone receives a resume from Ms. Glaittli that is relevant to an aca
demic search already underway, he reviews it and , if promising, distributes it to the 
Academic Managers for their collective review. If it is pertinent to a particular program 
for which a Program Coordinator has already been hired , that Program Coordinator also 
is sent the resume. With positive response from this group, Provost Johnstone then 
either personally conducts a telephone interview with the candidate or designates some
one else in academic leadership to conduct it. If references have not been included 
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with the resume, a list of references is requested during the telephone interview. If the 
telephone interview is a positive one , Provost Johnstone then calls the references per
sonally and / or divides the list with others on the academic leadership team. Finally, if 
the references check out positively, the candidate is invited to Salt Lake City to interview 
with the President, the Provost, other academic managers, faculty mentors , Jeanne 
Glaittli, and possible others. 

Employment at WGU 
Once a job offer has been made and accepted, Jeanne Glaittli personally meets with 
every new employee and distributes benefits information and the Western Governors 
University Employee Handbook (effective as of May 22, 1998, with two subsequent 
modifications, one on December 15, 1999, and one on June 30, 2000). Computer and 
other office needs are hand led at this point as well. 

Each new employee signs an acknowledgment of receipt of the Employee Handbook 
(Exhibit 4). In doing so, each employee agrees to the disclaimer written as follows: 

This handbook is provided to Western Governors University employees to help 
them become acquainted with the Company. This handbook contains no promis
es or guarantees of any kind by the Company regarding employment. Nothing in 
this handbook may be construed as creating a contract of employment, or as a 
guarantee of employment for any duration. Employment with the Western 
Governors University may be terminated at the will of either the employee or the 
Company at any time, with or without cause, and with or without notice. 

Consistent with this policy, each new employee signs an "Acknowledgment of 'At-Will' 
Employment " form . There are no academic contracts issued to leaders at WGU as there 
sometimes are for academic leaders in traditional higher education and almost always 
are for faculty in traditional academe . This is very intentional. WGU aspires to be a 
new kind of higher educational institution , one that can respond quickly to the needs of 
its 19 states and their respective constituent groups, able both to develop new programs 
quickly within its chosen areas of focus and to restructure or terminate those that 
become stale or outdated . 

Evaluation of Personnel 
Evaluations of all WGU personnel are done on an annual basis . The Employee 
Handbook states: 

WGU will evaluate employee performance on a regular basis , usually once a year. 
These evaluations will be administered in order to assess job performance , aid in 
the determination of merit pay, assess the employee 's relationship with other 
employ ees and supervisors, as well as employee conduct, performance highlights , 
and goals for improvement. The performance evaluations shall be available to the 

W<STERN GOVCRNORS UN>~ 

I 129 



employee for review upon completion, and shall be kept on record in the employ
ee's personnel file. 

The Board of Trustees evaluates President Mendenhall. The President evaluates Provost 
Johnstone; the Provost evaluates Dean Garlett. With the exception of WGU's mentors, 
all other employees are evaluated by their direct supervisor, with the results copied to 
the employee and to the employee's official personnel file, located in the office of the 
Director of Finance and Human Resources. 

To date , Provost Johnstone has conducted all mentor evaluations. The process involves 
soliciting comments from faculty and administrative colleagues , and a five- to eight-page 
self-evaluation addressing the four principal areas of mentor responsibility-advisement , 
resource development, university service, and professional development. Beginning in 
the fall of 2002, the mentor evaluation system will also involve more structured peer 
input as well as student input. The system was developed over the past 18 months at 
the Provost 's direction as a collaborative effort between the mentors and the academic 
management team. With these additional inputs, Provost Johnstone will continue to 
evaluate mentors reporting directly to him; Dean Garlett will evaluate those mentors 
assigned to the Teachers College. 

Academic Freedom at WGU 
The Employee Handbook states the following about academic freedom and its attendant 
responsibilities: 

Academic freedom is a critical and essential component of Western Governors 
University. Academic freedom encourages the unfettered inquiry, debate, teaching, 
and learning that characterize an active community of scholars and students. 
Academic freedom applies to all the faculty roles at WGU including but not limited 
to development of programs , curriculum , and assessments; advising/mentoring stu
dents ; evaluating and approving instructional providers; conducting and publishing 
research; evaluating , approving , and awarding degrees to students ; and providing 
public service. 

Because the search for truth and its dissemination is central to the university, the 
WGU Board and administration protect , defend , and promote academic freedom. 
Faculty members encourage the free pursuit of knowledge by other faculty and 
WGU students and protect the academic freedom of all those engaged in the aca
demic enterprise. WGU supports the free expression of ideas and protects diverse 
opinions of both faculty and students. 

When faculty speak or write as citizens , they are free from institutional censorship 
or discipline . However , their position in the community of learners imposes 
unique obligations because the public may judge their role as a faculty member , 
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and WGU, by those words. Hence, WGU faculty are expected to be accurate, 
exercise appropriate restraint, demonstrate respect for the opinions of others, and 
indicate when they are speaking on behalf of or in conjunction with WGU. 

6.3 Roles of Academic Personnel 
With the approval of the President and under the direction of the Provost, we employ 
mentors and council members who support the mission and goals of the University. 
Both categories-mentors and council members-constitute faculty appointments at WGU. 
It should be clear from the commentary above (6.1, Academic Leadership) that the 
councils at WGU play critically important and well-defined roles in our academic struc
ture, and no more need be said about them here. The roles of mentors, however, war
rant further elaboration. 

Mentor Faculty 
WGU mentors serve as the critical link between students and the educational resources 
needed to develop the competencies measured by assessment. Students come to rely 
on their mentors for high quality, comprehensive advisement and frequently turn to 
their mentors for clarification of concepts encountered through coursework, personal 
tutoring and direct instruction. The mentor job description has evolved over time to 
recognize not only the mentors ' role in guidance and student-centered planning but also 
their involvement in individual tutoring and even , in some areas, direct instruction. 

The mentor provides academic advisement and assists students in their educational plan
ning and progress from initial enrollment to graduation. She or he evaluates students' 
learning styles , assists in the development of an Academic Action Plan, identifies appro
priate learning resources , and facilitates student use of those resources. The mentor acts 
as the student's advocate in resolving matters of academic difficulty, misunderstanding 
or confusion. 

Though still minimal by traditional standards , WGU mentors also provide tutoring and 
direct instruction to students. Originally envisioned as purely an advisory position , 
mentor responsibilities have evolved over time in response to University objectives and 
in order to better respond to the needs of WGU students. Because a bond often devel
ops between student and mentor, it is not uncommon for WGU students to pose ques
tions concerning coursework to their mentors rather than seek answers from the course 
instructor. Similarly, students look to mentors for personalized tutoring in subjects they 
find difficult and in portfolio projects and capstone studies that mentors guide. To 
address student demand for instructional services , mentors identify , create and supply 
learning resources to their students. 

The "Education Without Boundaries " course illustrates the kind of direct instructional 
role a mentor might take on. This required, online , introductory course was designed 
by a group of mentors , one of whom now serves as its overall coordinator, after work-
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ing with students who had struggled to make progress early in their academic programs. 
As described in detail in Standard Five, the course introduces new students to the 
University and offers an overview of what they can expect to encounter as they begin 
work on their academic programs . It couples reading and performance assignments 
with student-to-student and student-to-mentor communication, thereby fostering a sense 
of community among new students. While this course implies no change in our basic 
model of providing instruction through our network of Education Provider s , it indicates 
the kind of circumstance where we are now willing to provide instruction ourselves-in 
resp onse to a unique student need , and where no other course is available to meet that 
need . 

The complete range of mentor respon sibilities includes student advisement and supervi
sion , resource deve lopment , University service , and professional developm ent. As the 
University grows, mentor roles may diversify and individual responsibilitie s will vary. 

The mentor has an important responsibility for locating and/ or developing appropriate 
learn ing resources for students to use . Such resource development encompasses a 
range of possibilities, including locating high quality online courseware , locatin g and / or 
deve lop ing independent study materials, evaluating courses and other learning resources 
for WGU's online course catalog, and reporting on the success of students who use 
resou rces that have been identified . 

The mentor shares responsibility for promoting and operating the University through 
committee work, outreach and other assignments appropriate to his or her background, 
expert ise and inter ests. Mentors serve as Program Council Chairs , participat e on search 
and project committees and assist with student recruitment and other promotional activities. 
Each mentor has an important respo nsibility for continuing profe ssional growth. 
Development of new learning resources for studen ts, research on various aspec ts of 
WGU's operatio n , earning a higher graduate degree (in the case of mentors currently 
limited to working with associate 's degree stud ents) , conference papers and presenta
tions , and formal publications are exam ples that suggest the range of potentially impor
tant activities that could improve both the professionalism of mentor s and the rep utation 
of the University. 

Individual mento r responsibiliti es vary widely based on University and student needs 
and the percentage of time devoted to eac h activity is by no means homoge nous. For 
examp le, a full-time mentor in the master's degree program may dev ote up to 80 per
cent of his or her time to academic adviseme nt and instruction , while the administrative 
duties of the program's coordinator may reduce his direct mentorin g respo nsibilities to 
60 to 70 percent of his time. Mentor responsibilities will likewise shift ove r time to 
incorporate changes in program availab ility, student demand, resour ce availability and 
the academ ic needs of the University. As an example of "A Week in the Life of a 
Mentor ", see Exhibit 21. The "Mentor and Program Coordinator Job Descripti ons" are 

132

1 WESTERN GOVERNORS UNO VERS OTY 



available as Appendix 2 (p. 191) of this Self-Study. 

As of this writing, WGU employs nine mentors, all of whom serve in a full-time capaci
ty. Two mentors, Dr. Melissa Hayden and Dr. Phil Schmidt are currently charged with 
program development and are not yet working with students. As is the case with newly 
appointed faculty, Dr. Hayden and Dr. Schmidt will have few students in the near term 
as their academic programs are developed further, an illustration of the diversity in men
tor responsibilities indicated above. For several months in 2001, Dr. Sydney Parent 
served as a part-time mentor but became a full-time mentor in January 2002. As circum
stances dictate , WGU may employ more mentors in a part-time capacity. The vitae of 
WGU mentors are included with other "Vitae of WGU Personnel " in Exhibit 12 of this 
study. 

6.4 Scholarly Activity 
WGU supports scholarly activity, academic freedom, and professional development 
among its academic personnel. While responsibilities vary widely and weigh heavily on 
the side of student service , mentors are encouraged to devote significant attention both 
to their own professional development and to resource development, which often sup
ports mentors' own scholarly interests as well as the learning needs of their students. 
Support for scholarly activity will continue to be a University priority. 

Professional development may occur and be demonstrated in a variety of ways appro
priate to individual interests. Academic personnel pursue professional growth when 
developing new learning resources for students , researching various aspects of WGU's 
operation , delivering conference presentations, publishing their work in formal publica
tions or, as may be the case with associate-level mentors, earning a new graduate 
degree. 
Mentors and academic administrators currently have access to $500 a year for personal 
investment in books , journals , software and other professional resources, as well as 
University support for attendance at up to two professional conferences annually. WGU 
intends to continue to fund professional development at current levels. University sup
port for the scholarly activities of its academic personnel in 2001-2002 produced the list 
of professional accomplishments in Exhibit 22 of this Self-Study. 

Continuing Challenges 
Perhaps our biggest ongoing challenge in this area relates to scalability-in other words, 
to ensuring that the support infrastructure (i.e., requisite number of mentors and other 
student services) keeps pace with student enrollments. Determining exactly when the 
student numbers will exceed the pool of mentors and other support staff already in 
place is anything but an exact science. It is our practice to "front load" faculty posi
tions , so that mentors are on board when students arrive to need their help, but this 
"just in time" academic practice requires delicate balancing of resources and expenses. 
Hire too soon , and the financial resources may not be there to support the expense . 
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Hire too late, and stude nts suffer. This dilemma is exacerbated by the tension between 
our admission cycle (bringing new students in monthly), and the normal seasons of fac
ulty availability (whic h follow the cycle of the academic year). And since it also takes 
on average nearly four months to move from first inquiry to the start -dat e for a new 
mentor , personnel management in this sma ll but growing institution is not likely to get 
much easie r any time soon . Fortunately , to date we have been extraordinarily success
ful in our mentor appointments, partly because we keep an open file of active candi
dates so that we have a pool to canvass when there is a new opening, and part ly 
because , thus far, many potential faculty attracted to WGU are not in conventional 
employment positions and are often more mobile as a result. When we move into 
teacher licensure , however , we expect to be drawing more heavily from traditional fac
ulty pools, so the challenges of timing in our appointments will likely remain significant. 

Another feature of the scalability challenge is managing staff and faculty who live away 
from the main headquarters in Salt Lake City. On one hand, the ability to emp loy from 
across the country people who bring with them a variety of perspectives-experiential, 
cultural, and political-is an essentia l plus for a university like WGU that seeks to serve 
constituents across diverse state boundaries and geographic regions. On the other 
hand , this very strength also creates a management problem , particularly where commu 
nication is concerned . If communication breaks down , a break in faculty and staff 
morale is sure to follow. The larger the university grows, the more significant this prob
lem can become . Thus, internal communication remains an area requiring continua l 
and focused attention from all managers throughout the university. 

Standard Six 
Web Exhibits - App endices - Room Exhibits 

Web Exhibits: 
WE 23: http :// www.wgu .edu /wgu / academics / faculty.html . 
WE 24: http :// www.wgu .edu / wgu / about/educators_institutions.html 

Appendices: 
Appendix 2: 
Appendix 11: 

Room Exhibits: 

Mentor and Program Coordinator Job Descriptions 
Participating Education Provid ers 

RE 4: Employee Handbook 
RE 12: WGU Staff Vitae 
RE 13: Council Vitae 
RE 21: A Week in the Life of a Mentor 
RE 22: Scholarly Activity 
RE 26: Views from the Councils 
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Stan dard Seven: Students 
Ibe institution recruits and admits students appropriate to its programs. Tbe institution 
identifies the learning needs of its student population and provides services and programs 
for meeting them in a supportive learning environment. 

7.1 Tbe institution publishes admissions policies that are consistent with its mission 
and uses admission practices that are consistent with those policies . Prospective 
and enrolled students are provided current and accurate information about grad
uation requirements, social, academic and refund policies , and grievance proce
dures. 

7.2 Where student services are provided by third parties the institution defines the 
scope, role and responsibilities of such third parties . 

7.3 Tbe institution periodically and systematically evaluates the effectiveness of stu
dent services and uses the results to improve. 

7.4 Tbe institution assures that any intercollegiate, intramural, and recreational pro
grams are consistent with and supportive of the institution '.5 mission and goals . 

7.5 Tbe institution maintains student records in a secure, permanent and confiden
tial manner with provision for secure backup of all files , regardless of the form in 
which those files are maintained. 

Most typically , successful students in purely distan ce learning programs are older , 
career-focused, working adults. That profile fits WGU students. We design our pro
grams and services to meet the needs of such students, and in recruiting students to 
them we do all we can to clarify the nature of the program, its demands and rewards , 
and the kinds of students for whom the programs are most suitable. Younger students 
will not be denied admission if they make an informed choice to enroll (our youngest 
degree candidate is 20), but the very nature of competency-based education is such that 
a younger student who has not had time to develop significant expertise, or the self-dis
cipline to study in considerable isolation , or perhaps even to settle on a career path, will 
find WGU program s longer and more demanding than those programs in a more tradi
tional classroom setting. It follow s that our typical degree student is 40 years old , 
works full time , lives in the United States or Canada, is in a situation in which his or her 
experience has outpaced his or her educational credentials , and has limited or no access 
to more tradition al forms of university education . We have also learned that our stu
dent s like individualized Academic Action Plans and programs that recognize the skills 
and knowledge they have gained from work and educationa l experiences. They like to 
work at their own pace , and they like flexibility in choosing their learning resources. 
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7.1 Admissions Policies 
In keeping with its mission to expand access to post-secondary education , WGU 
adheres to an open admission policy. We do not discriminate on the basis of race , 
color, national origin, sex, religion, disability, sexual orientation, or Vietnam-era veteran 
status. Students whose primary language is not English are required to have a TOEFL 
score of at least 550. All students must be willing to travel to secure testing centers for 
the delivery of our assessments. The assessment team works with the student to identify 
a testing center as close to the student's home or work as possible. 

Students applying to an undergraduate WGU degree program must be at least 16 years 
old and possess a high school diploma or its equivalent. Students who do not meet 
these standa rds may en ter a certificate program by meeting the national standards for 
"Ability to Benefit" (ATB) on an approved assessment. Upon successfu l comp letion of 
the certificate, the student may be accepted into the related associate's degree program. 

Students app lying to the graduate program must possess a baccalaureate degree and 
provide transcripts of such from an accredited institution. Candidates for admission to 
graduate programs may be admitted provisionally and beg in their stud ies before WGU 
has official confirmat ion of completion of the baccalaureate degree. It is the student 's 
obligation to request an official transcript from the institution that awarded the baccalau
reate degree immediately upon app lying to WGU. The Admissions Coord inator must 
receive the official transcript before the date on which the student is required to submit 
the second tuition payment for his program. If the Admissions Coordinator does not 
receive the transcript by that date , the student will be withdrawn from the graduate pro
gram until the transcript is received. 

We recognize that our unique competency-based mode l coupled with distance delivered 
content and services may not be the bes t fit for all students. Therefore , all students are 
required to comp lete an admissions interview with the Enrollment Manager or 
Enrollment Counselor to discuss the WGU program prior to enrollme nt in the introduc
tory course, "Education Without Boundaries ". Students are also required to comp lete an 
online quest ionnaire that asks them to reflect on their dec ision to attend WGU and gives 
the student services staff and mentors a tool to gauge the student 's understanding of the 
University. 

Since we received cand idacy in the Fall of 2000, we have made severa l improvements to 
the admissions process, including: (a) revision of all printed materials and information 
on the Web site to more clearly communicate program requirements, (b) deve lopment 
of online skills surveys for students to determine the technologica l proficiency they are 
bringing to the program, and (c) development of the introductory course, Education 
Without Boundaries , to complete the matricu lation process. Prior to these modifications, 
the matriculation process could take up to several months. Now it is comp lete by the 
time the student finishes the four-week introductory course. 
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We have also streamlined one other feature of the admission process that had been an 
obstacle for students- the use of pre-assessments. We previously used commercial 
instruments to help determine the level of subject matter skills students possessed at the 
outset of their programs , and the process frequently stalled over the need to identify 
secure testing centers located near the student 's home or business . As one might guess , 
the problem was an especially big hurdle for international students. Now, however , we 
are using instruments we developed ourselves for this purpose, and students can access 
them in their own homes or at work through the Internet. We are using these instru
ments as part of all associate 's and master 's degree admissions; mentors in the bache
lor's programs use similar instruments , but use them post-admission as part of degree 
program planning. The development of these tools has not only accelerated the admis
sions process, it also gives us more time to locate a suitable secure assessment site for 
the student to use when it is time to take formal degree assessments. 

Admissions Intake Process 
An admissions staff member conducts an intake interview with all new students as part 
of the admissions process to be sure they understand the program they are about to 
enter. From 1999 to early 2001, the interview was completed after the student was for
mally accepted. Students also completed a questionnaire that was derived from the 
competency statements in the student 's program, thus allowing them to self-assess their 
initial knowledge and skills, and they completed a pre-assessment before being assigned 
to a mentor. This seemed a logical process, since the mentor would have all of the 
information before speaking with the student to develop the academic action plan 
(AAP). However, based on feedback we gained from our student surveys we found that 
students really wanted to connect with their mentors earlier in the process. 

Consequently, we changed our intake process in Spring 2001 so that mentors contacted 
students immediately after they were admitted. This contact often occurred before the 
intake interview or the questionnaire and pre-assessment were completed. The change 
solved one set of problems but created others; mentors found that since they were 
speaking with students so early in the process they were often trying to answer ques
tions relating to financial aid and tuition policies. They were uncomfortable trying to 
answer these questions, so once again we decided to move the mentor 's first contact 
back to after the intake interview. 

Our current process is this: The Admissions Coordinator reviews all admission applica
tions. She asks for assistance in reviewing applicants ·to the bachelor's programs , since 
the Program Coordinator and the Director of Assessment and Institutional Research need 
to review those students' transcripts to establish program "fit" and advanced standing . 
Once admitted, the mentor sends an email welcoming the student to WGU while at the 
same time the student is completing the intake interview , pre-assessment, and question
naire. We have also Web-enabled the questionnaire and pre-assessments so that stu
dents can complete and submit the items from their home computer. Mentors formally 
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begin working with students after they have completely finished the intake process and 
the mentors have the questionnaire and pre-assessment results to help the student 
develop the AAP. At this time the process seems to be working quite well; it provides 
another small example of how mentor and student feedback have enabled us to 
improve our student services. 

With regard to current and accurate policy information , the WGU Web site is the source 
document and "bible" for all of our public information. All printed literature about the 
University's programs (brochures, flyers, and the like) is taken from the Web site. The 
Web site itself has been designed to ensure that current and accurate information can be 
easily accessed with a minimal number of clicks from the WGU home page at 
http:ljwww.wgu .edu/. Prospective and enrolled students are directed to the Web site to 
gain up-to-date information about their programs, institutional policies, and learning 
opportunities. Each degree has its own Web page , which outlines the spec ific assess
ment requirements for each domain in both HTML and printer-friendly PDF format. The 
online Student Handbook , which can be found under the "Academic " link on the WGU 
Web site at http://www.wgu.edu /wgu/academics/student info.html , continues to provide 
prospective and current students with the following information (if the information is 
also availab le elsewhe re on the WGU Web site, we have included the additiona l loca
tion in parentheses): 

• History , mission , and vision of WGU (http://www.wg u.edu/wgu/about/vision his
tmy.html) 

• Overview of the WGU online cata log 
(http://www.wgu.edu/wgu/smartcata log/index .html) 

• Class enrollment procedures and refund policies (which can also be accessed on 
the course enrollment screen for individual courses) 

• Academic and fiscal policies 
• Graduation requirements 
• Financial Aid (http://www.wgu.edu /wgu /union /a id.html) 
• Grade reports and transcripts 
• Tuition and refund policies (http:ljwww.wgu.edu/wgu/admission/tuition.html) 
• Withdrawal policies 
• Admissions procedures and policies 
• Satisfactory academic progress 
• The role of the mentor and the Academic Action Plan 
• Student interaction in learning communities 
• Disabled student resources 
• Code of conduct and academic misconduct policies 
• Grievance procedures 
• Assessment requirements and scheduling 
• WGU privacy policy and use of student information (http://www .wgu.edu/wgu/pri

vacy.html) 
• Accreditation (http://www.wgu.edu /wgu/academics / accreditation.html) 
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• Contact information for help with academic issues (hnp://www .wgu.edu /wgu/con
tact.htmD 

• Staff information including email addresses and telephone 
(hno ://www.wgu.edu/wgu/about/staff directory.html) 

When modifications are made to degree programs , assessment guidelines , policies , or 
procedures , the Marketing, Enrollment , and Academic Services departments work with 
the Web Information Manager to update information contained in the Student 
Handbook and the Web site . Although other electronic and printed materials typically 
contain only genera l information , printed materials are also reviewed for accuracy when 
modifications are made to policy and procedures and any necessary changes are made 
accordingly. These materials direct current and prospective students to the Web site as 
a source for more detailed information. 

7.2 Student Services 
Based on our students ' demographics and needs , and in support of our mission to 
"expand access to postsecondary educational opportunities by providing a means for 
individuals to learn independent of time and place , " we have designed the following 
student-centered support services: (a) admission to programs each month supported by 
enrollment counselors , (b) mentors, (c) assessment scheduling and delivery, (d) library 
services, (e) bursar services that allow stude nts to pay online, (f) federal financial aid, 
(g) online catalog with hundreds of courses, (h) Web portal to view student records and 
access communication tools , (i) tutor network, (j) access to online learning communi
ties , (k) mandatory student introductory course , (l) online career advising center , and 
Cm) online bookstore. We provide access to all student support services via the Internet 
allowing students to accomplish most of their activities , such as paying tuition, enrolling 
in courses, viewing their stude nt record , accessing the library, completing financial aid 
applications , and communicating with their mentor and peers, via their individualized 
Web portal called MY.WGU (WGU's name for its Campus Pipeline portal}. Our students 
are usually juggling work , family, and academic responsibilities, so we try to meet their 
needs by providing support via the Internet for any time, any place access , as well as 
through a student services center with toll-free telephone access Monday-Friday, 8am -
5pm , MT. Due to the online availability of services , our students have not expressed a 
need for 24x7 telephone support at this time. Nearly all of our student support services 
are maintained by WGU with the exception of our library services and bookstore , which 
we outsource to third parties . 

We contract with the Univers ity of New Mexico Central Library to provide library 
resources for our students. Our WGU Librarian , Barbara Rosen , is on-site at the 
University of New Mexico Central Library and she , with the help of a small technical 
team , fulfills the responsibilities of our library contract by: 

• Creating and maintaining a Web page with links to resources , services , instruction 
guides , and other online library catalogs . 
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• Providing reference services, document delivery, interlibrary loan and technic al 
assistance to students. 

• Providing assistance on how to use the electronic library resources and services 
through online instruction guides , a WGU Library Listserv, and a help desk for 
technical assistance. 

• Acquiring (through negotiation and collaboration with the NMCAULEIAN 
Consortium) licensing for electronic library resources offering full text and citation 
databases with copyright permission to search , download, or print out records 
from the databases included in the electronic library license. 

• Providing access to an Internet Service Provider, disk allocations for nternet serv
ice accounts , and an email account for each WGU registered student (as needed) 
through UNM for access to the Central Library. 

We currently have a small team working with the UNM staff to update the WGU library 
Web site so that it is more intuitive to navigate, particularly for novice users. Based on 
library statistics , we have made efforts to increase library usage by including the library 
in the new online introductory course, changing the undergraduate research paper task 
so that it requires the students to access at least two resources form the WGU library, 
posting several documents on electronic reserve for graduate students to use in prepar 
ing for their assessments, and as of April 1, 2002, charging all students a modest fee 
each term as an ongoing incentive to use library services. As noted in the table below, 
our current library statistics show an increase in usage between May 2001 and May 
2002. There has also been an increase in the number of library document searches per
formed, the number of documents ordered , and the number of student reference 
requests since December 2001, which is when we started including the library in the 
introductory course and requiring undergraduate students to utilize its resources for 
research papers. 

Monthly Comparison 

Library Statistics Candidacy 
Nov. 2000 May 2001 December 2001 May 2002 

Number of Searches 39 70 

Number of Documents 
Ordered 18 53 

Number of Student 
Reference Reque sts 2 7 

12-Month Comparison 
Library Statistics 

Number of Searches 

Number of Documents Ordered 
Number of Student 
Reference Requests 
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June 00 - May 01 

493 

207 

49 

53 396 

94 186 

11 38 

June 01 - May 2002 

1628 

714 
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We also outsource our bookstore services to Barnes&Noble.com. We have an affiliate 
agreement with EN.com, and we have placed a virtual book storefront on our site at 
http://www .wgu.edu/wgu/bookstore .html that links students to it. WGU receives a 5 
percent commission on any items purchased by our students at EN.com , and we cur
rently average about 100 referrals per month. The EN.com affiliation has worked well 
for us because we do not have to order , stock , and ship textbooks to students and we 
have rarely had instances where a student 's text request has been unfulfilled or out-of
stock. Our students are not limited to using the EN.com link for textbook purchases so 
they are able to compare prices and shipping options with other online bookstores . 

7.3 Evaluation and Improvement 
WGU periodically and systematically evaluates the effectiveness of student services and 
we use the evaluation for continuous improvement. Student feedback on support serv
ices is gathered in several ways: 

Surveys 
To gather feedback more efficiently , the Director of Assessment and Institutional 
Research has created online surveys that are both easy to use and confidential , so that 
students can feel more comfortable in responding. In the past , the surveys were sent 
via email, either embedded in the email or attached as a document. Sometimes students 
had technical difficulty responding and they were often concerned about confidentiality, 
since their email addresses were evident in their response. The following surveys are 
administered to students online (all survey instruments and complete responses are 
available as Exhibit 7) : 

1. The "New Student Experience Survey " is administered at the completion of the 
introductory course to gather information regarding the Web site , admission 
process , course evaluation , online library, and feedback regarding ways in which 
WGU can help support and sustain learning communities that are initiated during 
the orientation course . This survey was administered to students during the Spring 
of 2002 and we received the following feedback: 

• Admissions 
, 91 percent of the students found the initial interview helpful 
• 96 percent responded that the application was easy to use 
, 90 percent of the students were able to receive , complete and return the 

questionnaire easily 
• "Education Without Boundaries " Course Evaluation 

• 98 percent felt the course was well organized and sequenced 
• 74 percent of the students rated the course "good" or "superior " 
• 53 per cent responded that the course encouraged them to stick with the pro

gram and not drop out. This response is difficult for us to interpret because 
we don 't know what percentage of the students would drop out of the pro
gram even if there were not an "Education Without Boundaries" course . It is 
also a difficult question for students to answer so early in their programs and 
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should probably be asked during the exit interview or program review. 
• Library 

• 91 percent of the students used the library 
• 98 percent would use it again 
• 97 percent found the library staff to be helpful 

• Learning Community . We have approached the introductory course as an 
opportunity to introduce students to the skills necessary to participate success
fully in learning communitiesthroughout their programs . Based on our review 
of the literature, we have found that several factors tend to contribute to the 
development of learning communities. For instance , some factors that tend to 
contribute to the students ' sense of community include (a) a sense of belonging 
or group identity , (b) shared goals, (c) safe and supportive conditions , (d) col
laboration, (e) progressive discourse, (t) knowledge building, and (g) diversity 
of information and ideas. Related to these benchmarks: 
• 96 percent responded they felt encouraged to express their own ideas 
• 100 percent responded that the course provided a safe, positive , and affirm

ing environment. 
• 88 percent responded that the course provided for the free flow of diverse 

ideas. 
• 39 percent responded that a group identity was established (a positive out

come, we believe , since the course lasts only four weeks). 
• 76 percent responded that they had the opportunity to share information 

about themselves. 
, 69 percent responded that sharing mutual interests helped to find others 

with whom to interact. 
2. The Learning Opportunity Survey is administered to students who have completed 

a course to ensure quality of services and instruction provided by WGU's educa
tion provid ers. We administered this survey in Spring 2002 and the results were 
genera lly favorable, but we received too few results to make any specific interpre
tations of the data. 

3. The Satisfaction with Assessments Survey is administered to students to gain feed
back on the assessment scheduling and delivery process. We gained the following 
feedback from our Spring 2002 survey: 
• Almost half (45 percent) needed to contact the WGU assessment team for clarifi-

cation and 100 perc ent of the que stions were resolved. 
• 87 percent of the students responded that assessment times were convenient. 
• 94 percent responded that the assessment environment was supportive. 
• 100 percent responded that the assessment center staff was competent. 
• 88 perc ent found materials accur ately prepared and ready. Although still lower 

than we would like, this figure continues to improve as we gain more control 
over elements of the assess ment process, such as development and use of our 
own assessments and greater use of the Internet to deliver them. At this point 
we still occas ionally find assessment sites unprepared to assist our students , or 
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that the materials haven't arrived as scheduled . These incidents are diminishing 
but probably account for the 88 percent satisfaction rating on this issue . 

• Most students prepared for their assessments through independent study . 
4. The Program Survey is administered to students to elicit feedback on satisfaction 

with their mentor and the overa ll quality of their experience in their degree pro
grams. Our Spring 2002 survey yielded the following results: 
• 100 percent of students resp onding "agree" or "strongly agree " that: 

• Their mentor seems to care about them and their program 
• Mentors are knowledgeable about WGU and their program of study 
• Mentors seem interested in helping them ach ieve their educational goals 
• They are satisfied with their experience with their mentor 
• About half of students indicate mentor support is needed for tutoring, moti-

vation, and support . 
• 65 percent report con tact with the mentor two or more times a month. 
• There are no areas of concern apparent in the results. 
• Areas most important to stude nts : 

l. Flexibility of time 
2. Mentors 
3. Flexibility of place 
4. Online learning 
5. Use of Independent Learning Resources 
6. Competence through portfolios 

• Areas where students are most satisfied: 
l. Flexibility of time 
2. Mentors 
3. Flexibility of place 
4. Use of Independent Learning Resources 
5. Onl ine learning 

• Performance gaps (largest difference between students ' importance rating 
and satisfaction): 

l. Recognition of prior learning by a competency-based model. 
2. Online courses delivered by our Educational Providers. 
3. Demonstrating competencies through portfolio items. 

These performance gaps concern but do not surprise us. Test anxiety is real, 
especially among adult students , and we will never entirely eliminate it. At 
the same time , these findings confirm our need to alleviate as much of it as 
we can through mentor support and encouragement , by work ing on students' 
se lf-confidence and coping skills from the very beginning of their enrollment , 
and by continuing to refine the assessments themselves , as we have done 
through the program review process. Similarly, our students ' satisfaction with 
their courses concerns us , because our education providers are a basic ele
ment in our model. We suspect that some of this concern is a legacy from 
WGU's early days, when we were not nearly so competent ourselves at align-
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ing provider courses with our competencies. Some may arise as well from 
the fact that students do not always need a full course to prepare for an 
assessment , so for them some portion of a course may seem a waste of time. 
We address in Standard Five the measures we are taking to improve our 
course resources, but the findings in this survey confirm the importance of 
those efforts. 

5. The Program Withdrawal Suroey is administered to students with drawing from 
WGU's programs in order to gather information about their reasons for withdrawal. 
To date, we have received relatively few responses to this survey , but the results 
tend to indicate that students withdraw from WGU for financial issues, time man
agement issues, health and personal issues, or because they miss the face-to-face 
environment of traditional campuses. 

The Exit Interview: The Director of Academic Services initiates an exit telephone inter
view with all withdrawing students. While it is not always possible to reach the student 
by phone , these interviews gather valuable data relating to program quality and satisfac
tion with our support and academic services. 

Mentor contact: Mentors contact their students at least every two weeks. Typically, it is 
through these communications that WGU receives the greatest amount of student feed
back. The mentors relay the results to the appropriate department for follow-up 
as needed. 

Library statistics: WGU reviews library use statistics at least every quarter. (See the 
example above.) 

Data obtained from these efforts have enabled us to make changes in student services, 
processes , and procedures. For example , we developed and implemented the student 
introductory course , "Education Without Boundaries ", due largely to feedback received 
from the "Student Withdrawal Survey", exit interviews , and mentor feedback. The 
course was also developed as a strategy to increase student retention. During the last 
quarter of 2000 and first quarter of 2001, the WGU management team became con
cerned about what seemed to be an increase in student withdrawals from our degree 
programs. Accordingly , President Mendenhall asked the Director of Academic Services 
to contact all students who had dropped from our programs to identify the main rea
sons for their attrition. Generally , the students cited at least one of the following four 
reasons for leaving WGU: 

1. Financial issues 
2. Time management issues 
3. Family or personal health issues 
4. Feeling of isolation - they missed interacting with their peers 

Although we recognized that we could do little to aid students with family or personal 
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health issues , we felt we could be more helpful in other areas. Since we are able to 
offer federal financial aid to needy students, we decided to place a link for financial aid 
directly on the home page of the WGU public Web site to draw students' attention to 
the availability of this resource. We also decided to address the issues of time manage
ment and isolation by developing an online introductory course that would systematica l
ly prepare students to cope with the demands of their program of study and inform 
them about the WGU resources available to them, while building their sense of belong
ing to a learning community. This approach is congruent with the retention literature , 
which cites mentoring programs, development of online learning communities, and stu
dent orientation as the three approaches that most positively affect student retention. 

The four-week introductory course was first offered during December 2001. Qualitative 
data to date indicate that students are better prepared to begin their studies following 
the course and are more apt to progress at a satisfactory rate. We believe that the ori
entation will increase student retention because we have noted that students who drop 
from WGU programs tend to have one thing in common-they do not progress during 
the first six months of their program by either taking courses or assessments. The intro
ductory course immediately provides students with a sense of accomplishment, and 
since they are more motivated to progress , they are taking assessments and courses 
within the first two months of their program. Further, WGU mentors indicate that stu
dents are better prepared to develop and finalize their Academic Action Plans and are 
eager to begin their programs. 

The course has also allowed us to align many of our administrative procedures. Rather 
than starting students 365 days a year we now have 12 start dates , since the course 
begins on the first of the month and is mandatory for all students . Decreasing the num
ber of start dates has increased our efficiency in the disbursement of financial aid, as 
disbursements can be processed in larger batches. We can now also identify a date of 
first academic activity for students , and we can actually measure attendance at the 
beginning of the program. (The date of first academic activity used to be the first sub
stantive conversation with the mentor, which was often documented in many different 
ways.) Satisfactory academic progress , which is measured every six months, should also 
be easier to track, since batches of students will receive their progress reviews at the 
beginning of each month. Finally, our intake process has shortened. Students now 
have a reason to complete the process quickly : so they can start on the first of the 
month . 

WGU also used the surveys and student feedback to revise its tuition program. The old 
tuition plan was difficult for the enrollment team to explain to potential students , and 
mentors noted that students were reluctant to take courses because they did not truly 
understand that their tuition did not include them-until it came time to enroll in a 
course and the student got a bill! Mentors by default had to become their students ' 
tutors in order to assist them in making satisfactory progress. This pattern placed, how-

WESTERN GOVERNORS UN,~ 

1145 



ever , an unreasonable burden on the mentors , and it could not replace the value of 
courses for most students who needed to develop knowledge and skills in new areas . 
The University therefore implemented a new tuition structure in March 2002, that bun
dles course and WGU tuition together so that students are more apt to take courses . 
The new tuition plan encourages students to make satisfactory academic progress and to 
make their educational goals a priority because they pay a flat tuition fee every 
term-thus the more terms in which the student is enrolled the more tuition he or she 
will pay. The new tuition model is discussed at greater length in Standard Eight. 

AAP Development and Satisfactory Academic Progress 
The development of the Academic Action Plan (AAP) is an important illustration of con
tinuous improvement in our student academic services. The AAP was initially devel
oped in the Spring of 1999 by the Director of Academic Services in response to WGU's 
application for the U.S. Department of Education's Distance Demonstration Project for 
Title N Federal Financial Aid. Since WGU does not recognize traditional credits or seat 
time, we needed some way to document student Satisfactory Academic Progress (SAP) 
in order to disburse federal financial aid. The original AAP was qualitative and required 
the mentor to make judgments about the student's progress based on learning opportu
nities in which the student was enrolled. We quickly learned that it was difficult to 
ascertain the extent to which students were progressing because they were often prepar
ing for assessments with independent learning resources. The qualitative approach was 
simply too subjective to get an accurate measure of progress. 

Another step in the development of the AAP involved incorporating a quantitative meas
ure of academic progress . The mentor would first judge the student 's progress quantita
tively-if he or she had passed at least one assessment the student was assumed to be 
making progress . If the student had not passed at least one assessment , the mentor 
would look at qualitative measures and determine whether he or she was involved in 
learning opportunities. We found that students were always assumed to be making sat
isfactory academic progress because they either passed at least one assessment in six 
months or they were somehow engaged in learning opportunities . We still had no way, 
however , to track engagement in learning opportunities other than asking the student if 
she or he was making progress. 

It wasn 't long before we realized that students were not in fact progressing in their pro
grams . We had always focused on the strength of the individualized Academic Action 
Plan , and we allowed the student to drive the development of the plan. We found that 
students needed more structure because they often were not as self-directed or as self
motivated as we thought they would be. 

The current AAP provides more structure for students by linking satisfactory academic 
progress to time and assessment progress. SAP is reviewed for each student every six 
months (the end of each term). The mentor evaluates and certifies the student's 
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progress based upon a quantitative review of the student's success on assessments as 
measured against the length of the AAP. Each WGU degree program contains a battery 
of assessments. The student's AAP is divided into six-month terms and the total number 
of assessments is then divided equally across the terms. Mentors now have a chart that 
indicates the number of assessments students must pass every six months based on the 
various possible lengths of the AAP. If, for instance, a program has 20 assessments and 
the length of the AAP is five terms (30 months), the student must pass four assessments 
every term to maintain satisfactory progress. We have found that this measure of SAP is 
more objective and easier to track , and it relieves the mentor of the duty of making sub
jective judgments about whether students are or are not actively engaged in their studies. 

The current SAP process is not perfect. Some assessments are much larger in scope 
than others and therefore take longer to prepare for. Since we divide the number 
assessments equally across the length of the AAP, we do not account for this difference 
in scope. We have found that mentors must help students prepare for assessments 
more strategically in some cases, by having them take those that are less difficult early 
in their programs while preparing over a longer period to take those that are more diffi
cult. 

The next step in the development of the AAP is quite exciting! To this point, the AAP 

has always been an Excel spreadsheet that is formatted to include student contact infor
mation, domains, learning opportunities, assessment scores, projected assessment dates , 
and skill levels. The document is exchanged between the mentor and the student until 
it is finalized . The new AAP is quite dynamic and completely Web-enabled to allow the 
mentor and student to enter data online . The new AAP automatically pulls assessment 
results from the student information system and links to learning opportunities con
tained in the WGU online catalog. At this writing Ouly 2002) the new AAP has just 
been activated. 

Sample AAPs and their alignment with SAP are available as Exhibit 23, "Academic Action 
Plans and Satisfactory Academic Progress. " 

7.4 Intercollegiate, Intramural, and Recreational Programs 
The University offers no such programs and has no plans to do so. 

7.5 Records Security 
Due to the distributed nature of its students and faculty , WGU relies heavily on electron
ic storage and manipulation of student-related data. The WGU information security pol
icy addresses two primary dangers to student data : 

• Loss due to fire or other catastroph e 
• Breach of privacy, either inadve rtent or intentional. 

The WGU information technology staff has taken measures addressing both of these 
broad issues. 
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Catastrophic Loss 
All data at WGU, including electronic mail , internal files, and student records, are stored 
on high-reliability systems running Microsoft Windows NT Server 4.0 or Windows 2000 
Server, with the latest Microsoft patches applied. All data are backed up to high-capaci
ty tape using the Veritas enterprise backup system and DDS-2 tape drives. Incremental 
backups are made daily, and full backups are made weekly. Backup tapes are stored 
offsite in a bank vault. 

In the event of catastrophic damage to the WGU server room, the tapes would allow the 
University to recover full operations within a few days. 

Breach of Privacy 
At WGU, all student electronic data are stored inside password-protected network sys
tems. Persons who are not employed by WGU are not permitted to access these data at 
all. 

Electronic mail sent to or received from students is stored in Microsoft Exchange Public 
Folders , which are accessible only to WGU personnel and may be accessed from any 
location. WGU has essentially created a digitized student folder for all student records 
including assessment results, email correspondence , student projects and the like. We 
do not maintain hard-copy student folders. The Microsoft Exchange Folders have the 
most granular security and individual employees are expressly granted or denied access 
to specific folders . 

All student data relating to course enrollments, finance, student contact information, etc ., 
is housed in the SCT Banner system. SCT Banner is a robust student information system 
implemented by WGU in 2001. Access to the Banner system is Web-enabled and 
secured to allow the University 's telecommuters to access the system as needed. 

Conclusion 
WGU has made a concerted effort to implement a student support services strategy 
across all levels of the institution. All staff members recognize the importance of serving 
our students from the point of initial contact through to graduation. We have closely 
followed the guidelines identified by the Western Cooperative for Educational 
Telecommunications (WCET) for designing Web-based student support services , as well 
as the best practices for the design of student support services identified by the 
Department of Education (Muraskin, 1997). Our programs focus on the students ' aca
demic success. We provide holistic services that can be individualized for students. 
Our mentors and support services staff work with students to determine what assistance 
they need , they identify and encourage students to enroll in particular learning opportu
nities, they provide continual advice, they track students' progress, and they offer a 
tremendous amount of academic assistance. In addition: 
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• We make frequent contact with our students. Mentors contact their students at 
least every two weeks. 

• We provide a structured introductory course for new students. 
• Our support services are integrated and supported across the institution. 
• We are learner-centered. 
• We allow students to do as much business online as possible. 
• We are developing learning communities to support student-student and student

mentor interaction. Currently we are working on developing learning communities 
beyond the Education Without Boundaries course. We recognize that students 
begin to develop a sense of community during the course and we want to identify 
ways to help students sustain the community they have developed. At this time, 
several of the mentors facilitate smaller communities usually designed around 
domains of knowledge so that students can support their peers in preparing for 
assessments and gaining competencies. We also know that several smaller groups 
of students are continuing to communicate to provide social and academic support 
to one another. Our goal is to continue to gain knowledge in ways that we can 
provide students with the tools and skills they need to develop communities. 

Continuing Challenges 
Despite these efforts , we face a number of continuing challenges in helping our stu
dents to be successful. Our model requires students to (a) determine what priority to 
give their educational commitment ; (b) manage their own time; (c) determine, with the 
guidance of their mentors, their own learning process and strategies ; and (d) be self-dis
ciplined enough to make effective use of the learning resources we make available to 
them. They must do these things , moreover, without ever seeing their mentors, the 
instructors from whom they take courses, or anything like their own "college campus. " 
These would be significant demands for any student, but they place exceptional 
demands on students who have (usually) been away from formal education for some 
time , and who (almost always) carry other job, family, and community responsibilities. 
It is a challenge, in short , to create and maintain the educational bond between stu
dents, their educational goals , their mentors, and the University. It is difficult for us to 
know how to help them make-and keep-their education a high priority. And when 
they don't progress , fall silent, and stop communicating with their mentors, it can be dif
ficult for us to find out why. We are implementing all the strategies noted above and 
elsewhere in this Self-Study, but as everyone involved with distance learning has discov
ered, the path to a degree through online learning has more challenges on it than any 
of us imagined six years ago. 

Within this challenge, lie two others less immediately pressing but worthy of attention in 
the long run . The first of these is serving international students more easily than we 
now do . We have difficulty, for instance, identifying convenient and secure centers in 
many locations abroad where international students could take their degree assessments. 
Further , international students must speak English , since our assessments are not trans-
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lated into other languages. At this time, we have not made a strategic decision to try to 
market heavily to international students, and we may decide that this is not a market we 
can effectively enter. We do , however, receive a continuing stream of inquiries from 
such students , and at this point, we have limited ability to serve them. 

Likewise , since we don't have a residency or face-to-face meeting requirement , we offer 
both advantages and disadvantages to students with special needs. For some students 
who need assistive devices due to disability we may be a good fit, for others not. We 
strive to make our Web site universally accessible and useful to all people, including 
those with disabilities. We offer TTY technology for students contacting our student 
services center . But for those who need more extensive support , our capacity is limited. 
Again , this is not likely to be an area of extensive demand for WGU, but we do want to 
serve all the students who make a genuine, informed choice to pursue a degree with us, 
and it is a challenge both to anticipate and to provide the structures , the mentor train
ing, and the mentor time necessary to support students with special needs. 

Standard Seven 
Web Exhibits - Appendices - Room Exhibits 

Web Exhibits: 
WE 1: http: // www.wgu.edu / 
WE 2: http: // www.wgu.edu / wgu / about/visio n_history.html 
WE 3: http:/ / www.wgu.edu/wgu / academics/student_info.htrnl 
WE 4: http :// www.wgu.edu /wgu / smartcatalog/index.html 
WE 5: http :// www.wgu.edu /wgu / admission/tuition.html 
WE 6: http :// www.wgu.edu / wgu / union/aid.htrnl 
WE 21: http:/ / www.wgu.edu/wgu / contact.htm l 
WE 26: http:/ /www.wgu.edu /wgu / privacy.html 
WE 27: http :/ /www.wgu.edu /wgu /a cademics / accreditation .html 
WE 29: http :/ /www .wgu.edu /wgu / about/staff_directory .html 
WE 30: http: / /www.wgu.edu / wgu/bookstore.html that 

Appendices: 
NI A 

Room Exhibits: 
RE 7: Student Testimonials 
RE 23: Academic Action Plans and Satisfactory Academic Progress 
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Stand ard Eight: Instituti o n al Fin an ce 
The institution has adequate financial resources to support its programs and services and 
demonstrates financial stability sufficient to assure their continuing support . The institu 
tion manages its financial affairs with integrity 

81 The institution '.5 financial documents , including its audit , budget and financial 
forecasts demonstrate the appropriate allocation and use of financial resources to 
support institutional programs and spaces 

8.2 The institution practices effective oversight of institutional finances , including 
management of financial aid , externally funded programs , services and research, 
contractual relationships , auxiliary organization or foundations , and institution
al investments. The institution regularly evaluates its financial management and 
uses the results of the evaluations as a basis for revisions in its financial manage
ment system 

83 The institution ensures that its financial p lan and planning efforts are realistic, 
support its institutional goals, are linked to other institutional planning efforts, 
and are reviewed and updaied regularly . 

8.4 The institution ensures that its fund raising efforts and auxiliary activities support 
the programs and services of the institution , are consistent with the mission and 
goals of the institution , and are conducted with integrity . Fund raising activities 
are evaluated on a regular basis and the results of the evaluations are used as a 
basis for revisions in the fund raising efforts and activities. 

Maintaining high -quality programs and serv ices, and estab lish ing add itiona l programs 
within the con text of ou r miss ion focus , rema in the highest pr iorit ies for the institution. 
The University has adequa te financia l reso urces to suppolt these programs and services. 
Total reven ue for each of the past two years has exceeded $5 million , and future fund
ing comm itme nts already tota l $9 million . Net assets, as portrayed in the chart be low, 
have increased in each of the past three fisca l years, from $854,977 in 1999 to 
$1,141,213 in 2000 to $1,230,726 in 2001: 

WGU Net Assets 

$1,400 ,000 

$1,200 ,000 - - ---
$1,000,000 --

$800, 000 - - ' 
$600 ,000 -
$400 ,000 - ' 
$200 ,000 - l 

$0 

FY99 FY00 FY0 1 
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The most notable recent funding achievements include a five-year $10 million Star 
Schools Grant from the U.S. Department of Education, a third consecutive congressional
ly appropriated grant ($1.8 million for 2002), and a $2 million grant over three years 
(2001-2004) to support technology leadership training for Utah principals and superin
tendents. Finally, we continue to receive annua l support from our Nationa l Advisory 
Board members. Collectively, these achievements demonstrate both financial stab ility 
and the capacity to generate multi-year financial suppor t. 

8.1 Appropriate Allocation and Use of Financial Resources 
For the past three years, WGU has operated in the black, avoided debt, met or beaten 
budget targets, complied with all guidelines for federal funding, and increased net assets 
every year. The independent accounting firm of PriceWaterhouseCoopers , which per
forms an annual financial audit, has confirmed all of these results. (See Appendix 12: 
June 30, 2001 Audited Financial Statements, p . 295.) Our current financial projections , 
part of more compre hensive Development and Marketing Plans (Appendix 3, p. 197 and 
10, p. 263, respectively) , are clearly linked to institutional goals and demonstrate the 
appropriate allocation of financial resources. Total revenue is projected to grow from 
almost $6 million in fiscal year 2002 to $14.5 million in fiscal year 2006, mainly the 
result of increased operating revenue from tuition and fees. The allocation of this rev
enue to academic support functions grows from 45 percent in fiscal year 2003 to 65 per
cent in fiscal year 2006, thus enab ling the University to suppo rt its mission and goa ls. 
Institutional support and information systems costs, as a percentage of income, decrease 
from approximate ly 21 percent to 13 percent and from approximately 13 percent to 8 
percent , respectively, confirming the leadership and systems infrastructure already in 
place (see Appendix 13: Four-Year Financial Plan , p. 307). 

8.2 Effective Financial Oversight 
WGU practices effective oversight of all institutional finances. The Finance Office moni
tors all financial activities for compliance with the requirements of government and 
other funding agencies. The financial management system, including but not limited to 
staffing, reporting , budgeting, and planning, operates with the appropriate contro l mech
anisms in place. Methods of checks and balances include monthly budget reports to 
department managers , quarterly reporting to the Board of Trustees , and estab lished 
internal contro l procedures. Externally funded projects, such as the Star Schoo ls and the 
technology certificate program for Utah schoo l principals and superintendents, have 
detailed budgets that were created by the project director and the Director of Finance 
and Hum an Resources . The finance office monitors these budgets weekly , gives period
ic reports to project directors for review , and addresses any difficulties or significant line 
item over-runs. The annual audit upholds that the institution exhibits sound budget 
pra ctices and proper record keeping and reporting practices. 

An example of effective oversight was the addition of a new finance staff member. Due 
to the growth in financial transactions , both at the student and institution leve l, it 

~ GOVERNORS UN,VERS>T Y 

021 



became evident that we needed a full-time Bursar to ensure timely and accurate student 
support and financial management. Accordingly, we appointed a Bursar in March 2001, 
who is now responsible for all student accounting , including billing, cash receipts, 
scholarship management, and financial aid disbursements. 

As a new and still emerging institution, we regularly evaluate our financial management 
systems and processes and use the results of the evaluation as a basis for revisions. For 
example, at the time WGU received Candidacy, all accounting was processed on a 
standalone accounting system called Acuity, originally purchased with the intent of inte
grating it with the WGU catalog and student information system . Until that integration 
occurred , all student financial transactions processed through the Web site system had to 
be manually re-entered on the Acuity system. It was a cumbersome and time-consum
ing process, susceptible to error , and it required continual monitoring for operator accu
racy. 

With the purchase of the SCT Banner Student Information System (SIS) in mid-2000 , we 
began preparation for the transition from our manual system to a fully integrated SIS. 
Training began in the fall of 2000 and continued on a regular basis up through our go
live date of July 1, 2001, and periodic training continues at this time. Preparations for 
moving both the student enrollment and accounting information from Acuity to Banner 
began in January of 2001. We decided to move all historical student financial and 
enrollment data to the new SIS. Despite the hundreds of data input hours required to 
reach this goal, a complete financial and enrollment history of our students now resides 
in one system , benefiting both the student and WGU staff. 

The advantages of adding both the SIS and the Bursar position are clear. After the tran
sition to the SIS we now have the capability for current, scalable and more accurate stu
dent accounting management. Students can now also view their account detail and bal
ances and make payments online . As we continue to work with this system we are still 
discovering ways to streamline the reporting process and often work closely with our 
information technology department to customize reports that are more specific to the 
WGU business model. We have eliminated much of the need for manual intervention 
on the student accounts and are continuing to evaluate our current procedures. To 
meet the demands of a growing faculty and staff, we also plan to implement the Banner 
human resource module , which will allow for a full range of functions necessary for 
human resource administration. 

Financial Aid 
Western Governors University was first approved for Title IV federal financial aid on July 
15, 1999 as part of the U.S. Department of Education's Distance Education 
Demonstration Project. As a result , both Federal Financial Aid (FFA) policies and proce
dur es and our own academic policies and procedures have had to be adapted so the 
"marriage" of a competency-based system to a term-based system would work. Indeed , 
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FFA continues to be a work in progress . On October 1, 2000, we hired a full-time 
Financial Aid Administrator , Carol Garnett, who has 26 years of financial aid experience 
and was Director of Financial Aid at the Community College of Denver before joining 
our staff. Drawing upon her extensive knowledge of FFA and to ensure effective over
sight of this federal program , we developed a Financial Aid Policy and Procedures 
Handbook, as well as comprehensive policies governing disbursement of funds, satisfac
tory academic progress , return of Title IV funds, financial aid transcripts and deferments , 
fraud and abuse , leave of absence , management of funds / disbursement procedures , and 
consumer information. 

An important challenge for the Financial Aid office is to give students the information 
they need in order to benefit fully from their decision to use financial aid to assist with 
their educational costs. For students who have attended other institutions and received 
financial aid , this is especially difficult. They are more familiar with term-based awards 
and have typically received funds to cover living expenses, whereas WGU only provides 
aid for direct educational expenses . Accordingly , we continually review the clarity and 
accur acy of the information on our Web site , the consumer information listing, our 
award letters , and email requests and notifications to students. The information is 
rewritten and updated based upon student questions received, changes in financial aid 
policy or procedures , and changes in WGU policy or procedures. The goal of the 
Financial Aid office is to continue to refine all of information given to consumers so that 
it can be easily understood . 

The University receives and awards scholarships governed by several different parame
ters , such as tuition cost (undergraduate or graduate) , eligible amount , and so on. The 
Bursar, along with Banner's built-in system controls , monitors and manages these dis
tinctions and ensures that each scholarship is accounted for properly. Monthly reports 
are also prepared to manage the scholarship funds at the fund balance level. 

Contra ctual Relationships 
WGU contracts fall under three basic categories , Education Providers , Independent 
Contra ctors , and Council Agreements. The man agement of these contracts falls within 
the joint responsibility of the Director of Finance and Human Resources and the appro
priate area manager (e.g. , the Director of Learning Resources for contracts with new 
Education Providers , or the Provost for Council Agreements). As with all other aspects 
of our growth , we have continued to monitor and update our contract management 
methods. Current procedure s include requiring signatures by either the President , the 
Provost , or the Director of Finance and Human Resources. Each payment to contracted 
entities requires a payment authorization form signed by the requester , the department 
head and accounting personnel. 

Because of the increasing number of active contracts , we have learned that a more auto
mated system for contract review needs to be established. Thus far we have maintained 
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an Excel spreadsheet listing contracts, terms of payment, and expiration dates, and as of 
this date we are continuing to use that system. However , we are investigating the feasi
bility of using our new SIS to track the contracts so that an automatic review-and-alert 
system for those about to expire can take place. 

New Tuition Model 
Perhaps the best evidence of our ability to evaluate , resolve and make revisions to our 
financial policies is the new tuition model we adopted on March 1, 2002. To under
stand why we made this change, it is helpful to look at WGU's history. We initially 
established a tuition model based on a charge per competency domain . Unfortunately, 
that approach caused serious delays in tuition collections if students did not make time
ly progress toward their degrees. Further, as we began working with the U.S. 
Department of Education to offer Title IV funding, charging students by domain seemed 
too much like charging for assessments-and Title IV funding does not cover the costs of 
tests. 

These challenges led to the second phase of our tuition history-a flat program tuition 
charge, plus additional course costs depending on what the student needed. Further, 
we allowed the student to pay the WGU tuition portion over time. Conceptually, this 
approach seemed to make sense because it rewarded students who already had compe
tency and did not need to take courses, whereas students who needed more instruction 
would pay appropriately for it. However, other problems emerged from the implemen
tation of this model. A slower progressing student commanded more mentor time and 
student services - at no extra cost to the student. Unless the student was receiving 
federal financial aid-and had to maintain satisfactory academic progress in order to 
retain the aid-there were not enough incentives to make the student progress satisfacto
rily. Moreover, students were opting to study independently in preparation for their 
assessments, rather than incur the cost of courses. By default, they considered their 
mentors their tutors , which created unreasonable workload burdens. And finally, the 
enrollment staff found it hard to recruit students in this tuition model because each stu
dent would likely pay a different set of costs. Each student would take a different path 
to gaining competence. Some would require many courses while others would require 
only a few, and while this made sense conceptually, for a prospective student exploring 
options for going back to school it was hopelessly confusing. 

In consequence , after a series of discussions among the management team and with the 
mentor faculty, WGU defined and implemented a new tuition plan that bundles program 
tuition and course tuition into a single fee each term. Effective March 1, 2002, the 
University bills tuition on a six-month academic term basis, with two equal installments 
due each term. The new model is easier for the student to understand , easier to explain 
by enrollment counselors, and it provides an incentive for students to progress more 
rapidly. It also affords better fmancial and enrollment management, because coincident 
with the tuition change, we reduced enrollment dates to 12 a year-the first of each 
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month-as opposed to the earlier model, which allowed a new student to enroll virtually 
any day in the year. 

Needless to say, we are learning through experience and will monitor the results of this 
new approach closely. Early indications, however, are most positive-students are 
enrolling in courses at higher rates than ever before and seem (at this early point) to be 
making more substantial commitments to their studies. 

8.3 Financial Planning 
The University bases its financial planning on institutional goals, and its planning is 
linked to other institutional planning efforts which are reviewed and updated regularly. 
A strategic planning document , the WGU Development Plan , is reviewed semi-annually 
to ensure that financial planning supports the institution 's programs and services. This 
review includes a realistic assessment of resource allocation and expenditure require
ments. The process occurs each year in two distinct phases. It begins with discussions 
in November-January among the senior management team , the faculty, and the Trustees 
abou t progress relative to goals in the yea r just completed, as well as priorities for the 
year ahead and beyond. This strategic phase of the annual planning cycle establishes 
key objectives for the immediate future and allows any refocusing of lon g-term goals 
that may be necessary . The results are then carried further, into staff discussions among 
the administrative departments and out to the University 's Coordinating Council. As 
these consultations continue , the plans for the year ahead acquire more definition and 
detail. The results are fed back into the monthly Operations Review meetings of the 
senior management team , so that adjustments can be made and coordinated as neces
sary. 

The outcome of this strategic phase in the planning cycle , begun in November and 
refined throughout the winter , leads to the second , tactical phase of planning in May
Jun e. Here , each major operationa l area of the University develops its specific budget 
request , based on its action plan for the year , and the Board of Trustees confirms alloca
tions following formal approva l of the budget. As has been our practice, we will con
tinue review, evaluation, and revision of our development plan twice yearly at strategy 
review meetings and we will monitor specific activities in the year 's plan at monthly 
Operations Review meetings. 

8.4 Fundraising 
Fundraising functions for the university are led by Max Farbman , Vice President of 
Development. Since the University's inception in 1997, Mr. Farbman has created a 
strong track record of successful fundraising for the University in support of its genera l 
operations , as well as in securing scholarship contributions for students in need of 
financial aid. To date, the University has raised over $19 million from its member states , 
corporations and foundations , as well as $7 million from federal grants , and it has an 
additional $9 million in future commitme nts. All fundraising efforts aim to ensure the 
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sustainability of WGU's academic programs and to provide scholarship opportunities for 
those who wouldn't otherwise be able to afford the costs of higher education . 
Currently , there are scholarship initiatives in place in several states, including Arizona , 
California, Idaho, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, Texas, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming. 
These efforts are focused mainly on educating teachers in the Master of Arts in Learning 
and Technology (MLT) degree . 

The University has been successful in recruiting some of the most prestigious corpora
tions and foundations in the country to serve on its Board of Trustees and National 
Advisory Board (NAB). Members (cited also in Standard Three) include the following 
23 companies and foundations: America Online, Apple, AT & T, Cisco Systems , 
Convergys , Drake International , Farmers Insurance Group , Bill & Melinda Gates 
Foundation, Hewlett-Packard, IBM, KPMG Consulting, Marriott, Microsoft, Novell, 
Oracle , Qwest , SCT Corp, Sallie Mae, Alfred P. Sloan Foundation, Sun Microsystems , 
Swartz Foundation , Thomson/Sylvan Prometric , 3Com. 

The University has been fortunate to continue to receive ongoing financial, technical 
and consulting support from its Board and NAB members. Together with the hands-on 
participation of WGU's 19 member governors, the Board and NAB have been the focal 
point for the unique and powerful private sector collaboration and financial support for 
the University. Most Board and NAB members are actively engaged in committee work 
for the University and assist with many ongoing University projects . 

Last fall, WGU leadership met with U.S. Secretary of Education Rod Paige on two sepa
rate occasions to discuss WGU. As a result of those meetings with Secretary Paige, as 
well as other meetings at the White House , the University received a $10 million grant 
from the Department of Education to help launch the WGU Teachers College. 

The University is also fortunate to have Senator Tom Daschle's support for our congres
sional appropriations team in Washington , D.C. Senator Daschle and other members of 
the 19 state congressional delegation that supports WGU have made it possible for the 
University to receive congressiona l line item appropriation grants totaling over $6 mil
lion in the last three years. 

The Western Governors Association (WGA) has also partnered with WGU to create the 
WGA Teachers ' Legacy Scholarship Program. This new partnership among our 19 gover
nors, national business leaders and educators is committed to provide over the next four 
years 1,000 Western Governors University scholarships for K-12 teachers. 

Originally , WGU awarded full scholarships , awards that covered the cost of the entire 
degree. Our experience has shown, however, that students are more successful when 
they are financially obligated to cover a part of their educational costs. Accordingly , we 
have revised our fundraising and scholarship awards policy and now cover only a por-
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tion of total expenses. 
Continuing Challenges 

Financially , our challenges are those of any new , privately funded institution. At this 
point, our financial future has never looked better. We have established a solid track 
record of successful fundraising and financial management. The powerful financial sup
port and collaboration from our Board and NAB continue to give our University a solid, 
sustainable financial foundation. Yet supporting our growth will continue to require 
diligent and aggressive fundraising efforts. It will also be important for us to grow rev
enue from tuition as a proportion of total revenue (projected to be 70 percent by fiscal 
year 2006). Though the recent softening of our nation 's economy has produced severe 
budget constraints for many states, including WGU's member states, as well as for cor
porations , we have met our fundraising goals and continue to expand our fmancial 
base. Again, the track record to date is the best indicator of future success , and that 
record has already produced long-term commitments in excess of $9 million. But in the 
years ahead, the combination of increasing tuition income , long-term commitments from 
grants, and ongoing fundraising from corporations and foundations will be the impor
tant indicators that we are meeting our financial challenges. 
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Standard Nine: Physical Resources 
The institution's physical facilities, computing and laboratory and other equipment 
resources are adequate to supporl its educational programs and services wherever 
offered. 

9.1 Physical facilities at all site locations where courses, programs, and services are 
offered are constructed and maintained to ensure access, security, and a healthful 
environment. 

9.2 Physical resource planning and evaluation, including those for the institution '.5 
anticipated technological needs, supporl the institutional goals and are linked to 
other institutional planning and evaluation efforls. 

The following discussion integrates sections 9.1 and 9.2 and demonstrates that WGU 
meets the requirements of Stand ard Nine. 

Overview 
As a completely online University, WGU has different physical resource need s from tra
ditional universities. We have no classrooms , dormitories or student center. Some of 
our faculty telecommutes, requiring little or no office space outside their homes. To 
link students to WGU, however , to connect them to their cyber-campus, we need pow
erful and reliable computing resources even more acutely than traditional institutions. 
WGU literally cannot exist apart from its computing resources . 

The WGU information systems infrastructure was initially and remains to this day 
designed to meet the needs of learners , faculty, students, administrators, and education 
providers at a distance. Every aspect of our information systems infrastructure is 
accessed easily and secure ly via an industry standard Web browser. Everything from 
financial systems to instructiona l delivery and reporting are provided over the Internet 
from our secure servers. 

Student Information System Implementation 
In early 2000, WGU began researching so lution s for a more robust and durable Student 
Information System (SIS) that would allow more sea mless integration of information 
both internally (for staff) and externally (for student s.) Prior to this time, SIS function s 
had been handled by custom software that was inadequate to the needs of an expand
ing university. WGU laid out a design , development , training , and implem entation plan 
to go live w ith the new SIS on July 1, 2001. We executed that plan succe ssfully and 
brought the system live on-time and under-budg et with the Banner SIS, Campus 
Pipeline stud ent portal, and our integrated catalog application as planned. 

We have contin ued to evo lve the system by making institution- spec ific extensions and 
enhancements to it. We have just gone "live" with an online Academic Action Plan 
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(AAP) mod ule designed spec ifically to meet the needs of university mentors and stu
den ts regar ding academic plannin g and stud ent progr ess. This AAP system fully inte
grates data from the WGU cata log , Banner, and Campu s Pipeline into a sea mless , inte
grate d suite of too ls used to deve lop acade mic plans and track stud ent pro gress. 

Hosting Environm ent 
WGU's information system infrastructure is loca ted in a highly sec ure hosting facility, the 
Qw est CyberCenter in Sunnyv ale , California. This Tier One host ing center is a state-o f
the-art facility that pro vides a highly secure environment, unexcee ded in the indu stry. 
Clients with demanding sec urity and reliability requirements , such as Citibank , have cho
sen this facility to house their computin g reso urces. 

The facility provid es 24x7 support , red und ant HVAC, air filtration, fire suppr ess ion , unin
terrupt ible sup ply-base d powe r prot ectio n, and diese l gene rator backup . The netwo rk 
backbone at this facility is a Tier One redund ant OC-48 and OC-192 IP backbone that 
can supp ort dedicated and bur stab le leve ls of up to one gigabit per seco nd to the 
Internet. 

WGU has a five-yea r host ing arrange ment with Qwes t that started in Janu ary 2000. Our 
computing reso urces are loca ted in a single rack in the CyberCe nter. Our se rvice leve l 
agree ment guarant ees us 10 megabit per seco nd bandwidth and constant se rver moni
toring, and provid es for on-site supp ort as nee ded. 

Systems Architec ture <Figure D.) 
The WGU systems architec ture includes severa l serve rs and databases eac h ded icated to 
a spec ific set of tasks. All of the serve rs are automatica lly backe d up to a tape library 
eac h night. 

Figure D. 
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Headquarters Information Systems 
We are continually adding features to our Web-based offerings and services . The entire 
information systems infrastructure deployed in Sunnyvale is mimicked in Salt Lake City 
in a development environment. Our development process requires that we deploy and 
test any new code in our development environment before deploying it to our live serv
er farm in Sunnyvale. 

The development servers are not as robust as the live servers but could , in an emer
gency, take over the workload of the live servers temporarily . We had the occasion to 
test out this theory after a serious failure on our primary Web server recently . We re
routed live traffic to the development environment, re-built the live Web server from 
backup tapes , and no records were lost or corrupted. We found, however , that the 
hardware we had in the development environment was pushed almost beyond its 
capacity when handling live traffic. We have since upgraded several of the deve lop
ment servers and created a complete fail-over copy of the Web server in Sunnyvale 
based on what we learned during this incident. 

Several WGU information systems reside completely inside the Salt Lake City headquar
ters office. These include: WGU network access, email and groupware server , fileserver , 
source code control , Campus Pipeline development server , Banner development server , 
Banner Forms development server , backup system and Merlin Magix telephone systems. 
The telephone system for WGU was recently upgraded to a Merlin Magix system . The 
system comes with Automatic Call Distribution functionality and full-featured voicemail 
that now allows WGU staff to focus on institutional goals rather than answering and 
routing numerous phone calls coming into the University from all constituents. This 
system also supports our features and scalability requirements for the foreseeab le future. 
We selected this system because of its rich feature set and ability to be adapted to 
changing business requirements. 

Generally , personal computing resource s for staff consist of either a laptop or desktop 
computer. Staff access resources over LAN or Internet connections from a variety of 
locations and most information systems resources are available from anywhere, anytime 
via a secure web browser interface . 

Resource Planning and Evaluation 
We evaluate each of these systems periodically for their ability to meet our need s, 
whether located in the hosting environment or deployed as part of the headquarters 
information systems , and we have upgraded or replaced several of them as a result. For 
example , headquarters systems that have been upgraded or replaced in the past six 
months include the telephone system , backup network route, WGUslcfiles, Salt Lake 
office tape backup system , WGUdev , and SLCForms, as well as various desktops and 
laptops. 

WESTERN GOVERNORS UN O~ 

I 161 



WGU's Chief Technical Officer plays a key role in both technical and strategic planning 
for the University . The CTO attends management meetings and other high-level opera
tional and strategic meetings with the President, the Provost and other management per
sonnel. The CTO has access to planning information regarding new degree programs , 
significant partnerships that may impact enrollment, and new online university deploy
ments, and he provides input to the scheduling of such projects based on the 
University's current and projected technical capabilities. 

Physical Facilities - Salt Lake City 
The majority of WGU staff and faculty work at the university offices in Salt Lake City, 
Utah. The management , maintenance and operation of the offices are adequate to 
ensure their continuing quality and safety. The institution 's facilities are furnished ade
quately for faculty and staff, in addition to serving as an assessment center for students . 
Facilities are constructed and maintained in accordance with legal requirements to 
ensure safety, security , and a healthful environment. One area of concern, however, is 
the limited access to University facilities for persons with physical disabilities. While we 
have access to conference and assessment space, as needed, on the main floor of the 
building , which is accessible for persons with disabilities, we are working with the 
building 's owner to improve such access on the lower floor, which we occupy . 

In late 2000, WGU reviewed its need to maintain two offices, one in Salt Lake City and 
one in Denver, Colorado. We determined that the two office locations were too costly 
and hindered efficient and timely operations of the University. Consequently, we closed 
the Denver office in January , 2001. New replacement staff, including an Assessment 
Coordinator , Admissions Coordinator and Education Provider Coordinator , was hired in 
Salt Lake City to ensure seamless service to students . Stacey Ludwig-Hardman , Director 
of Academic Services , and Carol Garnett, Financial Aid Administrator , continue to work 
for WGU out of their homes in Colorado , commuting to Salt Lake City as necessary. 

The consolidation , as well as overall University growth, has taken our Salt Lake City 
office head count to 30 employees currently . In January 2001, we leased additional adja
cent and connected office space , adding another 1,600 square feet to our previous 6,300 
square feet. In June 2002, we leased another 1,339 square feet, increasing total office 
space to 9,220. We also carry a "first right of refusal " with our facilities owner on all 
other office space within the same complex to accommodate our expected growth pat
tern. 

Education Providers and Assessment Centers 
The learning services of WGU are national in scope and delivered at a distance, so the 
physical facilities of those with whom we contract for various services are not within 
our direct control. These issues are important , however, for services like assessment 
and learning resour ces and are addr essed below. 
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Assessments 
To comp lete their competency-based degrees, students must take their assessments at 
secure test sites as convenient to their homes or workplaces as possible. The University 
contracts with facilities throughout the country (and some overseas) that meet its 
requirements for authenticity, security, standardization, and personnel. To ensure that 
the individual scheduled for assessment is indeed the person taking the test , the assess
ment supervisor must see an official form of identification containing a picture. Third
party assessments may have additional requirements with which WGU's contracted facil
ities must comply. Assessment items must be protected so that students do not see 
them in advance . In addition to requirements set by the test publisher, WGU keeps its 
items in a secure site and limits access only to WGU assessment staff, our contracted 
assessment center staff, proctors, and WGU program and assessment councils or other 
parties as required for assessment development and refinement. To ensure that all 
WGU students participate in their assessments under similar conditions, the assessment 
centers with which we contract agree to provide WGU students with a quiet, well-lit 
area with reasonable privacy and adequate workspace. Personnel at these facilities are 
sent detailed instructions on how to proctor WGU assessments . WGU encourages these 
facilities to use computer and Internet-based assessments with their increased perform
ance and security. 

Education Providers 
Our agreements with education providers (EP) ensure that WGU students will receive 
the same services that the EP affords its own students in terms of course access and stu
dent services. Through private email the EP gives the enrolled student the course Web 
site and login information , including his or her password (which the student is often 
required to change) . If there are proctored aspects of the course, these must be 
described in the course listing so that students can make arrangements with minimal 
inconvenience. These institutions require distance students to keep their computer 
account information confidential. Course instructors monitor online interaction to 
ensure that it is effective and healthy. 

The WGU Distance Learning Standards , per the WGU Policy Handbook for Education 
Providers, require that our EPs "ensure the integrity of student work; " provide "access to 
laboratorie s, facilities, and equipment appropriate to the courses; " "supply students with 
clear , complete , and timely information ... about technical equipment requirements; 
possess the equipment and technical expertise required for the distance education [they 
offer];" and "[have] in place the long range planning , budgeting, and policy development 
processes for the facilities , staffing , equipment , and other resources essential to the via
bility and effectiveness of [their] distance education courses ." 

Continuing Challenges 
As we continu e to develop and market our degrees, both our student enrollments and 
the demand on our physical resources will grow. Already this year we faced the need 
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for more space in our Salt Lake offices and, fortunately, were able to incorporate what 
we needed into our lease. We have already indicated , however, the access limitations 
of our current space for those with restricted mobility. Although we are working on 
that issue with our landlord, it is conceivable that at some point in the future we will 
have to relocate , either to improve access or because we simply outgrow the square 
footage available to us. Meanwhile, in other respects our physical resources are in good 
order for current and near-term needs. 

We have updated our information systems to meet any foreseeable enrollment growth, 
although we anticipate that these systems will continue to require enhancements and a 
good deal of maintenance. The failure we encountered in our servers earlier this year 
was a lesson in Murphy's Law, and it caused yet another internal review of our comput
er security and back-up procedures. We believe we have counter-measures in place to 
prevent any conceivable such failure in the future, but then we believed that before the 
failure we experienced. So, we have a continuing challenge to foresee the unforesee
able in our computer security systems. 

Finally, as we grow it is obvious that we will need to add faculty, staff, and physical 
facilities for those new employees . One of the apparently small but genuinely impor
tant challenges we face is when to add staff to support the work of managers and 
administrators. We currently employ a total of three administrative assistants / secretaries, 
and for the most part we are one-deep at every management and several mentor posi
tions. For reasons of budget and efficiency, it makes sense for managers in a young 
institution to do most or all of their own back-up work, at least for a time. Determining 
the point of diminishing returns in those maners is difficult. We are probably at it with 
regard to administrative support of the Teachers College, not quite there in some other 
areas-but one day we will be. So balancing the need for increased human resources 
against the limitations of budget (and perhaps space) will likely be a challenge in the 
years ahead. For the present , the lesson is that we need to build cross-training more 
systematically than we have into our professional development plans, and we need as 
rapidly as we can to see that we have mentor back-up in each of our degree areas . 

Standard Nine 
Web Exhibits - Appendices - Room Exhibits 

Web Exhibits: 
NIA 

Appendices: 
NIA 
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Standard Ten: Institutional Effectiveness 
7be institution, appropriate to its mission and its purposes as a higher education institu
tion, develops and implements a broad-based and integrated system of evaluation and 
planning to determine institutional effectiveness and uses the results/or improvement. 

10.1 7be institution engages in systematic and interrelated planning-for and evalua 
tion of its activities, including the provision of teaching assessment, research and 
public service sponsored by the institution . 

10.2 7be institution integrates its learning assessment, evaluation and planning 
processes with its resource allocation and priorities for improvement. 7be 
processes involve appropriate constituencies and are supported by necessary 
resources. 

10.3 Institutional research is integrated with and supportive of institutional evaluation 
and planning. 7be institution systematically reviews its institutional research 
efforts, its evaluation processes, and its planning activities to document their 
ongoing effectiveness . 

10.1 : Systematic and Interrelated Planning 
As described under ER 17, and repeated here , we engage in a systematic and interrelat
ed planning process , aiming to improve student service and in turn produce better stu
dent progress and higher graduation rates . Because of our competency-based model , 
the process pays particular attention to measures of student learn ing or "teaching assess
ment. " Research and public service is discussed later in this section . 

The planning process occurs each year in two phases. It begins with strategic discus
sions in Novembe r-January among the senior management team , the mentor faculty, 
Councils , and Trustees about progress relative to goa ls in the year just comp leted , as 
we ll as priorities and plans for the next three years. This strategic phase of the plan
ning cycle estab lishes key objectives for the immediate future and allows any refocusing 
of long-term goals that may be necessary. The results are incorporated into a revision 
of the University 's Development and Marketing Plans, which are then further reviewed 
by University staff, Council members , Trustees and National Advisory Board members. 
(See Appendix 3, p. 197, for a copy of the most recent WGU Development Plan , 
Appendix 10, p. 263, for the current Marketing Plan , and Exhibit 24 for all "Prior WGU 
Development Plans ".) The sen ior management team monitors progress toward the 
University's annual goals at monthly Op erations Review meetings and makes adjust
ments in human and financial allocations as necessary to achieve intended results. 
(Exhibit 25 contains "Minut es from Operat ions Review Meetings ".) 

The areas covered in the WGU Development Plan are: (1) degrees and programs , (2) 
academic resources , (3) academic support , (4) other support investments , (5) marketing 
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and enrollments , (6) institutional effectiveness, and (7) revenues and expenses. The 
underlying objective in each of these sections is to improve student service and academ
ic progress toward graduation. 

Research, as traditionally defined by institutions of higher education , is not a priority 
expressed in WGU's mission or goals . We are instead focused on creating a new model 
of competency-based education , and by so doing we hope both to improve access for 
underserved learners and to offer both higher education and the public a new model 
for quality assurance in learning. Though others may not always agree, we do see this 
aspect of our mission , in the broadest terms, as "public service ." We also undertake 
more specific public service activities . We have made information technology courses 
available to Sitting Bull College students and have created a portal of services for the 
National Urban League . We have developed similar portals to assist state government 
employees in Arizona and Nevada with their education and training needs, and we have 
offered that service to other WGU member states. And we do have research activities. 
Our Director of Academic Services is becoming increasingly prominent in the field of 
learning communities, our Director of Assessment and Institutional Research regularly 
presents at national conferences on outcomes assessment, our Teachers College Director 
of Assessment just presented a plenary session at the annual meeting of the Association 
of Test Publishe rs, and the majority of our faculty have made presentations in the past 
two years. Evidence of these activities is contained in the list of scholarly activities 
included as Exhibit 22. 

Our Institutional Effectiveness Plan describes how we measur e effectiveness, quality and 
efficiency (see Appendix 4: Institut iona l Effectiveness Plan , p. 219). Three indicators 
have been established as our measures of effectiveness: student enrollment , student 
progress (including retention and graduation rates); and, managing to our resources 
(i.e ., are we on budget?). The Enrollment Manager reports student enrollment monthly. 
The Director of Academic Services reports student progress , retention , and graduation 
monthly . The Director of Finance and Human Resources reports monthly and year to 
date revenu es and expenses for each functional area (e.g ., academic services , academic 
lead ership , information technology, and marketing). These are shared and discussed 
monthly at Operations Review meetings, which are attended by all senior managers, and 
reported quarterly by the President to the Board of Trustees . 

There are also three measures of quality: academic outcomes assessment, academic pro
gram review , and student satisfaction surveys . Our efficiency measures include a num
ber of reports that assist managers. These include , for example, the availability of 
courses that map to competencies and outstanding assessment referrals . In addition, 
each of our academic programs under goes a program review every two years. The plan 
also describes how our measures of effectiveness, quality, and efficiency are related to 
our mission, goals , and priorities . 
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10.2: Planning and Resource Allocation 
The refinement of the University's Development Plan leads to the second, tactical phase 
of planning in May-July, which results in the annual operational plan and budget for the 
new fiscal year. Here, each major operational area of the University develops its specif
ic budget request , based on its action plan for the year , and the Board of Trustees con
firms allocations following formal approval of the budget. Again , the senior manage
ment team reviews progress relative to the plan at monthly Operations Review meetings, 
and the Board of Trustees reviews it at its meetings quarterly . 

There are several examples of how our learning assessment, evaluation , and planning 
processes have been integrated with our resource allocation and priorities for improve
ment. More than 20 are included in the Development Plan. Examples include: 

• Our student retention was lower than the target we set. Follow-up student inter
views , the experience of various personnel , and the relevant literature suggested 
that we needed a better way to ensure that students understood our unique model 
and had opportunities to form communities of learners. To facilitate this, we 
deve loped the "Education Without Boundaries " course . Mentors report that stu
dents are much more committed and prepared to begin their stud ies at WGU, and 
student satisfaction surveys indicate that students also see the course as a major 
benefit. 

• In our 2000 Development Plan we indicated our intention to install a $2 million 
student information system , beginning July of 2000 and completing it by 2001. 
The system would integrate financial , academic, and records information , enable 
appropriate individua l student access to their academic records and to the WGU 
catalog (for course enrollment) , and provide comprehensive report functions on 
institutional performance . The system came online on time and under-budget. 

• We discove red that students were hes itant to take learning opportunities because of 
the additional cost of courses. In addition , our former tuition model (one cost for 
WGU tuition and another for courses) was confusing to potential and current stu
dents. We changed the model , combining both tuitions into a single payment. 

• In 2001, we decided to develop new bacca laureate programs. We allocated the 
resources , hired the faculty, identified the competencies , mapped the course con
tent , developed the assessments, submitted substantive change proposals to NASC, 
received its approval, and began to enro ll students. As planned , we met our goa l 
of laun ching three new degree programs in the year. We have set similar goa ls for 
2002 for our Teachers College and can meet them. 

10.3: Integration and Effectiveness 
Institutional Research (IR) is integrat ed and supports evaluation and planning. The 
Director of Assessment and Institutional Research is a member of the University's man
agement team and participates in all planning meetings. He is responsible for each of 
the quality measures outlined in Standard 10.1 and several of the efficiency measure s 
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outlined in the Institutional Effectiveness Plan. He collects and summarizes all data for 
student satisfaction surveys and program reviews, prepares the annual fact book , and 
replies to data needs such as IPEDs. 

We began to hold operations review meetings in April of 1999, and since that time the 
President has worked with managers to identify, refine , and report the data that keeps 
the administration informed about the University's performance. The entire manage
ment team understands the measures we care about, and understands that we will refine 
and improve them on a regular basis. We have completed our first round of program 
reviews and will be working with our Assessment Council and others to help us 
improve on that process. We review our planning priorities yearly. 

Continuing Challenges 
We have consulted internally with our councils, and externally with research professionals , 
in the development of our Institutional Effectiveness Plan. Every component of our plan
ning and evaluation process has been implemented. We have two major challenges in the 
near- to mid-term. The first is every institution 's challenge, and it is continuous: will we 
be able to identify the correct indicators , be able to conduct the right analysis, and be able 
to act in a way that improves performance? For example, although we have identified sat
isfactory academic progress (SAP) as an indicator of student success, we are still trying to 
determine how to use these data in the aggregate. In other words , how can all the SAP 
rates for individual students be combined to help us understand how effective we are as 
an institution in helping students achieve their educational goals? Or again, as we monitor 
retention rates, we need to determine not only at what unit of analysis those data become 
most useful institutionally (e.g., by program, by student age , by mentor), but also what 
retention "should" (or could) be for an institution of our type and how best to improve it. 
These and similar questions will be with us for a long time to come. 

Our second challenge, and the note on which we close this Self-Study, is to deliver on the 
ultimate promise of this university, which is to have a po sitive, lasting impact on the quali
ty of higher education in this country. To do that we will need to demonstrate the power 
of our model in such clear and compelling fashion that other institutions will want to 
adapt its principles to their own systems. And for that to happen , we need first to ob tain 
the evidence and then share it. We have made a good start in responding to this chal
lenge--it is fair to say that WGU has had at least some influence on the national attention 
to learning outco mes assessment- and we devote a far larger share of our resources than 
most institutions to this important area. For instance , mature institutions committed to 
self-improvement generally allocate between 3 perc ent and 5 percent of budget to institu
tional resea rch , broadl y defined to include studies on student learning and other measures 
of organizational performance. For us, however , the soul of institutional resear ch is stu
dent learning-because , we ask, if students aren 't learning what they need to know, what 
else matters' Accordingly , we currently devote more than 15 percent of budget to the sys
tems, personnel, and products by which we measure , analyze, and improve learning out-
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comes. Commitment at that level will continue and may increase in the years ahead. As 
we mature , however, we will need to devote Jess anention to new program development 
and more-if we are to fulfill the promise in our founding governors ' vision-to broader 
studies of institutional effectiveness and external dissemination of our findings. For the 
Jong term, that remains our ultimate challenge, and it is one we are eager to meet. 
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Western Governors University (www .wgu .edu) grants degrees and certificates based completely on the demonstration of 
competencies. Competencies for every degree and certificate are developed by national panels of experts in the particular 
field; they represent the knowledge and skills considered essential for effective perfonnance as a graduate lrrthe particular 
degree or certificate area. The University's competency-based model does not use credits in awarding degrees but Instead 
requires students to demonstrate their knowledge and skills through assessments and completion of portfolio products. All 
WGU associate degrees are, however, comparable to other accredited degrees at this level and comprise the equivalent of 
at least 60 s(f~ester hours (90 quarter ... hours) of credit. · • · ~ 

To obtain an Associate of Arts, WGU students are required to demonstrate their skmS and knowledge In the following 
domains: • 

Quantitative Literacy Skills (15% of degree) 
The principal subdomains, or subheadings , in this subject area are 1) collegiate statisticaVprobability skills; 
2) functions and algebra skills; 3) quantitative problem-solving skills; 4) quantitative communication skills; 5) 
geometry and measurement skllls: 6) numeric and calculation skills; and 7) quantitative technological skllls. 

:i~:e~~~=~~~~criptions, or Individual skills a~~ kno~e~e areas, listed are typical of first- and second-year 

Language and Communication Skills (15% of degree) 
This domain, or subject area , has to do with reading, writing and communicating with other people. This domain 
also 'focuses on how to use a library and find information . The principal subdomalns are 1) collegiate reading skills; 
2) argumentative and critical writing skills; 3) presentation-related skills; 4) expository writing skills; and 5) basic 
information retrieval skills. The performance descriptions, or individual skills and knowledge areas, listed in this 
domain are typical of first- and second-year college student work. 

• Collegiate Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills (15% of degree) 
WGU considers problem-solving skills to be core skills necessary in a variety of academic and professional 
settillgs. Students will demonstrate proficiency in the following subdomalns: 1) planning and information--gathering; 
2) problem identification and clarification ; 3) identification of assumptions and values ; 4) interpretation and anatysis 
of information and data; and 5) reaching well-founded conclusions . 

• Distribution Requirement (45% of degree) 
For the Associate of Arts degree , students need to pass assessments in each of three areas : 

Natural Sciences (minimum two course-equivalent outcome examination) 
Social Sciences (minimum three course-equivalent outcome examination) 
Humanities (minimum three course-equivalent outcome examination) 

• Portfolio (10% of degree) 
The purpose of the portfolio is to ensure that adequate disciplinary exposure and experiential engagement has 
occurred by requiring a culminating demonstration of the student's ability to integrate knowtedge and skllls learned 
throughout the curriculum . 

Courses : In addition to using the knowledge and skills already gained through prior study and experience. students 
engage in a variety of learning opportunities to prepare for their competency-based assessments , including enrolling in 
other College and University courses, sett-study , independent study, etc. The courses included on this transcript were 
taken by the student upon recommendation by WGU to help prepare for competency.based assessments . The providers 
of these courses are officially associated with WGU as authorized Education Providers . WGU transcripts only those 
grades in which students earn a ·c" or better in undergraduate studies, and a ·e· or better in graduate studies . 

RELEASE OF INFORMATION 
In compliance with the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (PL93-380) , this information is released on the condition 
that the recipient -Will not permit any other party to have access to such information without the written consent of the student. " 

To resolve questions of interpretation or for further information please contact the Provost 's office at /801) 274-3280 . , 
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information-retrieval skills. ·The performance descriptions -, orjJ\dividilcil ~kUJs,·and knowledge areas , Jtsted in this·domain 
are t}'pical of first- -and seconc:J.:year 'college slu.dent work. .,. · :J, ... -""' .... ~ . 

Collegiate·Reasonin;g-and Prdblem~SolVing Skills (15%,:t>f degree) ~ . , .. · ' . , ·... '"'- ~ .-, 
WGU·~nsiders problero-solving . skillstp be core .~kills necessa fy in a variety .o.f·~cadem1c an~ pro~essional•settiogs. ' " 
Students will demonstrate. proficienc y in the foll~ng .subdomains : 1) planning ·and information-gathering; 2) problem .; .. 
identification ·and clarif!tation; 3) identification of assµmptior'ls and .. vatues; 4) interpretati on.and analysls 6fintormation 
and data; and 5) reaching well-tounded conclusions. , _ ·• '; ._ ~ . . 

Distribution Requirement (15o/o of degree) ~ --
For th~ ~ssoe!a~e of S~ience d.f;l~ree, students · need.to P.§IS~ a~sessm.en.ts in e~ch ofthree aieas: 

Natural Sciences (minip,um one. course-e.qttivale_nt outc·ome examination) 
Social Sciences (minimum one.course-:equ~iile nt outcome examiriat'i'ort>_ 
Humanities (minimum on·e co.urse,.(lquivalent qutcome ~xamination) . 

Portfolio (5% of degree) -
The purpose of the portfoliC?, is to ensureihat adequate discfplinary ·exposure and expeiiential .engagement has~· 
occurred by requiring a culminating demonstration of the stuQent's·ability. to integra~e knowlecfg.e and s~ills le.amed 
throughout the curriculum. ' 

Courses: In addition ti:> using the knowledge and skills already gained through Prior study and experience, Students .engcjg& in a 
va~ety of lea ming opportunit~es to prepare for their compete.ncy-based assessments. Including ·enrolllng in other College and . 
University courses, self-study ; ind.ependent:study, etc . The .-courses included on this-franscript were taken by the -student .upon, 
recommendatjon by WGU ·to he~p prepare ·for comp~tency-based assessments. The providers: of 'th~se·courses ar.e offi~i~lly · 
associated with WGU as ·authonzed Education Providers'. WGU transcripts 6nly those· grades in which students,eam a ye; or 
better in undergraduate studies, and a YB" or better in graduate studies. 

RELEASE OF INFORMATION 
In compliance with lhe Fam_ily Education Righ"ts and Privacy-Act of 19?'4 (PL93-380) , this informati on is released on the condition 
that the recipient "wfll not permit any other party lo have access to such informat fo-n without the written consent of the .student..._ 

To resolve questions of interp re tation or for further information plea se contact ·the Provost's office at-(801) 274--3280. 
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r•·:~ :-~:~3~~,,G~~";~; ~~ZJ~~ 
f .... W AssOCiaie '<\t_~ci!(ric~.: ~~tcip~ll!)r::[<>CN1iJ~ '· ' ,g;,:*_; ,-

. I ~. - :, :,~-,~ '~:i~~:r,· •l~<!i~~.~,.~ ,. -~-- ~···· ·>: .. ·;_.?>·. ;_-;:-:i;;~~~~' 

Western Governors University (www.wgu:edu} grants degr.ees .and c.ertificate_s,based completety on the ,de . , 
'competencies-. Competencies tar ·f!_ve,y degree and.certifica!e ar~ develoP.8d by.national P.~an~1S1f?f experts in the; iza~r:ul~(field; 

. ~he~;:t~::~~~:~~~~d~~r;~!~:t:~J~:s88~;~::~~f~~ ~~f;~:~~~~=~1a~~fn;~t:e?~~t~~Fea~~~~i~~~~' 
students to demonstrate their knowledge and skills through assessments and completion -of porf!olicfproducts:~~~u WGU ·- -
associate deQrees are. howev'er; comparable _to other accredited degrees at this lev"el and con,prise·,tt,e ,equiit~ tof ,, .t least 

60sem~ster~ours{90qaarterh~urs)o~ .,..credit: - ~· ..;.,, ~ ~ _"= •. ~-.~- ~~;~::-·; .. -_./;$.;,,,,ti~-_.._. . . ·.~---~ .~. 
To obtain an Associate of Science, Information T echnoioQy, ~~U student~ are requiied ta.;c;lemonsyai~ lheir.~kills and · ~~ t:t: ., i-~".~:~, 
kno~~~~i~~:~::i~i:;m!~~~!;~hnology Core· (3~¾.o~~ r:e) ~. . :·:~ ;;)i; i:~~' ~~~·:1'----~~r;~ .. ~-~ . - . -~ - ., 

The ·principal-subdomains are 1) foundation .oflrJfomiation tect:mology skills_; 2) programming fundamentals; , .. 
3) operating environments fundamentals; 4) system analY,sis fun_dame{ttals; ·S)1database,·ad1!1i,!1istration.fµ..ndam~ntals;...,... 
and 6) network,lng fundamentals. . ,l •· · ·_ ·,~. ':~ .;;:_ • ,._. ~ ~~, ,... ..., -, I,,. 

QuantitativeLiteracySkills(15%ofdegree) r- .... · "" _ ...,, .• ~. : .... _ ·. 
The principal subdomains, or·subheadings, in this subj~t area are .1)' collegiate statistiC3Vpr0bability skills;,2) functions ;.. - • 1 , ... 

t · ~:da:~:~~:ik~l~~~s~) s1unaun!~:::~:!fcr:i:~~~tit~t=~~\juqau~::zti
8
v~~~~=fc°a~ -:~:. ~ ~h!8::0~!~~~ -~:· ~~- ~.-:._:~ :·;; .. 

b, descriptions, or individual skills and knowledge areas.j isted ,are typical of ~ - a~ .. d s~n~Yea~ ~~ e~g·e~~~; t ~~. ~: :r'cj 

1 • Lang~~~~~~~~/~~~J:!
1
~~!~~!s(~

0

~ 0°:~~:eaeJing, writing and communi~;~ng ~~ o~e; ~pte \ This d~~ii: ~,~ .' ~-~-::~·~ 

~ 
focuses on how to use a library and find information. The principal subdomains are 1) collegi'ate reading skills; • 

• 2) argumentative and critical writing skills; 3) presentation-related skills; 4)"expository writing skills; and 5) basic . ,q ;-:--1. ;) -'$ 
~information retrieval skills. The performance descriptions, or individual skills and knowledge areas,, listed in this ·domain : .. "'f.~ _., t., 

1 are typical of first- and second-year college student work. - '""" • •• · •·J,·, • 

r 
i 
r-
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ColleQiate Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills (15% of degree) -.... ,..:. ~ .,,;,.: 
WGU considers problem-solving skills to be core skills necessary ·in a variety of academic and professional settings. 
Students will demonstrate proficiency in the following subdomains: 1) planning and information gathering; 2) problem · 
identification and clarification; 3) identification of assumptions and values; 4) interpretation and analysis of information .,.. _ 
and data; and 5) reaching well-founded conclusions. .,,._ ·. 

Distribution Requirement (15% of degree) 
For the Associate of Science degree, students need to pass assessments in each of three areas: ·, .- \ · ;; • 

Natural Sciences (minimum one course-equivalent outcome examination).; 
Social Sciences (minimum one·course-equivalent outcome examination)a :, Y! :: • 

Humanities {minimum one course-equivalent outcome examination) 

Portfolio {5% of degree) _,. b 

The purpose of the portfolio is to ensure that adequate disciplinary exposure and experiential engagement has · 
occurred by requiring a culminating demonstration of the student's ability to integrate knowledge and skills learned 
throughout the curriculum. · · 

Courses: In addition to using the knowledge and skills already gained through prior study' and experience, students engage in a 
variety of learning opportunities to prepare for their competency-based assessments, including enrolling.in .other College and , 
University courses, self-study, independent study, etc. The courses included on this transcript were taken by the student upon , 
recommendation by WGU to help prepare for competency-based assessments. The providers of these courses are officially " 
associated with WGU as au~orized Education Providers. WGU transcripts only those grades in -which students earn a "C" or·. 
better in undergraduate studies, and a MB" or better in graduate studies. 

RELEASE OF INFORMATION 
In compliance with the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 {PL93-380), this information is released on the condition 
that the recipient "will not permit any other party to have access to such information without the written consent of the student." i , ~ 

To resolve questions of interpretation or for further information please contact the Provost's office at (801) 274-3280. -.l 
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Appendix 1: Sample Transcripts 

• OiSt~~~!~:nA~=~~!:~f~~~~;:s~:~~~~ee~ree, students need to-pass ·assessments in ~~ch 9fth;ee a~~as:- ".. :::,:,~-~~ ~·; 
Natural Sciences (minimum one course-equivalent outcome examination) ..., "' ' 
Social Sciences (minimum one course-equivalent outcome examination) 
Humanities (minimum one course-equivalent outcome examinauo·n) 

Portfolio (5% of degree) . 
The purpose of the portfolio is to ensure that adequate disciplinary exposure and experiential engagement h8s ... ~- .. 
occurred by requiring a culminating demonstration of the student's ability to integrate knowledge and skills learned ·,~,.;, 
throughout the curriculum. ~ 

Courses: In addition to using the knowledge . and skills already gained through prior study and experience, students engage in a 
variety of learning opportunities to prepare for their competency-based assessments, including enrolling in other College and 
University courses, self-study, independent study, etc. The courses included on this transcript were taken by the studentupon 
recommendation by WGU to help prepare for competency-based assessments. The providers of these courses are officially 
associated with WGU as authorized Education Providers. WGU transcripts only those grades in which students earn a we• or . 
better in unde raduate studies and a "B" O( better in raduate studies. 

RELEASE OF INFORMATION _ 
In compliance with the Family Educatior1 Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (PL93-380), this information ls released on the condition 
that the recipient "will not permit any other party to have access to such information without the written consent of the student." 

To resolve questions of interpretation or for further information please contact the Provost .'s office at (801) 274•3280. 
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Information Technology Management (28% of degree) ~ ,...-,. _ 
The .erincipal subdomains, or subheadings, in this subject area are 1) information technology skills; 2) fundamentals of 
programming; 3) database administratioQ; 4) operating systems; 5) systems analysis; 6) networking; and 7) infonnatio .n , _ 
technology project management skills. • ~ ~} . t •· ... • , •. ,-

Collegiate Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills, Upper Division (10% of degree) ~ _ 
WGU considers problem-solving skills to be core skills necessary in a variety of academic and professional settings. 
Students will demonstrate advanced proficiency in the following subdomains: 1) plann ing and information gathering; 2) 
problem identification and clarification; 3.) identification of assumptions and v.atues ; 4) interpretation and analysis of ..., .. 
infonnation and data ; and 5) reaching well-founded conclusions. :7 · 

• Capstone (5% of degree) 
The purpose of the capsto.ne is to ensure that adequate disciplinary exposure and experiential engagement has 
occurred by reqliiring a culminating demonstration of the student's ability to integr ate kriOwledge and skills learned 
throughout the curriculum. 

Courses: In additio n to using the knowledge and skills already gained through prior study and experience, students engage in a 
var iety of learning opportunities to prepare for their competency-based assessments, including ·enrolling in other College and 
University courses, self-study, independen t study, etc. The courses included on this transcript were taken by the student upon 
recommendation by WGU to help prepare for competency-based assessments. The providers of these courses are officially 
associated with WGU as authorized Education Providers . WGU transcripts only those grades in which students earn a !'C· ·or 
better in undergraduate studies, and a ·s· or better in graduate .studies. 

RELEASE OF INFORMATION 
In compliance with the Family Edu catio n Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (PL93-380), this information is released on the condition 
th::it thA rP.r.iniP.nl "will not nArmit ::inv othP.r n::irtv to h::ivA ::irr.Ass l('l sur.h infnrm::itlon without thA writtAn r.nnsAnt of thA sturlAnt.• 

To resolve questions of interpretation or for further information please contact the Provost's office at /801} 274-3280. 
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.,. _,:-

Leadership and Professiorialism (10% of degree) 
The principal subdomains, or subheadings, in this ~ubject area are 1) professionalism, wt)ich focuses on ethics, 
responsibility and integrity; 2) leadership; 3) teamwork; 4) communication and interpersonal skills; and ·~ ....., • ·'-"· ·•; _.., 
5) quantitatrve skills, such as market analysis. scoring rules for performance data, etc . The perfom,ance .. 
descriptions, or individual skills and knowledge areas, listed in this domain are typical of third- and fourth-year . . .~-~ ,-

college student work. . • , ~ · ~ . ~-- '/ · ... .;,t~:· t, 

Collegiate Reasoning and Problem-Solving ·Skills, Upper Division (10% of degree) -- 'L "·! 
WGU considers problem-solving skills to be core skills necessary in a vari'ety of academic and professional settings . .,,_ ·•., ~'-:",: .. . Jl 
Students will demonstrate advanced proficiency in the following subdomains: 1) planning and information gat~ering: ~'."'" · -~ .. , ... : · _.~ 

~: Fr;f~::i~~e~~~c;:~~ =~ ~a;!~~ti~;]~ 1:~~~~::ti~~n~~i~~~~ptions and values; 4) interpretation and analysis ;~~ .·~.s:~ _!, ~:: 

Capstone (10% of degree) 
The purpose of1he capstone is to ensure that adequate disciplinary exposure and experiential engagement.has 
occurred by requiring a culminating demonstration of the student's ability to integrate knowleOge and skills learned -.. 
throughout the curriculum . ·... • 

Courses: In add ition to using the knowledge and skills already gained through prior study .and experience, students engage P,-, 
in a variety of lea ming opportunities to prepare for their competency-based assessments , including enrolling in other College ~ 
and University courses, self-study, independent study, etc. The courses included on this ·transcript were taken by the student 
upon recommendation by WGU to help prepare for competency-based assessments. The providers of these courses are ~i ,,...

officially associated with WGU as authorized Education Providers . WGU transcripts only those grades in which students ..: 
earn a "C" or better in undergraduate studies, and a "B" or better in graduate studies. 

RELEASE OF INFORMATION 
In compliance with the Famlly Education Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (PL93-380). this information ls released on the condition 
that the recipient "will not permit any other party to have access to such information without the written consent of the student." 

To resolve questions of interpretation or for further information please contact the Provost's office at (801)'274-3280. 
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·,i,_;:~f'< _;',;'"''!·,::,.' .-Tf!'~~,;::-~~~~~-~:f:{::,\;~,~:.,.:,;('j-~~!~:;:F:~· ~ . . -,,. :'":;,c,7 

~(it~ ... ·., .. 'k weSihii-ClJ\jei;norS U~y 
~f; ·. ·' _,~:~·<'.~Offi\'~~~:~;v:;,,:·~7 ~ .. :·~-,~,"'tj~,;_ · ,• .. ·. ):~ ?ti!9]{~7 

k: .. -. · ,;~"" .,,:,,;: o¾.J.'. /c. ~Bach~,l.ortof;~cuinc_e .. · .- ~:~\ _., . 
L . 8Usiries'1-Huma-n.Resou¥ci Mat1i[enfent Emptia,J~ --: · 
r; '· w~ : ~,n Go: ::J n~: ffy (~ wgu ~~) g~nts q~,};~ii: :: , cates ~sed ,~plet~ybn °the;d:- 0~ ~:i,f ,.,,. 
• , competencies. Competenc,es·for every:degree_ ana .certificate are.d~ped,l?_y national pan'!!• of.experts ,~. lar field; 

E ~:::!:! .tt;.~~"J,t".::~i~;~:t:'~'.~~;."~e!~';t"~i~'c;::~~~~ec:i7!%a:.':ii~ni ¾~,U,::-in the· · i~=~"': -~ -~--~ 
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students to demonstrate their knowledge and skills- · ·COIJ1pletion.of "°(!folio 'prod)!cis.. ·AlfWGU · ·• • ,__.,,. ',.,:-;, .. '. 
bachelo(s degrees are, however, .comp~rable too . . this l~el .an~,compnspJ_t,,e·equ,v~lentQf.atleast • ':i,- •·w;, 
120s81J1esterhours(180quarterhours)ofaedIl Thistransair?t . studenrs 1V1s1on·\vorklnthe ·bach~oi's . :Si 
pro~ra~. Separatelyattached!~

1
~h~~l?~!nt's·a~soc;~!e,~o-~I~~ ,~~; ~ ~-, ~ ~-0.'!-~s~ ~ - ~~~\~-j~ !t~-.1: 

!~do:;;: ;:ci~~C::,el~: ~~fo'::d~~:;es"'~ ?-"1a~! t ~~.:r~~ }~ re required to demonstrate lh~r skills ·':: 

BusinessandTechnical-Knowledge(33%_ofdegree) :··,~, ·.i.: .::-;_- .. ·' • , ', 
The principal subdomains~ or subheadings, in this subject area are:1) accounljng;·2) finance;~3) management and 
organization; 4) marketing; 5) l nformation technology;' and 6) internationaVglobal tie!\avior. The-performance · . 
descr1ptIons, or ind1V1dual skills and knowledge areas, listed are 'typical of tt11rd-and fourth-year college student work 

.. . - ~ .ri- "--r.~ ~~1'·· ~-- !".~~~- --~\. ~- • : .. ~ 
• Leadership and Professionalism (24% of degree) ... _, ,,.... r-:-'!!"'-·,.,~-.,,.), ( '.,_ .. ~~ ._,,. ........... _._1 ... ..:-,.. ·-""-Ir' - ... ~. 

The principal subdomains; or subheadings, .. in this subject area;ar&~1),j:)rofesslonalism, whicH focuses on ethics; F)I\;; · >-t J. ~ 

:ffs~~·~~~i1:;::~~~~!~~1r.:~~~~~st:,~::;;,~n~d:~;":.".~~~=~naJ:.:~~~~ -
5,~:'v;~\';9":'::',:·· • ., :~ 

.. skills and knowfedge areas, listed i_n this domai~ ar~ typical~%._third-~ d ~rth-year .:.~lege stu~d~ ~rk. -. .. 

• H~man Resource Management (28% of degree) .~ ~.:o: , ...., ,....,__..,,. .. . 

!~~ ~~:Y~:~~~~~l;~ ~e~~~~:~~~=j~~:~~;~~j~a;:S~ti~~) as~at:e9n~~s~~1=~~~ =,~~~~r~:=~~~! ~) t 
occupational health, safety an~ security; and .7) core knowledge·required for HR pr~essionals :, ~ -- -··,.-~.,,_ • ..,,_ [1 

Collegiate Reasoning and Problem-Solving Skills, Upper Division°(10% of degree) • , • ~ 
WGU considers problem-solving skills to·be core skills necessary in a variety of'academic and professional settings:
Students_ will demonstrate advanced proficiency In the following subdomal~ : 1) planning and information gathering; _2) · 

f~~~~i~ne~:~~~~ =~~ ~a,:::~~\!!i:~~~~~:i~n~~:i~~ptions and values; 4) interpretation and analysis o!_.k._~ 

• Capstone (5% of degree) 
The purpose of the capstone is to ensure that ad'equafe disciplinary exposure and experiential engagement has 
occurred by requirinQ a culminating demonstration of the student's ability to integrate knowledge and skills learned 
throughout the curriculum. · 

Courses: In addition to using the knowledge and skills already gained through prior study and experience, students engage-in a 
variety of learning opportunities to prepare for their competency-based assessments, including enrolling-in other College and 
University courses, self-study, independent study, etc. The oourses indllded on this transcript were taken by the student upon 
recommendation by WGU to help prepare for compe~ency-based assessments. The providers of these courses are officially 
associated with WGU as authorized Education Providers. WGU transaipts only those grades in which students earn a ·c· or 
better in undergraduate studies, and a ·s· or better in graduate studies. 

RELEASE OF INFORMATION -
In compliance with the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (PL93-380). this infonnation is released on the condition 
that the recioient ·will not oermit anv other oartv to have access to such infonnation without the written consent of the student.• 

To resolve questions of interpretation or for further infonnation please contact the Provost's office at 1801) 274-3280 . 
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Technology Integration (18% of degr8e) .,., .... _ .... ~ ,., • _ _ 
The competencies mastered in this. domain include selectfng and using appropriate hardware and software:.based on - · r..r. 
instructional goals, analyzing and evaluating existing new or innovative tools .and-technlques for the instructional design • 
process, developing technology system specifications, developing innovative technolog -y solutions that solve,instructiollal' -
problems, employing &ystematic .and methodological approaches to diagnose and troubleshoot technology Problems : ... 

following and communicating copyright ~licies, and :ai~taiping :~ropri .:_~ confid~:~ali: pra;c;uces. , 

Management and Innovation {18% of degree) ~-" • • 
The competencies mastered in this domain include overseeing and mana~inQ~a projecf team and its proc~ss, providing for 
relationships between all stakeholders, identifying and securing project resources, developing and managing project budgets 
utilizing appropriate software. conducting appropriate analyses to support and justify a project, anticipatin.9 and iderltifying • · 
barriers and potential risks to project'succes ·s, identifying the potential impacts df proposed changes to current s)'Stems. 
identifying variables and stakeholders that result in ch~nges to the status quo, adapti!X) current systems to-respond to new 
pro.cesses, comparing various models foe change, Identifying .advantages and limitations 1o computer-mediated ' 
communication systems, and :ouUining resource management functions-. 

Research Fundamentals (18% of degree) 
The competencies mastered in this domain include developing an action research strategy, calculating descriptive statistics, 
evaluating significance using inferential statistics, summarizing and critiquing common types of research studies in t~nns ot ... ·• 
research fundamentals, conducting a literature review, and evaluating the reliability !)f primary and secondary source'+-, t: ' 
information. · 

Capstone Project (10% of degree) ... -
The capstone requires the student to demonstrate the integration and synthe_sis of competencies in all domains required for ·· • ' ~-- . 

Courses: Students engage in a variety ·of learning opportunities to prepare for their competency-based assessments, including enrolling in .. 
other College and University courses, self-study 1 independent study, etc. The courses incruded on this transcript were taken' by the -student " 
upon recommendation by WGU to help prepare for competency-based assessments . The providers of these courses are officially 
associated with WGU as authorized Education Providers. WGU transcripts only those grades in which students earn a "C" or better in 
undergraduate studies, and a "B" or better In graduate studies. -'.; - ._-,~· _ 

RELEASE OF INFORMATION 
In compliance with the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (PL93-380) , this information is released on the condition that 
the recipient "will not permit any ofher party io have access to such informatiqn without the· written consent of the student." 

To resolve questions of interpretation or for further information please contact the Provost's office at (801) 274-3280. ; 
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JOB TITIE: 

REPORTS TO: 

Appendix 2: Mentor and Program Coordinator Job Descriptions 

Western Governors University 
Mentor- Job Description 

Mentor 

Provost and Academic Vice President 

Mentors are the critical link between their students and the resources they need to 
develop their competencies. As the title of this vital academic role suggests, high-quality, 
comprehensive advisement is its most important component. The complete range of 
responsibilities includes the following: 

Advisement: 
The mentor assists students in their educational planning and progress from initial 
enro llment to graduation. S/he evaluates student learning styles, skills, deficiencies and 
goals ; assists students in the development of Academic Action Plans; identifies appropri
ate learning resources for them to use; and facilitates their use of those resources. The 
mentor monitors student academic progress, communicating with each student at least 
every two weeks; s/he intervenes as necessary to assist those students having difficulty, 
and completes required University reports on their academic status. The mentor assists 
students in career planning within the boundaries of his or her expertise , and directs 
students to planning resources in other areas as appropriate . The mentor serves as the 
student 's advocate in resolving matters of academic difficulty , misunderstanding or con
fusion. Finally, the mentor chairs the student's capstone or final project committee, veri
fies the completion of all academic requirements, and initiates the gradua tion process. 
Expected student load: 100 undergraduate, 80 graduate . 

Resource Development: 
The mentor, under the leadership of the program coordinator, shares responsibility for 
locating and / or developing appropriate learning resources for students to use. This 
obligation encompasses a range of possibilities and includes locating high quality online 
courseware , locating and/or developing independent study materials, evaluating and/or 
mapping courses and other learning resources for WGU's online catalog , introducing 
other mentors to quality resources that have been located or developed , monitoring and 
reporting on the success of students who use resources that have been ident ified. 

University Service: 
The mentor shares responsibility for promoting and operating the University through 
committee work, outreach , and other assignments appropriate to his or her background , 
expertise , and interests. Assignments may include liaison with a Program Council, par
ticipation on search and project committees , student recruitment and other promotional 
activities , writing grant proposals , and/or development of new programs. 

WESTERN GOVERNORS UN>VERS>TY I 193 



Professional Development: 
The mentor has an important responsibility for continuing professional growth , which 
may occur and be demonstrated in a variety of ways appropriate to individual interests. 
Development of new learning resources for students , research on various aspects of 
WGU's operation, earning a new graduate degree, conference papers and presentations , 
formal publications-these examples suggest the range of potentially important activities 
that could improve both the professionalism of mentors and the reputation of the 
University . 

Time Management and Role Differentiation : 
The role defined here fits current WGU circumstances. As the University grows , mentor 
roles may diversify , so that some may focus exclusively on student advisement while 
others continue to focus on a broader range of activities. The time devoted to each of 
these activities will also change as the University grows, and it will vary according to the 
performance agreements established with individual mentors. For the present , however , 
a rough guideline for a full-time mentor would distribute attention thus: 60-70 percent 
advisement, 10-20 percent resource development, 10 percent university service, and 10 
percent professional development. 

Version 2, July 2002 

Doug las Johnsto ne 
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JOB TITLE: 

REPORTS TO: 

Appendix 2: Mentor and Program Coordinator Job Descriptions 

Western Governors University 
Mentor/Program Coordinator - Job Description 

Mentor/ Program Coordinator 

Provost and Academic Vice President 

Mentors are the critical link between their students and the resources they need to 
develop their competencies. As the title of this vital academic role suggests, high-quality, 
comprehensive advisement is its most important component. Mentors who also have 
administrative responsibilities for program coordination, either on a temporary or contin
uing basis , serve a reduced number of students in proportion to the increase in their 
other duties. The expected student load is determined in consultation with the Provost 
(or the Dean of the Teachers College, as appropriate) and will be revised as program 
circumstances change. The complete range of responsibilities for the Mentor / Program 
Coordinator includes the following: 

Advisement: 
The mentor assists students in their educational planning and progress from initial 
enrollment to graduation. S/he evaluates student learning styles, skills, deficiencies and 
goals; assists students in the development of Academic Action Plans; identifies appropri
ate learning resources for them to use; and facilitates their use of those resources. The 
mentor monitors student academic progress , communicating with each student at least 
every two weeks; s/he intervenes as necessary to assist those students having difficulty, 
and completes required University reports on their academic status. The mentor assists 
students in career planning within the boundaries of his or her expertise , and directs 
students to planning resources in other areas as appropriate. The mentor serves as the 
student 's advocate in resolving matters of academic difficulty, misunderstanding or con
fusion. Finally, the mentor chairs the student 's capstone or final project committee, veri
fies the completion of all academic requirements, and initiates the graduation process. 
Currently expected , average student load: 60-65. 

Resource Development: 
The mentor / program coordinator has leadership responsibility for locating and/or devel
oping appropriate learning resources for students to use , including high-quality online 
courseware and independent study materials. The coordinator evaluates and maps 
courses and other learning resources for WGU's online catalog and introduces other 
mentors to quality resources that have been located or developed; s/he is chiefly 
responsible for developing each degree's "recommended path " and seeing that it 
remains current. The coordinator works with colleagues to monitor and report on the 
success of students who use resources that have been identified. 

WESTERN GOVERNORS UNOVERS>TY I 195 



University Service: 
The mentor / program coordinator promotes and assists the operation of the University 
through committee work, outreach, and other assignments . S/ he serves as chair of his 
or her Program Council , prepares agendas for Council meetings , sees that minutes are 
recorded , and is responsible for follow-up actions that the Council may request. S/ he 
assists the Council and other University leaders in defining new degree possibilities , in 
defining degree structures and required competencies , in evaluating program effective
ness , and in ensuring full and effective communication between the Council, other pro
gram mentors , and the University at large. The coordinator assists in student recruit
ment and other promotion al activities, and s/he serves on search committees for new 
program mentors as well as on other special committees that may be formed. The coor
dinator shares with the Director of Academic Services chief responsibility for the orienta
tion and training of new mentors in the program area, and s/he assists in evaluating 
their effectiveness and guiding their professional development. 

Professional Development: 
The mentor / program coordinator has an important responsibility for his or her own con
tinuing professional growth, which may occur and be demonstrated in a variety of ways 
appropriate to individual interests . Development of new learning resources for students , 
research on various aspects of WGU's operation, earning a new graduate degree , confer
ence papers and presentations, and formal publications are examples that suggest the 
range of potentially important activities that could improve the professionalism of this 
individual, enhance the reputation of the University , and serve as a model for other col
leagues. 

Time Management in the Role: 
While this document describes the range of responsibilities in the coordinator's role , 
individual respo nsibilities will vary in their details and time requirements depending on 
the maturity, size, and specific needs of the program. For instance, coordinators in new 
programs without full enrollments will necessarily devote less time to student advise
ment and more to curriculum and resource development. Mature programs with full 
enrollments, on the other hand , will entail more advisement, less resource deve lopment , 
and perhaps more administrative coordination among mentor s. At this point , the cir
cumstances of each WGU program are so unique that no single model of time manage
ment can apply. Coordinators therefore need to be flexible and open to change as cir
cumstances require, and they need to communicate openly and often with their academ
ic supervisor (the Provost or Dean of the Teachers College , as appropriate) regarding 
work and time priorities. 

Version 2, July 2002 

Douglas Johnstone 
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Mission 

The mission of the University will continue unchanged for the foreseeab le future. 
Western Governors University aims 

... to improve quality and expand access to post-secondary educational opportunities 
by providing a means for individuals to learn, independent of time or place , and to 
earn competency-based degrees and other credentials that are credible to both aca
demic institutions and employers. 

To accomplish its mission, the University will continue to seek over the next four years 
to estab lish its credibi lity, marketability, and scalability . As in last year 's plan, these 
underlying themes continue to shape all of the goals and objectives listed in this docu
ment. 

Goals 

The goals for the planning period flow from the broader mission and goals of the 
University and are established to fulfill its promise. Specifically, over the next four 
years , Western Governors University will endeavor: 

• To be recognized as the preeminent compete ncy-based institution of higher educa
tion in the United States, and 

• To be recognized as a national leader in the provision of high quality learning 
resources and services for distance learning; 

• To achieve accreditation by the Interregional Accrediting Committee (!RAC) in 
recognition of the University 's quality and contributions to American higher educa
tion; 

• To create a Teachers College within WGU with certification , endorsement , and 
advancement programs for teachers that are recognized and accepted throughout 
the University's member states; 

• To create a Center for Business Studies and a Center for Information Technology 
Studies within WGU, each offering a range of undergraduate and graduate pro
grams appropriate to the current and emerging needs of these professions, as a 
first step toward the later creation of colleges in these areas of our focus ; 

• To meet or exceed the enrollment targets estab lished for each year of this plan, 
reflecting steady growth in all the University 's areas of program focus: business, 
information technology , and teacher education. 
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Summary of University Progress 

The following milestones of the University 's progress over the last year arose out of the 
plans made and recorded in the previous iteration of this document. They reflect the 
goals and objectives stated a year ago and provide the platform for continuing progress 
relative to the goals and objectives affirmed for the year ahead . These are the salient 
accomp lishments: 

Academic Programs and Student Services 
National accreditation with the Distance Education and Training Council 
Development, approva l, and new student enrollments in the Bachelor of Science in 
Business , Informati on Technology Management Emphasis; Bachelor of Science, 
Computer Information Systems; and Bachelor of Science in Business, Human 
Resource Management Emphasis (approval received 1/31/02, applications now 
being accepted) ; 
Creation of the Teachers College and appointment of its Dean; 
Articulation agreements with the League for Innovation , community college dis
tricts, four-year colleges , and universities totaling nearly 60 individual institutions ; 
Strengthened the Education Provider network through the work of the EP Selection 
Committee , the advice of the EP Advisory Committee , the inauguration of the EP 
Operations Committee, and comp lete revision of the EP online Handbook . 
Program reviews completed for MLT, AA, AAS-NA; revised competencies and 
assessments for MLT, AA; 
Turnaround on assessment scheduling and scoring improved from up to 90 days to 
less than 30 days, and on essay grading from 30-60 days to 2 days or less; 
Created new student orientation program, with text, online discussion groups, and 
mentor guidance ; 
Produced six graduates (1 AA and 5 MLT) from our programs! 

Marketing and Recruitment 
• Partnership with the National Urban League to provide competency-based learning 

opportunities for national staff and clientele ; 
• Partnership with Sitting Bull College to provide learning opportunities and mentor

ing services for its information technology students; 
• Creation of Novell University as prototype for WGU educational services to corpo

rations ; 
• Creation of State Government Universities in Arizona and Nevada as prototypes for 

WGU educational serv ices to member states, and as major marketing initiatives for 
later degree enro llment s; 

• State recognition of the MLT for teacher advancement in Arizona , Idaho , Montana , 
Nebraska , Nevada , Utah , Washington , and Wyoming; 

• Enrollment increase from 170 degree-seeking students to 432; from 300 non-degree 
students to 2000. 
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Finance and Administration 
Star Schools grant of $10 million from the USDOE to support Teachers College 
development over the next five years; 
Grant of $2 million from the Gates Foundation and the State of Utah to support 
technology leadership training over the next three years for Utah school principals 
and superintendents; 
Grant of $1.8 million from U.S. Congress; 
Over $1 million in private , corporate, and foundation contributions; 
Consolidation of the Denver office staff and functions in Salt Lake to improve stu
dent service and administrative efficiency; 
Implementation of the student information system, on time, on budget, with in
house consolidation of IT support services; 
Nearly doubling University staff with the appointments of: 

• Academic Affairs: Marti Garlett, Tom Zane, Melissa Hayden 
• Mentors: Ron Burgher, Sydney Parent, Jeanne Butler 
• Student Services and Support: Peg Shurtleff, Mandi Popwell-Stokes , Angela 

Stoker , Angie Wright, Chris Mallett, Kate Peterson 
• Financial Aid: Carol Garnett 
• Marketing and Recruitment: Margarita Guerra , Liz Angus 
• Fundraising: Mike Leavitt, Kathy Drahos 
• IT Support and Development: Mike Hubbard, Lujun Zhang; 

• Surpassed the year 's financial plan: under budget on expenses , met revenue tar
gets. 

The Planning Process 

Consistent with past practice, the development of this plan has involved a progressive 
series of interrelated discussions, with appropriate feedback loops among the key con
stituencies of the University. The process occurs each year in two distinct phases. It 

begins with strategic discussions in November-January with the senior management 
team , the faculty and councils , and the Trustees about progress relative to goals in the 
year just completed , as well as priorities and plans for the next three years. This strate
gic phase of the annual planning cycle establishes key objectives for the immediate 
future and allows any refocusing of long-term goals that may be necessary. The results 
are incorporated into a revision of the University 's Development Plan, which is then fur
ther reviewed by University staff, Council members, and Trustees and National Advisory 
Board members . The results are fed back into the monthly Operations Review meetings 
of the senior management team, so that adjustments can be made and coordinated as 
necessary . As these consultations continue the plans for the year ahead acquire more 
definition and detail. 

The refinement of the University 's Development Plan leads to the second , tactical phase 
of planning in May-July, which results in the annual operational plan and budget for the 
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new fiscal year. Here, each major operational area of the University develops its specif
ic budget request , based on its action plan for the yea r, and allocations are confirmed 
following formal approva l of the budget by the Board of Trustees. This plan is 
reviewed monthly in Operations Review meetings by the senior management team , and 
quarterly by the Board of Trustees, and actions are taken to ensure that the plan is 
accomplished. As has been our practice, we will continue to review , evaluate , and 
revise our Development Plan ann ually through our strategy review meetings and we will 
monitor specific activities in the year 's plan at monthly Operations Review meetings. 

Planning Implementation 

The most important function of planning is to prepare the institutional culture for the 
certainty of surprise. No institution can know precisely how its future will unfold , and 
none can control all the elements of that future. Planning is not a matter of pouring 
institutional concrete; it is a matter of creating pathways to defined goals serving a clear 
mission . Some of those pathways are readily discernable, more or less free of obstruc
tion. Some that seem unobstructed will prove to be blocked; others will open unex
pectedly at times unforeseen. The first essential in all planning , therefore, is to cultivate 
the capacity both to persevere in face of the unexpected threat and to act decisively in 
response to the unanticipated opportunity . Neither perseverance nor effective action is 
possible without a clear and constant vision of institutional goa ls.1 

WGU's development over the past three years has proven true to these realities. The 
University 's mission and goals have remained constant. Our areas of degree focus-busi
ness, information technology, education-chosen because they are all areas of high 
national employment need that lend themselves to our competency-based approach, 
likewise remain unchanged. Yet a year ago we cou ld not have predicted the most 
important opportunities we encountered-Star Schools, T-PLUS, and the new HRM 
degree chief among them . It was the goa ls we had established through planning that 
enabled us to create these opportunities, but it was the initiative encouraged by an 
innovative , entrepreneuria l culture that enab led us to respond to them effective ly. 

It is in this cultural context-a cu lture of opportunistic but mission-focused planning-that 
WGU will continue to develop. Our long-term future will continue to depend on our 
ability to develop, introduce , and support a robust and timely array of high-quality, 
attractive , and marketable degree and certificate programs-and to do so more rapidly 
than traditional institutions are usually able to manage. We have severa l competitive 
strengths in this environment. First, the modularity of our program domain components , 
whereby severa l domains can usually serve as common building blocks for a number of 
different programs, should enable us to adapt programs quickly to meet the needs of 
specific const ituencie s. Second , our growing experience with competency-based educa-

1 The second essential in effective plannin g is knowin g you're on the right path once you're moving forward on it. 
Hence, plann ing's shadow is institutional assessment. Taking stock is as important as taking action. Thus WGU 
appoint ed this January its first Director of Institutional Research. About that research, more later. 
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tion and assessment should , over time , enable the process of competency and assess
ment development to become more time and cost-efficient. Third , the range and quality 
of our National Advisory Board should enable us to draw upon an unparalleled reser
voir of knowledge about market trends and emerging employment needs, in turn giving 
us a head start on new program development opportunities. Fourth, our practice of 
enlisting outstanding, nationally recognized experts from both education and industry to 
serve on program and assessment councils should, again over time , produce programs 
that are widely recognized for their quality. Finally, our use of third-party courses from 
Education Providers should allow us to utilize the best instructional content available 
without incurring the time or cost of development for that content. 

In the past year, these potential strengths have begun to prove real ones. For instance , 
our development of the Human Resource Management Emphasis in the Bachelor of 
Science in Business is a clear demonstration of the modular advantages of our develop
ment model. We were able to define the competencies , locate and validate the assess
ment , and substitute the HRM domain for the IT Management domain in the business 
degree within a few months' time , thus creating a new option for students in a highly 
efficient manner. More generally , the entire degree development process is much more 
efficient. Whereas three years ago it might have taken 24 to 30 months to design and 
build a new program, we can now plan with some confidence on a development cycle 
of six to nine months for a complete new program. Similarly, our NAB and Trustees 
have provided substantial help to us in achieving approval to market our degrees in our 
member states , in helping us launch our State Government University (EduLink) initia
tive, and in promoting the development of our Teachers College. More broadly, the 
Board has established a marketing committee to help promote our degrees. Finally, our 
Council structure has given our degrees broader currency and demonstrably assisted us 
in concluding articulation agreements with a number of other institutions, including 
community colleges , senior colleges and universities, and graduate schools. 

Consistent with previous iterations of our development plan , WGU will continue to 
focus on the three broad curricular areas of education, information technology, and 
business for degree and program development throughout this planning period. These 
three industries already employ large numbers of people who seek career advancement 
and the opportunity to apply skills gained through experience to their WGU degree 
requirements , they are amenable to the University 's competency-based approach , and 
they represent areas of continuing , high , national employment need for the foreseeable 
future. Since we have already developed degree programs in these areas, they also 
present the most efficient pathways to program expansion. Associate's degree programs 
offer upward migration routes to bachelor 's and master 's programs in these same areas. 
Master's programs embody end-goals for which associate 's and bachelor 's programs can 
be developed as the building blocks. Associate 's and bachelor 's degree programming in 
one area enables more efficient cross-walking to programs in other areas, since several 
competency domains are common to all of them; in most cases, a new degree emphasis 
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will require the substitution of only one new competency domain. Given the 
University 's projected resources for the next several years, we need to capitalize on 
these synergies in order to achieve our goals within limited budgets. 

Outside these areas we will remain open to program development only when presented 
with clear and compelling evidence of sufficient funding, market need , adequate incen
tives , and manifest compatibility with our mission, goals, methods and strengths. We 
intend to develop appropriate links between and among our primary curricular 
emphases at the associate 's, bachelor's, and master's levels. We intend to focus on the 
efficient and cost-effective development of high-quality degrees, using our building 
block approach to take advantage of generic competencies that are transferable from 
one degree area to another-such as language and communication skills, quantitative 
skills, collegiate reasoning and problem-solving skills, and so on. 

Beyond these general principles , specific objectives for academic program development 
for the period of this plan include the following: 

I. Degrees and Programs 
Teachers College/Education : The Star Schools grant , the WGA scholarship 
initiative , and the needs expressed by the Western governors for assistance in 
meeting regional teacher shortages make additional program development in 
teacher education our first priority for the next several years. Clearly , the Master 
of Arts in Learning and Technology (MLT) has been our largest , most widely 
recognized , and most successful program since its introduction in 1999, and it 
serves as an appropriate introduction to our Teachers College initiative. We 
expect that it will continue to be our largest program at least for the first years of 
this plan, but it will be joined over time by other master 's level programs whose 
enrollments may come to equal those of the MLT by the end of this planning 
period. 

In the course of this plan we will develop the following programs related to 
teacher education (including competencies , assessments, and learning resources), 
to be released in the fiscal years indicated: 

~ 
Teaching Certificate in Elementary Education 

(emphasis in Reading) 
Bachelor of Arts in Interdisciplinary Studies 

(with Elementary Teaching Certification) 
Master of Arts in Teaching 

(Elementary Education) 
Teaching Endorsement in Secondary Mathematics 

(middle and high school) 
Master of Arts in Mathematics Education 
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(elementary , middle, and high school) 
Professional Development Certificate in Elementary Mathematics 
Professional Development Certificate in Early Reading 

2004 
Bachelor of Arts in Mathematics 

(with Secondary Teaching Certification) 
Master of Arts in Teaching 

(Secondary Mathematics) 
Master of Arts in Reading Education 
Teaching Endorsement in English Language Development 
Master of Arts in English Language Development 

l.002 
Graduate Certificate in Reading Education 
Teaching Endorsement(s) in Science Discipline(s) 
Bachelor of Arts in Science Education 

(with Secondary Teaching Certification) 

To support the development of these programs and consistent with our general practice, 
we will construct a Teachers College Council that, like other program councils at WGU, 
will have responsibility for overseeing the structure and competencies of programs relat
ed to teacher certification. We may also construct a Teachers College Advisory Board of 
eminent educators to provide high-level advice and assistance in gaining acceptance for 
our education programs in member states and throughout the nation. Our current 
Education Council will continue to have responsibility for the Master of Arts in Learning 
and Technology and for degrees that may be derived from it. 

Business: With an associate's degree and two bachelor 's degrees already in operation, 
we have made a good start toward the establishment of a Center for Business Studies , 
which we will do in fiscal year 2003. The Center will offer a broad array of degree and 
certificate programs at the associate's , bachelor 's, and master 's levels represents an inter
mediate step toward the possible creation of a College of Business at a later date. 

• During fiscal years 2003-2005, we will add bachelor's degree options in such 
areas as management, marketing , finance , accounting , and sales. Since each new 
area of emphasis involves creating only a single new competency domain-replac
ing information technology management with finance or marketing , for 
instance-scaling up at this rate is both realistic and achievable. Assessment devel
opment for these degrees should also be both time- and cost-effective: in each 
instance our priority will be to use either professional assessments already devel
oped and available (as we did with the Human Resource Management degree) , or 
performance task assessments which we develop for the emphasis domain. We do 
not at this point believe it will be necessary to develop our own objective assess
ments in these areas. 

• During this same period (fiscal year 2003-2005) we will diversify the undergraduate 
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business certificates we offer. Since all of our certificates derive from domains 
within our degrees, they are readily definable and can be marketed as an entree to 
a full degree program. Currently, we offer certificates in Leadership, Business 
Foundations, and Human Resource Management. In fiscal year 2003, we will add 
certificate options in Business and Information Technology Management and 
Business and Technical Skills. In fiscal years 2004-2005 we will add more certifi
cate options derived from the new business degrees as they come online. 

• An important element in the design of the Center will be an attractive and user
friendly Web site analogous to the one developed for the Teachers College . 
During fiscal year 2003 we will be developing that site. All degree and certificate 
options will be presented through it, as will all courses related to those options in 
an easy "click, review , and enroll" format. Courses will also be searchable by 
topic areas and by related sequences for students who may wish to enroll in them 
for personal reasons but not for a certificate or degree. 

• Beginning in fiscal year 2004 we will research and define the master 's degree(s) we 
intend to offer in the business area. In fiscal year 2005 we will submit the 
prospectus for that degree (or those degrees) with the intention to enroll students 
in the second half of that year. 

Information Technology: WGU's third area of curricular focus has also developed a 
strong array of associate 's and bachelor 's programs and is now poised to achieve the 
cohesion of a Center within the University as well. We will take that step in fiscal year 
2003. WGU's Center for Information Technology Studies will expand its offerings in the 
early years of this plan primarily by adding more undergraduate certificates , both our 
own and those from industry. We will continue to consult with our NAB partners con
cerning the feasibility and marketability of additional degrees, but we do not expect to 
add new IT degrees until late in this planning period , if then. Despite its current down
turn , the IT industry moves too fast for us now to predict either the nature or timing of 
new degree options. Thus the emphasis over at least the next two years will remain on 
the expansion and marketing of our current degrees , and both the current and new cer
tificates allied to them. 

• In fiscal year 2003 we will redesign the IT components of our Web site to present 
its programs and courses through the WGU Center for Information Technology 
Studies. As with our business offerings , the objective of the redesign will be to 
create a coherent, comprehensive, attractive, and user-friendly site through which 
students can "click, review , and enroll " in the courses or programs that interest 
them. The site will be searchable by certification, provider, cost, and topic . 

• In fiscal year 2003 and continuing through fiscal year 2004 we will add WGU cer
tificate options derived from domains in our current programs, in areas such as IT 
Fundament als, Software Engineering and Development, Business IT Management , 
and Technology Management. 

• Subject to research findings on program content and test validity , we will also add 
throughout this period additional industry certification options as components of 
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our IT associate's degrees. For instance, we now accept the CNE as a domain 
component of our Associate of Applied Science in IT/Ne twork Administration. We 
will research other professional certifications, such as the MCSE, and whe rever we 
determine that such certifications can be appropriately linked with our degrees we 
will add them. 

• A prominent feature of our IT Center's Web site will be a listing of professional 
certifications and the course packages that prepare students to take their exami na
tions. We expect these packages to come from both educa tional and commercial 
providers, and to change over time-so this will be a con tinuin g work-in
progress-but the objective for fiscal yea r 2003-2004 is to identify and add the best 
of them to our Web site in a searchab le format that enables interested students to 
determine not only such things as costs and duration , but exam ination success 
rates . 

II. Academic Resources 
Mentors: As in past planning , the University continues to project a "steady state" men
tor:student ratio of 1:100 in the undergraduate programs , and a 1:80 ratio in graduate 
programs. We will also continu e our practice of "front loading" academic staff to ensu re 
that enough mentors are available to serve all new students effect ively as they enroll. 
In the case of first hires in a new degree area, the mentor appointment will in most 
cases take place before the degree comes online and before students app ly for admis
sion. In consequence , new mentors will have few students for the first several months 
of their tenure as they master the details of their academic program and new students 
are gradually admitted. 

Mentor development will also continue to be a high priority. Mentors currently have 
access to $500 a year for personal investment in books, journals, software, and other 
professional resources , as well as Univers ity support for pre-approved attendance at up 
to two professional conferences annua lly. Objectives for this planning period includ e: 

1. Professiona l development support: continuation of the professional developm ent 
fund at current levels. 

2. Mentor evaluation system: The development of a formal system that will involve 
self, peer , student, and administrative input is behind schedu le but progressing 
through a mentor -administrative comm ittee . The committee is expec ted to present 
its recommended evaluation propo sals this spring. Once accepted , the system will 
requir e at least a year (fiscal year 2003) to imp lement, experience, and refine as 
may prove necessary. By fiscal year 2004-2005, however, we shou ld be thorough 
ly habituated to a comprehensive and productive mentor evaluation process. 

3. New mentor training: currently mor e structured and reasonab ly thorough compared 
to a year ago, should now be codified more comp letely in a training gu ide or 
handbook , coupled with appropriate resour ce materials for using our information 
management systems. That task should be completed by the end of fiscal year 
2003 and revised as experience requires in subsequent years of this planning period. 
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Education Providers.- We will continue the effort to contact those select providers whose 
courses appear on the recommended paths for our degrees 1) to align their course 
objectives with our competencies; 2) to incorporate the portfolio items and performance 
tasks of our assessments into their course assignments; and 3) to assist them in meeting 
WGU expectations for effective course delivery (e.g., syllabus clarity, timely communica
tions, and quick turnaround with assignment feedback). 

Library Resources .-We will aim to double the number of student users, database search
es, and documents ordered in each year of this plan . In 2002 we will also establish a 
per term library fee (for new ly enrolling students) to help motivate them to use the 
library system; we will monitor the results of the fee in subsequent years to determine 
its effect and modify it as necessary. 

Mapped Courses and Preferred Paths : Although our approach to mapped courses will 
be streamlined by our use of select providers and "recommended paths," the need for 
new resources and the need to monitor the effectiveness of current resources will con
tinue. Approximately a third of the courses currently in our catalog are now mapped, 
but mapping is not a one-time exercise . Catalog courses change continually; new cours
es are added, and previously mapped courses disappear without warning. Hence, the 
overall objective throughout this planning period is to ensure that all "recommended 
path " courses for each degree program are continuously available in the catalog-and 
that they be of the highest quality. In addition , we need to establish a routine for 
updating our recommended paths semi-annually to ensure currency, consistency, and 
value in mentor recommendations about these resources. 

Assessments: WGU's reputation continues to rest on the quality of its assessments . 
These must remain our signature instruments, the unique DNA of the University. We 
are on track to own all of our assessments by the end of this planning period, and the 
ability to deliver all of them online to both domestic and international students is at 
least within reach. These remain key objectives. We have contracted with Prometric, 
Inc ., to use its online test driver , and we have contracted with Chauncey Group 
International to develop the revised assessments for our general education competencies 
(replacing the commercial instruments we have been using from ETS, ACT, and 
DANTES). Procedures are in place to ensure that secure assessments are delivered 
appropriately, and the Prometric driver enables us to deliver a variety of them to any 
desktop . This good progress needs to be extended systematically to ensure that our 
overall goals are met by the end of this planning period. 

The costs of developing assessments are included in the budgeting for each new degree 
program. As programs mature , however, our planning assumes that both assessment 
instruments and the test items within the instruments will have to be revised and / or 
upgraded. Investment in item development, beta testing , and item analysis is essential 
and ongoing. The objectives during this planning period therefore include: 
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1. Assessment upgrades .-fiscal year 2002 investment of $167,000 and a budget 
allowance for continuing enhancement of assessment instruments. 

2. Online assessment delivery.-migrate 60 percent of our assessments to online, com
puter-based testing (or computer-adaptive where feasible) by June 30, 2002; 80 
percent by June 30, 2003; and 95 percent to online delivery by the end of this 
planning period. (As a practical matter, it is likely that we will always have a 
residue of paper and pencil instruments.) 

3. Scoring.-we have achieved this year a one-week turnaround (or less) on 80 per
cent of the assessments we control ; the goal for fiscal year 2003 is 85 percent; for 
fiscal year 2004 and beyond, it is 90 percent. 

m. Academic Support 
Throughout this planning period , the objectives in academic support emphasize continu
ous improvement in systems that facilitate effective mentoring, that enhance student 
learning opportunities and success , and that result in both qualitative and quantitative 
gains that are measurable. They include the following: 

l. Continuing development of new student orientation , with progress monitored for its 
impact on such matters as course enrollment and completion, retention and satis
factory academic progress, and student satisfaction. 

2. Development of a tutor network to provide subject matter guidance and support to 
students who need less structure and depth than enrollment in a course. Students 
referred to a tutor would be those who need to brush up on a competency area , 
not those who need to learn totally new material. We will begin by developing a 
network of tutors in essay and research writing, then expand it to other priority 
areas identified by WGU mentors. 

3. Information management system refinement: With Banner 2000 in operation , we 
must now focus on refinements to the system that will support mentor efficiency 
and effectiveness . The online Academic Action Plan , scheduled to come online 
before June of this year , is foremost among them. It will enable much more rapid 
access to student information and much easier mentor managem ent of student 
records and interactions. Other needs will emerge as our experience with the sys
tem grows. In short, although the huge capital outlays to install the system are 
now behind us , user support going forward will likely remain critical throughout 
this planning period. 

4. Increasing the rate of Satisfactory Academic Progress.- SAP at WGU is defined by 
Federal financial aid requirements and is the product of a simple calculation , the 
number of assessments in a degree program divided by the number of six-month 
terms in the Academic Action Plan. If, for instance , a degree has 20 assessments 
and a five term AAP, it requires the completion of four assessments every six 
month term to maintain Satisfactory Academic Progress. Our conundrum is that 
we have been relatively unsuccessful in holding students to that rate of progress , 
partly because Federal financial aid students are the only ones required to do so , 
and partly because the pattern goes with the territory we have marked out for our-

WESTERN GOVERNORS UN>~ 

I 211 



selves. Working adult students are always faced with myriad intrusions upon the 
time available to their studies, and in consequence they more easily fall behind. 
Consequently , our objective in the years of this plan is to increase SAP progres
sively by taking a number of steps: 1) changing our tuition structure so that stu
dents pay by term, rather than a flat fee for the degree, thus providing students a 
significant incentive to complete their program more quickly ; 2) implementing the 
online AAP so that mentors can track student progress efficiently; 3) finalizing 
reports that will help us track and report on SAP; 4) working with selected EPs to 
have them align their course contents with our competencies; 5) building learning 
communities wherein students can support and motivate each other to maintain 
their progress; and 6) unifying our tuition pricing to include course fees. In 2001, 
only 43 percent of our students took a course as part of their degree program. We 
believe there is a direct relationship between course enrollment and degree 
progress. We also believe that if students are paying for courses as part of their 
tuition (rather than as an option, as currently) they will be motivated to take them . 

5. Implementing steps to improve retention: WGU measures retention based on the 
students that drop their programs after the date of finalized AAP. In 2001 our 
retention rate was 68 percent. Over the next four years we will work on increas
ing retention through the implementation of the new student orientation course, 
facilitation of learn ing communities, stronger follow-up program for "inactive" stu
dents , greater focus on students who do not complete assessments within the first 
six months of their programs, and greater collaboration between the enrollment 
management team and the mentors so that we have an institution-wide retention 
pro gram. Through these efforts we expect to see retention climb above these 
benchmarks: 

2002 - 700/4 
2003 - 71% 
2004- 72% 
2005 - 73% 

IV. Other Support Investments 
The per sonnel investments forecast in the previous iteration of this plan for fiscal years 
2001-2002 were achieved: we appointed a Bursar, a second assessment scheduler, and 
a Director of Institutional Research. Additional appointments in the roll-out years of this 
plan call for addition al mentors , and additiona l marketing-recruiting staff. Apart from 
these appointments, we anticipate need for the following: 

1. Increased office space. Even at present size we cannot accommodate all faculty 
who are interested in working out of our SLC offices. We have no efficient space 
for visiting personnel to work from , and we anticipate adding to our numbers. 

2. Staff development program: Though we have not yet been able to achieve this 
objective, it remains important for us to support a program of staff renewal and 
job-related continuing education. The starting point is a needs inventory , through 
which we cou ld determine priorities for staff training and development. The sec-
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ond step would be a budget to support both group activities and modest individ
ual awards for WGU-related training and development. (Such a budget need not 
be large to make a difference-many corporations offer pro bono training, or work
shops at modest cost , in such areas as stress management , teamwork , telephone 
etiquette , software , etc .) The larger and more complex we become , the more 
important such a program will be for morale and organizational effectiveness. The 
objective by the end of fiscal year 2003: a completed needs inventory. The objec
tive for fiscal year 2004: begin a program . 

V. Marketing and Enrollments: 
Marketing WGU continues to be challenging for a number of reasons. In the past year 
we have exceeded targets and expectations in some areas, under-produced in others. 
One of the important lessons of the past year is that we cannot at this point in our 
development conduct a cost-effective , general marketing campaign. We have neither 
enough name recognition to succeed with that approach nor enough marketing money 
to overcome the recognition problem. We are currently committing over $750,000 annu 
ally to our marketing effort , a substantial amount for a still-small institution but hardly 
half a month 's marketing budget for the University of Phoenix. Where we can conduct 
such marketing at low or no cost-through our Web site or through the assistance of a 
partner like AOL, we will continue to do so. Increasingly , however, our effortS over the 
past year shifted toward "relationship marketing," involving more focused efforts to 
reach special populations. The National Urban League , Sitting Bull College , and State 
Government University (EduLink) partnerships reflect that new emphasis. It also drove 
the expansion of our graduate program because the support of the Western governors , 
the State of Utah, and the Gates Foundation enabled us to market substantial scholar
ship opportunities for teachers and school administrators throughout our member states. 
We exp ect relationship marketing to remain the focus of our marketing strategy through
out this planning period. 

A second lesson of the past year follows: WGU's enrollment will probably never 
progress evenly or entirely according to plan. We are still much better known in higher 
education circles than among potential students , and both distance education and com
petency-based education are appropri ate for only specific audiences. Focused as our 
rec ruiting efforts have become , we have had to adjust to the fact that some of them will 
yield results over the long term , not next term . Within that reality we have learned 
another lesson-that many students , particularly at the undergraduate level, want first to 
enroll with WGU not as matriculants but just to take a course or two. Once comfortable 
with the model , they begin to consider pursuing a degree or certificate program , but 
that transition can take some time. This phenomenon helps to account for the slower 
than projected growth in our undergraduate degree enrollments. Conversely , our gradu
ate enrollments have nearly doubled over projections , and our (non-degree) course 
enrollment s-running about 300 a term a year ago-have multiplied nearly sevenfold to a 
monthly average over 2,000. The latter in particular result from successfully marketing 
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the SGU concept to our member states, and seem also to bear out the observation 
above, because some of these students are beginning to convert from course enrollment 
to degree enrollment. Finally, and just possibly , at this stage of our development we 
may be more successful with graduate student audiences than undergraduate simply 
because of the greater skill levels and self-confidence that more experienced students 
bring to the competency-based model. This is a question that we will continue to mon
itor through our institutional research efforts. 

Perhaps the most important marketing lesson of the past year is that accreditation is not 
a magic bullet. We have learned that through our experience with interregional candi
dacy and nationally with DETC. In all likelihood it will also be true when we pass the 
next stage with !RAC. Accreditation helps to open doors but does not by itself make 
the sale-that will always take a lot of hard work, no matter what our accreditation sta
tus. In the context of this reality, WGU marketing plans include these specific activities 
and objectives: 

l. Interregional accreditation: At a meeting with WGU senior executives on 
February 23, 2002, the Executive Directors of the Interregional Accrediting 
Committee agreed to allow us to select our own timetable for seeking initial 
accreditation, with the two most likely dates for the evaluation site visit being the 
first half of November , 2002, or the first half of January, 2003. We have chosen 
November and are beginning the self-study process that will prepare us for this 
critical event. While initial interregional accreditation is not a panacea, it remains 
a singularly important step for the University, with important marketing, financial, 
and academic implications. We believe that deferral of initial accreditation would 
be a setback considerably more severe than IRAC's first deferral of candidacy in 
2001. 

2. Integrated tuition pricing: Experience has shown that separating the cost of WGU 
tuition from course tuition has at least two negative effects. First, students try to 
avoid the additional cost of courses, relying either on their own independent study 
skills or their mentors to tutor them in preparation for their assessments. Neither 
works well , and in consequence students exacerbate their problems in maintaining 
Satisfactory Academic Progress. Second , corporations and the military cannot 
understand the model and either deny tuition reimbursement or agree to reimburse 
only the cost of course tuition. In consequence , we will move to an integrated 
model this winter (2002) and monitor its impact thereafter. We believe it will be 
easier to explain and sell , both to students and to employers. The model will con
tain a reasonable allowance for course enrollment based on aveage tuition rates at 
Provider institutions and the average length of WGU Academic Action Plans. 
Students capable of accelerating will pay less tuition ; those who require more time 
will pay more. 

3. Staffing · Lorne Grierson 's retirement due to illness was a major loss to our market
ing plans. We have since added two new staff to the marketing team , and we 
have launched a search for Lorne 's replacement as Vice President for Marketing. 
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We anticipate having the new person on board by June 1, 2002. 
4. Corporate tuition reimbursement: Assisted by the revised pricing model, we will 

aim to achieve specific reimbursement agreements and internal promotion of 
WGU's degree opportunities with at least five Fortune 500 corporations and / or 
NAB members in each year of this plan. 

5. Military tuition reimbursement: Assisted by the revised pricing model and DETC, 
we will reapply to DANTES in 2002 for approval of full tuition reimbursement for 
military personnel enrolling at WGU; if successful, we will readdress the VA denial , 
again using DETC's assistance. 

6. State Government University partnerships: We will aim to add two new states to 
the SGU (EduLink) partnership network in each year of this plan. 

7. Banner 2000 inquiry tracking system: We will soon add a software module that 
will enable us to retain the contact data on all inquiries and track a number of 
other data points , including the reasons for a student's enrollment/non-enrollment 
decision, length of time between various action points , and so on. The system 
will enable more effective follow-up and provide information for use in marketing 
research and planning. 

8. State approvals: Our MLT degree is now approved for teachers in Idaho, Montana , 
Nebraska , Nevada, Utah , Washington , and Wyoming, as well as in select districts of 
Arizona and Texas. These represent nearly half of WGU's member states . Over 
the life of this plan we will seek to obtain approvals from all other member states, 
as well as at least 10 others , not only for the current master's degree, but for all 
degrees developed and offered by the Teachers College. 

9. T-PLUS: Recruit, enroll, and graduate 70 percent of Utah's principals and superin
tendents by the end of fiscal year 2004. Market this certificate program in 
Technology Leadership to other states where WGU's education degrees are recog
nized and approved for professional advancement. 

10. Sponsored Scholarships: Continue development and marketing of the Teachers 
Legacy Scholarship program, and others like it, to provide teachers with the finan
cial assistance needed to pursue their career goals through WGU. 

11. Articulation agreements: Efforts to develop agreements with other institutions have 
been highly successful and will continue. In the years ahead , however, marketing 
WGU's programs to articulating community colleges will take priority over new 
agreements. As a result of this and other promotional efforts, our objective is to 
enroll 20 students from articulation partners in fiscal year 2003, 40 in fiscal year 
2004, 80 in fiscal year 2005, and 160 in fiscal year 2006. 

VI. Institutional Effectiveness 
The ultimate questions about WGU's institutional effectiveness are embedded in our 
mission statement. We seek to improve quality and expand access. Are we doing it, 
how well are we doing it, and how do we know? We aim to develop programs that 
students may pursue independent of time and place. Are we succeeding , and how 
we!P We want our programs to be credible to other educational institutions and 
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employers. Are they, and what 's the evidence? Within these questions lie others more 
instrumental but also in need of answers: How efficient is our model? How efficient 
are our systems? How productive is the institution? By what measures , and against what 
benchmarks? 

Getting to the answers for such questions begins with the adequacy and accuracy of the 
data collected on a daily basis in our information management system, the reports gen
erated from that system, the analysis we bring to those reports, and the quality of the 
overall plan driving the institutional research process. We have made good progress in 
this area since last year. Banner 's installation was followed by Dr. Alec Testa 's appoint
ment as Director of Assessment and Institutional Research , a natural extension of his 
experience in these areas over the past four years. We have now converted all previous 
data to the Banner system and developed, tested, verified , and refined our baseline 
tracking reports. We have integrated assessment , enrollment, financial , and student 
record databases. We now regularly generate and use the following reports as indica
tors of what is going on in the institution. Those underlined are reviewed monthly at 
Operations Review meetings; the others are reviewed at least annually: 

• Inquiry admission enrollment by program 
• Inquiry admission enrollment by source 
• Enrollment demographics 
• Assessments scheduled delivered results 
• Enrollment by state and country 
• Demographics by program 
• Retention rates by program 
• Course enrollment demographics 
• Course enrollment by state and country 
• Satisfactory academic progress by program and mentor 

In conjunction with establishing these foundations for an institutional research program , 
we pursued throughout last year the research agenda outlined in our development plan. 
We completed reviews of the Master of Arts In Learning and Technology (MLn , the 
Associate of Applied Science in IT/ Network Administration , and the Associate of Arts 
(AA); the last included a review of all general education competencies and assessments 
required in our associate's degree programs. It analyzed course enrollments matched to 
results on corresponding assessments , rates of Satisfactory Academic Progress , test items 
and assessment performance. New test items were created where warranted. In the 
case of the ML T, students were also asked to complete a survey on the relevance of the 
competencies to workplace realities. The MLT review resulted in some reorganization 
and streamlining of competencies (the number of domains condensed from six to five), 
revision of several assessments, and construction of comprehensive guidelines for cap
stone studies . The revised program is scheduled to come online within the next month. 

The AA review resulted in two major changes. First, it pruned the degree (and other 
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associate's degrees) of Basic Work Related Skills and Collegiate Academic Skills, two 
domains that mentors , students, and the Program Council thought belonged more prop
erly within the framework of the new student orientation rather than as stand-alone 
domains. Second, the Council thoroughly revised the competencies in Language and 
Communication Skills and Quantitative Literacy. That done , we contracted with 
Chauncey Group International to develop WGU assessments that better match the com
petencies and that will enable us to give students more detailed and rapid feedback 
regarding their strengths and weaknesses. Beta testing of these new instruments will be 
completed within the next two months , and the revised programs will be in service 
before June l. We are also developing alternative instruments to replace the current 
CLEP/ DANTES tests for the Distribution domain. We aim to achieve that objective by 
the end of fiscal year 2003. 

Because our Council structure and program development processes are designed to 
ensure from the beginning a strong link between competency requirements and work
place effectiveness, we are most interested in validating that linkage . The MLT survey 
of srudents ' perceptions of the match between the domains of the degree and their rele
vance to their daily work is a first step in this direction. (They feel they line up well.) 
Though the survey was student-centered and the "N" was relatively small (31 students 
responded , about 20 percent of then total program enrollments) , the results were 
informative. As important, the research office can now administer this and other sur
veys like it annually across programs as they reach critical mass. Such studies represent 
an early but useful step toward integrating internal program effectiveness (how students 
progress toward their degrees) with one measure of external effectiveness (perceived 
value in the outside world) to achieve a comprehensive understanding of institutional 
performance . 

Having installed a sophisticated information management system , appointed a Director 
of institutional Research, proven that we can conduct comprehensive program review s 
on schedule and according to plan, we can say that all the building blocks are in place 
for a sound institutional research program. We are committing in excess of 15 percent 
of institutional budget to research in this fiscal year and will maintain at least that level 
in each year of this plan . We next need to integrate the blocks in a comprehensive plan 
for analyzing and improving institutional effectiveness. Our objective is to have that 
plan in place by the end of fiscal year 2002. The task in the years that follow will be to 
implement it. 

VII. Revenue and Expenses 
The preceding objectives lead to and rest on projections of enrollments and revenue from 
tuition, fees, grants, and contributed support that are ambitious but realistic in the context of 
past experien ce. The attached budget (see Appendix 13, p. 307); provides more detail on 
these projections for the next four fiscal years. As always, progress relative to planning objec
tives and budget expenditures will be monitored monthly at Operations Review meetings. 
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Appendix 4: Institutional Effectiveness Plan 

Western Governors University 
Institutional Effectiveness Plan 

The primary purpose of the Western Governors University (WGU) Institutional 
Effectiveness Plan (IEP) is to describe how the University defines effectiveness, to indi
cate how it is measured , and to describe how the results are used . The secondary pur
pose of the plan is to describe WGU's quality measures (e .g., program review , student 
satisfaction surveys). The third purpose of the plan is to describe efficiency measure s 
(e.g., courses available to students, assessment delivery reports) . 

Effectiveness 
The evaluation of institutional effectiveness occurs in these three areas: 

Enrollment: To what extent is the University meeting its enrollment goals? 
Student Progress: What proportion of students are making satisfactory academic 
progr ess, what is the retention rate, and what is the graduation rate)? How can 
the University be sure its academic programs are of high quality? 

• Managing to Resources: How do expenses compare to revenue , month -to-month 
and year-to-date? 

Attending to these three areas ensures, more than any other measures , the ongoing via
bility of the institution. 

Enrollment 
Student enrollment data is the responsibility of the Enrollment Manager. Data is entered 
into the University 's student inform ation system and monit ored through the Headcount 
Analysis Report. Enrollments are reported monthly at the Operations Review meeting 
(atte nd ed by all WGU senior manag ers) and at semi-annual planning meetings. This 
data is used to determine how well WGU meets enrollment projections , the impact of 
marketing initiatives, where resources are to be spent, what incentive s might be used, 
and where changes to enrollment services might facilitate student enrollment. 

Student Progress 
Student pro gress data is the respon sibility of the Director of Academic Services , while 
the Director of Assessment and Institution al Resea rch is responsible for related quality 
measures (see mor e on these measures in the section below on "Quality "). Each month 
at Operations Review mee tings, the Director of Academic Services reports the numb er of 
student s who are meeting academic progress, the number of students enrolled in cours
es, the numb er of students who have completed domains, the number of students who 
have gone six month s without takin g an assessment , the number of students who have 
gone six months without taking a course, the number of expected graduates , and the 
retention rate for eac h program. Data from these reports are used to determine overall 
WGU effectiveness in helping students achieve their educational goa ls and evaluation of 
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the seivices designed to assist matriculated students. 

Managing to Resources 
Monthly financials are the responsibility of the Director of Finance and Human 
Resources. Monthly financial statements include revenue and expenses for each previ
ous month and for the year to date. Revenues and expenses are reported by functional 
areas (e.g., academic seivices , academic leadership, information technology, and market
ing). The senior management team reviews these monthly at Operations Review meet
ings. Annual budgets are developed through the University's planning process as 
described in the WGU Development Plan. 

These three essential measures are not only reviewed at monthly Operations Review 
meetings attended by the senior management team, but they are also reported quarterly 
by the President to the Board of Trustees. 

Quality 

Institutional effectiveness and viability are directly related to program quality. The 
University relies on three activities to ensure program quality: academic outcomes 
assessment , academic program review , and student satisfaction suiveys . 

Academic Outcomes Assessmen t 
Perhaps more than any other institution of higher education , WGU has defined the aca
demic outcomes of its graduates and has in place a system of assessment to ensure that 
students have demonstrated the required competencies. Readers should remember that 
students can graduate from WGU based only on their demonstration of competence and 
not through the normal means of accumulating specified credit hours and grade points. 
The integrity of the outcomes assessment process at WGU is ensured , in part , by the 
oversight of the WGU Assessment Council , eight national and international leaders in 
assessment of student learning (listed in Appendix 6, "WGU Council Members") who 
establish all assessments and set WGU policy related to assessment. 

Academic Program Review 
All academic programs undergo a program review every two years. The Provost, in 
accordance with WGU policy , establishes the timeline for program review with the 
Coordinating Council and each of the Program Councils. WGU program review criteria , 
established in consultation with the Coordinating Council and the Assessment Council, 
are: 

Review and Revision of Competencies: Do the competencies remain relevant , at the 
appropriate level of complexity? 
Students ' Performance on Assessments: How well are students performing on 
assessments? 
Performance of Assessments: Item and form analysis to ensure that assessments are 
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valid. 
• Availability of Learning Resources: Is there sufficient quality content available in 

the WGU catalog to ensure that students can meet degree requirements? 
• Performance of Learning Resources: How do students who take courses from the 

WGU catalog perform on assessments' 
Enrollment , Retention, and Graduation: How well are students persisting , what 
progress are they making , what is their retention rate, what are their graduation 
rates? 
Student Satisfaction: How satisfied are students with their programs , learning 
opportunities , assessment services , and new student programs and services? 

The Director of Assessment and Institutional Research is charged by the Provost to gath
er these data elements and disseminate them to the appropriate Program Council, the 
Coordinating Council, and the Assessment Council. These results lead to program 
changes and are documented in the final summary of the program review. 

Student Satisfaction Surveys 
In addition, students are surveyed about their satisfaction with every critical element of 
the WGU model: 

• Assessment delivery 
• Learning opportunities 
• New student experience 
• Program delivery and mentoring (i.e., faculty) 

It is the responsibility of the Director of Assessment and Institutional Research to devel
op surveys in consultation with appropriate constituencies , deliver the surveys , and 
compile the results . Results are reported out to the Provost, appropriate manager , 
and / or program coordinator. 

Efficiency 

Management scrutiny of viability on a monthly basis, and ongoing evaluation of quality , 
are important to ensure the long-term health of the University. However , to help ensure 
that viability and quality are maintained , WGU also concerns itself with how efficient it 
is in serving students. Typically these data elements are not reviewed at the senior 
management level , but are used instead by academic managers to determine either the 
availability of services to students (e.g., catalog courses that map to WGU competencies) 
or how well key support services are meeting students ' needs (e.g., outstanding assess
ment referrals). These are listed in Attachment A on page 229. In the future , WGU 
intends to explore , design , and implement a number of other efficiency measures . 
Currently the WGU academic management team is considering cost per student and cost 
per graduate as two such measures. 
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Integration with Mission, Goals, an d Planning 

To ensure institutional success , any evaluation process must both spring from and 
inform an integrated planning process . The mission, goals, and planning process for 
WGU are des cribed in the WGU Development Plan. The table below includes the WGU 
mission , its goa ls (both approved by the WGU Board of Trustees) , the planning areas 
from the Development Plan , and the three areas of evaluation described in this plan 
(effectiveness, quality , and efficiency) and how they relate to one another . Taken as a 
whole , they demonstrate the integrity of the University's mission , planning, and evalua 
tion . 

Mission: To improve quality and expand access to post-secondary educationa l oppo r-
tunities by providing a means for individuals to learn, independent of time or place, 
and to earn competency-based degrees and other credentials that are credib le to both 
academic institutions and employers. 

Goals Planning Areas Evaluation Measures 

1. To be recognized as the pre -
• Degrees and 

Programs 
eminent competency-based insti- • Academic Resources • Quality 
tution of higher education in the • Academic Support 
United States, and • Institutional 

Effectiveness 

2. To be recognized as a nation-
• Degrees and 

Programs 
al leader in the provision of high • Academic Resources • Quality 
qu ality learnin g resources and • Academic Support • Efficiency 
services for distance learnin g; • Institutiona l 

Effectiveness 

• Degrees and 
Programs 

3. To achieve accreditation from • Academic Resources 

the Interregion al Accrediting • Academic Support 

Committee (IRAC) in recogni tion • Other Support • Effectiveness 
of the University 's quality and Investments • Quality 
contributions to American higher • Marketing and • Efficiency 
education; Enrollment 

• Institutional 
Effectiveness 

• Revenue and 
Expenses 
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4. To crea te a Teac hers College 
within WGU with certification, 
endorsement , and advancement • Degrees and • Quality 
programs for teache rs that are Programs • Effectiveness 
recognized and accepted 
throughout the University's 
member states; 

5. To create a Center for 
Business Studies and a Center 
for Information Technology 
Studies within WGU, each offer-
ing a range of undergraduate • Degrees and • Quality 
and graduate programs appro- Programs • Effectiveness 
priate to the current and emerg-
ing needs of these professions, 
as a first step toward the later 
creation of Colleges in these 
areas of our focus; 

6. To meet or exceed the • Academic Resources 
enrollment targets established , • Academic Support 
reflecting steady growth in all • Marketing and • Effectiveness 
the University's areas of pro- Enrollment • Efficiency 
gram focus: business, informa- • Institutional 
tion technology , and teacher Effectiveness 
education (Development Plan). 

Conclusion 
We have defined the institutional effectiveness measures necessary to ensure the viabi lity 
of the University ; we have implemented the quality measures that will ensure the 
integrity of the University's academic programs; and we use a number of efficiency 
reports to assist our efforts to improve in these areas. These eva luation efforts are con
sistent with our mission, with the goals and Development Plan approved by the Board 
of Trustees , and with our commi tment to fulfilling the visionary promise of the 
University. 
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Anachment A - Efficiency Measures 

Academic Services Measures 
Percent of Program Complete: Reports students' SAP against time in AAP. 
Degree and Class Count: Reports degree and class counts for each major. 

• Mentor: Reports milestone dates, assessment and course information for all stu
dents. 
Program Percentage Reporl: Reports students' percentage of program complete. 
SAP Benchmarks Reporl: Reports students' satisfactory academic progress. 

• Student Basic Information: Reports student basic demographic and enrollment 
information. 

Assessment Measures 
• Assessment Activity: Details every assessme nt referral from the point of referral to 

completion . Indicates student , assessment, mentor, assessment site, and dates for 
each point in the process (referra l, site, schedu le, taken, scored) . With other 
reports used to rectify assessment data. 

• Assessment Activity Summary : Summarizes for a designated date range the comple
tion of referrals for each assessment for each poi nt in the process . Primarily used 
to rectify the Month ly Assessment Activity Summary Report. 

• Assessment Summary: Details for a program and designated date range student 
success on assessments . 

• Assessment/Class Completed Reporl: Indicates the number of assessments taken and 
completed and courses listed by major. 
Conditional Pass Reporl: Reports outstanding conditional passes. 
Domain Assessment Summary Reporl: Reports for each student a summary of 
domains and assessments completed, along with assessments passed and failed . 
Domain Completion Report: Reports the domains completed by students during a 
given date range . Used to generate congratulation letters to students from the 
Provost . 

• Monthly Assessment Activity Summary Report: Provides month-by-month summary 
for a given date range of assessment de livery and scoring along each point in the 
process . Reports separately for pre-assessments and summative assessments. 
Pending Assessment: Reports all assessments that are referred but are neither 
scheduled nor scored . 

Learning Opportunities Measures 
• Approved Courses: Reports courses that have been submined and approved dur

ing a specified time period . 
Class Rosters: Reports all WGU enrollments in EP courses. 
Completed Courses: Reports courses that have been completed still requiring a 
Student Outcomes Report. 

• Student Outcome Reports : Reports outcomes of courses taken by students. 
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Enrollment Measures 
Active Students.- Reports all active students , and sorts by either mentor or student. By 
drilling down student contact and admissions information is available . 
Admission Funnel Report: Reports yield from application , admission, enrollment, and 
matriculation. 
Class Enrollments.- Reports details of all enrollments in the WGU catalog . 
Drop/Withdraw Report: Reports all students who have dropped or withdrawn , can be 
sorted by student or mentor. 
Enrollment Status : Reports students that match selected enrollment statuses. 
Enrollment Summary: Reports student demographic data for a given date range. 
Enrollments per EP: Reports enrollments for each approved EP for both current and 
prior terms , and the number of drops / withdraws. 
Leave/Break Report: Reports all students on leave or break, sorted by student or mentor. 
Locate Application.- Reports students who have created a login but never completed an 
application. 
Unpaid Enrollments: Reports students who have enrolled in a course but have not paid 
course tuition. 
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Appendix 5: WGU Personnel 

Michael Abel 
Assessment Developer - WGU Teachers College 

Michael H. Abel is an Assessment Developer in the Teachers College. He received a 
Bachelor of Arts degree from Brigham Young University in 1973, and received his 
Master of Arts degree in International Relations from the University of Southern 
California in 1981. Mr. Abel served as an intelligence officer in the U.S. Army for 14 
years, and then accepted a position as the first commander of a new intelligence unit in 
the Utah Air National Guard. After nine years of service in the Air National Guard, he 
retired as a lieutenant colonel. Prior to joining Western Governo rs University he worked 
as a software instructor, and as a project manager and assessment developer for a psy
chometric services company . 

Myrna Ackerlind 
Executive Administrative Assistant 

Myrna Ackerlind is the Executive Administrative Assistant to President Robert W. 
Mendenhall. Myrna anended the University of Utah two years taking various business 
courses , and has been an administrative assistant for officers of a property/casualty 
insurance agency , an architectura l firm, and a law firm. Prior to joining WGU, she was 
legal assistant to the corporate counsel at an individual/group medical insurance compa
ny. 

Elizabeth Angus 
Marketing Manager 

As Marketing Manager, Ms. Angus is responsible for developing online and offline mar
keting , advertising , and lead generation programs targeting prospective students and 
employees of state governments , school districts and WGU's corporate partners. Prior to 
joining WGU, she gained experience in marketing , product management , and public 
relations in the Internet software , advertising, television, and financial services industries , 
most recently at Excite@Home. Her background and training includes strategic plan
ning , branding programs , database marketing, direct mail/email, partnership marketing, 
business development, loyalty/ CRM programs, market and product research, web site 
content development, and print, TV, radio , outdoor, and online advertising. She has 
developed marketing programs at local and national levels , and has worked with 
numerous corporate partners and clients including Dell, AT&T, Wachovia, Wells Fargo , 
@Work, Arby's, and First Data Corp. Ms. Angus is a graduate of the University of Utah 
where she earned a Bachelor of Science in Marketing . 

Jackie Bragdon 
Administrative Assistant 

Jackie Bragdon serves as the Administrative Assistant to the Provost and Academic Vice 
President, and to the Director of Assessment and Institutional Research. She also pro
vides a wide range of clerica l services to other academic staff. In additiona l to her sup-
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port duties , she serves as the meeting and event coordinator to the University's eight 
councils. Her background experience includes military civil service , work in the fields 
of computer-aided design and laser optics, and most recently, serving for six years as 
assistant to a Dean at a community college in California. Ms. Bragdon is currently 
enrolled in the WGU Business Program. 

Dr. Dennis Bromley 
Program Coordinator / Mentor 

Dennis Bromley , the Business Program Coordinator, came to WGU from Central 
Wyoming College where he had been a professor of business management for the past 
16 years. His teaching background is rich in diversity as a result of serving many years 
as a one-person department. Over the years he has designed and taught management, 
marketing , legal environment of business, commercial law, business organizations and 
government regulations , small business management, sales, advertising, human resource 
management, human relations, problems in retail mid-management supervision, and 
supervision . He has been actively involved in the business community , first as a direc
tor of the Small Business Development Center and , more recently , as the director of cus
tomized training services . He was also recognized at Central Wyoming College as a 
leader in curriculum design, competency-based education, and assessment. He was a 
leader in the campus-wide assessment effort by shaping a model for program review, 
serving as a member of the institutional effectiveness team , chairing the team for two 
years , and conducting in-service training in competency-based objective writing and 
assessment. Dr. Bromley earned his doctorate through the business information systems 
and education department at Utah State University in 1993, his master 's degree in voca
tional education with an emphasis in business from the University of Wyoming , and his 
bachelor 's degree in marketing and distributive education from the University of 
Wyoming. 

Dr. Jeanne Butler 
Mentor/WGU Teachers College 

Jeanne M. Butler received her Ph.D. from University of Southern California in instruc
tional technology. She completed a Master 's in Education of the Hearing Impaired at 
Southern Methodist University and a Bachelor of Science in Education from University of 
Colorado Boulder . She specializes in instructional design and development; the design 
and development of Web-based instructional systems and courseware; and program 
evaluation. Dr. Butler has been a graduate faculty member in the overseas programs of 
the University of Southern California and Boston University and an adjunct faculty mem
ber for University of Colorado Denver and University of Nebraska Kearney. She taught 
courses in instructiona l design , evaluation , researc h methods , CBT, change management 
and organizational development. 

Before joining Western Governors University , Dr. Butler was a consultant with HSA 
Learning Solutions and with Ernst and Young , LLP. As a consultant, she worked with 
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corporations, government agencies and educational institutions to develop Web-based 
learning delivery and tracking systems and to design Web-based courseware. She is 
based in Kearney , Nebraska. 

Bradley Collings 
Director of Development , State and Corporate Programs 

As the Director of Development, Mr. Collins promotes and markets WGU degree pro
grams, certificates, and courses to its member states and corporations. He also builds 
relationships, fostering good will and promoting WGU's "value add" with state govern
ments and corporate partners. He also develops new educational opportunities, while 
increasing student enrollment for the university. Mr. Collins received his Bachelor 's 
degree in Business Management and Marketing from the University of Phoenix. He 
comes to WGU from the private sector where he was a successful entrepreneur and 
business owner. 

Steven Curtis 
Chief Technology Officer 

Steve Curtis is the Chief Technology Officer for WGU. Mr. Curtis is responsible for all 
information systems and technology infrastructure of the University. He founded PlaNet 
Software in July 1996 to develop custom client / server Web-based instructional manage
ment applications using Internet/Intranet technologies including Active-x, Java, and 
Web-based database systems. PlaNet also provides a wide variety of consulting services 
related to the design, development , and implementation of educational , instructional, 
and training networks and client/server software systems. Prior to founding PlaNet 
Software (from August 1992 until July 1996), Mr. Curtis was the Vice President of 
Software Research and Development at Jostens Learning, the nation 's largest provider of 
educational software and services to K-12 schools. While at JLC, he was responsible for 
strategic planning , organizational development , productivity enhancement , operational 
problem solving, partnership development , and product architecture , design , and devel
opment for the software R&D organization. He was directly responsible for directing a 
multi-location software engineering and project management team of 60 software engi
neers and developers. Mr. Curtis was with Wicat (World Institute for Computer-Assisted 
Teaching) Systems , Inc., from January 1983 until August of 1992. As Director of Research 
& Development , he was responsible for all aspects of program and project management, 
requirements definition, software analysis , software design, software development , and 
configuration management. 

Kathy Drahos 
Administrative Assistant 

Kathy Drahos serves as the Administrative Assistant to the Vice President of 
Development for Western Governors University, Max Farbman. She is also 
Administrative Assistant to Michael Leavitt, Director of Development Coordinator. In this 
position Ms. Drahos provides a wide range of administrative and clerical support. 
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Before coming to WGU about a year ago, she worked for Weyerhaeuser Company in 
Washington State where she was Administrative Assistant to the Corporate Secretary and 
the Board of Directors. Ms. Drahos has more than 20 years of administrative experi
ence. 

Dr. Daniel Eastmond 
Director of Learning Resources 

Dr. Dan Eastmond joined the Western Governors University (WGU) as Director of 
Learning Resources , responsible for providing educational resources in support of WGU 
degree programs. Prior to joining WGU he served on the faculty of the Technology for 
Training and Development Division, School of Education, at the University of South 
Dakota (USD). At SUNY Empire State College 's Center for Distance Learning in New 
York State, Dr. Eastmond served as academic coordinator responsible for adjunct faculty 
development , student services, and curricu lar support, and as assistant to the vice presi 
dent for academic affairs. Dr. Eastmond worked for Chevron Information Technology 
Company and Marketing Information Systems in California as a corpora te training spe
cialist/analyst , designing courses for interactive multimedia , video , computer-based 
instruction, and classroom delivery. He earned his doctorate in adult education at 
Syracuse University , an educational specialist degree in instructiona l technology at Utah 
State University , a master 's degree in the cultural foundations of education from the 
University of Utah, and a bachelor of arts in liberal studies at Utah State University. 

Max Farbman 
Vice President of Development 

Max A. Farbman is Vice President of Development Mr. Farbman received a Bachelor of 
Arts degree with Honors from New York University in 1970, and received his Juris doc
torate degree from Southwestern University Law School in 1973 where he was a mem
ber of the Southwestern University Law Review. He was admitted to the Utah State Bar 
in 1973, and is a member of the American Bar Association. Mr. Farbman has served as 
chairman of Econom ic Development Corporation of Utah, Chairman of the Utah State 
Board of Business and Economic Development , President of the Utah Opera Company , 
and on the Board of Trustees and as Chairman of the Sundance Film Festival. He is cur
rently Chairman of the Governor 's Specia l Projects Committee and is a member of the 
Board of the Coalition for Utah 's Future. 

Holly Francis 
Assistant Assessment Coordinator 

Holly Francis is the Assistant Assessment Coordinator . She is responsible for the citing 
and scheduling of student assessments , the distribution of student pre-assessments , 
locating testing sites and / or proctors for student assessments , maintaining records in 
WGU's Student Information System, and proctoring student assessments at the Salt Lake 
City facility. Prior to joining Western Governors University , she worked for four years as 
an Information Specialist in the financial aid office at Utah State University. Ms. Francis 
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earned her Bachelor of Science degree in English , with an Emphasis in Technical 
Writing/Communication, at Utah State University . 

Dr. Marti Watson Garlett 
Dean - WGU Teachers College 

Marti Watson Garlett is Dean of the Teachers College at Western Governors University 
where she is tasked with developing the first competency-based , online teacher educa
tion programs in the United States. Formerly she was Academic Dean of the School of 
Education at The Kaplan Colleges and , prior to that, Director of Teacher Education at 
Azusa Pacific University in Los Angeles County, California , where she crafted the first 
alternative multiple subject preparation program ever approved by the California 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing . Dr. Garlett began her career as a K-8 classroom 
teacher and taught in classrooms in urban, suburban , and rural settings. She also served 
for a decade as the television teacher "Miss Marti" on the syndicated children's program 
Romper Room. In addition, she is a citizen of the world, having taught on five conti
nents and visited 28 countries. Her Ph.D . is from Claremont Graduate University, her 
Ed.S. from Wichita State University, and her master 's degree from Peabody College of 
Vanderbilt University. 

Carol Garnett 
Financial Aid Administrator 

Carol Garnett administers the federal Title IV financial aid programs authorized by the 
U.S. Department of Education Distance Education Demonstration Program. Her respon
sibilities include all financial aid student contact, processing applications, awarding 
funds , monitoring disbursement of funds , reporting, writing and implementing financial 
aid policies and procedures and managing the programs in accordance with federal stu
dent aid rules and regulations. She has 25 plus years in financial aid with the most 
recent past experience as Director of Financial Aid at community college of Denver. Ms. 
Garnett has a Bachelor of Arts in Sociology from the University of Connecticut. 

Kara Garten 
Web Information Manager 

Kara Garten is the Web Information Manager for WGU and is based in Pullman, 
Washington. Responsible for the day-to-day operations of WGU's Web site and associat
ed systems , Ms. Garten assists with the maintenance , development , and troubleshooting 
for the sites used by WGU staff, students and education providers . She works closely 
with WGU's Web programmers to continuously enhance the functionality and usability 
of the University 's site. Prior to beginning her work with WGU in September 1997, Ms. 
Garten was the associate editor for the American Association of Community Colleges 
(AACC) in Washington, DC, where she produced a bi-weekly publication for AACC 
members. Her previous work experience includes covering higher education for a daily 
newspaper. She earned her bache lor's degree in journalism (Summa Cum Laude) from 
the University of Idaho. 
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Jeanne Glaittli 
Director of Finance and Human Resources 

Jeanne Glaittli is the Director of Finance and Human Resources for WGU. Ms. Glaittli is 
responsible for the management and reporting of finances for the University as well as 
for its human resource functions. Prior to her employment with WGU in November 
1997, she was Controller for Jupiter Property Management in Park City, Utah, and has 
worked in Washington, D.C. for KPMG Peat Marwick as an auditor. Her focus was in 
the nonprofit and real estate industries. She received her Bachelor 's Degree in 
Accounting from the University of Utah in 1988. 

Gregory Gough 
Director of Enrollment 

Gregory S. Gough is the Director of Enrollment for WGU. His responsibilities include 
all activities related to the recruitment of students in WGU degree programs. These 
activities include contacts with State Boards of Education in WGU's affiliated states, and 
representing WGU to the U.S. military and various corporate entities. In addit ion , he 
serves as project lead on various training initiatives and scholarsh ip activities for the 
University . Prior to joining WGU in April 1998, he served as Director of Enrollment for 
the University of Phoenix, Utah Campus. Mr. Gough received his Bachelor of Arts 
degree in Language from Brigham Young University and his Master of Arts degree in 
Organizational Management from the University of Phoenix. 

Wendy Gregory 
Enrollment Manager 

Wendy Gregory is the Enrollment Manager for WGU. Ms. Gregory is responsible for 
working with prospective students who are seeking information regarding WGU and the 
programs it offers. This involves responding to both email requests and calls coming 
into the call center. The enrollment department then works with the student from the 
steps of initial inquiry through the admission process. Prior to coming to WGU, she 
worked at the University of Phoenix for 14 years at the Utah , Nevada , and the 
Oklahoma City locations. She has held positions as Academic Advisor, Lead Academic 
Advisor, Operations Manager and Enrollment Counselor . Ms. Gregory received her 
Bachelor of Arts degree in Management from the University of Phoenix in 1991. 

Margarita Guerra 
Marketing Representative 

Margarita Guerra came to WGU with a solid background in higher education , specifical
ly working with the recruitment and retention of non-traditional students. Ms. Guerra is 
responsible for implementing targeted recruiting and marketing efforts for WGU degree 
programs. Previous experience includes being the Acting Director of Services for 
International Students , Students with Disabilities , and Multicultural Students, and the 
Coordinator of Services for Women Students at Weber State University. Prior to that , she 
worked in Graduate Admissions for the College of Social Science at Michigan State 
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University. She also was an active board member for NASPA ii Student Affairs 
Administrators in Higher Education. Additionally, she has business-to-business sales and 
account management experience in the wireless communications industry. With a 
strong commitment to international education, she has studied in Spain and India, 
including working at the Madras Government Hospital. Ms. Guerra holds a Bachelor of 
Arts degree in Sociology from Alma College and a Master of Social Work from Michigan 
State University. 

Dr. Melissa Hayde n 
Program Coordinator / Mentor 

Dr. Hayden is the Program Coordinator and mentor in Reading in WGU's Teachers 
College. During 2002, she is working with the TC development team to develop two on
line alternative preparation programs for elementary teachers: a Bache lor of Arts pro
gram in Liberal Arts with an emphasis in reading education and an elementary teacher 
certification program. Prior to coming to WGU, Dr. Hayden was a research associate at 
The Baltimore Curriculum Project and while there developed and managed two private
ly funded grants to design and field test a prototype online research-based course in 
beginning reading instruction and develop a national model of alternative certification. 
She has held assistant and associate professorships at universities in Maryland, Michigan 
and Pennsylvania. Dr. Hayden has extensive experience as a teacher, teacher trainer 
and supervisor , and curriculum specialist. She earned her Bachelor of Arts in elemen 
tary education and psychology at Luther College , a Master's in Education degree in 
Computers in Education at St. Martin's College and Master of Science and Ph.D. degrees 
in Special Education at the University of Oregon. 

Mike Hubbard 
System Developer/Web Programmer 

As a System Developer/Web Programmer , approximately 90 percent of Mike Hubbard 's 
time is devoted to maintaining the !IS server and modifying code using VB Script, SQL, 
JAVA script, HTML, and ASP. He is also well versed in HTML, VB script, ASP, C++ 
Builder, PL/SQL, HTML, and COBOL. Mr. Hubbard uses several of these programming 
languages to extract data from MS Access , Oracle, and MS SQL databases primarily using 
ASP, VB script and embedded PL/SQL. He also is responsible for network and PC main
tenance , database installation and maintenance, and software upgrades . Prior to his 
employment with WGU, Mr. Hubbard was employed by Salt Lake Community College. 
While employed at SLCC, he was progressively given more challenging and responsib le 
positions. His last position was Assistant Director of Purchasing. During his 14 years 
with SLCC, he was instrumental in the successful implementation of an automated pur
chasing system , on-line requisitioning, procurement card system , document imaging sys
tem, policy and procedure development and centralized surplus operation . 
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Dr. Mingming Jiang 
Mentor 

Mingming Jiang is a Mentor for the Learning and Technology Master of Arts degree pro
gram at WGU. She earned her Ph.D. in curriculum and instruction at the State 
University of New York at Albany. She specializes in instructional theory, design and 
technology. Dr. Jiang previously worked as an instructional designer at the Center for 
Learning and Technology at Empire State College and as lead instructional designer in 
the information technology education and training department at UCLA. Prior to her 
career as instructional designer , she taught in various universities for nine years as an 
assistant or adjunct professor on the subjects of English, literature , and learning and 
technology. She is based in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. 

Dr. Douglas Johnstone 
Provost/ Academic Vice President 

In October 1999, Douglas Johnstone came to WGU as Provost/Academic Vice President 
with a 25-year record of leadership in inn ovative, adult-centered higher education. In 
the late 1970's he served as faculty member and Dean of Goddard College 's Adult 
Degree Program, one of the first in the United States designed specifically to serve older 
students with limited access to higher educat ion. From 1979 to 1997, he served in vari
ous capacities as a senior academic dean of Empire State College , SUNY's "college with
out walls, " headquartered in Saratoga Springs, New York. He joined Cambridge College 
as Provost in 1997, where his work focused on issues of academic quality and strategic 
technology plann ing. Dr. Johnstone has wrinen and lectured wide ly on innovation , 
workforce development, and the impact of technology on the structures and methods of 
higher education. He holds the Bachelor of Arts degree from Dartmouth College , the 
Master of Arts from Wesleyan University, and the Doctor of Arts and Ph.D. from the 
University of Oregon. All of his degrees are in English and American literature . 

Shayna Lamson 
Administrative Assistant 

Shayna Lamson serves as the Administrative Assistant to the Dean of the Western 
Governors University Teacher College . She also provides clerical support to other aca
demic staff in the Teachers College. Her dut ies include: update standards into the data
base as new programs come online ; assist in grant writing ; handle TAGLIT issues related 
to T-PLUS. Her background experience includes over 12 years as a training program 
designer and training manager with Magellan Health Services and Aetna Inc. Ms. 
Lamson is a graduate of Simmons College , MA with a bache lor of science in Business 
Management , and received her master of arts in Teaching from St. Joseph College , CT. 

Dr. Cynthia Leshin 
Mentor 

Cynthia B. Leshin is a Mentor for the Masters in Learning in Technology program. She 
received her Ph.D. in educational technology from Arizona State University. Her doctoral 
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work focused on the use of cognitive theories for improving teaching and learning. Her 
interest in technology and educational psychology led her to specialize in the applica
tion of cognitive learning theories to the design and development of technology-based 
learning environments. Dr. Leshin started her own consulting company and self-pub
lished her first two books and a quarterly newslener for educators on how to use the 
Internet in the classroom. This publication received praise from educators and from 
Apple Computer and Sunburst Corporation. Both of these companies licensed the rights 
for distribution in print and CD formats. She then went on to author 14 discipline-specif
ic books on the use of the Internet for Simon and Schuster. Dr. Leshin also has exten
sive exp erience designing and developing online learning environments. Recently , she 
developed six graduate courses for educators on learning and technology. She has 
taught computer literacy and Internet classes at Arizona State University West and 
Estrella Mountain Community College and has also taught professional development 
classes using satellite-based technologies. Her work also includes experience with the 
design and development of multimedia projects for higher adult education as well as 
experience in the management and coordination of large multimedia instructional pro
grams. 

Stacey Ludwig-Hardman 
Director of Academic Services 

Stacey Ludwig-Hardman is the Director of Academic Services and acting Associate of 
Arts program mentor for WGU. As an undergraduate , Ms. Ludwig-Hardman double
majored in communication and English writing and later earned her master's in organi
zational management from the University of Colorado. She has spent her career in vari
ous educational environments ranging from public schools to the department of correc
tions , and later the University of Colorado 's CU-Online Program. In addition to her cur
rent activities with WGU, Ms. Ludwig-Hardman is a doctoral candidate at the University 
of Colorado at Denver in the curriculum, learning, and technology program. Her foci 
include adult distance learners , self-directed learning, and online learning communities. 

Christopher Mallett 
Enrollment Counselor 

Christopher Mallett serves the University in the position of Enrollment Counselor , work
ing with potential students as they evaluate the University, guiding new applicants 
through the admissions process , and conducting intake interviews. He is also involved 
with student orientation , assists with university marketing efforts, and provides technical 
support to students . Prior to arriving at WGU, Mr. Mallett worked as a help desk 
administrator in the Weber County School District while completing his undergraduate 
work at Weber State University. Chris earned a Bachelor of Science degree , Political 
Science , and graduated Cum Laude in 2001. 
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Jan Manning 
Enrollment Counselor 

Jan Manning is an Enrollment Counselor for WGU. Her responsibilities include all activ
ities related to the recruitment of students in WGU degree programs. In addition to her 
enrollment responsibilities , she works closely with the State Government Universities to 
help ensure appropriate policies and procedures are developed and adhered too. Prior 
to joining WGU in 2000, Ms. Manning worked in the Marketing and Finance depart
ments for the University of Phoenix Seattle and Salt Lake City campuses. She has a var
ied background in the business and education fields with experience in sales, marketing 
and finance. Ms. Manning received her Bachelor 's degree from the University of 
Phoenix in Business Management. 

Robert Mendenhall 
President/CEO 

Mr. Mendenhall has more than 20 years of experience in the development , marketing 
and delivery of technology-based education. Prior to joining WGU, he had his own 
consu lting business and previous ly was gene ral manager of IBM's K-12 education divi
sion. He has served as executive vice president of Jostens Learning Corporation . From 
1980 through 1991, he was a founder, president and CEO (from 1987) of Wicat Systems, 
Inc. , a leader in providing computer-based curriculum , instructional management and 
testing to schools, and technology-based training to government and industry. 

Mr. Mendenhall serves on the NGA/ ASTD Commission on Technology & Adult Learning, 
on IBM's Education Advisory Counc il, and on an advisory group to the California 
Postsecondary Education Commission. He has served on the Board of the Department 
of Business and Economic Development for the State of Utah and on the board of the 
Gina Bachauer International Piano Foundation. 

Dr. Sydney Parent 
Mentor 

Sydney B. Parent is a mentor for WGU's Master of Arts in Learning and Technology 
degree . She received her Ph .D. from Brigham Young University in instructional psychol
ogy and technology. She comp leted her master's in social work (MSW) in both the clini
cal and administ ration tracks at the University of Utah , with an emphasis on serving 
multicultural populations in educational and clinical settings . During the pursuit of her 
doctorate , Dr. Parent studied the functioning and evaluation of school-u niversity partner
ships. Research for her dissertation , Collaborat ive Evaluation in a School-University 
Partnership, led to the development of an original model for collaborative evaluat ion. As 

co-chair of an educational research symposium for two years , she encouraged K-12 edu
cators to let their voices be heard through participation as presenters. Upon learning 
that few schoolteachers felt comfortable wri ting and submi tting a proposal, Dr. Parent 
developed an instructiona l system for proposal writing . In addition , she taught an edu
cationa l psychology course , including curricu lum development and instructing pre-serv-
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ice teachers in learning theories, instructional design, and measurement and assessment. 
While co-editor for three years of The Researcher, an educational research journal , she 
was responsible for preparing each issue for publication. Recently , she has been 
emp loyed by the Faculty Center at BYU updating their Web site. Prior to becoming a 
mentor , she was a grader for WGU. 

Patrick Partridge 
Vice President of Marketing, Corporate and Government Sales 

Patrick Partridge is Vice President of Marketing , Corporate and Government Sales. Pat 
received his Bachelor of Arts from the University of Virginia in 1976 and his Master 's 
Degree in Business Administration from the Colgate Darden Graduate School of 
Business Administration at the University of Virginia in 1982. Prior to coming to WGU, 
he was Vice President of Marketing for National Technological University , a leader in 
graduate engineering educa tion via distance learning. Mr. Partridge previously has 
served in executive positions as Vice President of Marketing for The Business Word Inc. , 
a sma ll, diversified publisher , and as the president of his own small publishing compa
ny. His marketing, sales, and management experience encompasses several industries : 
education, publishing, wireless, cab le TV, and other s. He has published articles in 
numerou s trade publications and has been a guest speaker on severa l marketing topics. 

Mandice Popwell-Stokes 
Education Provider Coordinator 

Mandice Popwell -Stokes is the Education Provider Coordinator for Western Governors 
University. She assists the Director of Learning Resources in contacting and acquiring 
Education Providers, establishing relationships, and maintain ing the online catalog. She 
also assists with student and academic services. Ms. Popwell-Stokes has worked for 
both non-profit and corporate organizations. She has an extensive background in media 
and communications , which aids her in her development of EP relationships . She 
rece ived her Bachelors of Science in English and began a Master of Arts in Languages 
and Literarure at Austin Peay State University in Clarksville, Tennessee. 

Kim Puckett 
Accounting Assistant 

Kim R. Puckett is an Accounting Assistant for WGU. She is responsible for the day-to
day accounting functions for the university. Ms. Puckett came to WGU in July 1998 
from the American Ski Company in Waitsfield , VT. Prior to this she had extensive 
accounting experience in the field of manufacturing working with Ford , Chrysler , GM, 
Honda and others. She was an active member of the Automotive Industry Action Group 
and assisted in the development of industry e-commerce standards. 
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Brett Roberts 
Web Programmer 

Bren Roberts is a Web Programmer and is primarily responsible for site functionality and 
maintenance. Prior to coming to WGU in June of 1999, Mr. Roberts was head Web pro
grammer for Smart Interactive . His innovative work has been highlighted in the Hewlett 
Packard Newsletter. His Web development skills go beyond programming - he has 
received awards for his design and animation skills, including 1st Prize in the 1992 
National Disney Computer Animation Contest. 

Dr. Philip Schmidt 
Program Coordinator/Mentor 

Philip Schmidt is the Program Coordinator for Mathematics Education in the Teachers 
College. He earned his Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics from Brooklyn 
College of CUNY and his Master of Arts and PhD degrees from Syracuse University (in 
Mathematics and Mathematics Education, respectively). His past academic positions 
include: Professor of Mathematics and Computer Science at Berea College; Dean of the 
School of Education at SUNY New Paltz; and Associate Provost at Berea College. Dr. 
Schmidt is the author of numerous research articles pertaining to a variety of issues in 
Mathematics Education and is the recipient of a number of state and nationa l grants . He 
is the author of a number of mathematics texts for the McGraw-Hill Company . 

Dr. Vincent Shrader 
Program Coordinator / Mentor 

Vincent E. Shrader serves as Program Coordinator and Mentor for the Master of Arts in 
Learning and Technology program. He graduated from Brigham Young University with 
a Ph.D. in Instructional Psychology and Technology. Throughout his doctoral work he 
served in numerous committees directed towards designing , planning , producing, pre
senting , and evaluating instructional systems. His doctoral dissertation involved 
resear ching variables to create a theoretical framework for the use of Web-based learn
ing environm ents. While a doctoral student at BYU, Dr. Shrader worked as a graduate 
instructor , Web designer, program evaluator, assessment instrument designer , and stu
dent mentor. His activities included teaching and advising students in educational tech
nology courses, developing curriculum, designing assessment instruments , researching 
new computer-re lated technologies and teaching others to use them. Dr. Shrader's 
undergr aduate degree in Communication Studies emphasized interpersonal communica
tions , negotiation/conflict management , persuasion theory, and managerial leadership 
development. 

Peg Shurtleff 
Assessment Coordinator 

Peg Shurtleff is the Assessment Coordinator . Her duties consist of overseeing the sched
uling of student asses sments and processin g grading and score results. Prior to coming 
to WGU, Ms. Shurtleff worked for seven years as the lead Customer Service 
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Representative in the convention department at Modern Display. Before that, she 
served as Office Manager for 11 years at Exhibit Center, a graphics and exhibit design 
company in Salt Lake City. She has worked in the administrative and service areas of 
several different businesses, including furniture rental , real estate and property manage
ment, and product design. Ms. Shurtleff is a graduate of Brigham Young University with 
a Bachelor's in Fine Arts, with minors in Psychology and Education. 

Angela Stoker 
Admissions Coordinator 

Angela Stoker is the Admissions Coordinator for WGU. Ms. Stoker is responsible for 
working with students during the admission process and processing course enrollments 
for students , and acting as a liaison between WGU and designated education providers. 
Prior to coming to WGU, Ms. Stoker worked in a variety of business and education 
positions , including working for the University of Phoenix. She has recently volunteered 
in the Utah Winter Games and continues to be a part of the legacy volunteer group. 
She graduated from the University of Phoenix with a Bachelor of Science in Business 
Management. 

Dr. Alec Testa 
Director of Assessment and Institutional Research 

Alec M. Testa is the Director of Assessment and Institutional Research at WGU. Dr. 
Testa is responsible for design and delivery of assessments for WGU's competency
based degree programs , and integrally involved in new degree development. He is also 
responsible for the University's institutional effectiveness efforts, academic program 
review, institutional research , coordinating of academic and assessment council(s) activi
ties, and assessment delivery. Prior to joining WGU, he was the Executive Director of 
Planning and Analysis at Eastern New Mexico University. Dr. Testa was the founding 
president of the New Mexico Higher Education Assessment Association and frequently 
directed its annual conference. He has also been active in the AAHE (American 
Association for Higher Education) Assessment Forum and the TL1' Group. His research 
interests include technology and assessment, and the assessment of technology in edu
cation . His doctorate is from the University of Nevada , Reno , in Counseling and 
Educational Psychology and he is a Nationally Certified Counselor. 

Mimi Tschida 
Program Coordinator / Mentor 

Mimi Tschida was a principal developer of the introductory course, Education Without 
Boundaries, which is required for all incoming degree-seeking students. She now coor
dinates that program while also serving as a mentor for associate level students in 
WGU's Information Technology programs. In addition, she advises students in need of 
career planning assistance. Before joining WGU, Ms. Tschida held teaching and coun
seling positions at the University of Minnesota-Duluth and Black Hills State University in 
South Dakota. Early in her career, she supervised a small computer center at the 
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University of Minnesota-Minneapolis , which included training and teaching staff mem
bers at all U of M campuses. Ms. Tschida earned a Bachelor of Arts in Psychology from 
the University of Minnesota-Duluth and a Master of Arts in Educational Psychology and 
Counseling from the same institution. Currently , she is pursuing a Ph.D. in Education 
through Capella University, specializing in the delivery of distance education programs. 

Angie Wright 
Bursar 

Angie Wright is the Bursar for WGU. She is responsible for all student accounting , 
including billing , cash receipts, scholarship management, and financial aid disburse
ments. Prior to her employment with WGU in March 2001, Ms. Wright was Business 
Manager for Ready Electric, Inc. in Salt Lake City, Utah. Her focus was to administer 
and maintain business licenses, requirements, financials , contract management and gov
ernment reporting. 

Dr. Thomas Zane 
Director of Assessment-WGU Teachers College 

Thomas W. Zane is the Director of Assessment for WGU's Teachers College. Dr. Zane is 
the former director of Test Development for a national testing company. He has been 
working in the areas of test development and educational evaluation since 1990. He 
holds a PhD in Instructional Science , an MLIS, and a Master of Science in statistics and 
research . He has presented nearly 100 test development training workshops to business 
groups, tradesmen, state officials , and educators. He has authored papers and reports on 
assessment methods , measurement standards, legal defensibility , and test validation . He 
has co-authored many educational evaluation reports. 

Luke (Lujun) Zhang 
Web Programmer 

Luke Zhang is a Web Programmer. During his nearly ten-year school and career life, he 
has been a major developer in many mid-sized and large software development proj
ects. Mr. Zhang received a Bachelor of Science degree from Southeast University in 
China in 1996, and received histfirst master's degree from Southeast University in 1999. 
Currently he is a student at Utah State University earning his second master 's degree . 
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Appendix 6: WGU Council Members 

ASSESSMENT COUNCll. 

Tom Angelo 

Associa te Provo st for Teaching, Learn ing & 
Faculty Dev. 
University of Akron 
Ed.D., Harvard University 

Peter Ewell 

Senior Associate 
Natl. Ctr. for High er Education Managem ent 
Systems (NCHEMS) 
Ph .D., Yale University 

Greg McAllister 

Manager , PATHWAYS Netwo rk 
Council for Adult & Experiential Lrng. 
M.S.W., Colorado State University 

Edward A. Morante 

Counse lor/ Facu lty 
College of the Desert 
Ed.D. , Columb ia Unive rsity 

David B. Porter 

Academic Vice President and Provost 
Berea College 
Ph .D., Oxfo rd University 

Alec M. Testa 

Director of Assess ment 
Western Governors University 
Ed.D., University of Nevada-Reno 

Barbara Walvoord 

"" Dir., Kaneb Ctr. for Teaching & Learnin g/ Prof. 
o f English 
University of Notre Dam e 
Ph.D ., University of Iowa 

Douglas R. Whitney 

Southwest Assess ment an d Learn ing Services 
Ph.D ., University of Iowa 
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BUSINESS PROGRAM COUNCIL 

Dennis Bromley --Mentor/Program Coordinator 
Ph .D., Utah State University 

Laurie DiPadova 

Faculty Outreach Fellow, Execu tive Director 
Academi c Outreach & Continu ing Education 
Ph .D., SUNY - University of Albany 

Robert Finkelmeier -Academic Director for New Ventures 
Regis University 
Ed.D., University of Cincinnati 

Charles W. Hickman 

Executive Director 
Northeast Ohio Cou ncil on Higher Education 
MA, University of Iow a 

Thomas Lee Hilgers -=-Directo r, Manoa Writing Program and 
Professo r of English 
University of Haw aii at Manoa 
Ph .D., University of Hawaii 
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Dolores Tremewan Martin 

Dean, College of Bus .& Publi c Admin. 
Eastern Washington Univer sity 
Ph.D. , Virginia Polyte chni c Institute and State 
University 

Greg McAllister 

Manager, PATHWAYS Network 
Council for Adult and Experiential Learning 
M.S.W., Colorado State University 

Ernest E. Wessman 

' VP, Power Supply Safety, Hea lth & 
Environment 
PacifiCorp / Utah Power and Light 



COORDINATING COUNCIL 

C. Victor Bunderson .._ 
Professor 
Instructional Psychology & Technology 
Brigham Young University 
Ph.D., Princeton Unive rsity 

Robert Finkelmeier 

Academic Director for New Ventures 
Regis University 
Ed.D., University of Cincinnati 

Paul V.M. Flesher ---Director , Religious Studies Program 
University of Wyom ing 
Ph.D., Brown University 

Stacey Ludwig-Hardman 

Director of Acade mic Services 
Western Governors University 
M.S., University of Colorado-Denve r 

Douglas Johnstone 

Provost/ Acad em ic Vice President 
Western Governors University 
Ph.D. , University of Oregon 

Edward A. Morante 

Counselor / Faculty 
College of the Desert 
Ed.D ., Columbia Unive rsity 

Assoc iate Superintendent , Human Resources 
Division 
Clark County Schoo l District , Nevada 
J.D ., University of California, Los Angeles 
Ed.D ., University of Nevada , Las Vegas 

Associate Vice Provos t for Academic Affairs 
Washington State University 
Ed.D. , Idaho State Unive rsity 

Barbara Van Amerongen -Dean, Comp uter Technologies and Real Estate 
Portland Comm unity College 
M.A., Ball State University 
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GENERAL EDUCATION PROGRAM COUNCIL 

Richard Brill 

Professor of Natural Science 
Honolulu Community College 
M.S., Univers ity of Hawaii-Man oa 

Richard Cutler ..... 
Assistant Head , Deparunent of Mathematics 
and Statistics 
Utah State University 
Ph .D., University of California, Berkeley 

Paul V.M. Flesher -Director , Religious Studies Program 
University of Wyoming 
Ph .D., Brown University 

Stacey Ludwig-Hardman --Director of Academic Services 
Western Governors University 
M.S., University of Colorado-Denver 
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William B. Macgregor 

Associate Professor, Dept. of Professional & 
Tech. Comm. 
Montana Tech of the Univ. of Montana 
Ph.D ., University of Colorado, Boulder 

David B. Porter 

Academic Vice President and Provost 
Berea College 
Ph.D., Oxford University 

Alison E. Regan -Faculty Outreach Fellow and Interim Director 
Marriott Library Technol ogy Assisted 
Curriculum Center 
Ph.D. , University of Texas-Austin 



EDUCATION COUNCIL 

Jan et Whit e Azbell 

Senior Education Consultant 
Education Industty Nationa l Practice 
IBM Business Innovation Services 
Ed.D ., Illinois State University 

Micha el Bloch er 

~ 
Assistant Professor , Educational Techno logy 
Center for Excellence In Educa tion 
Northern Arizona University 
Ph.D ., Arizona State University 

C. Victor Bund erson 

Professo r 
Instructional Psychology & Technology 
Brigham Young University 
Ph.D. , Princeton University 

Martin Murrillo 

Manager , Sales Training 
iPlanet E-Commerce Solutions 
Sun Microsystems, Inc . 
M.A., San Diego State University Extension 

Landra Rezabek 

Associa te Professor , Adult Learning and 
Techno logy 
University of Wyoming 
Ph .D., University of Oklahoma 

Vincent Shrader -Mentor / Program Coo rdinator 
Western Governo rs University 
Ph .D., Brigham Young University 
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EDUCATION PROVIDER ADVISORY COUNCIL 

JohnR . Dunn 

Director, Independent Learning Programs 
Division of Continuing Education 
University of Colorado at Boulde r 
Ph.D., University of Colo rado Dan 

Daniel Eastmond 

Director of Learning Resources 
Western Governors Unive rsity 
Ph.D. , Syracuse University 

Fred Hurst 

Dean of Distributed Learnin g 
Northern Arizona University 
MS, Indiana University 
MPA, Wichita State University 

William). Husson -Vice President & Acad emic Dea n 
Regis University 
Ph.D ., Fielding Institute 

Suzanne Logan --Educational Advisor to the Commandant 
Air War College, Maxwell AFB, Alabama 
Ed.D. , Texa s Tec h Unive rsity 
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KarenLMills 

Senior Associate Dean of Instruction 
Rio Salad o Commu nity College 
Ed.D., Nova Southeastern University 

Jane Sherman -Associate Vice Provost for Academic Affairs 
Washington State Unive rsity 
Ed.D., Idaho State University 

Mimi Tschida 

Mentor 
Western Governors University 
MA, University of Minnesota, Duluth 



INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY PROGRAM COUNCIL 

Paul Baltes 

Director of Engineering Professional 
Development 
University of Arizona 
M.A., Georgetown Unive rsity 

Steve Curtis 

Chief Technology Officer, Western Governors 
University 
President, PlaNet Software 

Mary Lou Hines 

CEO 
Hines and Hudson , Inc . 
Ph.D., Kansas State University 

David Ricker 

Sr. Programmer / Analyst , Investment and 
Endowment 
Dartmouth College 
M.S., Bowling Green University 

Stephen Schroeder 

President 
RealTirneSites.net 
M.B.A., University of New Mexico 

Mimi Tschida 

m 
Mentor 
Western Governors University 
M.A., University of Minnesota-Duluth 

Barbara Van Amerongen 

Dean, Computer Technologies 
and Real Estate 
Portland Community College 
M.A., Ball State University 
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TEACHERS COLLEGE COUNCIL 

Douglas Carnine 

Professor, University of Oregon 
Director , Nationa l Center to Improve the Tools 
of Educators 
Ph.D., University of Utah 

VickyS. Dill 

Executive Director , Grants Division 
Round Rock Independent School 
District, Texas 
Ph.D., University of Notre Dame 

Marti Watson Garlett 

Dean, Teachers College 
Western Governors University 
Ph.D. , Claremont Graduate University 

Sandra F. Petersen 

Dir. of Program Dev. Services, Human 
Resource s Division 
Texas's Region IV Educational Service Center 
Ph.D. , Texas A & M University, College Station 
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George Ann Rice 

Associate Superintendent , Human 
Resources Division 
Clark County School District, Nevada 
].D ., University of California, L.A. 
Ed.D., University of Nevada, Las Vegas 

Darline P. Robles 

Superintendent of Schools 
Los Angeles County Office of Education 
Ph.D., University of Southern California 



Appendix 7 

PROSPECTUS 
FORA 

BACHELOR OF ARTS 
IN INTERDISCIPLINARY STIJDIES 
(INCLUDES K-8 TEACHER CERTIFICATION) 

This document accompanies the Self-Study. 

Bound separately as Appendix 7 
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Appendix 8 

PROSPECTUS 
FORA 

MASTER OF ARTS 
IN TEACHING 

(INCLUDES K-8 TEACHER CERTIFICATION) 

This document accompanies the Self-Study . 

Bound separately as Appendix 8 
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Appendix 9 

PROSPECTUS 
FORA 

MASTER OF ARTS 
IN MATHEMATICS EDUCATION 

This document accompanies the Self-Study. 

Bound separately as Appendix 9 
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Appendix 10: Marketing Plan 

Western Governors University 

Marketing & Recruiting Plan 

with a focus on 

Marketing & Recruiting Efforts for Fiscal Year 2003 

Part I. 
Marketing Programs 

Introduction . 

Prepared by 
Patrick Partridge 

Vice President of Marketin g 
Revised August 1, 2002 

State Government Marketing Program . 
Corporat e Marketing Program . . .. .. .. . .. . . .. . . .. . 
Teachers and School Districts Marketing Program 
Communi ty College Marketing Program . . .... .. . . 
General Public Marketing Program . . . .... .. . 
Marketing Programs Summary . . . . . . .. . . 

Part II. 
Enrollment Growth 

.. 266 
. . . 267 
. . . 271 
. .. 273 
. . . 275 

. . 276 
.279 

Enrollment Growth Targets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . 280 
Critical Factors for Enrollment Success .. . .. . ... .. . .. 280 
Generat ing a Sufficient Number of Qualified Leads . . . .. 281 
Evaluating Lead Quality ... 283 
Convertin g Leads Into Students . . . .. 284 
Awarding Scholarships . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .288 
Retainin g Students , Minimizing Drops . . . .... 289 
Bringing It All Together .. .. 290 
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Part I. 

WESTERN GOVERNORS UNIVERSITY 

Marketing & Recrniting Plan 
with a focus on 

Marketing & Recruiting Efforts for Fiscal Year 2003 

Marketing Programs 

For the next four years , WGU will focus its marketing and recruiting efforts through 
multi-faceted initiatives targeted to the following five audien ces : 

State govern ments and their emp loyees (especia lly those within the West) 
Corporate customers and their employees 
K-12 schoo l districts , administrato rs, teachers, and paraprofessionals 
Community colleges and their stude nts 
General public 

While there is considerab le ove rlap among the marketing programs for these five audi
ences , each will receive special ane ntion. 
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State Government Marketing Program 

As of July 2002, WGU had developed special marketing programs with two Western 
states, Arizona and Nevada, and had discussed or initiated programs with other states, 
including Washington, Utah , Wyoming, Nebraska, and Montana. 

During 2001 and 2002, WGU developed training and education websites in Arizona and 
Nevada and worked with state administrators to introduce WGU's degree programs and 
courses to state employees. In addition, both Arizona and Nevada used the websites to 
promote their states' own training classes. 

Based upon what we learned from the Arizona and Nevada programs, WGU has created 
a streamlined approach to promote WGU degrees and courses to states and their 
employees. The new approach will involve: 

A WGU EduLink for each state 
The new EduLink website is a simplified portal offering WGU degrees and certificates, 
as well as access to WGU's entire catalog of academic and training courses . The 
EduLink site does not include a state 's own training classes. The EduLink site would be 
linked to a state's other internal websites, etc. 

For a sample of the new EduLink home page , see Exhibit 1, following this page: State 
Government EduLink Home Page 
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State Marketing Kits 

WGU has produced a Marketing Kit that includes posters, small "table tents," brochures, 
standard broadcast emails, and other marketing support material that can be used by a 
state's training officers or within particular state agencies. The Marketing Kit material is 
basically standardized but offers opportunities for customization . 

To see reduced-size samples of the Marketing Kit material, see Exhibit 2, following this 
page: Sample Marketing Kit Material 

Presentations and marketing initiatives 
WGU marketing and development staff members will active ly solicit state officers, agen
cies , and departments to introduce WGU degrees to state emp loyees. Additionally, WGU 
staff will be available for presentations to state department heads, training staff , and oth
ers. 

Goals for the State Marketing Program 
WGU has targeted several states to introdu ce the new EduLink websites. Given that 
establishing each state EduLink requires acceptance by state officials, a precise timetable 
for creating them is difficult to establish . During fiscal year 2003 we have reasonable 
expectations of getting EduLinks established in the following states: 

Utah 
Washington 
Montana 
Wyoming 
Nebraska 
Arizona 

(As of July 2002, we are uncertain whether we will have an EduLink with the state of 
Nevada at the end of FY2003.) 

In addition to the above states , our goal is to add six additiona l states during FY2004. 
Presently , no projections are made beyond that time frame. 
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Marketing Kit 
Poster 

Exhibit 2 - Marketing Kit Materia l 

Marketing Kit 
Table Tents 

What You Already Know Can 
Accelerate Your College Degree. 

Just Prove It! 
ONLINE. ACCELERATED. AFFORDABLE. ACCREDITED. 

Associue's&Bac helor'<;Oegreesinlnforma tionlechnology , Business,&HumanResources 

@ 
Marketing Kit 

General Brochure 

... ___ .... -·----__ .._._,,__ ....... _ .. _ ... 

!!Hl,111111111 

'o' 

866 ·CALLWGU 
(866-225-5948) 

www.wgu. t d u 

@ 
,,,__.,, ... ftlw1~10 

Education Without Boundaries· ___ ..,. ___ _ 



Corporate Marketing Program 

WGU enjoys stron g relationship s with dozens of leading corporati ons. These includ e 
over 20 Nationa l Advisory Board members , as we ll as many other companies that have 
contrib uted to WGU's scholar ship programs. The development office of WGU continues 
to open more corporate door s every month , resulting in a steady stream of corporate 
financial supp ort. 

Our Corpo rate Marketing Program will leverage those corporate relationship s where 
appropri ate to market WGU degrees to the comp anies' employe es. In add ition, the mar
keting department has begun to iden tify compa nies w hich , although they may neve r 
contr ibut e to WGU's fundrai sing programs, are exce llent candid ates to offer WGU 
degrees to their emp loyees . As of the summer of 2002, we had already established con
versations with a numb er of new companies about our degree offerings . 

The Corporate Marketing Program is similar in severa l ways to our state initiative , but is 
focused on promoting our degrees, not training courses. The new effort includes : 

A WGU Microsite for Each Corporate Program 
We will crea te a WGU Microsite for each company with which we have estab lished a 
significant relationship. A new website design was crea ted during the summ er of 2002. 
Previously , we had crea ted virtual universities for Novell, National Urban League, and 
others . 

For a samp le of the new WGU Microsite home page, see Exhibit 3, following this page: 
WGU Microsite for Corpo rate Partners 

Corporate Marketing Kits 
Essentially using the same material developed for the state pro grams, each company will 
rece ive a Marketing Kit includin g posters, sma ll tab le tents , brochures , ema il blast copy, 
etc. to promote WGU degree programs to the ir emp loyees. 

Presentations and marketing initiatives 
WGU marketing staff will aggressively promote our degree progr ams to our corporate 
partners ' empl oyees through Education Fairs, working with their Human Reso urces 
departments , ema il campai gns, etc. 

Goals for the Corporate Marketing Program 
We be lieve we can establish corporate marketing programs of varying degrees with the 
following number of companies: 

Compan ies with WGU marketing programs in place : 
Fiscal year ending: Cumulative quantity 

2003 8 
2004 20 
2005 30 
2006 40 
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Teachers and School Districts Marketing Program 

Teachers College at WGU is poised for strong enrollment growth as WGU's teacher cer
tifications, undergraduate teachin g degree , and new graduate degrees becom e available 
in 2003 and 2004. In addition, WGU offers asso ciate 's degrees that are ideal for school 
paraprofessionals who must mee t the new requirements of the federal No Child Left 
Behind Act. 

WGU will increase its marketing efforts to reach teachers and paraprof ess ion als through 
their school districts and state and profe ssional assoc iation s. Past successful efforts have 
includ ed: 

• Presentations at professional association meetin gs 
• Direct mail and fax camp aigns within school distr icts 
• Scholarship announcements 
• Webs ite advertising 
• Direct phone contact 

Future marketing efforts will be organized around a handful of key efforts: 

Direct marketing to school districts 
Direct mail and faxes will be used to introduce and promote WGU degree programs to 
paraprofessionals and teachers intere sted in further education. The primary objective of 
the direct mail will be to iden tify prospects who will subseq uentl y be contact ed by 
WGU enrollment counselors. 

Sales calls 
Through bo th ph one calling and visits, WGU staff will proactively con tact key states and 
scho ol districts to promote WGU degree pro grams. This effort will target Western states 
and larger districts nationwide to introdu ce WGU's educational offerings for both teac h
ers and paraprofessionals . We will target districts on a state-by -state basis as our teacher 
certifications and degrees become available. 

Professional associations, conferences, and meetings 
As WGU's degree offering becomes broader (i.e. afte r the new programs are intro
duced) , WGU will take a more aggress ive approac h to exh ibiting at regional and nation 
al conferences, and we will work to impro ve awa ren ess through the National Education 
Associat ion , state teacher associations, and other prof essio nal associations. 

Web-based marketing 
WGU educa tion degrees and programs will be mark eted through educational and gener
al publi c websi te promotions as warra nted whe n the new degrees are introdu ced. 
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Print advertising 
WGU will experiment with print advertising within education publications to promote 
specific education degrees as they become available. 

Goals for the Teachers and School District Marketing Program 
WGU would like to establish regular contact with as many of the larger school districts 
in the Western states and throughout the U.S. as possible . Furthermore , we believe our 
distance-delivered programs offer great opportunities for educational professionals work
ing in rural school districts where their education options are more limited. 

Because education programs must be approved on a state-by-state basis , the marketing 
and sales team will work closely with the Dean of WGU Teachers College to garner 
support as states approve our new programs. To make this program work , WGU 
Teachers College marketing plan calls for us to: 

1. Correlate the content of the WGU degrees to the licensure requirements in 
California plus the 19 Western states that are members of Western Governors 
University . 

2. Make formal application to the Department of Education within each state to gain 
approval of the programs . 

3. Persuade key districts to announce and promote the WGU programs as options for 
their educators. 

Even though we know the nature of our relationships with districts will vary wid ely, our 
approx imate goals are: 

State and K-12 School Districts WGU develops relationships with : 

Fiscal year ending: 

2003 
2004 
2005 
2006 

Cumulative 
state approvals 

for new programs 

6 
12 
18 
24 

Cumulative 
distri cts that agree 

to promote programs 

15 
40 
70 

100 
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Community Colleges Marketing Program 

WGU has articulation agreements in place with approximately 40 community college 
systems or individual community colleges allowing graduates of those schools to com
plete a bachelor 's degree at WGU. These students represent an excellent prospect group 
to whom WGU will market more aggressively in the future. The marketing program will 
include: 

Community College Marketing Kits 
The Marketing Kit material used for states and corporate partners will be supplemented 
with items that address community college students about continuing their degrees at 
WGU. 

Sales calls and presentations 
WGU staff will visit promising community colleges to establish and maintain promotion
al programs to reach their students . Often this will involve explaining WGU degree pro
grams to the community colleges ' staffs that recommend or influence their students' con
tinuing education decisions . 

Goals for the Community Colleges Marketing Program 
The community college marketing effort was in its infancy as of summer 2002; however , 
we believe we can establish relationships that will begin to yield WGU students within 
12 months. Our goals for establishing solid relationships with community colleges are: 

Commu nity Colleges WGU develops relationships with: 
Fiscal year ending: Cumulative quantity 

2003 5 
2004 15 
2005 30 
2006 50 
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General Public Marketing Programs 

WGU is a national university rooted in the West. It was created for the benefit of the 
general public and has already begun to serve a wide audience. While its heritage is 
tied to the Western states through its creation by the Western Governors Association, 
WGU already has students throughout the U.S. 

In the coming years, WGU's already broad public enrollment will greatly expand as 
WGU more forcefully exerts its role as a "university without boundaries." A key part of 
that enrollment growth will derive from aggressive marketing to the general public. 
Much of this effort will be Web-based. 

The General Public Marketing Program will take advantage of the ever-increasing impor
tance of the Internet to adults who are interested in exploring their educational options. 
Research indicates that the Web now serves as the primary source for adults seeking 
information about colleges, especially those who are interested in online education. 
There are also other methods to stimulate broad awareness and interest in WGU, and 
we will use these when economically feasible . WGU's marketing programs to the gener
al public will include the following: 

Web-based marketing programs 
Described in more detail later in this report , WGU's Web-based marketing efforts will 
involve aggressive exposure on the following websites or services: 

AOL 
Classes USA.com 
ELearners.com 
Google.com 

Petersons.com 
WorldWideLearn.com 
Overture.com 
Selected K-12 education websites 

For the most part , WGU will market on these sites through performance-based agree
ments under which WGU only pays when qualified leads are delivered. Typically we 
will pay about $20 per qualified lead. WGU has negotiated agreements with several of 
these website to receive featured promotional attention and high visibility. Of special 
note , WGU has benefited from its close relationship with AOL, a member of the WGU 
National Advisory Board , and continues to receive leads from AOL at no cost. 

General public Web-generated prospects will be directed to a new WGU microsite simi
lar to the one we are developing for use with our corporate partners. 

See Exhibit 4, following this page: WGU Microsite for the General Public 
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Publicity and press coverage 
WGU has regularly received good press coverage. While this has been especially true in 
WGU's home state of Utah and in other Western states , WGU is regularly mentioned in 
the national media covering online education. WGU will continue to use the service of a 
public relations professional to give WGU exposure in newspapers , trade publications , 
and the Internet. 

Advertising 
In general WGU will approach print and other forms of advertising cautious ly. This is 
because effective print advertising often requires large outlays in order to establish 
brand awareness over a long period of time. Generally speaking, print advertising is 
more expensive than Web-oriented marketing on a cost-per-lead basis . However, we 
may experiment with print advertising in limited ways , most likely of a local rather than 
national nature when targeted to the general public. 

Special Opportunity: Veterans 
The GI Bill offers education benefits to U.S. military veterans that is adequate to cover 
the complete cost of a WGU degree . Research also indicates that a sizeable segment of 
veterans are interested in online learning. WGU intends to pursue the veterans market 
during FY2003. However , this will depend upon getting WGU's degree programs 
approved by the Veterans Administration. As of July 2002, the marketing department had 
just begun to develop a program to market to veterans and had not yet obtained 
approval from a state veterans affairs office . 

278
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Marketing Programs Summary 

Each WGU Marketing Program targets a large segment of the marketplace for online 
higher education. Each of the programs will require special efforts to produce leads , 
but , for the sake of efficiency and economies of scale , the programs are designed using 
many common marketing elements. Similarly, most of the leads are handled through a 
common recruiting program. Here is a simplified schematic describing the programs: 

Program Key Marketing Elements 

State Governments Partner Marketing Kit 
EduLink site 

Corporations 

Teachers & School 
Districts 

Sales Calls 
Ed Fairs 

Partner Marketing Kit 
WGU Microsite 
Sales Calls 
Ed Fairs 

Direct Marketing 
Sales calls 
Exhibits and Presentations 
Website for Teachers College -
Scholarship Announcements 

Community Colleges Partner Marketing Kit 
Sales calls 
Presentations 

General Public WGU Microsite 
Web-based Marketing 
Publicity and PR 

New Recruiting Program 
• Contact by Enroll

ment Advisor 
• Email/Direct Mail 

Campaign 

(details to follow) 
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Part II. 

Enrollment Growth 

WGU's marketing and recruiting pro grams are focused on steady enrollment growth 
over the next four fiscal years. Reaching WGU's strategic goals will require an aggressive 
marketing program coupled with effective recruiting and retention efforts. 

Enrollment Growth Targets 

Making proje ctions for growth of specific academic programs is challenging at best and, 
by nature , speculative. The un certainty of enro llment numbers is even more challenging 
at WGU where we lack ade qu ate history from which to draw conclusions . Furthermore , 
some of our most promising degree and certificate programs will not be come available 
until 2003 and beyond. 

That said , WGU has endeavored to assign broad enrollment targets for its degree pro
grams. These are as follows: 

Degree Type FY2003 FY2004 FY2005 FY2006 

Under grad degree s 300 530 810 1,140 
Graduate degrees 380 550 725 925 
Teacher certificates 400 450 675 945 

Totals 1,080 1,530 2,210 3,010 

To achieve this enrollment growt h will requir e effective mark eting, enrollment recruiting, 
and student retention , plus a strong schola rship program. Success will depend upon 
adeq uately tackling the Critical Factors for Enrollment Success. 

Critical Factors for Enrollment Success 

Strong enrollment growth over the next year and subseque nt yea rs will depend upon 
four critical factors. These can be summari zed as follows: 

1. Generating a su fficient num ber of qu alified leads- 15,000 or more per year 
2. Conve rting 3-5% of the leads into enrollme nts 
3. Awarding scholarship s to approx. 100-150 students per yea r 
4. Keeping the percentage of stud ent drops to 30% or less 
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Generating A Sufficient Number of Qualified Leads 

WGU has already embarked upon dram atically stepped-up efforts to increase the num
ber of qualified leads to meet the enrollment goals. The new lead generation program 
will include both direct and indirect sources. 

The indirect sources include those where WGU builds interest in its degree programs 
through mark eting awareness programs at other institutions and through increased pub
lic awareness. The direct sources are those where we seek immediate response. 

Indirect Lead Sources 

The following are the key lead generation sources that we believe will generate leads 
indirectly through our special EduLinks , Microsites, education fairs, and other indir ect 
efforts. 

State governments and corporate presences 
As mentioned ea rlier, WGU anticipates having website WGU EduLinks established with
in six states by June 2003 and in 12 states by June 2004. WGU will also work with the 
departme nts within each state to make WGU degrees widely known and accessible . 
Similarly, WGU believes we can establish corporate marketing programs, of varying 
degrees , with at least eight corporate partners within the next fiscal year. That numb er 
shou ld incre ase each year. We expect to begin establishing our State Government and 
Corporate marketing programs during the summer and fall of 2002, with a steady stream 
of prospects by early 2003. 

Education Fairs 
WGU will con tinue to exh ibit its program s at a limited number of education fairs. 
These may be education fairs for the public, at corporate partners ' facilities , and at 
meetings for educators. 

Community Colleges 
To date , WGU's articulation agreements with a sizeab le number of comm unity colleges 
haven 't been tapped as a source for leads. We are determined to establish effective rela
tionships with a handful of community colleges beginning in the Fall of 2002, with a 
goal of five solid programs during the coming fiscal year. Lead flow should build grad
ually during FY2003. 

K-12 School Districts 
WGU already markets through targeted school districts , primarily within the western U.S. 
states. During the com ing year, as new WGU degree programs for educators become 
available , WGU will intens ify its efforts to directly contact school district leaders and 
staff. We will use sales calls, announcements, prese ntations, fax efforts , and other 
approaches to make our degree offerings and scholarship programs widely known. 
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Direct Marketing Lead Sources 

Direct Marketing (mail, email, and fax) 
In addition to the above indirect approaches , WGU will use direct marketing campaigns 
where lists can be obtained to generate leads. This is a separate line item in the market
ing budget. 

WGU has proven that it can reach school district personnel through direct mail and fax
ing campaigns when we have good lists. Recently, WGU acquired a database of educa
tion leaders in the largest 500 school districts and in 500 rural school districts. (This 
database may be expanded if justified.) This database and other educator lists will be 
used for direct mail campaigns to school administrators and educators. In addition , 
WGU will try to persuade its corporate partners to support mail and email campaigns to 
their employees . Targeted public mailing lists may also be acquired to promote specific 
WGU degrees , especially where a "special offer " is availab le. 

Web-based Lead Sources 

Zero-Cost Web Sources 
WGU has positioned itself to receive leads from Web-based marketing sources that will 
not require outlays of cash during the coming fiscal year. These include some of the 
leading websites on the Internet-AOL and Petersons. (Petersons is not truly zero-cost; 
however , it was essentially prepaid and additional outlays are not needed.) 

While not a true zero-cost source , WGU's own website is included for those leads we 
cannot trace to a spe cific source . We are projecting about 300 leads per month from 
these sources . 

Pay-for-performance Web Sources 
WGU recently began marketing through several websites and Web marketing programs 
that use various forms of pay-for-performance models. This approach allows for better 
control over the cost-per-lead and better ways to evaluate their lead-generating ability . 
(Even when a pay-for-performance agreement can't be arranged with a vendor , we will 
evaluate success using a similar performance effectiveness model.) We project that we 
can generate approximately 500 leads per month from the follow ing Web sources: 

• MonsterLearning.com 
• Overture 
• WorldWideLearn.com 
• ELearners .com 
• ClassesUSA.com 
• Adult Learning.com/GradSchools.com 
• Other Education-Oriented Websites 
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Evaluating Lead Quality 

Not all lead sources are equal in quality, and which also means not all leads are equal 
in quality. WGU will evaluate lead sources in terms of their cost-per-lead constantly. Just 
as important , WGU will begin evaluating all leads on a cost-per-enrollment basis . 

New Tracking System 
WGU has always anempted to track leads and evaluate the effectiveness of lead sources . 
During the Summer of 2002, new lead tracking capabilities have been developed to 
make the system even more accurate and timely. Some reporting that previously had 
been compiled manually has been automated , freeing up substantial recruiting staff 
time. This new capability will help marketing adjust its efforts depending upon the 
effectiveness of various sources. 

Difference in Lead Quality 
Some sources simply will be more effective than others. (We just don 't know which 
ones!) However , past results suggest that the more public the source, the less likely the 
leads will convert to enrolled students. Thus , we expect our conversion rate from pro
motions through AOL and Overture will NOT be as effective as more targeted efforts 
and sour ces , such as our own website and K-12 school promotions. 
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Converting Leads into Students 

Converting leads into students is one of the greatest challenges for any university , espe
cially an online university. The competition for students is fierce. WGU's target audi
ence, adult learners , has a plethora of education alternatives from which to choose . 
WGU must compete with local universities, community colleges, other online universi
ties , and commercial training schools to win almost every student. 

Furthermore , most prospective adult learners must "choose" to return to school versus 
other demands for their time and money. To recruit a WGU student, we have to find 
individuals who will accept the following premises: 

• By returning to school I will advance my career and earning power 
• I can afford to return to school 
• I can find the time to complete a degree 
• I will do well learning online 
• I will benefit from WGU's competency-based model 

Each of these issues can be difficult for a prospective student to get comfortable with , 
but for a prospect to say "Yes" to becoming a WGU student, he or she usually must 
accept ALL of these premises. This requires that our recruiting team active ly help 
prospects see the wisdom of pursuing a WGU degree. We cannot afford to be passive . 

We have our work cut out for us. 

Current Conversion Rates 
Recently, WGU has been able to convert leads into enrolled students at a higher rate 
than in past years. Overall , the rate of admitted , enrolled students has been about 5% 
when you allow for the time lag required for prospects to decide to enroll in degree 
programs. 

Leads acquired 9 mos. from 7/ 01 to 3/ 02 5,214 
Applicants over 9 mos. from 10/01 to 6/ 02 531 
Admitted , enrolled from 10/ 01 to 6/ 02 276 

Applicants as % of leads 10.2% 
Admitted , enrolled as % of leads 5.3% 

The applicant conversion rate at 10% and the enrolled student conversion rate over 5% 
have been good recently, but these rates also includes scholarship promotion. In the 
future it will be a major challenge and a high priority to maintain an enrollment conver
sion rate of 5% or higher. As we increase the number of leads from broader , more pub
lic efforts and Web sources , the quality of the lead will likely be somewhat lower. This 4 GO V ERNORS UNOVEROOTY 



means we should not expect to maintain a conversion rate of 5%, although that will be 
our goal. A conversion rate of 3% will be more realistic and will be built into our plan
ning. To help improve our conversion efforts, we have added some new recruiting pro
grams and tools. 

New WGU Communications Plans 
During the summer of 2002, WGU implemented considerably more aggressive 
Communications Plans to persuade prospects to become WGU students . The fundamen
tal marketing concept behind the new plans can be described simply as "regular , repeti
tive contact." 

Our new Introductory Communications Plan for new leads has the following standard 
features: 

1. A first email within 24 hours 
2. A first phone attempt within 2-7 days 
3. Follow-up emails (each with a distin ct mess age) every week for 5 weeks 
4. Subsequent phone call attempts 
5. Mailed material as needed 
6. Regularly-spa ced , long-term email contact 

This communications plan is designed to actively determine the quality of each lead and 
the likelihood of each prospect becoming a student. Recruiters are expected to make 
rep eated contact to determin e if a lead is "solid " (quit e often they 're not) and to help 
the prospect understand the features and benefits of a WGU degree program. 

The flow chart on the following page shows the basic details of the Introductory 
Communications Plan. 

Exhibit 5, following this page : WGU Recruiting Program for Inquiries 
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Enrollment Team Staffing 
WGU's enrollment recruiting staff is comprised of seasoned professionals who under
stand what it takes to recruit students to WGU's degree programs. Some bring extensive 
experience from other universities that recruit adult learner s. Some of the key team 
members have been with WGU for a considerab le amount of time and have learned 
techniq ues that help steer students to WGU's uniqu e strengths. 

During the 2003 fiscal year, we anticipate that at least one additional full-time recruiter 
will be needed to handle the increased number of leads generated by the mark eting 
program. 

Additional cross training among team members to improve recruitin g skills is a constant 
challenge due to time cons traints , but we w ill increase ou r efforts at staff trainin g. 

New Recruiting Tools 
During the summer of 2002, new tools were deployed to help the recruiting team use its 
time more efficiently and contact prospects more effectively. These include: 

• Semi-automated emails 
Processes for sending personalized emails to leads in batches. 

• Banner recruiting module 
We have recently installed the recruiting module of our Banner administrtion and 
enro llment softwa re from SCT. The module allows for closer integrat ion of leads, 
applicants , enrolled students, etc. 

Measuring Recruiter Effectiveness 
To reach our recruiting goals will demand cons tant diligence over ou r recruiting pro
gram and efforts. Toward that end, new recruiting reports will measure the activity level 
of individual recrui ters and their success rates . Much of this new recruiti ng rep orting will 
be automated to save staff time. 
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Awarding Scholarships 

As of June 2002, approximately 180 WGU students were pursuing their degrees with the 
help of partial scholarships. The money for these schol arship s was pro vided through 
several sources, including states, corporations , and foundations. Scholarships will contin
ue to play an import ant role in WGU's future enrollment growth, especiall y for our 
teacher education progra ms. 

Scholarship Goals 
The following represent the goals for awarding scholarships over the coming years. 

Year endin g June 
Approx . no . of 
new scholarships 

Marketing WGU Scholarships 

100-120 

~ 

150 

.f!lQ2 

150 

lQQQ_ 

150 

WGU has used severa l appro aches for announcing scholarship opportunities . These 
have included: 

Direct marketing to teachers 
Promotions through state educators 
Exhibiting at educator confere nce s 
Fax campaigns to schoo ls 
Announcements throu gh schoo l districts 
Website anno un cements 
Outbound teleph one campaigns 

In the coming year, WGU will continue to use a comb ination of these app roac hes to 
ann ounce schola rship s, especially those for educat ors. 

WGU also anticipa tes a limited num ber of scholarships for its other informa tion techn ol
ogy and bu siness degree programs , and we will use similar approac hes to market them. 

For fiscal year 2003, one objective will be to estab lish scholarship mark eting efforts that 
are ongoing and estab lished , thus requiring less staff attention for specia l promotions. 

Scholarship Marketing Team 
WGU has seaso ned enro llmen t professionals wo rkin g to promote the scho larship pro
grams and recru it individual studen ts into the programs . Because the primary aud ience 
consists of working adu lts, simply offering scho larships is not sufficient to recruit stu
dents . Active recruitment is required , and WGU has a stron g team to recruit candid ates 
for its scho larship programs. 
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Retaining Students, Minimizing Drops 

The final key component for enrollment growth is good stude nt retention. Minimizing 
the number of students who "drop" from programs is critical to the future of WGU, and 
retention efforts will be intensified during the coming year. 

The Nature of the Retention Problem 
Adult online learners face many challe nges to stay in a degree program, and these show 
up in WGU's attrition rate. As working adults , who often have families, there are a num
ber of reasons they drop from college . These include: 

• Insufficient time in their lives 
• Limited funds or changes in their financial situations 
• Family commitments or health issues 
• Difficulties working in an online environment 
• Difficulty with the course work 
• Inadequate support network to stay motivated 
• Problems with teachers or the university 

WGU surveys its students who drop from degree programs. The first four reasons cited 
above are the most commo n explanations given. 

The Solutions 
As WGU's student body increases in size , it will become increasingly important to help 
students stay in their programs and complete work toward a degree . The following 
resources and techniques will be emp loyed: 

• WGU Student Mentors 
WGU's mentors are the most critical factor in keeping attrition low. As mentors 
work w ith their students, they are often to the first to realize when students are 
struggling to stay active. The mentors curren tly provide emotional support and 
encouragement to students to keep going , as well as help students develop per
sona l Academic Action Plans that keep them on track. In the coming years , it will 
be even more important for the mentors to monitor student progress and help stu
dents complete their program s. 

• Ongoing Communications 
In addition to the personal work by the mentors , WGU will use regular ema il con
tact with students to offer assistance , give them opportun ities for feedba ck, work 
out financial problems, and, essent ially, just say "hello " so they don 't feel isolated. 
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Bringing It All Together 

If you've gotten this far and reviewed most of this Marketing Plan , you realize that 
Western Governors University has positioned itself for good enrollment growth through 
its marketing and recruiting efforts. However, some of those efforts are just in their 
infancy, and a track record hasn 't yet been established . 

The uncertainty of success isn't any reason to believe we can 't accomplish our goals. In 
fact, uncertainty is being factored into all our marketing plans. Rather than simply 
assume that one type of approach is "the way to go, " we are building flexibility into our 
thinking and planning: 

Several approaches to generating leads are being developed 
We will monitor the cost-effectiveness of all lead sources 
We will abandon marketing efforts that don 't work and expand 
ones that do 
Every lead will receive numerous communications to help 
them choose WGU 
Our recruiting team will actively attempt to have direct contact 
with every prospect 
Every applicant will be pursued to become an enrolled student 
And every student will be helped to stay in their program 

These are the essential ingredients to meet WGU's growth goals. 

Budget Implications 

WGU is committed to an aggressive marketing and recruiting budget to support strong 
enrollment growth. As a new university , WGU cannot afford to coast. It doesn't yet have 
a broad reputation among the publi c, nor can it rely upon word-of-mouth support from 
alumni. 

To reach the enrollment targets specified in this plan will require a Sales, Marketing, and 
Recruiting budget exceeding $1 million . 
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Appendix 11: Participating WGU Education Providers 

Alabama 
American College of Comp uter & 
Inform ation Systems 
emTech Tech nologies 

Arizona 
Compute rPREP 
Magellan University 
North ern Arizona Univer sity 
Rio Salado College 
THE Inst itute 

California 
California National Univers ity 
Chapma n Unive rsity 
Fresno Pacific University 
Logilent 
Pro fessional Development Institute 
Teacher Universe 
Touro Unive rsity Intern ational 
UKD Academy 

Colorado 
ActiveEducation 
!SIM University 
Jones International Unive rsity 
Regis University 
University of Colorado - Bould er 

Florida 
InfoSource 
Kaplan College 

Hawaii 
University of Hawa ii/ Hilo 
Univers ity of Hawaii/Leeward 
Community College 
University of Hawaii/Manoa 

Idaho 
Idaho State Univers ity 
New Horizons Comp uter Learning 
Centers 

Illinois 
Fundwell.com 

Nebraska 
Chadro n State College 
Metropolitan Community College 
Education to Go/ Metropolitan Community 
College 

Nevada 
Community College of South ern Nevada 

New Hampshire 
WebED 

Oregon 
Marylhurst University 

South Dakota 
Nationa l American University 

Texas 
Dallas Cou nty Community College 
ITP/ Cours e Technology 
Texas Tech University 
University of Texas at Arlington 

Utah 
Brigham Young Unive rsity 
Utah State University 

Vermont 
Champlain College 

Virginia 
CaseNEX 

Washington 
IBID Educational Services 
Washington State University 
Western Washington Unive rsity 

Wyoming 
University of Wyoming 

Canada 
Athabasca Univers ity 
BC Open University 
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Appendix 12: - June 30, 2001 Audited Financial Statements 

Western Governors University 
Report on Audits of Financial Statements 
for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 
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To the Board of Trustees of 
Western Governors University : 

Report oflndependent Accountants 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Beneficial Life Tower 
36 South State Street Suite 1700 
Salt Lake City UT 84111 
Telephone (801) 531 9666 
Facsimile (801) 363 7371 

In our opinion, the accompanying statement of financial position and the related statements of activities 
and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Western Governors 
University at June 30, 2001 and 2000 and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years 
then ended, in confonnity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the University's management; our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

August 28, 2001 



Western Governors University 
Statement of Financial Position 
as of June 30, 2001 and 2000 

June 30, 
2001 2000 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 400,289 453,621 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance 
for doubtful accounts of $8,533 and 
$3,000 in 2001 and 2000 , respectively 42,073 16,271 

Federal grant receivable 4 12,846 245,806 
Contributions receivable 344,000 110,000 
Other current assets 3,216 6,011 

Total current assets 1,202,424 83 1,709 

Furniture and equipment 884 ,848 754 , 174 
Less accumulated depreciation (672 ,98 1) (458,662) 

Net furniture and equipment 2 11,867 295 ,512 

Investments 65,461 50,000 
Information systems, net 804 ,488 374,75 1 

Total assets 2,284 ,240 1,551,972 

Liabilities and Net Assets 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payabl e 549,154 242 ,837 
Accrued liabilities 247,990 125,520 
Capital lease obligation, current 6,370 36,032 
Line of credit 250,000 

Total current liabilities 1,053 ,514 404,389 

Capi tal lease obligation, long term 6,370 

Tota l liabilities 1,053 ,514 410,759 

Net assets: 
Unrestricted 648,531 749,696 
Temporarily restricted 532,195 34 1,517 
Permanentl y restricted 50,000 50,000 

Total net assets 1,230,726 1,141,213 

Total liabilities and net assets 2,284 ,240 1,551,972 
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Western Governors University 
Statement of Activit ies 
for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 

2001 2000 

Changes in unrestricted net assets: 
Revenues, gains and other support : 

Tuition and fees 357,640 308,829 
Tuition from scholarships (192,690) (168,467) 
Tuition waivers (14,993) (22,900) 

Net tuition and fees 149,957 117,462 

Contributions 1,587,297 2,5 16,742 
Interest income 15,205 20,664 
Net realized/unrealized gain on investments 20,605 
Federal grant 3,248,041 1,130,806 
Other income 4,439 13,688 
Net assets released from restrictions 292,690 30,000 

Total unrestricted revenues , gains and other support 5,297,629 3,849 ,967 

Expenses : 
Operatin g expenses: 

Academic services 2,236,256 1,486,624 
Institut ional support 1,476,769 1,323,973 
Information systems 1,075,582 727,561 
Marketing 610,187 387,090 

Total unrestricted expenses 5,398,794 3,925 ,248 

Decrease in unrestricted net assets (101,165) (75,281) 

Changes in temporarily restricted net assets: 
Contributions 465,150 340,533 
Endowment income 2,757 984 
Net realized/unrealized gain on investments 15,461 
Net assets released from restrictions (292,690) (30,000) 

Increase in temporarily restricted net assets 190,678 311,517 

Changes in permanently restricted net assets: 
Contribution of endowment 50,000 

Increase in permanent! y restricted net assets 50,000 

Increase in net assets 89,513 286,236 

Net assets, beginning of year 1,141,213 854,977 

Net assets, end of year 1,230,726 1,141,213 
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Western Governors University 
Statement of Cash Flows 
for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 

2001 2000 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Increase in net assets 89,513 286,236 
Adjustments to reconcile increase in net assets 

to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: 
Depreciation 215,623 217,668 
Amortization 306,300 306,300 
Net realized/unrealized gain on investments (15,461) (20,605) 
(Gain) loss on disposal of furniture and equipment 912 (2,505) 
Contributions oflong-term investments (16 1,600) 
Contributions restricted for long-term investment (50,000) 
Forgiveness of note payable (200,000) 
Forgiveness of accrued interest on note payable ( 10,024) 
Increase (decrease) in cash due to changes in: 

Accounts receivable (25,802) (11,196) 
Federal grant receivable (167,040) (245,806) 
Contributions receivable (234,000) (110,000) 
Other current assets 2,795 6,935 
Accounts payable 306,3 17 (45,890) 
Accrued liabilities 122,470 (355,777) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 60 1,627 (396,264) 

Ca sh flows from investing activities: 
Purchase of furniture and equipment (133,390) (56,987) 
Proceeds from sale of furniture and equipment 500 8,994 
Proceeds from sale of investments 132,205 
Payments for development of information systems (736,037) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (868,927) 84,212 

Cash flows from financing activi ties: 
Proceeds from contributions restricted for investment in endowment 50,000 
Princ ipal payments under capital lease obligation (36,032) (32,688) 
Borrowings on line of credit 250,000 

Net cash provided by financing activities 213,968 17,312 

Net decrease in cash (53,332) (294,740) 

Cash at beginning of year 453,621 748,361 

Cash at end of year 400,289 453,621 

Supplemental cash flow information: 
Cash paid for interest 3,664 7,027 
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Western Governors University 
Notes to Financial Statements 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

302 

Nature of Operations 

Western Governors University (the University), a Utah nonprofit corporat ion, was formed in 
January I 997 by certain governors of the Western United States to share higher education 
distance learning resources. From July I, 1996 to the date of incorporation, the University was a 
project within Western Governors Association, an independent, non-partisan organization of 
governors formed to address various issues in the West. The University is a competency-based, 
degree-granting, distance learning university that delivers education and training using the 
Internet and other advanced telecommunications and networking technologies . The University's 
mission is to expand educational and training opportunities for learners everywhere , using content 
from various sources. The University provides educational access to a dispersed population of 
students who might not otherwise have access to higher education and to those needing 
workplace training. Its office is located in Salt Lake City, Utah. 

Basis of Accounting 

The financial statements of the University have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
and accordingly reflect all significant receivables, payables and other liabilities in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America . 

The University's financial statement presentation follows the recommendations of the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board in its Statement ofFinanci al Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 117, 
"Financial Statements for Not-for-Profit Organizations." In accordance with the provisions of 
SFAS No. 117, the University is required to report information regarding its financial position 
and activities according to three classes of net assets: unrestricted net assets, temporarily 
restricted net assets and permanently restricted net assets; in addition to presenting a statement of 
cash flows. Accordingly , net assets and changes therein are classified as follows: 

Unrestricted - Net assets not subject to donor-imposed stipulations . 

Temporarily restricted - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may or will 
be met by actions of the University and/or the passage of time. 

Permanently restricted - Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they be 
maintained permanently by the University. Generally, the donors of these assets permit 
the University to use all or part of the income earned on the related investments for 
general or specific purposes. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The University considers all highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or 
less to be cash equivalents. 

The University places its cash and cash equivalents with three financial institutions located in 
Utah. At times, the cash balance in the University's accounts may exceed federally insured limits. 
The University does not believe that, as a result of this concentration, it is subject to unusual 
financial risk beyond the normal risk associated with commercial banking relationships. 



Western Governors University 
Notes to Financial Statements 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued: 

Contributions 

Contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are recognized as revenues in the period 
received. Conditional promises to give are not recognized until they become unconditional, that 
is when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met. Contributions of assets other 
than cash are recorded at their estimated fair value. All contributions receivable as of June 30, 
2001 are expected to be received within one year. 

Contributions of long-lived assets without donor stipulations concerning the use of such assets are 
reported as revenue of the unrestricted net asset class. Contributions of cash or other assets to be 
used to acquire long-lived assets with donor stipulations are reported as revenues of the 
temporarily restricted net asset class until the acquisition of such assets, at which time the 
restrictions are considered to be released. 

All contributions are available for unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by the 
grantor/donor . Restricted contributions received from grantor/donor(s) are reported as 
temporarily restricted or permanently restricted support and as an increase in the respective net 
asset class. When a restriction expires (that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose 
restriction is met), temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and 
reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions. Restrictions on 
contributions that expire within the same accounting period as receipt of the contributions are 
considered unrestricted support. 

Tuition and Fees 

Tuition and other student fees are recognized in income in the period in which the activities are 
predominantly conducted. Amounts received but not yet earned are recorded as deferred revenue. 
Costs for courses provided by other universities are included as academic services in the 
statement of activities. 

Investments 

The University accounts for its investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair 
values and all investments in debt securities at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 
included in the statement of activities. If the market value of donated investments is not 
determinable or cannot be estimated at the date of gift, no value will be recorded until a market 
value is determinable. 

During the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2000, marketable equity securities with fair values of 
$0 and $161,600, respectively, were contributed to the University . 

Grants 

Grants are recognized as revenue in the applicable period as dictated by the specific grant 
requirements . Grant expenditures are recognized when incurred. 

Furniture and Equipment 

Furniture and equipment are carried at cost or, if donated, at the approximate fair value at the date 
nf tinn~tinn 
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Western Governors University 
Notes to Financial Statements 

1. 
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued: 

Fwniture and Equipment continued 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the useful lives of the assets, 
ranging from three to five years. Upon the sale or retirement of furniture and equipment, any 
gain or loss on disposition is reflected in the statement of activities and the related asset cost and 
accumulated depreciation are _removed from the respective accounts. Depreciation expense for 
the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 totaled $215,615 and $217,668, respectively . 

Information Systems 

The University capitalizes certain costs associated with the on-line catalog (Catalog) and student 
information system (SIS). The Catalog is a centralized source of information, including a listing 
of the University's competency-based degree programs and related assessments . The Catalog also 
includes information on technology-based courses and programs offered by traditional higher 
education institutions and a variety of businesses. The SIS includes web-enabled student and 
finance forms and is integrated with the Catalog. Both systems provide an internet infrastructure 
to assist students, staff and faculty to communicate more effectively and allow access to academic 
resources and administrative services. Amortization of the Catalog is calculated using the 
straight-line method over three years. The SIS system was implemented in July 200 I and will be 
amortized using the straight-line method over five years beginning July 2001. Amortization 
expense for the years ended June 30, 200 I and 2000 totaled $306,300 and $306,300 , respectively . 

Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets are periodically reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 121, 
"Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Assets to Be Disposed Of'. SFAS 
No. 121 requires the assessment of whether there has been an impainnent whenever events or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets may not be recoverable. The 
carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired when the anticipated cumulative 
undiscounted cash flows from that asset is less than its carrying value. In that event, a loss is 
recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair market value of the 
long-lived asset, which is generally based on discounted cash flows. As a result of its review, the 
University does not believe that any impairment currently exists related to its long-lived assets. 

Functional Expenses and Expense Allocation 

The costs of providing various programs and other activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the statement of activities. Expenses that can be identified with a specific 
program or support service are charged directly to the natural expense classification. 

Income Tax Stat us 

The University is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is made in the financial statements. 

Concentration of Risk 

The University is dependent upon the continuing willingness of private donors and governmental 
entities to support the organization. If adequate contributions from donors are not received, the 
ability of the University to continue future operations could be impaired. 



Western Governors University 
Notes to Financial Statements 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued: 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabil ities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates . 

2. Leases: 

The Univers ity leases office space under a noncancelable operating lease agreement. In addition, 
the University has a non-cancelable capital lease agreement for computer equipment. The futur e 
minimum payments under these leases at June 30, 2001 are as follows : 

Year ended 
June 30, 

2002 
2003 

Total minimum obligation 
Less interest portion 

Present value of minimum lease obligation 

Capital Operating 

~~ 
6,432 $ 94,709 

~ 
6,432 $ 126,961 

~ 

~ 

The cost of computer equipment under capital lease was $179,372 at June 30, 2001 and 2000. 
The related accumulated depreciation was $173,002 and $129,417 at June 30, 2001 and 2000, 
respectively. 

Rent expense for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 totaled $90,817 and $82,959, 
respectively. 

3. Line of Credit: 

At -June 30, 2001, the University had a $500,000 line of credit with a bank which bears interest at 
6.75 percent and matures on November I, 2001. Borrowings under this line of credit totaled 
$250,000 at June 30, 200 l. The borrow ings on the line of credit are guaranteed by an officer of 
the University . 

4. Notes Pavable: 

During the year ended June 30, 2000, a note payable which totaled $200,000, and accrued interest 
thereon of $ l0 ,024 , were forgiven . These amounts have been reflected as contributions of 
unrestric ted assets in the statement of activities. 



Western Governors University 
Notes to Financial Statements 

5. Grants: 
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During the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2000, the University was awarded Congressional 
appropriations to improve access to and the quality of postsecondary education . During the years 
ended June 30, 2001 and 2000, the University recognized grant revenues and expended a total of 
$3,248,041 and $1,130,806, respectively, in accordance with the tenns of the grants . As ofJune 
30, 2001, the University has $323,153 of additional funds available from the grant which expires 
on February 14, 2002. 
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DEGREE SEEKING STUDENTS 

~~C:~:duats 
C•rttfl cata 

Total0egrM5"kingStuMnts 

Less: Scholarships&waivers 
Net Tuition Revenue 
Contributions for Tuition 
Corporate/Foundation Support 
State/Feder al Support 
Investment 

Mentoring 
Academic Leadership 

~~~~r:tir:;velopmentlCouncils 

Total Academ ic Support 

Institutional Support 
Payrotl, Taxes&Benefits 

~C:,ulting , Legal&Aocounting 

Meetings/Travel 
Depreciation 

Total Institutional Support 

Information Systems 
Payroll, Taxes&Benefits 
Consulting 162,000 
SIS Development 
Maintenance/Hosting 
Amortization 

TotallnfOfmationSystems 

Marketi ng 

~:: 1,Taxes&Benefits 

Marketing Programs 
Total Marketing 

TotalExpensff 

TotalRevenuesoverExpen .. s 

Capital Expenditures 
Depreciation 

Appendix 13: - Four-Year Financial Projecti o n 

WESTERN GOVERNORS UNIVERSITY 
4 YEAR FINANCIAL PROJECTION 

Budget 
Projection 
FYEnding 

300 
381 

"'° 
1,080 

2,329 ,695 
p ,118807) 
1,210,888 
1,303,000 
1,500, 000 
3,800 ,000 

7,828 ,288 

424 ,756 
820,813 
841,428 
790,180 
500 ,050 

709 ,227 
462 ,060 
227,199 
85,100 

1,621,586 

177.000 
221,640 
175,080 

1,028,123 

(125 ,000) 
138,000 
175,080 

Budget 
Projection 
FYEnding 

530 
550 
450 

1,530 

4,s21.n2 
(1,014 .820) 
3,512 ,952 

937 ,210 
1,500,000 
3,500,000 

9,474,152 

1,238 ,198 
1,167,522 
1,098,654 

834 ,807 
582,500 
178,832 

776 ,314 
481 ,953 
237 ,642 

91,450 
130,596 

343 ,238 
132,000 
162,000 
245 ,340 
180,000 

535,761 
70,800 

598.000 

(150,000) 
130,596 
180,000 

Budget 
Projectio n 
FYEnd ing 

.,. 
725 
075 

2,210 

7,076,5-48 
(931622) 

6 ,144,726 
600,000 

1,500,000 
3,200 ,000 

60.000 

2,200,079 
1,375,868 
1,660 ,576 

876 ,548 
582,500 
243,480 

810,536 
450,992 
260,734 

92,200 
162 ,000 

375 ,075 
156,000 
162,000 
249,640 
180,000 

560,126 
92,400 

697 ,996 

11,208 ,951 

(175,000) 
162,000 
180 ,000 

Budge t 
Projection 
FYEnding 

3,010 

10,474 ,256 
(1.124 ,513) 
9 ,349 ,743 

600,000 
1,500,000 
3,000 ,000 

66 ,000 

3,307 ,428 
1,878 ,199 
2,365,760 

920,375 
582,500 
348,310 

847 ,464 
422,191 
309,212 
105,642 
168 ,000 

414 ,461 
162 ,000 
162,000 
264 ,840 
180,000 

607,688 
92 ,400 

907,996 

(175,000 ) 
168,000 
180,000 
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WE 3. http: // www.wgu.edu /wgu / academics / student_info.html 
WE 4. http :// www .wgu.edu /wgu / smartcatalog/index.html 
WE 5. http: // www .wgu.edu / wgu / admission/tuition.html 
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WE 18. http: // www.wgu.edu /wgu / about/educators_institutions.html 
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WE 23. http :// www .wgu.edu / wgu/ academics / faculty .html 
WE 24. http: / / www.wgu.edu / wgu/ about/educators_institutions.html 
WE 25. http :/ /www.wgu.edu /wgu /s martcatalo g/i ndex .html 
WE 26. http :// www.wgu.edu /wgu / privacy.html 
WE 27. http :// www.wgu.edu /wgu / academics / accreditation.html 
WE 28. http: // www.wgu.edu / wgu /co ntact.html 
WE 29. http://www.wg u.edu /wgu /abo ut/s taff_directory.html 
WE 30. http :/ / www.wgu.edu /wgu / bookstore.html 
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